
 
 

 MEETING OF THE  
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
March 25, 2019 at 8:30 a.m. 

Special Meeting 
 

King County Housing Authority 
Snoqualmie Conference Room 

700 Andover Park W 
Tukwila, WA 98188 

 

A G E N D A 
I. Call to Order   

II. Roll Call  

III. Public Comment  

IV. Approval of Minutes                                                                                                                1 
 

A. Board Meeting Minutes – February 19, 2019 

 

V. Approval of Agenda 
 

VI. Consent Agenda                                                                                                                       2 
 

A. Voucher Certification Report for January 2019 

 

 

VII. Resolutions for Discussion and Possible Action 
 

A. Resolution No. 5621 – Authorizing the Submission of an Application to the     3 
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for the Disposition of a 
Parcel of Land Located at 11195 5th Ave SW, Seattle, WA Within Seola Gardens  

 
B. Resolution No. 5622 – Authorizing Acquisition of the Kendall Ridge                 4          

Apartments    
 

 
VIII. Executive Session                                                                                                                      

 
To review the performance of a public employee (RCW 42.30.110 (1) (g)) 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ Agenda 
March 25, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 2 of 2 
 

IX. Briefings & Reports 
 

A.  2018 Community Dashboard                                                                                        5 

B. Energy Performance Contract Update                                                                           6 

C. Fourth Quarter Financial Reports                                                                                  7 

D. 2018 Moving to Work Annual Report                                                                            8 

 

 

 

 

X. KCHA in the News                                                    

XI. Commissioner Comments 

XII. Adjournment   

Members of the public who are disabled and require special 
accommodations or assistance at the meeting are requested to 
notify the Board Coordinator in writing at 600 Andover Park 
West, Seattle, WA 98188 or by calling 206-574-1198 prior to 
the meeting date. 
 

9 

      
      

      
     
      

      
   

      
      

      
     
      

      
   

      
      

      
     
      

      
   



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
1 



 
MEETING MINUTES 

 OF THE 
KING COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

Tuesday, February 19, 2019 
 

I.  CALL TO ORDER 
 

The meeting of the King County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners was held on 
Tuesday, February 19, 2019 at 700 Andover Park West, Tukwila, WA 98188. There being a 
quorum, the meeting was called to order by Chair Doug Barnes at 8:35 a.m. 

 
II. ROLL CALL  
 
 Present: Commissioner Doug Barnes (Chair), Commissioner Michael Brown, 

Commissioner Susan Palmer, and Commissioner TerryLynn Stewart (via 
Telephone) 

 
 Excused: John Welch  
 
III. Public Comment 

 
None.  

 
IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
  

A. Board Meeting Minutes –December 17, 2018 
 
On motion by Commissioner Susan Palmer and seconded by Commissioner TerryLynn 
Stewart, the Board unanimously approved the December 17, 2018 Board of 
Commissioners’ Meeting Minutes. 

 
V. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

On motion by Commissioner TerryLynn Stewart and seconded by Commissioner Susan 
Palmer, the Board unanimously approved the February 19, 2019 Board of 
Commissioners’ meeting agenda. 

 
VI.  CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Voucher Certification Reports for November 2018 and December 2018 
 

B. Resolution No. 5618 – Tax Credit Investor Exit – Valley Park East & West 
 

C. Resolution No 5619 – Tax Credit Investor Exit – Egis (Pool of 8 Public Housing 
Senior Properties) 

 
On motion by Commissioner Susan Palmer and seconded by Commissioner TerryLynn 
Stewart, the Board unanimously approved the consent agenda. 
 
 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
February 19, 2019 
Meeting Minutes 
Page 2 of 5 
 
VII.  RESOLUTONS FOR DISCUSSION & POSSIBLE ACTION 

A. Resolution No. 5620: A RESOLUTION authorizing modification of documents 
pertaining to the Authority’s Pooled Housing Revenue and Refunding Revenue 
Note, 2013; providing for the issuance of additional notes in connection with the 
Authority’s Pooled Housing Revenue and Refunding Revenue Note, 2013; and 
determining related matters. 
 
Tim Walter, Senior Director of Development and Asset Management, provided an 
overview of the Resolution which allows KCHA the flexibility to move properties in 
and out of the pool as needed for financing and project redevelopment purposes. A 
question of the Commissioners’ regarding how many properties could be moved in 
and out of the pool was answered by Tim Walter. Mr. Walter clarified that there is 
not a limitation to the number of properties that can be moved in or out, but that 
KCHA must ensure the amount of financing associated with properties moved into 
the pool is equal to the amount of financing associated with the properties being 
removed from the pool. 
 
On motion by Commissioner Palmer and seconded by Commissioner Stewart, the 
Board unanimously approved Resolution No. 5620. 

 
VIII. BRIEFINGS AND REPORTS  
 
 A. Fourth Quarter Procurement Report 
  

B. Fourth Quarter 2018 Summary Write Off Report 
 
Craig Violante, Director of Finance, summarized the report. 
Bill Cook, Director of Public Housing gave details of the report and how our 
philosophy is to use partnerships with resident services to prevent residents from 
eviction. We are in the process of renewing our lease agreement and would like to 
change the move in process for clarity and education so that residents are aware of 
charges that may be assessed for damages and cleaning when they vacate a unit. 
 

C. 2018 Year End Investment Report 
 
Craig Violante reviewed the returns on KCHA’s portfolio of invested assets in 2018. 
In 2018, KCHA earned approximately $3.9 million on assets of $201,643,114 with 
average yield of 1.93%.  KCHA’s investment portfolio has performed exceptionally 
well, by historically producing returns exceeding both the Local Government 
Investment Pool (LGIP) and the 3 month Treasury benchmark. Due to rising 
interest rates, the current yields are currently lagging behind the LGIP but KCHA’s 
long-term investment strategy implemented in 2009 has resulted in over $2.5 
million in investment income compared to what would have been earned if the 
funds had been in the LGIP.    
 

 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
February 19, 2019 
Meeting Minutes 
Page 3 of 5 
 

Questions of Commissioners’ were answered. 
 

D. Capital Report Briefing 
 

Dan Watson, Deputy Executive Director/Chief Development Officer, presented the 
annual Capital Report Briefing for 2018, as well as the budget for next year. 
In 2018, KCHA completed 261 projects with construction related capital 
expenditures totaling $47.3 million. 91% of budgeted funds were spent, with 
shortfall due to the permitting delay in the construction of the new building at 
Highland Village. 
 
Questions of Commissioners’ were answered. 

 
E. New Bank Accounts 

 
F. Q4 2018 Executive Dashboard 

 
Andrew Calkins, Administrative Program Manager, presented the fourth quarter 
Executive Dashboard and explained that revenue was higher than budgeted in 2018 
and that the agency is employing a few strategies to keep the utilization rate for the 
HCV program at 103% of ACC. 
 

G. Study Session Creating Moves to Opportunity 
 
Jenny Le, LTT Administrative Program Manager/Research Project Manager and 
Sandeep Rayner, Senior Housing Program Manager, presented the Study Session of 
Creating Moves to Opportunity (CMTO). 
 
Jenny Le and Sandeep Rayner briefed the Commissioners on the CMTO initiative by 
explaining that CMTO is an expansion of KCHA’s effort to broaden geographic 
choice for low income families by increasing opportunity area access. KCHA’s work 
in this area goes back to 2012 when the Board passed a resolution to incorporate 
considerations of neighborhood quality and broadening of geographic choice into its 
core mission objectives.  Since that time KCHA has undertaken a range of initiatives 
to incorporate this resolution.  Examples include preliminary pilot work with the 
Community Choice Program (CCP), the shift to zip-code based payment standards, 
targeted efforts with landlord engagement and recruitment, and policy decisions 
regarding targeted acquisitions in high opportunity areas. KCHA’s commitment to 
broadening geographic choice also led to establishing a stretch goal that by 2020, 
30% of our federally subsidized families will reside in high opportunity areas.  
 
CMTO is an extension of all of these efforts to ensure that KCHA remains a leader 
and an innovator in local and national work on mobility, neighborhood effects, and 
geographic access.  This is an opportunity to use the latest data and methods to 
define opportunity areas, to work with leading academics and practitioners from 
across the country to inform what strategies could and should be used to support 

 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
February 19, 2019 
Meeting Minutes 
Page 4 of 5 
 

children in subsidized housing in reaching their best outcomes possible, and also to 
really be at the table throughout this work so as to use the information for 
continuous quality improvement in our day-to-day operations and to ensure that 
any strategies tested will really, in fact, work in real-world settings.  
 
The CMTO pilot at the Seattle and King County Housing Authorities is motivated by 
a study conducted by a researcher from Harvard University which shows that 
neighborhood quality affects children’s life outcomes. The study indicates that 
children who grow up in high opportunity areas have improved life outcomes. They 
are more likely to attend college, higher lifetime earnings, and less likely to become 
a single parent. Questions of Commissioners’ were answered. 
 

H. Workforce Housing Acquisition Briefing 
 

IX.       EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
Mr. Norman noted KCHA is seeking concessionary financing capital and is trying to 
engage the corporate sector to loan money at 1% for 30 years. The Authority has thrown 
out a challenge concept that the region needs to preserve another 10,000 existing 
affordable housing units.  Over the last 10 years, King County has lost an average of 
3,600 privately owned affordable housing units per year. KCHA would like to take 
10,000 units and lock them up in the housing authority ownership, so it remains 
affordable in the long term. This would cost an estimated $3 billion, of which $1.3 
billion would need to be concessionary capital. 
 
Microsoft has made a commitment to providing $200 million in concessionary capital 
which would finance approximately 1,100 units if located on the eastside near the 
Microsoft campus. Microsoft has also enjoined Challenge Seattle in supporting their 
commitment to develop and preserve affordable workforce housing.  Challenge Seattle 
includes the of CEO’s from 17 of the region’s largest employers and is headed by former 
Governor Christine Gregoire. Challenge Seattle has included affordable housing as one 
of their major initiatives.   Although Challenge Seattle has yet to make any financial 
commitments, the hope is that their corporate members will make a similar 
commitment of concessionary capital outside the geographical areas that Microsoft is 
targeting. 
 

X. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

A. To review the performance of a public employee (RCW 42.30.110 (1) (g)) 
Chair Barnes announced the start of the Executive Session at 10:24 a.m. 
 
The meeting of the Board of Commissioners was reconvened at 10:37 a.m. by Chair 
Barnes. 

  
 
 

 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
February 19, 2019 
Meeting Minutes 
Page 5 of 5 
 
X. KCHA IN THE NEWS 
  
 None. 
 
XI.  COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

 
None. 
 

XII. ADJOURNMENT 
On motion to adjourn the meeting by Commissioner Michael Brown and seconded by 
Commissioner Susan Palmer. Chair Barnes adjourned the meeting at 10:38 a.m.  

 
 
 
 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE  
COUNTY OF KING, WASHINGTON 

 
 

_____________________________ 
DOUGLAS J. BARNES, Chair  

Board of Commissioners 
________________________  
    STEPHEN J. NORMAN 
    Secretary 
 
 

 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
2 

















T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
3 



 
 
 
To: Board of Commissioners           
  
From: Beth Pearson, Director, Real Estate Initiatives 
 
Date: March 25, 2019 
 
Re:       Resolution No. 5621 Authorizing the Submission of an 

Application to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development for the Disposition of a Parcel Located at 11195 5th 
Avenue SW, Seattle, WA within Seola Gardens  

 
 
 
Executive Summary 
Resolution No. 5621 authorizes KCHA to submit an application to HUD’s Special 
Applications Center for the release of an existing HUD public housing covenant (a 
Declaration of Trust or “DOT”) recorded against the title of the Seola Gardens Head 
Start facility property.  (HUD refers to the release of this covenant as a “HUD 
disposition”).  If approved, KCHA would be authorized to retain ownership of the 
property but would need to do so through a related party entity (similar to Moving 
King County Residents Forward, a/k/a MKCRF).  This “disposition” allows KCHA to 
continue to control and lease out the property but to do so free and clear of the 
existing HUD encumbrance.  All of the other parcels at Seola Gardens have 
previously received HUD approval for the release of the HUD DOT.  This is the final 
parcel at Seola Gardens for which KCHA is seeking to obtain HUD approval to 
release the underlying public housing covenant. 
 
Background 
Beginning in 2009, KCHA began its Hope VI redevelopment of Park Lake II.  As part 
of that redevelopment work, KCHA submitted a master “disposition” application and 
received HUD’s approval to release its DOT against the various parcels within the 
site.  KCHA has worked with HUD to remove the DOT from all of the land at Seola 
Gardens, with the exception of the Head Start site.  KCHA is now ready to remove 
the DOT at the Head Start site.  However, in the intervening years, the statutes 
governing this process have changed and HUD no longer acknowledges the previous 
approval KCHA received through the initial ‘master’ approval process.  HUD has 
requested that KCHA submit a new disposition application specifically for the Head 
Start site. 
 



Resolution No. 5621 Disposition of the Seola Gardens Parcel 
March 25, 3019 - Board Meeting 
Page 2 of 2 
 
The property at issue is a 0.57 acre of land located at 11195 5th Avenue SW in Seattle. 
The building located on this site has had multiple uses since it was originally 
constructed, including residential housing, administrative space for KCHA public 
housing and Section 8 operations, and most recently as a Head Start early education 
program for children of low-income families living in the community.   
 
Review and approval of this “disposition” is undertaken by HUD’s Special 
Applications Center upon receipt of an application from KCHA.  This Resolution is a 
formality required as part of the application.  If approved, the application will allow 
KCHA to transfer the property to an affiliated entity and remove HUD’s recorded 
interest in the property.  The purchaser (who will be controlled by KCHA) will 
continue to manage the site for use as a Head Start or other early education program 
benefiting the local residents.   
 
Staff Recommendation 
Resolution No. 5621 is recommended for passage. 
 
 
  
 
  



THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

RESOLUTION NO. 5621 

AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF AN APPLICATION TO THE U.S. 
DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT FOR THE 

DISPOSITION OF A PARCEL OF LAND LOCATED 
AT SEOLA GARDENS 

 
 
 

WHEREAS, KCHA owns a 0.57 acre parcel of land (the Parcel) located at 11195 

5th Avenue SW in the Seola Gardens community, which is currently operated as a Head 

Start early education program for low income families in the community; and 

WHEREAS, the Parcel was originally improved with a single story building 
 

 
constructed using grant funds sourced from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD) and continues to be subject to public housing restrictions that 

originally encumbered all of Seola Gardens (formerly known as Park Lake II); and 

WHEREAS, KCHA received HUD approval to release the public housing 

restrictions as part of its redevelopment of Seola Gardens (including the Parcel), and as a 

result, the Declaration of Trust has been released from all Seola Gardens’ sites, except 

for the Parcel; and 

WHEREAS, HUD’s Special Applications Center has requested that KCHA 

submit a new Disposition Application for HUD’s review and approval in order to 

authorize the release of this final Parcel; and 

WHEREAS, the Parcel is utilized as a non-dwelling property and the disposition 

of this Parcel is incidental to, or does not interfere with, the continued operation of the 

remainder of the Seola Garden developments. The early education program currently 

operating from the Parcel is expected to continue its operations after the implementation 

of any approved disposition; and 



Resolution No. 5621 Application for Disposition of Seola Gardens Parcel 
March 25, 2019 KCHA Board Meeting 
Page 2 of 3 

 

 
 

WHEREAS, the release of the Declaration of Trust from the Parcel is included in 

KCHA’s CY 2018 Moving to Work Annual Plan; and 

WHEREAS, proceeds from the sale of the Parcel will be used for eligible 

purposes as described in the Section 18(a)(5) of the U.S. Housing Act of 1937, 

including the development of low-income housing; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS OF THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY 

OF KING THAT: 

1. The disposition of the Parcel outside the Public Housing program is determined to 

be  necessary for the development of a facility to benefit low-income families 

(including as an early learning center operated under the Head Start program). 

2. The submission of a Disposition Application to the HUD Special  Application 

Center is hereby approved. 

3. The Executive Director or Deputy Executive Directors are hereby authorized to 

submit the Disposition Application to HUD and to execute and submit any related 

documents. 



Resolution No. 5621 Application for Disposition of Seola Gardens Parcel 
March 25, 2019 KCHA Board Meeting 
Page 3 of 3 

 

 
 

ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING THIS 25th DAY OF 

MARCH, 2019. 

 
 
 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE 
COUNTY OF KING, WASHINGTON 

 
 
 

By:     
DOUGLAS J. BARNES, chair 

 
 
Attest: 

 
 
By:     

STEPHEN J. NORMAN, secretary 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
4 



   
 
 
To:  Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Tim Walter, Sr. Director of Development & Asset Management  
 
Date: March 25, 3019 
 
Re:  Resolution No. 5622:  A Resolution authorizing the acquisition of the Kendall Ridge 

Apartments. 
 
 
 
Resolution No. 5622 authorizes the Executive Director to negotiate and enter into a purchase 
agreement for the Kendall Ridge Apartments located in Bellevue at 15301 NE 20th St, along the route 
of the King County Metro Rapid Ride B bus line.  The Rapid Ride B bus line is scheduled provide 
direct service to the Overlake Light Rail Station when it opens in 2023. The property is also within an 
area of King County identified by KCHA as a high opportunity area, with excellent access to schools, 
jobs, and other amenities in addition to transit. 
 
In February, 2016, the Board reviewed and encouraged KCHA to pursue a 5-year real estate 
development strategy for acquiring and building 2,250 units of affordable housing. Two of the high 
priority areas for acquisitions were housing located in high opportunity neighborhoods and workforce 
housing in close proximity to high capacity transit. This specific acquisition opportunity strategically 
aligns with both priorities allowing KCHA the unique ability to preserve housing that exists along an 
emerging mass transit corridor as well as housing with access to great schools and good jobs. 
 
Kendall Ridge Apartments are located at 15301 NE 20th Street and are within a two minute walk of the 
King County Metro Rapid Ride B Line in Bellevue which is scheduled to provide direct service to the 
Overlake Light Rail Station (.8 miles to the north) commencing in 2023.  This property is an existing 
240-unit apartment complex not currently for sale on the open market.  KCHA has reached out to the 
owner regarding the potential acquisition of the property.   A full Project Profile is attached which 
outlines the strategic rationale for the acquisition, description of the property, proposed financing plan 
and analysis of the risks and risk mitigations associated with the transaction. 
 
Staff recommends approval of Resolution 5622. 

 



Kendall Ridge 
Project Profile 

Kendall Ridge is a 240-unit multifamily transit-oriented development (TOD) apartment 
community located in Bellevue, a high opportunity area, less than a block from line B of the 
Bellevue Rapid Ride metro and .8 miles from the Overlake Light Rail Station.  Built in 1979, the 
development consists of 15 two-story buildings (40 studio units, 72 one-bedroom units with 1 
bath, 48 two-bedroom units with 1 bath, and 80 two-bedroom units with two baths), a leasing 
office/clubhouse building and a swimming pool and basketball court.  KCHA has begun pre-
acquisition due diligence including title review and preparation for the physical investigation of 
the condition of the buildings.   

Purchase Status 

This property is currently owned by a private real estate investment company located in 
California.   KCHA approached the ownership to discuss our interest in acquiring the property.  
Through a series of discussions, the ownership appears amenable to sell the property to KCHA in 
accordance with the direction of KCHA’s Board of Commissioners, subject to negotiating the 
specific terms of an agreement and the satisfaction of the Executive Director with the results of 
KCHA’s due diligence review.  

The terms of a purchase and sale agreement would contemplate a sales price of $75,000,000 
($312,500/unit) and allow for a 30-day due diligence inspection window in order for KCHA to 
complete a thorough review of title, environmental, physical condition and overall feasibility of 
the project.  An earnest money deposit would be provided to the seller.  The closing date is 
anticipated to be 60 days after mutual execution of the purchase and sale agreement.   

Due Diligence Status 

KCHA will conduct an appraisal, capital needs assessment, Phase I environmental assessment, 
zoning review and a survey from third party consultants.  Results from the due diligence 
inspection reports will be available before the expiration of the due diligence contingency period.  
Based on initial property assessments by KCHA staff, the property appears to be in average 
to good condition. 

Property Description & Building Condition 

Kendall Ridge is a residential development located at 15301 NE 20th Street in Bellevue on an 11.3-
acre parcel.  The site was built in 1979 for multifamily residential use, consistent with current 
zoning.  It has been operated as a rental apartment complex since that time.   

The property consists of 15 multi-family buildings with a leasing office/laundry room/fitness 
center, outdoor playground, swimming pool, basketball court and mature landscaping.  The wood 
frame buildings, totaling 177,600 square feet, are two-story garden style structures with pitched 
roofs. The buildings provide common laundry facilities and extra storage for the tenants. There 
are 240 covered parking spaces and 250 open spaces, with a parking ratio of 2.04 spaces per unit.   
One-bedroom units are 650 sq. feet in size and the two bedrooms average 880 sq. feet. 

KCHA’s Asset Management and Capital Construction staff, along with third party consultants, 

{426/1060/01893487-2} 1 



will be performing inspections of the buildings, including interior inspections of residential units. 
These reports will allow us to gauge the extent of the short and longer-term improvements 
anticipated to be necessary as well as the approximate cost of these improvements.   Based on 
KCHA’s history with acquiring and operating buildings of this age and condition, staff expects to 
find a need for short-term repairs (repairs to be made within the first 12 months) to be in the 
neighborhood of $250,000 and medium term repairs and improvements to be between $2 - $3 
million. 

Kendall Ridge appears to be a sister property to KCHA’s Timberwood Apartments in Redmond. 
Timberwood, with similar construction to Kendall Ridge, is also 240 units and is comprised of 
studio, one and two-bedroom units although Kendall Ridge is five years newer and has 56 more 
two-bedroom units than Timberwood. 

Unit Configuration 

The unit mix includes: 
• 40 studio units of 450 square feet each,
• 72 one-bedroom, one bath units of 650 square feet each,
• 48 two-bedroom, one bath units of approximately 850 square feet,
• 80 two-bedroom, one- and one-half bath units of approximately 900 square feet.

Neighborhood Description 

The property is located in Bellevue near the intersection of NE 20th Street and 156th Avenue NE.  
The site has two driveway entrances:  a main entrance off NE 20th Street and a second entrance 
off 156th Avenue which is approximately 350 feet from the King County Rapid Ride “B” line metro 
stop.   The B line services the Overlake Light Rail Station which is approximately .8 miles directly 
north of the site.    

Kendall Ridge is surrounded by other large multifamily complexes and condominiums. Highland 
Middle School is located approximately one block to the west and Interlake High School is one 
half mile to the northeast.  There is extensive shopping and services within a quarter mile of the 
site, including the Crossroads Mall.  Kendall Ridge is an easy commute to Seattle, Downtown 
Bellevue and Bellevue College.  It is three quarters of a mile south of the Microsoft corporate 
campus and is located near numerous other retail, service, financial, technology, health service 
and public employers.   

Strategic Rationale for Acquisition 

KCHA’s Board of Commissioners has identified the acquisition and development of affordable 
housing near or adjacent to mass transit (transit-oriented development “TOD”) as a priority in 
order to address a shortage of affordable housing with easy access to reliable public 
transportation.  Kendall Ridge’s unique access to local transit, Rapid Ride and the Overlake Light 
Rail Station strategically positions the property to provide easy and convenient transportation to 
not only Bellevue but the larger region.   

Multifamily housing located in areas with convenient access to mass transit and near the new 
light rail stations has experienced continued rent escalation as demand for these locations grows. 
This is especially acute for existing properties whose rents have been relatively affordable relative 
to new construction in the same location.  Kendall Ridge, while operating as a market rate 
apartment complex, currently provides housing generally affordable to households at or below 

{426/1060/01893487-2} 2 



80% of the Area Median Income (AMI).  Preservation of existing naturally occurring affordable 
housing is a key strategy to ensure that, over the long-term, rents within these communities do 
not continue to escalate to the point they are no longer affordable.   

Kendall Ridge is also located in a high opportunity community, which is defined by King County 
as a “community where households have access to good schools, transportation and economic 
opportunities to promote upward mobility.”  With 240 apartments, Kendall Ridge provides access 
to transportation and economic opportunities for numerous households.  The large number of two-
bedroom units allows stable, uninterrupted access to excellent schools for lower income families 
who are at risk of being priced out of their homes. 

The Overlake Light Rail Station is projected to commence operation in 2023.  Acquiring Kendall 
Ridge in advance of the opening of the light rail station will help mitigate the increasing loss of 
affordable housing in this high opportunity community while ensuring the availability of 
affordable housing adjacent to high performing schools, a vibrant job center with convenient 
access to local, Rapid Ride and high capacity mass transit.  This acquisition is critical to lock in 
site affordability before rising rents put acquisition costs even higher.  Based on the importance of 
acquiring this specific housing development to preserve its existing affordability within this high 
opportunity community and uniquely situated TOD location, it is vital for KCHA to exercise its 
full statutory authority to acquire the Kendall Ridge Apartments. 

Proposed Financing 

Interim Financing - KCHA anticipates acquiring the property with proceeds from a draw on a 
proposed line of credit from KeyBank. The line of credit would bear an approximate interest rate 
of 2.75% and is subject to changes in the monthly LIBOR rate. 

Permanent Financing – KCHA has a number of different options for the permanent financing of 
the development.  The three most likely scenarios include: 1) a public sale of municipal bonds in 
the full amount of the interim financing backed by a general revenue pledge of KCHA; 2) a public 
sale of the amount of governmental housing bonds that can be supported directly by the net rental 
revenues of the property (between $40 - $50 million) and the balance of the interim loan 
refinanced with a public sale of municipal bonds backed by a combination of a general revenue 
pledge of KCHA and a King County loan guarantee (as part of KCHA’s $200 million credit 
enhancement program with King County) or 3) a public sale of the amount of governmental 
housing bonds that can be supported directly by the net rental revenues of the property and the 
balance of the interim loan financed by a below market mezzanine loan financed in whole by 
public or private sources.   All of the above financing structures would also rely on KCHA’s AA 
credit rating from Standards & Poor’s.  It is KCHA’s intention to put the permanent financing in 
place as soon as reasonably possible after closing.  The financing terms in each of the three 
scenarios mentioned above assumes a 30-year amortizing facility with a 20-year bullet maturity 
and an interest rate of 4%. 

It is important to note that similar to other market rate acquisitions, the net rental income 
generated by the operations of the property can only support financing for approximately 55% - 
70% of the purchase price.  The debt service for the remainder of the purchase price will need to 
be covered either through an internal reallocation of net operating income from other Asset 
Management Department properties, through a direct payment of debt service by KCHA’s 
corporate revenues or through a 0%-1% interest only mezzanine loan instrument.   

{426/1060/01893487-2} 3 



Sources & Uses 

USES 
Acquisition $75,000,000 
Closing/Other 

$50,000 
TOTAL $75,050,000 

 SOURCES 
KeyBank Line of Credit 
KCHA Cash 

$75,000,000 
$50,000 

TOTAL $75,050,000 

Risks & Mitigation 

Acquisition Risks & Mitigation 

• (Risk) The purchase price for the property is above its true market value and KCHA could risk
overpaying for the property. 

• (Mitigation) As part of the due diligence process, KCHA will obtain a market rate appraisal of
the property performed by a MAI appraiser licensed to do business in the State of Washington 
and will limit the acquisition cost to no more than 105% of the appraised value.  Based on current 
cap rates and market potential rents at the site, staff believes the purchase price to be below 
market value. 

• (Risk) The condition of the property has title or physical defects unforeseen/unknown.

• (Mitigation) KCHA is obtaining a full title report from a title insurance company and is
conducting extensive engineering and environmental due diligence on the property. KCHA will 
ensure that, upon closing, KCHA will be able to obtain a full owner’s policy insuring clean title 
with extended coverage.  KCHA is conducting a Phase 1 environmental assessment and a 
completing a survey of the property.  

Financing Risk & Mitigation 

• (Risk) KCHA is unable to secure sufficient credit capacity within its line(s) of credit for the
initial acquisition financing.  

• (Mitigation) KCHA has received initial authorization from KeyBank to increase one of its
existing lines of credit in an amount sufficient to cover the full cost of acquisition.  Formal 
approval is expected to be received prior to the end of KCHA’s due diligence window. 

• (Risk) Short-term/Long-term interest rates spike.

{426/1060/01893487-2} 4 



• (Mitigation) KCHA expects to pursue permanent financing within the next 4 – 9 months.
While interest rates can swing widely within a short window of time, short-term interest rates 
have negligible costs on the overall financing and long-term interest rates have been stable. 
Securing permanent financing as soon as reasonably possible will help mitigate exposure to 
increases in long-term interest rates.  

Rehab Risk & Mitigation 

• (Risk) Additional repairs and improvements are needed beyond what is visible from due
diligence inspections. 

• (Mitigation) KCHA is in the process of completing its due diligence of the property.  Staff
estimates of the $2.25 million - $3.25 million in projected repairs and improvements, the 
property will require less than $250,000 in short-term repairs.  The additional improvements can 
be made over the next 3 – 5 years without negatively impacting the physical viability of the 
property. On-going routine repairs and replacements can be paid for through net cash flow from 
property operations.  Unforeseen repairs not able to be paid from property operations could also 
be funded from additional draws on a KCHA line of credit or from KCHA reserves. KCHA has 
extensive experience in assessing this type of property and in undertaking needed repairs and 
upgrades. 

{426/1060/01893487-2} 5 



THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 5622 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING ACQUISITION OF 
KENDALL RIDGE APARTMENTS 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, there is an increasingly serious shortage of affordable housing in 

King County, which the King County Housing Authority (“Housing Authority”) is 

charged with addressing pursuant to its mission of providing quality affordable housing 

opportunities equitably distributed within King County; and 

WHEREAS, it is a goal of local government and the Housing Authority to further 

fair housing in the region affirmatively, in part through preservation of existing 

affordable housing opportunities in areas with significantly appreciating housing costs; 

and 

WHEREAS, Kendall Ridge Apartments (the “Property”) is a 240-unit apartment 

complex located at 15301 NE 20th Street, Bellevue, Washington, in an area of King 

County where rents are increasingly unaffordable to low-income households; and 

WHEREAS, rents at the Property are expected to continue to escalate, making 

the Property and Bellevue increasingly less affordable to low income households; and 

WHEREAS, there is a growing loss of affordable housing within transit corridors 

and around light rail stations in King County; and 

WHEREAS, access to reliable public transportation is a critical resource for low-

income households, providing access to work, services, school, shopping, cultural and 

other activities for these residents; and 

{426/1060/01893214-2} 1 



WHEREAS, the Housing Authority has identified acquiring and developing 

housing along planned mass transit corridors and areas with frequent high capacity transit 

as a strategic priority to ensure the long-term availability of low-income housing near 

reliable public transportation; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located within a transit corridor and close to light rail 

where rents are increasingly unaffordable to low-income households; and  

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.070(2) provides, in part, that a housing authority shall 

have the power to acquire housing projects within its area of operations, and RCW 

35.82.070(5) authorizes a housing authority to acquire real property by exercise of the 

power of eminent domain or by purchase in lieu of exercise of the power of eminent 

domain; and  

WHEREAS, acquisition of the Property by the Housing Authority will serve the 

mission of the Housing Authority and the housing goals of the region through an 

approach that is considerably less expensive than constructing the same number of new 

housing units. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS OF THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF 

KING: 

Section l:  Acquisition of the Property by the Housing Authority is necessary to 

preserve and provide housing for persons of low income that is equitably distributed in 

various areas of its operations and in areas of rising rents, planned mass transit corridors 

and high housing costs in particular. 

{426/1060/01893214-2} 2 



Section 2:  The Board of Commissioners hereby authorizes the Executive 

Director (i) to give notice to the current owner of the Property of the Housing Authority’s 

intention to acquire the Property by eminent domain if it is unsuccessful in acquiring the 

Property on satisfactory terms through negotiation and purchase in lieu of condemnation; 

and (ii) to acquire the Property by condemnation through exercise of the Housing 

Authority’s power of eminent domain, if it is unsuccessful in acquiring the Property on 

satisfactory terms through negotiation with and purchase from the owner in lieu of 

condemnation.   

Section 3:  The Executive Director, Stephen J. Norman, is hereby vested with the 

authority, and with discretion in the exercise of such authority, to attempt to acquire the 

Property through negotiation and purchase in lieu of condemnation at a price anticipated 

to be approximately Seventy-Five Million Dollars ($75,000,000), $312,500 per unit) but 

which shall not exceed 105% of the appraised value of the Property pursuant to an 

appraisal completed by a Washington State licensed MAI appraiser.   

Section 4:  If the Executive Director is successful in negotiation of the purchase 

of the Property from the owner in lieu of condemnation for the price authorized above, 

then the Executive Director is hereby authorized (a) to sign a Purchase and Sale 

Agreement providing for the acquisition of the Property containing such terms and 

conditions as are customary in such transactions and as are deemed by the Executive 

Director to be in the best interests of the Housing Authority, and (b) to pay into the 

purchase escrow the earnest money deposit for the purchase of the Property provided for 

under the Purchase and Sale Agreement under terms that would permit the earnest money 

{426/1060/01893214-2} 3 



to be forfeited to the seller as liquidated damages if the sale fails to close through no fault 

of the seller.   

Section 5:  The Board of Commissioners hereby elects pursuant to RCW 

8.26.010(2) not to comply with the provisions of RCW 8.26.035 through RCW 8.26.115 

in connection with the acquisition of the Property because no existing occupants of the 

Property will be displaced by reason of the acquisition. 

Section 6:  The Board of Commissioners hereby authorizes the Executive 

Director to execute any and all applications, agreements, certifications or other 

documents in connection with the submission of various funding and financing 

applications, in order to provide all or part of the interim and/or permanent financing of 

the acquisition of the Property pursuant to this Resolution. 

Section 6: The Board of Commissioners hereby authorizes the Executive 

Director, Stephen J. Norman, and in his absence, Deputy Executive Director Daniel R. 

Watson or Deputy Executive Director Jill Stanton, to execute on behalf of the Housing 

Authority any and all contracts, agreements, certifications or other documents in 

connection with the Housing Authority’s acquisition of the Property pursuant to this 

Resolution.  

{426/1060/01893214-2} 4 



ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE HOUSING 

AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING THIS 25TH DAY OF MARCH 2019. 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE 
COUNTY OF KING, WASHINGTON 
 
 
____________________________________ 

DOUGLAS J. BARNES, Chair 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
 STEPHEN J. NORMAN, Secretary 

{426/1060/01893214-2} 5 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
5 



 
 
To: Board of Commissioners           
  
From: Andrew Calkins, Senior Program Manager 
 
Date: March 25, 2019 
 
Re:       KCHA Community Indicators Dashboard 
 
SUMMARY 
At the October 2018 Board Meeting, a revised version of the Community Indicators Dashboard 
was presented and discussed. This dashboard, first introduced at the 2018 Board Retreat, 
provides context on regional trends in housing and homelessness, and serves as a broad backdrop 
for informing KCHA’s mission definition, program and policy design, resource allocation 
decisions, and approaches for measuring agency impact. At the March 2019 Board of 
Commissioners meeting, staff will present an updated version that incorporates more recent data 
about our community and will discuss how these trends relate to KCHA’s ongoing work. 
 
KEY FINDINGS 
The Community Indicators Dashboard provides context in three domains: 1) severe rent burden 
among extremely low-income and moderately low-income households; 2) annual counts of 
sheltered and unsheltered homelessness from the county’s Point in Time (PIT) count and school 
districts’ annual reporting; and 3) residential income segregation. Each domain is briefly 
discussed below. 
 
Severe Rent Burden: A household is considered rent burdened when they spend more than 30% 
of their income on rent and severely rent burdened when they spend more than 50% of their 
income on rent. Both are important metrics to understand housing affordability in the region. 
Recent research from Zillow has shown that “communities where people spend more than 32 
percent of their income on rent can expect a more rapid increase in homelessness.”2 At the 
household level, excessive shelter burdens can threaten housing stability and limit the amount of 
money households have to spend on groceries, transportation, education, and other essential 
needs.  
 
For extremely low-income households, those earning less than 30% of the area median income 
(AMI),3 the rate of severe shelter burden increased from 61% to 65% between 2012 and 2017, 

2 Chris Glynn, Alexander Casey. “Homelessness Rises Faster Where Rent Exceeds a Third of Income.” December 
11, 2018. https://www.zillow.com/research/homelessness-rent-affordability-22247/.  
3 In 2017, for a family of four, 30% of the AMI equated to $28,800 and 80% of AMI equated to $72,000. 

                                                 

https://www.zillow.com/research/homelessness-rent-affordability-22247/


according to the U.S. Census Bureau’s American Community Survey (ACS). Given that rents 
rose 39% during this period according to Zillow, it is revealing that rent burden among the 
county’s lowest income households has not risen higher. Given that the number of extremely low 
income renter households in the county has essentially plateaued, severe rent burden among this 
population has likely reached a ceiling wherein virtually every extremely low-income renter that 
does not receive a federal subsidy from one of the county’s three public housing authorities or 
another affordable housing provider in the county is severely shelter burdened. 
 
An additional concern is the rising shelter burden rate among moderately low-income 
households, those earning between 30% and 80% of the area median income, which has 
increased rapidly from 15% to 26% between 2012 and 2017. These households, who were much 
less likely to experience a shelter burden before the onset of the current affordability crisis, are 
now struggling to find affordable homes. This trend speaks to the continued need for KCHA to 
aggressively seek out additional opportunities to acquire moderately-priced rental housing in 
order to decouple rents from market pressures, and for the region to broaden housing strategies in 
order to address both extremely and moderately low income housing challenges. KCHA is also 
tracking rent burden patterns among households earning between 80% and 120% of AMI, a 
group that traditionally has not experienced severe shelter burden but has seen moderate shelter 
burden (spending more than 30% of income rent and utilities) rise from 12% to 23% since 2009.  
 
Homelessness: In 2018, All Home’s annual Seattle/King County One Night Count of homeless 
community members (including both individuals on the street and those in temporary shelter) 
revealed a 15% increase in unsheltered homelessness, rising from 5,485 in 2017 to 6,320 in 
2018. The count is not a particularly accurate survey of the true number of street homeless, but 
year to year comparisons can provide a general sense of trend lines. While most of the homeless 
were counted in Seattle – the city saw a 17% increase – north and northeast King County also 
experienced a 173% increase in unsheltered homelessness between 2017 and 2018 (142 to 388 
individuals). Survey results from the One Night Count found that homelessness continues to 
disproportionally impact people of color and people identifying as LGBTQ+ relative to the 
county’s broader population. One bright spot is that unsheltered homelessness did decline among 
veterans (a 31% decrease from 2017), demonstrating the impact of new VASH lease-ups by 
KCHA and SHA. Overall, the continued rise of unsheltered homelessness, even as rent increases 
have slowed, illustrates the need to continue advocacy for additional funding and investments in 
permanent supportive housing solutions. 
 
Student homelessness in King County schools also rose during the 2017-2018 school year, albeit 
at a slower rate than in prior years. Homelessness among students rose only 1.8% following an 
increase of 12% in 2016-2017 from the prior school year. Bellevue, Auburn, Kent, and Federal 
Way School Districts all saw the number of homeless school children in their classrooms rise in 
the 2017-2018 school year. School districts that saw fewer homeless students included the 
Highline School District, where KCHA has funded short-term rental assistance via the Student 
Family Stability Initiative (SFSI). While students must experience homelessness (and therefore 
would show up in the annual data) to qualify for SFSI, the program’s operation during the 2015-
2016 and 2016-2017 school years in the Highline School District may have partially contributed 
to lower homelessness counts in the 2017-2018 school year. 
 



Residential Income Segregation: Segregation by income and race is a persistent and growing 
problem for communities across the country. While the Seattle-Metro Area is less segregated by 
race and income than other major cities, segregation by income has significantly worsened over 
the last three decades. The percentage of households living in lower income census tracts (i.e., 
tracts with a median income less than 80% of the County median) rose from 23% in 1980 to 27% 
in 2017. At the opposite end of this income spectrum, the percentage of households living in 
higher income census tracts (i.e., tracts with a median income greater than 150% of the County 
median) also rose from 19% in 1980 to 27% in 2017. This growing income bifurcation is a 
byproduct of decreases in persons living in middle-income census tracts in King County over the 
past three decades.   
 
As the maps included on the Community Indicators Dashboard illustrate, not only are there more 
census tracts with very low and very high median incomes today than in 1980, but these areas are 
consistently clustered in south and east King County, respectively. KCHA’s geographic mobility 
initiatives, including Creating Moves to Opportunity (CMTO) and multi-tiered payment 
standards, play a small role in addressing the much larger residential trends, which are heavily 
influenced by regional and national macroeconomic forces. By ensuring KCHA’s major 
programs provide geographic choice, however, KCHA can help ensure that its programs do not 
perpetuate segregation of low-income households.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
Moving forward, we plan to update the Community Indicators Dashboard on an annual basis in 
March of each year. This timing corresponds with update schedules for the key data sources used 
in the dashboard: spring for annual homelessness counts, summer for student homelessness data, 
and November-December for 1-year American Community Survey (ACS) estimates. Based on 
this plan, the next Community Indicators Dashboard will be presented in March 2020. 
 
Over the course of this year, staff will continue to explore alternative metrics to measure 
residential segregation patterns, from both a race and income perspective, with a focus on how 
these forces work in concert with one another. To better elucidate these trends, staff may bring 
new metrics forward in future dashboard iterations. 



KCHA 2019 Community Indicators Dashboard March 2019

Rent Burden in King County *

Extremely low-income households consistently experience SEVERE RENT BURDENS, paying more than 50% of their income to rent.1

Homelessness in King County *

The number of HOMELESS INDIVUDUALS in King County has surged since 2014, rising 35%.2

Following a 12% increase in 2016-2017, school districts saw a 1.8% increase in the number of HOMELESS SCHOOL CHILDREN in their classrooms during the 2017-2018 school year.3

Notes

* King County indicators include the City of Seattle. Seattle-Metro Region indicators include King, Pierce, and Snohomish County.

** Extremely low-income households are those earning less than 30% of the Area Median Income (AMI). Moderately low-income households are those earning between 30% and 80% of AMI.
1 U.S. Census Bureau. American Community Survey (ACS), One-Year Public Use Microdata Sample (PUMS). 2007 - 2017. https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/data/pums.html. 
2 U.S. Department of Urban Development. Point-in-Time (PIT) Estimates of Homelessness by Continuum of Care Program. 2017. https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/3031/pit-and-hic-data-since-2007. 
3 Washington State Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction. Education of Homeless Children and Youth Data Collection and Reports. 2008 - 2017. http://www.k12.wa.us/HomelessEd/Data.aspx. 

4 OSPI's full count of homeless students in King County is included for context. Excluding Seattle, there were 5,516 homeless students identified in King County during the '17 - '18 school year.

KCHA's Community Indicators Dashboard is intended to provide a broad backdrop of community trends to inform KCHA’s program and policy design, resource allocation decisions, and approaches for measuring 

agency impact. The dashboard provides context in three domains: 1) severe rent burden among extremely low-income and moderately low-income households; 2) annual counts of sheltered and unsheltered 

homelessness from the county’s Point in Time (PIT) count and school districts’ annual reporting; and 3) income segregation trends. 

65%
of extremely low-income households 

were severely rent burdened in 2017, 

totalling 48,838 households.

12,112
 people were homeless on a single night 

in 2018, including a 15% increase in 

unsheltered homeless persons since 

2017

9,685
students were homeless in King County 

schools during the '17 - '18 school year.4

63.5%  
(46,348)

61.0%
(49,521)

63.8%
(45,169)

64.94%
(48,838)

16.1%
(15,607)

14.6%
(18,975)

23.2%
(27,612)

25.66%
(28,998)

10%

70%

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Moderately low income households**

Extremely low income households**

5,680 5,808 6,089 6,222 6,480 6,281 6,370 6,213 6,319 6,225 6,158 5,792

2,222 2,693 2,863 2,800 2,492 2,618 2,736 2,736
3,803 4,505 5,485 6,320

0

13,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

SHELTERED

UNSHELTERED

12,112

7,902

KING

COUNTY

3,404

8,486
9,508 9,685

NATION

956,914
1,301,239 1,263,323 1,304,803 1,354,363

0

2 mill

0

10,000

2008-2009 2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018



March 2019

Income Segregation in the Seattle-Metro Region

Fewer people live in MIDDLE-INCOME NEIGHBORHOODS as the percentage of households living in high and low-Income neighborhoods increases 5

Notes

11%  
fewer households live in middle income 

census tracts compared to 1980 (57% 

versus 46%).

7 U.S. Census Bureau. Decennial Census, 1980. American Community Survey (ACS), Five-Year Sample, 2013 - 2017.

6 Census tracts are grouped at the 67%, 80%, 100%, 125%, and 150% Area Median Income levels to match the methodology used by the Stanford Center on Poverty & Inequality. https://inequality.stanford.edu/income-segregation-maps. 

5 A range of other economic segregation indexes also rank the region near the middle or in the lower half of large metropolitan regions, including the Generalized Neighborhood Sorting Index (GNSI, 46th out of the 100 largest commuting zones), Brown University’s American Communities Project (66th out 

of the 100 largest metros), and in the Martin Prosperity Institute’s research by Richard Florida (191st of 350 metros).

Census Tract Median Income as Prct. of County Median6, 7

16%
12%

11%
11%

20%27%

26%

30%

15%

15%

12%

4%

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

20171980

<67% <80% <100%

<125% <150% >150%

Percentage of households living in Low, Middle, 
and High Income Census Tracts 6, 7

1980 Census 2013 - 2017 ACS
 

                                                           
1 U.S. Census Bureau. Decennial Census, 1980. American Community Survey (ACS), Five-Year Sample, 2012 - 2016. 

Income Segregation: Census Tract Median Income as Prct. of County Median1 
 1980 Census 2012 – 2016 ACS  
 

 
 

Prct. of Households Living in High and Low-Income Neighborhoods is increasing 
8
 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
6 



 
 
 
To: Board of Commissioners           
  
From: Jill Stanton, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
Date: March 15, 2019 
 
Re:       Energy Performance Contract  
 
At the March Board meeting, staff will provide a status update on the Energy 
Performance Contract (EPC) project. The project is expected to generate substantial 
reductions in energy and water consumption and concomitant utility cost savings 
through the installation of a variety of Energy Conservation Measures (ECMs) in 
public housing developments. These cost savings, in conjunction with HUD subsidy 
incentives, will over time offset the cost of the work. The scope of the project has 
been expanded to include the renovation of several elevators and the total cost of all 
capital improvements included in this project is approximately $21.8 million.  
 
EPC Program Structure: HUD’s EPC program encourages housing authorities to 
install capital improvements that reduce and/or contain future energy and water 
consumption by providing subsidies (“incentives”) over a period of 20 years that can 
amortize debt and pay other related costs associated with the installation of these 
measures. KCHA has utilized the program over the past two years to install ductless 
heat pumps, energy recovery ventilators, exhaust fans, LED lighting, furnaces, 
elevator replacements and a variety of water saving measures as needed throughout 
KCHA’s public housing inventory. 
 
Costs for the installation of these measures are being financed (in KCHA’s case) 
through two debt instruments, one involving $10.4 million in qualified energy 
conservation bonds and the second an internal loan of $18.1 million in KCHA MTW 
working capital. The amortization term for these loans is 20 years.  
 
The reduction in projected consumption levels will provide cost savings over time for 
both KCHA and resident paid utilities. Calculations as to projected savings levels will 
determine annual HUD incentive payments to KCHA, which are funneled through 
the public housing operating contract. At least 75% of the incentive payments 
generated must be used to fund installation costs (principally through amortization 
of the debt incurred) and on-going maintenance and monitoring of the EPC 
program. 25% of the incentive cash flow can be retained by KCHA for any general 
use allowable under its MTW contract.  Any excess cash flow over this 25% cap that 
is not spent on EPC related uses will be retained by HUD. For this reason, the project 



was structured to ensure all potential incentives would be captured and spent on 
eligible expenses at KCHA in order to minimize the risk that incentives could be 
retained at the federal level rather than flowing to our local community through 
expanded capital work at our properties. 
 
This is not the first EPC KCHA has undertaken. In 2005, KCHA entered into an EPC 
project, referred to as EPC 1, which provided incentives from HUD for a 12 year 
period. All EPC 1 contract benchmarks were achieved and all associated debt has 
now been paid off. When HUD amended its regulations to allow EPC projects to 
extend to 20 year terms, KCHA was able to extend EPC 1 for an additional 8 years to 
take advantage of further incentive payments. In addition to extending EPC 1 in 
2016, KCHA also initiated a second EPC project (EPC 2), to finance additional 
energy improvements and leverage further incentive payments. 
 
KCHA retained an energy services consultant, Johnson Controls Inc. (JCI), to 
calculate the estimated savings and corresponding HUD incentives that proposed 
energy conservation measures could generate and then scaled the project to 
maximize return. Their projections determined that the incentives generated and 
utility cost savings achieved would fund additional capital improvements beyond the 
scope of the initial ECMs identified. This opportunity enabled KCHA to add elevator 
renovations to the work scope. New elevators do not generate energy savings that are 
as significant as other measures, but they do qualify as allowable expenditures under 
the EPC program. Utilizing EPC funding for elevator renovations allows KCHA to 
free up capital grant dollars, which would have otherwise been needed for the 
elevator work, for other capital needs. 
 
Project Close-Out Timeline: Most of the EPC energy measures were installed by 
year-end 2018. We intend to complete all remaining work, including EPC financed 
elevator improvements and ECMs at properties newly added to the public housing 
inventory, by year-end 2019.  
 
JCI is under contract to conduct on-going monitoring, provide KCHA with an annual 
energy consumption and cost savings verification report, and assist our finance team 
in calculating incentive levels for submission to HUD as part of our annual operating 
subsidy request. Performance guarantees by JCI are discussed in the “risks” section 
of this memo. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Project Financial Structure: 
Sources and Uses EPC 1 EPC 2 Total 
Sources 

   
QECB 3rd Party Bond Debt 

 

           
10,464,529  

         
10,464,529  

KCHA MTW Loan 
           
11,050,000  

             
7,031,889  

         
18,081,889  

Total Sources 
           
11,050,000  

           
17,496,418  

         
28,546,418  

Uses 
   

ECMs and Elevators 
           
(9,315,898) 

        
(12,480,215) 

       
(21,796,113) 

JCI Fees 
              
(943,021) 

           
(4,269,193) 

         
(5,212,214) 

KCHA Fees and Overhead 
              
(702,051) 

              
(606,040) 

         
(1,308,091) 

Dept. of Enterprise Svc. Fees 
                 
(89,030) 

              
(140,970) 

             
(230,000) 

Total Uses 
        
(11,050,000) 

        
(17,496,418) 

       
(28,546,418) 

 
 
Projected EPC Incentives & Uses EPC 1 EPC 2 

Projected Incentives 
           
18,178,067  

           
35,909,705  

QECB 3rd Party Debt Payments 
 

        
(16,039,926) 

KCHA MTW Loan Payments 
        
(14,753,450) 

        
(12,943,210) 

Monitoring and Verification Fees 
              
(250,543) 

           
(1,447,671) 

Operational Costs 
           
(1,549,000) 

           
(1,800,000) 

Replacement Reserves 
                 
(72,443) 

           
(2,015,810) 

   
Net Surplus Incentives 

             
1,552,631  

             
1,663,088  

   Percentage of Total Incentives 8.54% 4.63% 
Note: Percentage of Total Incentives is projected to be under the 25% cap referred to 
earlier in this memo. 
 
Resident Impact: Staff planned and managed all construction with close attention 
to minimizing resident intrusion. The initial ECMs were scoped in phases that 
involved entering individual units and completing a majority of the work within a 



day. Although individual units had to be accessed 3 to 4 times for different measures, 
overnight relocation was rarely needed during this phase. Residents were contacted 
both before and during installation work and were provided with detailed timelines 
and updates as schedules shifted due to contractor timing. Accommodations were 
made as needed.  
 
The elevator work – both those elevators being directly funded under the EPC and a 
larger tranche of additional elevators being repaired through use of capital funds - 
has been more challenging than the initial ECM work. The majority of KCHA’s mid-
rise buildings for senior/younger disabled households have only one elevator. 
KCHA’s Resident Services staff has played a primary role in coordinating and 
collaborating with on-site staff and residents to minimize the inconvenience of not 
having access to elevators. Through a combination of on-site services and relocation, 
553 residents have been supported during the process so far. Resident Service staff 
developed a comprehensive communication plan including 14 resident meetings and 
construction progress boards in the lobby of each building. On-site services include 
home visits from staff, grocery delivery, laundry services, shuttle services, garbage 
assistance and other special services as needed. Where on-site services were not 
sufficient to keep a resident in his or her home, relocation to local hotels or with 
family members has been provided. 
 
Ongoing Monitoring: The ongoing monitoring of the EPC project tracks two 
primary components, utility consumption levels and expected incentives from HUD. 
Significant reductions in both water and energy consumption are being achieved 
through the installed measures. Water consumption has decreased by approximately 
18% and energy consumption has decreased by approximately 8.5%, aligning closely 
with expectations.  
 
The incentives generated from KCHA paid utility savings are primarily based on 
reducing and/or containing utility consumption to the levels projected for the 
project. The EPC rules essentially freeze KCHA’s utility consumption baseline at 
levels that are either equal to or higher than our actual consumption over an average 
3 year period. Annually we compare our actual consumption to these baselines to 
calculate the reduction in consumption that will equate to utility savings which 
generate the incentives. In addition, we generate another incentive from resident 
paid utilities based on projected lower consumption and the associated cost of 
utilities paid by the residents. For the 2018 and 2019 annual subsidy requests, the 
calculated incentives were in line with projections. 
 
It is important to note that actual decreases in consumption are only one factor of 
the calculation used to determine HUD incentives. Other factors include utility rate 
inflation factors, engineered consumption baselines, and annual adjustments and 
prorations to HUD subsidy levels. 
 
Risks: KCHA has identified the following potential risks and mitigation strategies 
associated with the EPC program. 
 



Risk: The ECMs underperform and fail to achieve projected utility consumption 
savings, resulting in lower than expected HUD financial incentives being paid to 
KCHA. 
 
Mitigation: The calculations as to energy savings and anticipated HUD incentive 
levels were performed by JCI. JCI is obligated, under the terms of its contract with 
KCHA, to provide on-going guarantees covering debt service and JCI monitoring and 
verification fees. The guarantees total approximately $31.9 million, which exceeds 
the $28.5 million in costs connected with project implementation. The projected 
savings and incentives over the 20 year period are substantially higher than the 
guarantee and provide an additional cushion to cover under performance. In 2018 
the incentives generated were on target with projections and we believe, based on 
our past experience with EPC 1, that this performance will continue.  
 
Risk: Significant Congressional proration of Public Housing operating subsidies 
(which impact incentive payments) will decrease incentive levels. 
 
Mitigation: To mitigate the risk due to reduced subsidy levels, KCHA and JCI used 
conservative factors such as lower than anticipated utility rate escalations in 
calculating the estimated incentives that will be generated. Should KCHA not achieve 
the total projected incentives due to proration or other issues, KCHA’s primary risk 
would be that we may not receive the full amount of projected interest income to 
KCHA on our loans to the project and/or be able to fund the replacement reserves to 
the levels we’ve projected.  
 
Risk: Insufficient or improper maintenance, repair, and replacement of the ECMs 
resulting in reduced conservation performance. 
 
Mitigation: The project annual budget includes two line items to mitigate the risk of 
not properly maintaining the ECMs. The project will fund one full time maintenance 
position dedicated to the routine maintenance of the ECMs. In addition, there are 
replacement reserves set aside to fund large capital repairs and replacements as 
needed. 
 
Summary: KCHA’s EPC program is providing $21.8 million of capital 
improvements to our public housing portfolio and is supporting critically important 
environmental sustainability goals. Our residents benefit from this program through 
improved quality of life and improved quality of housing. Our staff has worked hard 
to ensure the success of the EPC program and will continue to maintain the ECMs, 
monitor the results, and report milestones to the Board. Overall, it appears this 
project has been successful and will be very beneficial to KCHA. 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
7 



 
 
To: Board of Commissioners           
  
From: Craig Violante, Director of Finance 
 
Date: March 12, 2019 
 
Re:       Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Statements 
 

 2018 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
  

Net operating income for 2018 exceeded midyear financial projections. After accounting 
for $3.5 million of Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) Block Grant Revenue awarded to 
KCHA but held by HUD at the end of 2018, operating revenues finished at 100.5% of the 
midyear budget forecast while operating expenses were at 98.5%. 
 
2018 results were heavily influenced by three factors: an increase in HCV block grant 
funding, the continued upward trajectory of average monthly HCV rent payments to 
landlords, and higher Public Housing Operating Fund Subsidy revenue than was 
anticipated. 
 
The 2018 budget included an estimated 8.0% HCV inflation factor with a 97.6% prorate, 
resulting in a projected funding increase of $7.4 million over 2017.  Actual funding 
included an 18.2% inflation factor bump and a proration of 99.745%, resulting in 2018 
HCV funding $17.1 million above budget and $24.5 million higher than 2017. 
 
Housing Assistance Payments (HAP) to landlords is the largest programmatic use of 
HCV funding.  During 2018, HAP costs were $13.5 million greater than 2017 levels. 
 
The Public Housing Operating fund subsidy was budgeted in 2018 using an estimated 
prorate of 90%, while the actual prorate for the year was 94.74%.  When combined with 
some unexpected increases in subsidy eligibility, total 2018 operating fund subsidy was 
$1.2 million above budget and $1.5 million higher than 2017 funding. 
 
 
FOURTH QUARTER EXECTIVE SUMMARY 
 
KCHA received two additional Housing Choice Voucher awards during the quarter – 61 
Family Unification Program (FUP) Vouchers and 43 additional Veteran Affairs 
Supportive Housing (VASH) vouchers. This brings the total number of vouchers awarded 
to KCHA under the 2018 funding round to 357, with a baseline annual funding level of 
$3.8 million. KCHA’s allocation was one of the five largest in the country, having 
received the maximum funding available under the competitive processes for the FUP 



Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Report 
March 25, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 2 of 9 
 
and Non-elderly Disabled (NED) vouchers. The VASH awards were sized according to 
the VA Medical Centers’ estimate of need and the local PHA’s ability to utilize the 
vouchers 
 
The Somerset Gardens rehabilitation project was substantially completed during the 
quarter. This project involved cross-departmental cooperation, with Housing 
Management’s regional repair crews performing apartment reconfiguration and 
renovations in close coordination with Asset Management’s property managers, 
development and asset management teams and construction managers. A total of $6.5 
million in construction work was completed, including the conversion of 24 one bedroom 
apartments into 12 three bedroom units. 
 
In support of the Somerset Gardens project, KCHA successfully went to market in 
late 2018 with a $15 million bond issuance authorized by the Board in November.  
The offering beat the original interest projection of 4.25% to 4.5% by closing with a 
blended rate of 3.88%. This issuance marks the first time KCHA has issued debt 
securitized by its AA rating without a pledge of the real estate as collateral. 
 
KCHA must maintain a debt service coverage ratio of 1.1 or better to remain in 
compliance with lender debt covenants.  The debt service coverage ratio is calculated by 
dividing net operating income by the annual required debt service payments and is a 
measure of the ability of a borrower to meet current debt obligations. A ratio of 1.0 or 
greater means the borrower has sufficient income to cover its obligations.   Below is a 
chart detailing the recent history of this important metric: 
 

Q1 2.09 Q1 1.99
Q2 1.98 Q2 1.77
Q3 1.67 Q3 1.65
Q4 1.59 Q4 1.97

2017 Ratios 2018 Ratios

 
 
 
CASH AND INVESTMENT SUMMARIES 

  
Overall cash balances are largely unchanged from the previous quarter, declining by 
$2.5 million.  Unrestricted cash rose by $6.4 million while designated/restricted cash 
declined by $8.9 million.  For a complete report on KCHA’s overall cash position at 
the end of the quarter, please see page 10.   
 



Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Report 
March 25, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 3 of 9 
 

Investment Summary (in millions) as of December 31, 2018 Amount Yield % of Total
Invested in the Local Government Investment Pool & Masterfund $88.8 2.38% 44.1%
Invested by KCHA 65.4 1.91% 32.5%
Cash held by trustees 14.8 0.10% * 7.3%
Cash held in checking and savings accounts 16.0 0.10% * 7.9%
  Invested by KCHA $185.0 1.93% 91.8%

Cash loaned for low income housing & EPC project purposes 16.5 4.98% 8.2%
  Loaned by KCHA 16.5 4.98% 8.2%

Total $201.5 2.18% 100.0%

*Estimate  
 
The overall Return on Investment (ROI) on all KCHA investments, including loans 
made for low income housing and EPC project purposes was 2.18%, up from 1.92% 
last quarter.  The Washington State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool 
(LGIP) interest rate at 12/31/2018 was 2.49%.  
 
Balances and quarterly activity for MTW and COCC cash reserves (in millions of 
dollars) are: 
 
MTW Cash, Beginning of Quarter $8.6

Quarterly change:
Block grant cash receipts from HUD 44.3
Operating Fund subsidy related to resident service activities 0.1
Amounts returned to MTW program 3.2
Quarterly HAP payments sourced from the block grant (27.6)
Quarterly block grant administrative fees paid to Section 8 (2.3)
Loan to EPC project 0.0
Used for debt service 0.0
Additional transfers to EPC project 0.0
Additional subsidy transferred to Public Housing properties (0.7)
Capital construction projects (2.6)
Unit upgrades (0.4)
Direct social service expenses (1.2)
Homeless Housing expenses (0.7)
Other net changes (0.5)

MTW Cash, End of Quarter $20.2

Less Reserves:
Restricted reserve-Green River collateral (5.2)
Restricted reserve-FHLB collateral (3.9)
FSS reserves (0.2)

MTW Available Cash, End of Quarter $10.8
 



Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Report 
March 25, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 4 of 9 
 
 
COCC Cash, Beginning of Quarter $51.4

Quarterly change:
Fee revenue 2.5
Transfer of excess cash to COCC 0.7
Interest income on investments and loans 0.6
Net lending activity (1.3)
Administrative expenses (3.6)
Net change in Central Maintenance and Vehicle Funds (0.2)
Other net change (0.4)

COCC Cash, End of Quarter $49.7

Less Reserves:
Liquidity reserves for King County credit enhancement (13.0)

COCC Working Capital Cash, End of Quarter $36.7
 

 
  



Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Report 
March 25, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 5 of 9 
 
CAPITAL INVESTMENTS (Including tax credit partnerships) 

  
The following schedule shows the budget versus actual costs of both KCHA-owned 
properties and KCHA-managed tax credit partnerships’ capital projects for 2018.   
 

Actuals Budget Percent of
Thru Thru YTD Annual

12/31/2018 12/31/2018 Variance Budget
CONSTRUCTION  ACTIVITIES

Managed by Capital  Construction Department
Public Housing $5,933,777 $6,411,806 ($478,029) 92.5%
509 Properties 2,604,888 (1 ) 3,575,529        (970,641) 72.9%
Other Properties 3,949,375 (2) 2,007,234       1,942,141          196.8%

12,488,040          11,994,569      493,471             104.1%
Managed by Housing Management Department

Unit Upgrade Program 3,314,430            3,196,871         117,559              103.7%
Energy Performance Contract 7,253,109             (3) 5,537,742        1,715,367           131.0%
Other Projects 760,541               (4) 238,250           522,291             319.2%

11,328,080           8,972,863        2,355,217          126.2%
Managed by Asset Management Department

Bond Properties-managed by KCHA staff 1,305,438            (5) 1,026,451        278,987             127.2%
Bond Properties-managed by external property mgt 2,291,195             (6) 3,809,600       (1,518,405)         60.1%

3,596,634            4,836,051        (1,239,417)         74.4%
Subtotal Construction Activities 27,412,754        25,803,483  1,609,271       106.2%

DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITY
Managed by Hope VI Department

Seola Gardens (1,977)                  -                  (1,977)                N/A
Greenbridge 2,368,563             2,789,520        (420,957)           84.9%
Notch 101,001                121,515            (20,514)             83.1%
Salmon Creek/Nia 241,110                160,000          81,110                150.7%

2,710,674            3,071,035        (362,339)            88.3%
Managed by Development Department

-                       -                  -                    
Other Projects (545,601)              (7 ) 2,300,000       (2,845,601)        (23.7%)

(545,601)              2,300,000       (2,845,601)        (23.7%)
Subtotal Development Activity 2,165,073          5,371,035     (3,207,939)     40.3%

TOTAL CONSTRUCTION & DEVELOPMENT $29,577,827 $31,174,518 ($1,598,668) 94.9%

PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS & OTHER ASSETS
Acquisitions 5,079,251             
Other Assets 345,087               

TOTAL PER CASH RECONCILATION REPORT $35,002,165

1) MKCRF capital expenditures are less than budgeted by $1.2M as the Juanita Trace building envelope and Green Leaf envelope  
and deck projects  started late in 2018 and continued into 2019.  Both are now expected to be completed in the 3rd quarter of
2019 .  

2) $1.9M of elevator rehabilitation costs were budgeted to the EPC fund but were actually paid by Egis.
3) Due to timing and  project scope expansion, EPC project costs were higher than forecasted in the budget .  
4) $500K of other EPC costs were budgeted to the EPC fund but were actually paid by Egis. 
5) Due to timing and  project scope expansion, the Plaza Seventeen and Munro Manor elevator costs were higher than forecasted in

the budget. This is partially offset as budgeted plumbing work at Friendly Village and roof and siding work at Nike properties 
were postponed to 2019.

6) KCHA negotiated with the seller to fix the drainage issue for Ballinger Commons and the amount budgeted for the drainage 
repair was not used. Also, $850K was budgeted for Cascadian and Newporter apartments plumbing projects. However, both 
projects were postponed to 2019.

7) A transfer of Highland Village/Somerset Gardens project costs totaling $1.1M was made to the Somerset Gardens Partnership 
Development fund which is owned by the tax credit partnership and thus excluded from this report. Also, the budgeted $1.8M 
for Trailhead Issaquah Predevelopment project has yet to be spent.

  



Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Report 
March 25, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 6 of 9 
 
PROGRAM ACTIVITIES 

 
HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHERS 
 
The average quarterly HAP payment to landlords for all HCV vouchers was 
$1,047.46, compared to $1,019.52 last quarter and $889.33 one year ago, an annual 
increase of 8.5%, and a two-year rise of 17.8%.   
 

$820
$840
$860
$880
$900
$920
$940
$960
$980

$1,000
$1,020
$1,040
$1,060

2016 - Q4 2017 - Q1 2017 - Q2 2017 - Q3 2017 - Q4 2018 - Q1 2018 - Q2 2018 - Q3 2018 - Q4

Two Year History of Average Monthly
HAP Payments (per voucher) 

 
 
KCHA’s average HAP cost continued to rise during the quarter at roughly the same 
pace since the second quarter of 2017.  With continued rising market rents for lower 
priced units, continued low vacancy rates and KCHA’s commitment to adequately 
sizing subsidy payments to enable program participants to reside in higher priced 
sub-markets, the increase in average HAP costs is expected to continue into 2019.  
  
Total Tenant Payment (TTP) is the tenant’s monthly contribution towards rent and 
utilities and is benchmarked at 28.3% of their income.   Average TTP for the quarter 
was $463.18, down slightly from $463.68 the previous quarter but up from $448.59 
one year ago. The rate growth in TTP was essentially flat throughout the last half of 
2018, likely due to a combination of payment standard adjustments authorized by the 
Board at the end of 2017 and again in June of 2018. 

 

$430

$435

$440

$445

$450

$455

$460

$465

$470

2016 - Q4 2017 - Q1 2017 - Q2 2017 - Q3 2017 - Q4 2018 - Q1 2018 - Q2 2018 - Q3 2018 - Q4

Two Year History of Average Monthly
Total Tenant Payment (per voucher)

 



Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Report 
March 25, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 7 of 9 
 
MTW PROGRAM 

 
In the MOVING TO WORK (MTW) FUND, KCHA combines certain HUD Public 
Housing revenues with Housing Choice Vouchers (HCV) Block Grant funding.  Out of 
these aggregated revenues, there are five distinct uses: 
 
1. Transfers to the Section 8 program to pay for Housing Assistance 

Payments to landlords and administrative expenses 
 
Monthly block grant payments from HUD have increased during the last half of 
the year.  At 12/31/2018, HUD was holding $3.5 million of KCHA’s 2018 block 
grant allocation. 
 

(In thousands of dollars) Actual Budget Variance %Var
HCV Block Grant Revenue 139,305.9 127,783.6 $11,522.3 9.0% (1)

Funding of HAP Payments to Landlords (106,611.6) (104,898.4) 1,713.3 (1.6%)
Funding of Section 8 Administrative Costs (8,814.9) (8,607.5) 207.4 (2.4%)
  Excess of HCV Block Grant Funding over Expenses 23,879.4$      14,277.8$    9,601.6$         67.2%

1) Due to higher than budgeted 2018 RFIF inflation adjustment  
 
2. Payments to Public Housing sites to subsidize the difference between 

operating costs and tenant revenue   
 

Through 2018, transfers of MTW funds to subsidize Public Housing based on need 
closely matched the budget with a variance of only 9.0%. At year-end, a final transfer 
was made to insure each Public Housing property has enough cash to maximize 
scoring under HUD’s financial scoring system.  

 
(In thousands of dollars) Actual Budget Variance %Var
Standard Transfers to PH AMPs Based on Need ($3,318.8) ($3,647.1) ($328.3) 9.0%
Adjusting Transfers from PH AMPs 1,896.5 (1) 0.0 (1,896.5) (100.0%)
  Net Flow of Cash(from)/to MTW from/(to) PH ($1,422.3) ($3,647.1) $2,224.8 (61.0%)

1) $1.9 million of funding for EPC projects at Egis was inadvertently duplicated during the year and was corrected during 
the fourth quarter  

 
3. Expenditures for homeless and resident service programs 

 
MTW dollars support nearly all resident service programs and various initiatives 
designed to alleviate and prevent homelessness: 

 



Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Report 
March 25, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 8 of 9 
 
(In thousands of dollars) Actual Budget Variance %Var
Public Housing Subsidy earmarked for  resident services $483.0 $422.7 $60.3 14.3% (1)

Homeless Initiatives (2,100.6) (2,525.9) $425.3 (16.8%) (2)

Resident Services (5,275.1) (5,898.6) $623.5 (10.6%)
Use of MTW Funds for Special Programs ($6,892.7) ($8,001.7) $1,109.1 (13.9%)

1) The 2018 operating subsidy was budgeted at a 90% proration level but actual funding was at 94.74%
2) Service providers have been slow in billing the Authority. Also, PACT and New DV Programs  were budgeted to incur  $712K 

in expenses, but only $448K have been billed to the Authority. Coming Up was budgeted for $365K with $287K billed.
 

 
4. Other uses of MTW funds 

 
MTW working capital is used for a variety of other purposes. 2018 expenditures 
included: 
 
(In thousands of dollars) Actual Budget Variance %Var
Construction Activity & Management Fees $8,161.49 $8,912.68 ($751.2) (8.4%) (1)

Misc. Other Uses 919.0 2,301.6 (1,382.6) (60.1%) (2)

$9,080.5 $11,214.2 ($2,133.7) (19.0%)

1) Transfers from MTW for capital construction is below target as some projects, such as the Juanita Trace and Green Leaf 
envelope  projects,  started late in 2018 and others, like the Forest Glen site improvement project, are postponed to 2019.

2) The budget included $1 million transfer from MTW to backstop funding shortfalls in special purpose vouchers.  With the 
18.2% inflation factor, this transfer will no longer be needed.  

 
5. Costs to administer the MTW program 

 
Administrative costs are primarily salaries and benefits of those who manage or 
analyze MTW-funded programs, with a 2018 expenditure of $708,495 or 0.51% of 
program gross revenues. Expenses are below the 2018 budget of $1,065,407. 

 
 
 
 
 
  



Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Report 
March 25, 2019 Board Meeting 
Page 9 of 9 
 
 
AGENCY OVERHEAD 
 
The Central Office Cost Center (COCC) aggregates overhead costs for the Authority. 
The COCC is supported by fees charged to both Federal and non-Federal programs 
and housing properties, and by transfers of excess cash from non-Federal housing 
programs.  KCHA continues to administer its programs in a fiscally-prudent manner 
and within HUD guidelines. The chart below reflects a summary of COCC activity, 
excluding Regional Maintenance crews, as Regional Maintenance activity is 
accounted for in a separate fund and is not considered part of KCHA’s general 
overhead. 
 
(In thousands of dollars)

YTD YTD
Revenues Actual Budget Variance %Var
Management fees 9,840.4 8,733.5 $1,106.9 11.2% (1)

Cash transferred-in from local properties 6,254.4 6,200.1 54.3               0.9%
Investment income 2,363.0 1,868.8 494.3 20.9% (2)

Other income 1,596.0          1,211.0       385.0 24.1% (3)

$20,053.8 $18,013.4 $2,040.4 10.2%
Expenses
Salaries & Benefits 10,738.0 11,284.4 ($546.4) (5.1%)
Administrative Expenses 2,641.6 3,370.9 (729.3) (27.6%) (4)

Occupancy Expenses 232.1 358.1 (126.1) (54.3%) (5)

Other Expenses 705.8 706.2 (0.4) (0.1%)
$14,317.5 $15,719.6 ($1,402.1) (9.8%)

Net Change in Available COCC Resources $5,736.4 $2,293.8 $3,442.6

1) EPC management fee income totaling $721K was unbudgeted . Also, the 10% management fee income from the 2018 
CFP grant exceeded budget .

2) Due to rising interest rates, higher than anticipated interest income  was earned on invested cash. 
3) Funds received from City of Seattle's Homewise weatherization program were not budgeted.
4) Various administrative categories are under target. 
5) Salaries for temporary employees and callout overtime are budgeted within the COCC but actual costs are charged 

directly to properties.
 

  
 



Summary Reports

Cash Report 10

Statements of Financial Position 11

 Budget vs. Actual Cash Reconciliation Reports

   Combined 12

   Public Housing, Not-for-Profit 13

   Other Low Income Housing, Not-for-Profit 14

   Workforce Housing with Net Cash Flow 15

   Other Low Income Housing with Net Cash Flow 16

   Section 8 Program 17

   MTW Program 18

   Development Activities 19

   Other Activities 20

   Central Office Cost Center 21

REPORTS TABLE OF CONTENTS



King County Housing Authority

Consolidated Cash Report Cash of

As of 12/31/2018 Current Prior Other

Quarter Quarter Entities

Unrestricted $59,472,972 $53,041,679 $5,069,698

Designated, but Available for General Use

   Excess Cash Flow from Birch Creek 8,588,000 8,588,000 0

   Excess Cash Flow from Green River 4,500,000 4,500,000 0

   Voluntary Debt Service Reserve-Birch Creek 0 0 0

   Exit Tax Reserve, Birch Creek 3,000,000 3,000,000 0

   Exit Tax Reserve, Egis 3,000,000 3,000,000 0

   Liquidity Reserve-County Credit Enhancement Program 13,000,000 13,000,000 0

     Total Cash Available for General Use 91,560,972 85,129,679 5,069,698

Other Designated Cash

   Voluntary Replacement Reserves 20,663,292 19,981,579 0

   Funds Held by Outside Property Management Companies 4,833,807 26,112,161 0

   Excess Cash Reserve 0 0 400,000

   EPC Project Reserves 1,100,000 1,466,560 0

   Unspent Debt Proceeds Reserves 3,975,519 0 0

   Funds Held Related to Hope VI and Lot Sales Activity 8,147,201 7,910,915 0

   Other Designated Funds 82,596 91,681 268,919

     Total Other Designated Cash 38,802,415 55,562,895 668,919

 Programmatic Cash

   MTW Program 11,544,477 (1,457,263) 0

   Public Housing 4,883,802 5,078,299 1,678,009

   Housing Choice Voucher Program 747,232 414,520 0

   Energy Performance Contract Project (407,263) 1,574,912 0

   Hope VI Lot Sales Proceeds (not subject to HUD approval) 1,808,818 1,790,495 0

   Other Programmatic Cash 901,974 232,445 0

     Total Programmatic Cash 19,479,041 7,633,408 1,678,009

Restricted Cash

   MTW Pledged as Collateral 9,109,835 9,831,700 0

   Bond Reserves-1 Year Payment 2,256,117 2,239,792 0

   Bond Reserves-P & I 5,621,030 6,162,859 0

   Hope VI Lot Sales Proceeds 3,037,826 3,036,295 0

   Replacement Reserves 581,615 579,799 2,279,093

   Highland Village/Somerset Projects 6,790,785 10,671,033 0

   FSS Reserves 1,316,512 1,188,744 0

   Overlake Interest Mitigation Reserve 817,434 633,187 0

   Residual Receipts 564,899 564,899 0

   Security Deposits 2,397,136 2,367,703 163,012

   Other Restricted Cash 2,492,157 1,824,410 130,735

     Total Restricted Cash 34,985,346 39,100,422 2,572,841

TOTAL CASH $184,827,775 $187,426,405 $9,989,467

KCHA Cash

Page 10



King County Housing Authority Public Housing Other LIH Housing Other LIH Housing Choice

Statements of Financial Position Not For Profit Not for Profit Net Cash Flow Net Cash Flow Voucher MTW Development Other COCC

As of December 31, 2018 Properties Properties Properties Properties Program Program Program Funds Overhead Total

Assets

Cash-Unrestricted $7,728,119 $4,469,731 $10,704,817 $11,637,452 $751,338 $11,206,191 $1,199,091 $3,923,490 $36,713,496 $88,333,726

Cash-Designated 3,668,919 2,629,378 20,152,492 18,623,175 (10,679) 0 8,147,201 5,331,102 13,017,746 71,559,334

Cash-Restricted 2,051,769 1,713,143 16,886,908 863,171 1,100,026 9,326,321 3,129,329 0 0 35,070,666

Accounts Receivable 637,453 644,419 1,042,782 4,719,001 298,139 1,135,034 5,000 836,961 898,756 10,217,545

Other Short-term Assets 249,086 449,117 455,328 137,087 56,752 1,691 141 16,310 150,276 1,515,789

Long-term Receivables 85,486,197 26,866,009 108,366,334 119,011,235 0 24,848,753 349,521 13,180,087 34,762,973 412,871,108

Capital Assets 227,434,550 120,262,596 307,077,479 177,939,592 0 30 17,358,869 23,369,304 13,836,687 887,279,106

Other Assets 1,384,329 (725) (1,048,580) 290,825 56 0 49,550 2,258 50,999 728,712

  Total Assets $328,640,422 $157,033,668 $463,637,558 $333,221,539 $2,195,632 $46,518,020 $30,238,701 $46,659,511 $99,430,933 $1,507,575,985

Liabilities and Equity

Short-term Liabilities $2,627,231 $955,118 $4,204,961 $2,527,568 $1,511,153 $663,633 $274,339 $4,830,870 $1,765,580 $19,360,453

Current Portion of Long-term Debt 0 983,600 4,659,064 5,681,916 0 0 0 0 900,000 12,224,580

Long-term Debt 74,547,792 53,698,885 392,520,095 149,348,318 0 0 0 4,445,792 22,827,432 697,388,314

Other Long-term Liabilities 11,535,058 1,838,937 478,555 4,631,281 0 0 10,381,011 26,218,698 0 55,083,539

  Total Liabilities 88,710,081 57,476,540 401,862,676 162,189,083 1,511,153 663,633 10,655,350 35,495,359 25,493,013 784,056,887

Equity 239,930,341 99,557,128 61,774,883 171,032,456 684,480 45,854,387 19,583,351 11,164,152 73,937,921 723,519,098

  Total Liabilities and Equity $328,640,422 $157,033,668 $463,637,558 $333,221,539 $2,195,632 $46,518,020 $30,238,701 $46,659,511 $99,430,933 $1,507,575,985

Page 11



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

Combined Operations (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actuals Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $63,707,785

Rental Revenue and Subsidy

Tenant Revenue $96,242,644 $93,195,774 $3,046,870 3.3%

Federal Operating Support 15,205,974 12,311,920 2,894,054 23.5% (1)

  Total Rental Revenue and Federal Support 111,448,618 105,507,694 5,940,924 5.6%

Other Operating Revenue

Federal Support for HCV Program 156,678,109 143,118,792 13,559,317 9.5% (2)

Other Revenue 123,763,546 113,672,743 10,090,803 8.9% (3)

  Total Other Operating Revenue 280,441,655 256,791,535 23,650,120 9.2%

    Total Operating Revenue 391,890,273 362,299,229 29,591,044 8.2%

Operating Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (45,003,629) (46,792,492) 1,788,863 3.8%

Administrative Expenses (10,485,417) (11,260,752) 775,335 6.9%

Maintenance Expenses, Utilities, Taxes (34,375,752) (36,839,373) 2,463,621 6.7%

Management Fees Charged to Properties and Programs (7,726,341) (7,507,832) (218,509) -2.9%

HCV Housing Assistance Payments to Landlords (160,012,263) (153,425,175) (6,587,088) -4.3%

Other Programmatic Expenses (9,261,573) (10,098,743) 837,170 8.3% (4)

Other Expenses (986,287) 0 (986,287) n/a (5)

Transfers Out for Operating Purposes (43,029,125) (41,558,610) (1,470,515) -3.5%

  Total Operating Expenses (310,880,386) (307,482,977) (3,397,409) -1.1%

     Net Operating Income 81,009,887 54,816,252 26,193,635 47.8%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Interest Income from Loans 10,551,857 10,650,537 (98,680) -0.9%

Interest Expense (21,316,838) (23,979,465) 2,662,627 11.1% (6)

Other Non-operating Income/(Expense) 5,627,143 312,434 5,314,709 1701.1% (7)

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) (5,137,838) (13,016,494) 7,878,656 60.5%

Capital Activity

Capital Project Funding, Excluding Debt Issuance 14,975,221 12,522,698 2,452,523 19.6% (8)

Capital Project Expenditures (6,666,241) (26,414,609) 19,748,368 74.8% (9)

  Total Change in Capital Assets, net of Direct Funding and Debt 8,308,980 (13,891,911) 22,200,891 159.8%

Change in Assets/Liabilities

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 42,576,068 43,374,443 (798,375) -1.8%

Change in Short-term Assets 3,455,666 0 3,455,666 n/a (10)

Change in Long-term Receivables (80,141,015) (67,979,117) (12,161,898) -17.9% (11)

Change in Other Assets 142,582 0 142,582 n/a

Change in Short-term Liabilities (2,068,416) 0 (2,068,416) n/a (12)

Change in Long-term Debt (34,837,760) 3,439,238 (38,276,998) -1112.9% (13)

Change in Other Liabilities 8,836,468 (848,566) 9,685,034 1141.3% (14)

Change in Equity (6,204) 0 (6,204) n/a

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities (62,042,610) (22,014,002) (40,028,608) -181.8%

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash $22,138,419 $5,893,845 $16,244,574 275.6%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $85,846,204

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $151,693,589

Change in Replacement Reserves (1,399,038) 1,374,296 (2,773,334) -201.8% (15)

Change in Debt Service Reserves 1,319,394 0 1,319,394 n/a (16)

Change in Other Reserves (42,496,424) (44,748,739) 2,252,315 5.0%

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (42,576,068) (43,374,443) 798,375 1.8%

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $109,117,521

1) The 2018 operating subsidy exceeded target as the budget assumed a 90% proration level while the actual funding was at 94.74%.  
2) KCHA was awarded for the Housing Choice Voucher program at an inflation factor of 18.2%, prorated at 99.745% vs. the budgeted inflation of 8% 

and 97% prorate. 
3) Higher than budgeted income related to ports-in as the budget assumed an average of 2,700 ports-in unit months while  actual has been 2,928. 

Also, the highland Village and Somerset developer fee income exceeded target. 
4) Service providers have been slow in billing the Authority on Homeless programs. The PACT and New DV Programs were budgeted to incur  $712K 

in expenses, but only $448K have been billed to the Authority. Coming Up was budgeted for $365K with $287K was billed.   A portion of the 
Resident Services contract expenses that were budgeted in 2018 for Bellevue Boys and Girls Club, GLEA, and Kent Youth and Family Services were 
expended in December 2017.  Bellevue College also had staffing changes resulting in a portion of the contract not being spent as planned. 

5) Portion of the Carriage House fire loss insurance proceeds was received in 2017 while the  entire repair work was done in 2018. The Woodside 
East fire loss repair cost exceeds insurance proceeds. Also,  due to technical accounting entry to correct prior year revenue.  

6) EPC program loan interest was capitalized as project cost  instead of being expensed as budgeted.  Actual interest for  Ballinger Commons, 2018 
Pool refinancing, was less than anticipated in the budget. 

7) Gain on disposal of Somerset Gardens and Highland Village exceeded budget by $7.2M. This is partially offset due to transfer of elevator 
renovation costs from EPC fund to Egis ($1.8M).  

8) Transfer of  elevator renovation costs totaling $1.9M from EPC fund to Egis GP fund.  Also, unbudgeted transfer of $500k from Vantage Glen to 
Rainier View for expanding the number of pads at the site. 

9) A $20M loan was budgeted for acquisition of new property as a placeholder. The actual acquisition did not occur until 2019 (Riverstone  
Apartments).Also, MKCRF capital expenditures are less than budgeted by $1.2M as the Juanita Trace building envelope , and Green Leaf envelope 
and deck projects started late in 2018 and continued into 2019.  They are now expected to be completed in  the 3rd quarter.  

10) Decrease on short term notes, lease and developer fee receivables. Unbudgeted. 
11) Due to highland Village and Somerset developer fee  receivable of $8.1M which was expected to be received in 2018 is now expected to be 

received in 2019.  
12) Payment of short-term liabilities which are unbudgeted (accounts payable, payroll, current portion of long-term debt). 
13) A $20M loan was budgeted for acquisition of new property as a placeholder. The actual acquisition did not occur until 2019 (Riverstone  

Apartments).  Issuance of Private Activity Bonds for Highland Village and Somerset Gardens was budgeted in 2018 but occurred in late 2017. Also, 
net decrease  in long term debt due to refinancing of 2005 pool with the new 2018 pool.  

14) Due to unbudgeted MTW loan to EPC totaling $6.3M and decrease in accounts payable by $3.1M. 
15) Net unbudgeted reduction in designated/restricted cash due to refinancing of 2005 pool with the new 2018 pool.  
16) Net unbudgeted increase in debt service reserve fund due to refinancing of 2005 pool with the new 2018 pool.  

 

Page 12



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

Public Housing Not for Profit (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $8,101,851

Rental Revenue and Subsidy

Tenant Revenue $7,887,536 $7,533,776 $353,760 4.7%

Federal Operating Support 10,247,949 9,784,912 463,037 4.7%

  Total Rental Revenue and Federal Support 18,135,485 17,318,688 816,797 4.7%

Other Operating Revenue

Other Revenue 218,243 64,338 153,905 239.2% (1)

  Total Other Operating Revenue 218,243 64,338 153,905 239.2%

    Total Operating Revenue 18,353,728 17,383,026 970,702 5.6%

Operating Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (5,632,746) (6,118,876) 486,130 7.9%

Administrative Expenses (1,165,497) (1,152,791) (12,706) -1.1%

Maintenance Expenses, Utilities, Taxes (6,474,605) (6,475,372) 767 0.0%

Management Fees Charged to Properties and Programs (1,665,405) (1,631,561) (33,844) -2.1%

Other Programmatic Expenses (75,573) (59,895) (15,678) -26.2%

Other Expenses 8,837 0 8,837 n/a

Transfers Out for Operating Purposes (2,178,577) 0 (2,178,577) n/a (2, 4)

  Total Operating Expenses (17,183,565) (15,438,495) (1,745,070) -11.3%

     Net Operating Income 1,170,163 1,944,531 (774,368) -39.8%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Interest Income from Loans 1,642,880 1,642,866 14 0.0%

Interest Expense (1,744,956) (1,663,204) (81,752) -4.9%

Other Non-operating Income/(Expense) 2,834,546 2,733,650 100,896 3.7%

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) 2,732,470 2,713,312 19,158 0.7%

Capital Activity

Capital Project Funding, Excluding Debt Issuance 12,832,550 9,904,776 2,927,774 29.6% (3,4)

Capital Project Expenditures (17,094,510) (15,025,673) (2,068,837) -13.8% (4)

Grant Revenue-Capital 3,637,656 3,436,757 200,899 5.8%

  Total Change in Capital Assets, net of Direct Funding and Debt (4,261,960) (5,120,897) 858,937 16.8%

Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (449,955) 950,000 (1,399,955) -147.4% (5)

Change in Receivables (1,678,532) (1,642,866) (35,666) -2.2%

Change in Other Assets 151,294 0 151,294 n/a (6)

Change in Other Liabilities 1,962,789 1,663,204 299,585 18.0% (7)

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity (14,405) 970,338 (984,743) -101.5%

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash ($373,732) $507,284 ($881,016) -173.7%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $7,728,119

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $5,270,733

Change in Replacement Reserves 75,612 250,000 (174,388) -69.8% (5,8)

Change in Debt Service Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Other Reserves 374,343 (1,200,000) 1,574,343 131.2% (5)

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 449,955 (950,000) 1,399,955 147.4%

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $5,720,688

1) Due to rising interest rates, higher than anticipated interest income  was earned on invested cash.  Also, Brookside  non -dwell rent from Sound 
Mental Health was unbudgeted. 

2) Transfer of  the Northlake House  replacement  reserves  totaling $105K to COCC upon conversion to public housing  property.  Also, transfer of 
$176K from Vantage Point to Nia to cover year end shortfall. Unbudgeted.  

3) An unbudgeted transfer of $1.2M from MTW to Egis GP ledger to fund a capital project at Paramount House was made in lieu of a  budgeted draw 
from reserves.   

4) Transfer of $1.9M of elevator rehabilitation costs to Egis that was originally budgeted in the EPC fund.  
5) A $1.2M draw from Egis exit tax reserve was budgeted to fund a construction project at Paramount property.  Instead, MTW funding was used in 

lieu of the exit tax draw. Also, unbudgeted  deposit of $400K was made during the 4th quarter for Fairwind and  Zephyr supplemental reserve. This 
is partially offset due to  transfer of the Northlake House  replacement  reserves to COCC. 

6) Due to amortization of deferred charges and tax credit partnerships LIHTC fees. Unbudgeted.  
7) Increase in short term liabilities at year end (accounts payable  and accrued expenses). Unbudgeted.  
8) Release from restriction of the  Northlake house, Burien Park and Northwood replacement reserve funds  upon conversion to Pub lic Housing 

properties. Funds are now unrestricted have been transferred to the COCC.  

Page 13



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

Other Low Income Housing-Not for Profit (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $2,993,192

Rental Revenue and Subsidy

Tenant Revenue $12,348,741 $12,462,219 ($113,478) -0.9%

Federal Operating Support 530,820 501,198 29,622 5.9%

  Total Rental Revenue and Federal Support 12,879,561 12,963,417 (83,856) -0.6%

Other Operating Revenue

Federal Support for HCV Program 385,363 414,941 (29,578) -7.1%

Other Revenue 7,653,703 8,171,549 (517,846) -6.3% (1)

  Total Other Operating Revenue 8,039,066 8,586,490 (547,424) -6.4%

    Total Operating Revenue 20,918,627 21,549,907 (631,280) -2.9%

Operating Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (2,697,234) (2,861,472) 164,238 5.7%

Administrative Expenses (425,178) (380,139) (45,039) -11.8%

Maintenance Expenses, Utilities, Taxes (4,598,781) (5,641,834) 1,043,053 18.5% (2)

Management Fees Charged to Properties and Programs (819,918) (808,740) (11,178) -1.4%

Other Programmatic Expenses (175,584) (17,058) (158,526) -929.3% (2)

Other Expenses 157,412 0 157,412 n/a (3)

Transfers Out for Operating Purposes 0 (70,375) 70,375 100.0% (4)

  Total Operating Expenses (8,559,282) (9,779,618) 1,220,336 12.5%

     Net Operating Income 12,359,344 11,770,289 589,055 5.0%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Interest Income from Loans 1,406,520 1,406,515 5 0.0%

Interest Expense (2,038,566) (2,215,480) 176,914 8.0%

Other Non-operating Income/(Expense) (5,799,066) (6,090,793) 291,727 4.8%

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) (6,431,112) (6,899,758) 468,646 6.8%

Capital Activity

Capital Project Funding, Excluding Debt Issuance 2,089,975 2,472,753 (382,778) -15.5% (5)

Capital Project Expenditures (4,500,100) (5,031,714) 531,614 10.6% (1,5)

  Total Change in Capital Assets, net of Direct Funding and Debt (2,410,125) (2,558,961) 148,836 5.8%

Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (488,647) 497,527 (986,174) -198.2% (6)

Change in Receivables (289,009) (443,350) 154,341 34.8% (7)

Change in Other Assets 148,772 0 148,772 n/a (8)

Change in Debt (1,343,102) (1,448,113) 105,011 7.3%

Change in Other Liabilities (69,581) (92,596) 23,015 24.9%

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity (2,041,568) (1,486,532) (555,036) -37.3%

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash $1,476,539 $825,038 $651,501 79.0%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $4,469,731

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $3,853,873

Change in Replacement Reserves 427,626 67,372 360,254 534.7% (9)

Change in Debt Service Reserves 3,187 0 3,187 n/a

Change in Other Reserves 57,835 (564,899) 622,734 110.2% (10)

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 488,647 (497,527) 986,174 198.2%

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $4,342,520

1) MKCRF capital expenditures are less than budgeted by $1.2M as the Juanita Trace building envelope , Green Leaf envelope,  and deck projects 
started late in 2018 and continued into 2019. Completion of both projects in expected in the 3rd quarter  of 2019. This also affects technical 
entries related to income and expense.  This is partially by some internal transfers between funds.  

2) $586K was budgeted for various Parkway maintenance projects expenses funded by residual receipts. Actual costs were lower, and $386K was 
recorded as a capital expenditure while $155K was recorded as a maintenance expense. Also, $375K was budgeted for plumbing work at 
Friendly Village, and roof and siding work at Nike properties, but both projects were postponed to 2019. 

3) Unbudgeted insurance proceeds for Nike and Vista Heights fire loss. 
4) The budgeted excess cash transfer from Rainier View to COCC did not occur in 2018 as management decided to use the funds within the 

property in 2019.  
5) MKCRF capital expenditures were less than budgeted (see note 1) resulting in lower capital project transfer . This is partially offset  due to 

unbudgeted transfer of $500k from Vantage Glen to Rainier View for expanding the number of pads at the site. 
6) Funds drawn from Parkway Residual Receipt reserve will now occur in 2019. $180K was budgeted  to be drawn from  Vantage Glen 

replacement reserve  for  plumbing project.  However, a management decision was made to use operating funds instead. 
7) Repayments of KCHA loans was higher than anticipated in the budget as the net cash flow from the Nia and Seola Crossing was higher than 

originally anticipated.  Additionally , decrease in tenant receivable in the amount of $145K. 
8) Due to decrease in mobile home inventory. Unbudgeted. 
9)  $180K was  budgeted  to be drawn from  Vantage Glen replacement reserve  for  plumbing project . However, a management decision was 

made to use operating funds instead. Also, unbudgeted additional replacement reserve  deposits were made at Friendly Village and Rural 
Housing properties. 

10) A budgeted draw from Parkway Residual Receipt reserve will occur in 2019.  

Page 14



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

Workforce Housing-Net Cash Flow (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH ($5,369,043)

Rental Revenue and Subsidy

Tenant Revenue $61,318,649 $58,467,887 $2,850,762 4.9%

  Total Rental Revenue and Federal Support 61,318,649 58,467,887 2,850,762 4.9%

Other Operating Revenue

Other Revenue 39,006,530 37,363,964 1,642,566 4.4%

  Total Other Operating Revenue 39,006,530 37,363,964 1,642,566 4.4%

    Total Operating Revenue 100,325,179 95,831,851 4,493,328 4.7%

Operating Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (7,315,138) (7,544,872) 229,734 3.0%

Administrative Expenses (4,163,162) (3,752,636) (410,526) -10.9% (1)

Maintenance Expenses, Utilities, Taxes (19,046,399) (20,485,834) 1,439,435 7.0%

Management Fees Charged to Properties and Programs (1,381,848) (1,378,350) (3,498) -0.3%

Other Programmatic Expenses (194,781) (234,848) 40,067 17.1%

Other Expenses (893,920) 0 (893,920) n/a (2)

Transfers Out for Operating Purposes (31,703,382) (32,151,811) 448,429 1.4%

  Total Operating Expenses (64,698,630) (65,548,351) 849,721 1.3%

     Net Operating Income 35,626,549 30,283,500 5,343,049 17.6%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Interest Income from Loans 1,654,179 1,770,814 (116,635) -6.6%

Interest Expense (12,218,675) (13,413,560) 1,194,885 8.9%

Other Non-operating Income/(Expense) 16,509,268 9,986,489 6,522,779 65.3% (3)

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) 5,944,772 (1,656,257) 7,601,029 458.9%

Capital Activity

Capital Project Expenditures 25,507,164 23,957,159 1,550,005 6.5%

  Total Change in Capital Assets, net of Direct Funding and Debt 25,507,164 23,957,159 1,550,005 6.5%

Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 50,361,104 44,471,032 5,890,072 13.2% (4)

Change in Receivables (73,432,529) (67,759,637) (5,672,892) -8.4%

Change in Other Assets (36,680) 0 (36,680) n/a

Change in Debt (28,288,398) (11,687,805) (16,600,593) -142.0% (5)

Change in Other Liabilities 391,877 0 391,877 n/a (6)

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity (51,004,625) (34,976,410) (16,028,215) -45.8%

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash $16,073,860 $17,607,992 ($1,534,132) -8.7%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $10,704,817

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $87,400,503

Change in Replacement Reserves (1,986,158) 634,968 (2,621,126) -412.8% (4)

Change in Debt Service Reserves 1,316,207 0 1,316,207 n/a (4)

Change in Other Reserves (49,691,152) (45,106,000) (4,585,152) -10.2% (4)

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (50,361,104) (44,471,032) (5,890,072) -13.2%

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $37,039,399

1) Due to unbudgeted Ballinger Commons credit enhancement fee paid to King County .  
2) Portion of the Carriage House fire loss insurance proceeds was received in 2017 while the  entire repair work was done in 201 8. The Woodside 

East fire loss repair cost exceeded insurance proceeds. 
3) Gain on disposal of Somerset Gardens/Highland Village exceeded budget by $7.2M. This is partially offset due to unbudgeted Ballinger Commons 

closing cost totaling $387K related to refinancing of 2005 pool with the 2018 pool.  
4) $20M was budgeted to be drawn from Somerset Gardens project reserves, but only $13M was drawn in 2018. The remainder is expected be 

drawn in the first half of 2019. This is partially offset due to reduction in designated/restricted cash from the refinancing  of the 2005 pool with 
the 2018 pool.  

5) Issuance of Private Activity Bonds for Highland Village and Somerset Gardens was budgeted in 2018 but occurred in late 2017 . Also, net decrease  
in long term debt due to refinancing of 2005 pool with the 2018 pool.  

6) Decrease in short term liabilities . Unbudgeted. 

Page 15



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

Other Low Income Housing-Net Cash Flow (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $9,072,984

Rental Revenue and Subsidy

Tenant Revenue $14,564,567 $14,636,892 ($72,325) -0.5%

Federal Operating Support 147,280 3,791 143,489 3785.0% (1)

  Total Rental Revenue and Federal Support 14,711,847 14,640,683 71,164 0.5%

Other Operating Revenue

Other Revenue 609,574 231,995 377,579 162.8% (2)

  Total Other Operating Revenue 609,574 231,995 377,579 162.8%

    Total Operating Revenue 15,321,421 14,872,678 448,743 3.0%

Operating Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (2,269,842) (2,147,491) (122,351) -5.7%

Administrative Expenses (855,177) (836,833) (18,344) -2.2%

Maintenance Expenses, Utilities, Taxes (3,709,872) (3,722,508) 12,636 0.3%

Management Fees Charged to Properties and Programs (465,016) (452,264) (12,752) -2.8%

Other Programmatic Expenses (174,338) (160,514) (13,824) -8.6%

Other Expenses (75,649) 0 (75,649) n/a (3)

Transfers Out for Operating Purposes (2,460,000) (1,395,130) (1,064,870) -76.3% (4)

  Total Operating Expenses (10,009,894) (8,714,740) (1,295,154) -14.9%

     Net Operating Income 5,311,526 6,157,938 (846,412) -13.7%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Interest Income from Loans 3,039,034 3,224,387 (185,353) -5.7%

Interest Expense (4,303,484) (4,447,190) 143,706 3.2%

Other Non-operating Income/(Expense) 3,230,378 3,156,750 73,628 2.3%

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) 1,965,928 1,933,947 31,981 1.7%

Capital Activity

Capital Project Funding, Excluding Debt Issuance 47,158 145,169 (98,011) -67.5% (5)

Capital Project Expenditures (987,158) (1,150,716) 163,558 14.2% (6)

  Total Change in Capital Assets, net of Direct Funding and Debt (940,000) (1,005,547) 65,547 6.5%

Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (2,109,779) (1,656,956) (452,823) -27.3% (7)

Change in Receivables 3,068,938 468,452 2,600,486 555.1% (8)

Change in Other Assets 44,214 0 44,214 n/a (9)

Change in Debt (7,619,377) (5,747,853) (1,871,524) -32.6% (8)

Change in Other Liabilities 361,701 1,317,841 (956,140) -72.6% (10)

Change in Equity (6,204) 0 (6,204) n/a

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity (6,260,506) (5,618,516) (641,990) -11.4%

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash $76,947 $1,467,822 ($1,390,875) -94.8%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $9,149,931

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $19,864,089

Change in Replacement Reserves 335,604 421,956 (86,352) -20.5% (11)

Change in Debt Service Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Other Reserves 1,774,174 1,235,000 539,174 43.7% (7)

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 2,109,779 1,656,956 452,823 27.3%

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $21,973,868

1) Budgeting error resulted in an understatement of the operating subsidy budget for this fund group. 
2) Due to rising interest rates, higher than anticipated interest income  was earned on invested cash.  
3) Insurance proceeds for Southwood Square fire loss. Unbudgeted. 
4) Transfer of cash to the COCC exceeded budget projections. 
5) As Northwood Square did not become a Public Housing property in 2018 as expected, unit upgrade funding came out of operating cash flow 

rather than MTW transfers.  It is now expected Northwood Square will become part of the Public Housing portfolio sometime during 2019. 
6) $400K was budgeted for Bellevue Manor and Patricia Harris predevelopment projects. However, management has decided to postpone the 

project to 2019. This is partially offset as unit upgrade costs exceeded target for 2018. Unit upgrades depend on availability. 
7) Reclassification of the Southwood Square fire loss insurance proceeds  and Green River Homes excess cash to a restricted cash account. 

Unbudgeted. This is partially offset due to unbudgeted draw from Valley Park and Birch Creek replacement reserves.  
8) Repayment of Spiritwood developer fee and notes receivable totaling of $1.7M from net cash flow was unbudgeted.  Also, repayment of Birch 

Creek lease receivable  from net cash flow exceeded the original budget by  $500K. 
9) Due to amortization of LIHTC fee . Unbudgeted. 
10) Repayment of Spiritwood notes payable totaling of $301K from net cash flow was unbudgeted. Also, due to decrease in short term liabilities . 

Unbudgeted. 
11) Budgeted additions to replacement reserves were offset by unplanned draw from Valley Park and Birch Creek reserves. 

Page 16



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

Housing Choice Voucher Program (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH ($876,946)

Operating Revenue

Federal Support for HCV Program 132,413,376 128,426,082 3,987,294 3.1%

Revenue from Collection $123,151 $95,000 $28,151 29.6%

Portability Income 37,882,224 33,325,698 4,556,526 13.7% (1)

Other Revenue 2,499,133 3,457,654 (958,521) -27.7% (2)

    Total Operating Revenue 172,917,884 165,304,434 7,613,450 4.6%

Operating Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (6,858,499) (7,490,561) 632,062 8.4%

Administrative Expenses (743,878) (826,670) 82,792 10.0% (3)

Maintenance Expenses, Utilities, Taxes (272,447) (258,364) (14,083) -5.5%

Management Fees Charged to Properties and Programs (3,102,041) (2,936,737) (165,304) -5.6%

HCV Housing Assistance Payments to Landlords (122,022,054) (120,099,477) (1,922,577) -1.6%

HCV Housing Assistance Payment-Ports In (37,990,209) (33,325,698) (4,664,511) -14.0% (1)

Other Programmatic Expenses (154,740) (140,264) (14,476) -10.3%

Other Expenses 25,571 0 25,571 n/a

Transfers Out for Operating Purposes (872,818) 0 (872,818) n/a (4)

  Total Operating Expenses (171,991,116) (165,077,771) (6,913,345) -4.2%

     Net Operating Income 926,768 226,663 700,105 308.9%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Other Non-operating Income/(Expense) (214,185) (320,000) 105,815 33.1% (5)

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) (214,185) (320,000) 105,815 33.1%

Capital Activity

Capital Project Expenditures 2,751 0 2,751 n/a

  Total Change in Capital Assets, net of Direct Funding and Debt 2,751 0 2,751 n/a

Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 554,369 0 554,369 n/a (6)

Change in Receivables 204,279 0 204,279 n/a (7)

Change in Other Assets 6,080 0 6,080 n/a

Change in Other Liabilities 148,222 0 148,222 n/a (8)

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity 912,950 0 912,950 n/a

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash $1,628,284 ($93,337) $1,721,621 1844.5%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $751,338

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $1,643,716

Change in Replacement Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Debt Service Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Other Reserves (554,369) 0 (554,369) n/a (6)

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (554,369) 0 (554,369) n/a

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $1,089,347

1) Higher than budgeted income related to ports-in as the budget assumed an average of 2,700 ports-in unit months while  actual was 2,928. 
2) $1.0M was budgeted for MTW subsidization of special purpose vouchers. With the  larger-than-budgeted RFIF, this subsidization was not needed. 

Also, the FSS program ROSS grant was budgeted in the Section 8  fund but actual costs have been charged elsewhere  This was partially offset by 
port-in admin income that was $348K higher than budgeted. 

3) Various categories were under target (i.e. Professional Services, Communications,  and Admin Contracts) as well as general  liability and postage 
expenses. 

4) Technical accounting entry to move the Southwood Square tenant protection vouchers HAP reserves to MTW.  
5) Flex-fund expenditures for the VASH program was less than anticipated. 
6) Unbudgeted release from restriction of  Southwood Square HAP reserves as the vouchers transitioned into the block grant upon renewal and the 

reserves were transferred to MTW. Also, changes in FSS reserve accounts are not budgeted. 
7) Decrease in short-term receivables mainly due to collection of port-in and ROSS grant receivables. 
8) Changes in FSS reserve accounts are not budgeted. Also, due to decrease in accounts payable. 

Page 17



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

MTW Program (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $3,500,547

Federal Support

Block Grant Revenue $139,305,946 $127,783,638 $11,522,308 9.0% (1)

Less: Used for HAP (106,611,633) (104,898,355) (1,713,278) -1.6%

Less: Used HCV Administrative Program Support (8,814,943) (8,607,514) (207,429) -2.4%

Federal Operating Support 2,452,794 422,719 2,030,075 480.2% (2)

  Total Net Federal Support 26,332,164 14,700,488 11,631,676 79.1%

Other Operating Revenue

Other Revenue 1,187,225 222,668 964,557 433.2% (3)

  Total Other Operating Revenue 1,187,225 222,668 964,557 433.2%

    Total Operating Revenue 27,519,389 14,923,156 12,596,233 84.4%

Program Expenses

Resident Service Salaries and Benefits (3,117,510) (3,479,490) 361,980 10.4% (4)

Resident Service Program and Administrative Expenses (2,134,201) (2,419,099) 284,898 11.8% (5)

Homeless Salaries and Benefits (400,421) (397,123) (3,298) -0.8%

Homeless Program and Administrative Expenses (1,700,195) (2,128,743) 428,548 20.1% (6)

Policy Salaries and Benefits (500,360) (580,529) 80,169 13.8% (7)

Policy Administrative Expenses (19,577) (264,700) 245,123 92.6% (8)

Additional Support of Public Housing Program (3,411,650) (3,647,079) 235,429 6.5%

Other Programmatic Expenses (166,313) (1,192,085) 1,025,772 86.0% (9)

  Total Programmatic Expenses (11,450,227) (14,108,848) 2,658,621 18.8%

Used for Rehabilitation, Development or Debt Service Purposes

Funding for Capital Construction Projects (6,251,156) (6,819,680) 568,524 8.3% (8)

Funding for Unit Upgrades (1,514,324) (1,608,688) 94,364 5.9%

Management Fees Charged by COCC (396,010) (485,294) 89,284 18.4% (9)

  Total Rehab, Development and Debt Service Expenses (8,161,491) (8,913,662) 752,171 8.4%

Administrative Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (180,373) (214,404) 34,031 15.9%

Administrative Expenses (43,515) (58,128) 14,613 25.1%

Internal Management Fees (32,219) (43,085) 10,866 25.2%

  Total Administrative Expenses (256,107) (315,617) 59,510 18.9%

  Total Operating Expenses (19,867,825) (23,338,127) 3,470,302 14.9%

     Net Operating Income 7,651,564 (8,414,971) 16,066,535 190.9%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Interest Income from Loans 915,637 713,119 202,518 28.4% (10)

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) 915,637 713,119 202,518 28.4%

Capital Activity

Capital Project Expenditures 0 (279,371) 279,371 100.0% (11)

  Total Change in Capital Assets, net of Direct Funding and Debt 0 (279,371) 279,371 100.0%

Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 3,382,774 2,020,990 1,361,784 67.4% (12)

Change in Receivables (3,654,477) 3,146,579 (6,801,056) -216.1% (13)

Change in Other Assets (0) 0 (0) n/a

Change in Other Liabilities (589,854) 0 (589,854) n/a (14)

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity (861,558) 5,167,569 (6,029,127) -116.7%

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash $7,705,644 ($2,813,654) $10,519,298 373.9%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $11,206,191

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $12,709,095

Change in Replacement Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Debt Service Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Other Reserves (3,382,774) (2,020,990) (1,361,784) -67.4% (12)

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (3,382,774) (2,020,990) (1,361,784) -67.4%

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $9,326,321

1) Staff was able to draw a significant portion of the HCV block grant in the fourth quarter, drawing all of the remaining 2018 funding except 
approximately $3.5 million which is being held by HUD. 

2) Unbudgeted transfer of $1.9M from Egis to MTW related to EPC work. The 2018 operating subsidy was budgeted  at a 90% but finished 2018 at 
94.74%. Also, the portion of the subsidy designed to reimburse utility costs was budgeted to decline by 7% in 2018 according to preliminary HUD 
guidance but actually increased by 5.4%. 

3) Technical accounting entry to move the Southwood Square tenant protection voucher HAP reserves to MTW ($872K). Interest income were also higher 
than budgeted. 

4) Variance due to unfilled positions throughout the year. 
5) A portion of the contract expenses that were budgeted in 2018 for Bellevue Boys and Girls Club, GLEA, and Kent Youth and Family Services were 

expended in December 2017.  Also, Bellevue College had staffing changes resulting in a portion of the contract not being spent as planned. 
6) Service providers have been slow in billing the Authority. Also, PACT and New DV Programs  were budgeted to incur  $712K in expenses, but only 

$448K have been billed to the Authority. Coming Up was budgeted for $365K with $287K was billed. 
7) Unfilled Director of Policy and Intergovernmental Affairs position for a large percentage of the year. 
8) Agency wide training and professional services were below  target  at year end. 
9) $1.0M was budgeted evenly through out the year for MTW subsidization of special purpose vouchers. With the  larger-than-budgeted RFIF, this 

subsidization was not needed. 
10) Due to the restructuring of the EPC loan. 
11) $279K was budgeted by the Capital Construction department as a placeholder for Architecture and Engineering project costs; actual costs are being 

coded directly to projects. 
12) Unbudgeted account entry to reverse a HAP reserve  totaling  $2.1M. This variance was offset as the budgeted release of the FHLB collateral reserve of 

did not occur due to lower FHLB valuation of collaterized investments. 
13) Due to unbudgeted MTW loan to EPC totaling $6.7M.  
14) Decrease in short term liabilities . Unbudgeted. 

Page 18



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

Development Activities (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $2,039,737

Rental Revenue and Subsidy

  Total Rental Revenue and Federal Support 0 0 0 n/a

Other Operating Revenue

Other Revenue 4,056,259 3,046,256 1,010,003 33.2% (1)

  Total Other Operating Revenue 4,056,259 3,046,256 1,010,003 33.2%

    Total Operating Revenue 4,056,259 3,046,256 1,010,003 33.2%

Operating Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (312,585) (167,389) (145,196) -86.7% (2)

Administrative Expenses (68,217) (230,032) 161,815 70.3% (3)

Other Programmatic Expenses (3,079) 0 (3,079) n/a

Other Expenses (47,500) 0 (47,500) n/a (4)

  Total Operating Expenses (431,381) (397,421) (33,960) -8.5%

     Net Operating Income 3,624,877 2,648,835 976,042 36.8%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Interest Income from Loans 769 0 769 n/a

Interest Expense (103) (325,026) 324,923 100.0% (5)

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) 666 (325,026) 325,692 100.2%

Capital Activity

Capital Project Expenditures (1,220,546) (22,725,635) 21,505,089 94.6% (6)

  Total Change in Capital Assets, net of Direct Funding and Debt (1,220,546) (22,725,635) 21,505,089 94.6%

Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (3,870,682) (2,913,650) (957,032) -32.8% (7)

Change in Receivables 466,966 69,490 397,476 572.0% (8)

Change in Other Assets 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Debt (19,823) 21,263,028 (21,282,851) -100.1% (6)

Change in Other Liabilities 177,896 (51,281) 229,177 446.9% (9)

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity (3,245,643) 18,367,587 (21,613,230) -117.7%

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash ($840,646) ($2,034,239) $1,193,593 58.7%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $1,199,091

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $7,405,848

Change in Replacement Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Debt Service Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Other Reserves 3,870,682 2,913,650 957,032 32.8% (7)

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 3,870,682 2,913,650 957,032 32.8%

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $11,276,529

1) Greenbridge lot sales price participation was higher than anticipated in the budget . 
2) Since the Bellevue Manor and Patricia Harris development projects have not started,  55% of the development department's staff salaries that 

were budgeted to be charged elsewhere are being  charged to the general development fund. 
3) Professional fees legal/real estate fees are below target. 
4) Write-off of receivable that should have been removed from the books in a prior year. Unbudgeted 
5) $325K LOC interest expense was budgeted for acquisition of new property.  As the planned acquisition didn't occur until 2019, the LOC interest 

expense  was not incurred in 2018. 
6) A $20M loan was budgeted for acquisition of new property as a placeholder. The actual acquisition did not occur until 2019 (Riverstone  

Apartments). 
7) Contribution to program income reserves from Hope VI lots sales proceeds was higher than anticipated in the budget. 
8) Reversal of the construction loan advanced for the development of the Greenbridge HomeSight 3 lot as the lot  was acquired back by KCHA 

($352K). Unbudgeted. Write -off of prior year New Market Tax Credit Fee Receivable ($47K). (See note 4). 
9) Due to decrease in short tem liabilities of $129K and refund of the Connor Homes earnest money deposit of $100K. Unbudgeted. 

 

Page 19



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

Other Activities (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $8,631,431

Rental Revenue and Subsidy

Federal Operating Support 1,827,131 1,599,300 227,831 14.2% (1)

  Total Rental Revenue and Federal Support 1,827,131 1,599,300 227,831 14.2%

Other Operating Revenue

Other Revenue 9,233,867 8,428,899 804,968 9.6% (2)

  Total Other Operating Revenue 9,233,867 8,428,899 804,968 9.6%

    Total Operating Revenue 11,060,998 10,028,199 1,032,799 10.3%

Operating Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (1,972,214) (1,579,055) (393,159) -24.9% (3)

Administrative Expenses (177,210) (130,378) (46,832) -35.9% (4)

Maintenance Expenses, Utilities, Taxes (14,928) (12,315) (2,613) -21.2%

Management Fees Charged to Properties and Programs (25,017) (25,160) 143 0.6%

Other Programmatic Expenses (4,919,146) (5,267,063) 347,917 6.6%

Other Expenses (184,397) 0 (184,397) n/a (5)

Transfers Out for Operating Purposes (1,907,258) (1,372,063) (535,195) -39.0% (2,6)

  Total Operating Expenses (9,200,170) (8,386,034) (814,136) -9.7%

     Net Operating Income 1,860,829 1,642,165 218,664 13.3%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Interest Income from Loans 355,008 355,005 3 0.0%

Interest Expense (305,986) (1,208,800) 902,814 74.7% (7)

Other Non-operating Income/(Expense) (2,174,452) 0 (2,174,452) n/a (8)

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) (2,125,430) (853,795) (1,271,635) -148.9%

Capital Activity

Capital Project Expenditures (7,586,622) (5,537,742) (2,048,880) -37.0% (9)

  Total Change in Capital Assets, net of Direct Funding and Debt (7,586,622) (5,537,742) (2,048,880) -37.0%

Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (5,331,102) 0 (5,331,102) n/a (10)

Change in Receivables 251,906 0 251,906 n/a (11)

Change in Other Assets 14,422 0 14,422 n/a

Change in Debt (920,000) 0 (920,000) n/a (12)

Change in Other Liabilities 9,128,057 (1,072,425) 10,200,482 951.2% (13)

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity 3,143,283 (1,072,425) 4,215,708 393.1%

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash ($4,707,940) ($5,821,797) $1,113,857 19.1%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $3,923,490

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $0

Change in Replacement Reserves 255,583 0 255,583 n/a (10)

Change in Debt Service Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Other Reserves 5,075,519 0 5,075,519 n/a (10)

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 5,331,102 0 5,331,102 n/a

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $5,331,102

1) Operating Fund subsidy  related to the EPC project exceeded budget.  
2) Technical accounting entry to adjust Gates grant income and expenses of $612K.  
3) The FSS program staff salaries and the related grant income were budgeted to the Section 8  fund but actual expenses were cha rged to this fund 

group. 
4) Unbudgeted professional fees  for New Market Tax Credit  Partnership exit. Also,  due to unbudgeted Weatherization Plus Healt h expenses. 
5) Prior period adjustment to adjust grant receivable and income accounts.  
6) Internal weatherization  transfers were  slightly under projection.  
7) EPC program loan interest was capitalized as project cost  instead of being expensed as budgeted.  
8) Transfer of $1.9M of elevator rehabilitation costs to Egis that was originally budgeted in the EPC fund.  Also, due to transf er of EPC debt service 

proceeds to Zephyr , Egis and Sixth Place projects ($343K).  
9) Due to timing and  project scope expansion, EPC project costs were higher than forecasted in the budget .   
10) Increase in EPC project  reserves ($1.1M) , replacement reserves ($256K) and rehab reserves ($4M). Unbudgeted.  
11) Due to unbudgeted Wonderland Estate and Tall Cedars lease payment  totaling  $247K.  
12) New Market Tax Credit LOC principal payment of $920K. Unbudgeted.  
13) Due to unbudgeted MTW loan to EPC totaling $6.3M and increase in accounts payable by $3.4M.  

Page 20



King County Housing Authority

Cash Reconciliation Report Favorable Favorable

Central Office Cost Center (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

Through December 31, 2018 Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance

BEGINNING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $35,614,033

Operating Revenue

Property Management Fees $4,577,034 $4,383,735 $193,299 4.4%

Bookkeeping Fees 2,013,873 1,964,784 49,089 2.5%

Asset Management Fees 1,383,300 1,375,080 8,220 0.6%

Construction Fees 1,861,587 1,005,294 856,293 85.2% (1)

Other Revenue 1,670,194 911,699 758,495 83.2% (2)

    Total Operating Revenue 11,505,989 9,640,592 1,865,397 19.3%

Operating Expenses

Salaries and Benefits (10,738,075) (11,399,422) 661,347 5.8%

Administrative Expenses (2,183,145) (2,985,174) 802,029 26.9% (3)

Maintenance Expenses, Utilities, Taxes (219,457) (243,146) 23,689 9.7%

Management Fees Charged to Properties and Programs (120,362) (117,116) (3,246) -2.8%

Other Programmatic Expenses (738) 0 (738) n/a

Transfers Out for Operating Purposes (329,126) (1,730,067) 1,400,941 81.0% (4)

  Total Operating Expenses (13,590,903) (16,474,925) 2,884,022 17.5%

Other Operating Sources

Transfer in-General Support 105,289 0 105,289 n/a (5)

Transfer in of Excess Cash 6,254,375 6,200,079 54,296 0.9%

Central Maintenance Cash Flow (264,766) (51,332) (213,434) -415.8% (6)

Central Vehicle Cash Flow (153,883) 19,226 (173,109) -900.4% (7)

  Total Other Operating Sources 5,941,015 6,167,973 (226,958) -3.7%

     Net Operating Income 3,856,101 (666,360) 4,522,461 678.7%

Non Operating Income/(Expense)

Interest Income from Loans 1,537,831 1,537,831 (0) 0.0%

Interest Expense (705,068) (706,205) 1,137 0.2%

COCC Capital Projects (529,927) (390,917) (139,010) -35.6% (8)

Funding for Capital Construction Projects Outside of COCC (242,907) (160,000) (82,907) -51.8% (9)

Other Operating Income/(Expense) (240,000) 0 (240,000) n/a (10)

  Total Non Operating Income/(Expense) (180,072) 280,709 (460,781) -164.1%

Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash 527,986 5,500 522,486 9499.7% (11)

Change in Receivables (1,770,373) (1,793,035) 22,662 1.3%

Change in Other Assets (58,378) (24,750) (33,628) -135.9%

Change in Debt (900,000) (900,000) 0 0.0%

Change in Other Liabilities (375,801) 0 (375,801) n/a (12)

  Change in Other Assets/Liabilities/Equity (2,576,566) (2,712,285) 135,719 5.0%

Change in Unrestricted/Program Cash $1,099,463 ($3,097,936) $4,197,399 135.5%

ENDING UNRESTRICTED/PROGRAM CASH $36,713,496

BEGINNING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $13,545,732

Change in Replacement Reserves (507,305) 0 (507,305) n/a (11)

Change in Debt Service Reserves 0 0 0 n/a

Change in Other Reserves (20,681) 0 (20,681) n/a

Change in Designated/Restricted Cash (527,986) 0 (527,986) n/a

ENDING DESIGNATED/RESTRICTED CASH $13,017,746

1) EPC management fee income totaling $721K was unbudgeted . Also, the 10% management fee income  from the 2018 CFP grant exceed ed budget . 
2) Due to rising interest rates, higher than anticipated interest income  was earned on invested cash. Also, funds received from City of Seattle's Homewise 

weatherization program were not budgeted.  
3) Various categories are under target (i.e. software maintenance, administrative contracts,  professional services).  
4) $1.5M was budgeted to finance the operation of Ballinger Commons. As the financing was not needed, the budgeted transfer was not made. 
5) Unbudgeted transfer of Northlake  House replacement reserves to COCC as the property was  transferred to Public Housing program. 
6) Unbudgeted retirement pay-out to two long serving employees and union benefit expenses for temporary employees. 
7) Vehicle fuel,  repair and aftermarket install on new vehicles exceeded target. 
8) As the scope of work on the 700 building office space expansion exceeded original budget projections .  
9) The Nia tenant improvement project cost and the related transfer out from COCC exceeded target.  
10) Unbudgeted  $240K option payment for land acquisition in Redmond. 
11) Unbudgeted transfer of replacement reserves from  Northlake House, Burien Park  and Northwood as the properties were  transferred to Public Housing 

program. 
12) Decrease in short term liabilities due to technical entry to reverse the 2017 year-end accounts payable accrual entry.  

Page 21



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
8 



 
 
To: Board of Commissioners           
  
From: Katie Escudero, Policy Analyst 
 
Date: March 25, 2019 
 
Re:       2018 Moving to Work Report 
 
As a participant in the Department of Housing and Urban Development’s Moving to 
Work (MTW) program, the King County Housing Authority is required to submit an 
annual report. Following the format prescribed by HUD, the 2018 MTW Report 
(attached) outlines the agency’s goals, provides an overview of operational 
information for the MTW program, and summarizes the status of previously 
approved initiatives.  
 
At the March Board of Commissioners meeting, I will provide a brief overview of the 
2018 MTW Report before being submitted to HUD on March 29th. No action is 
required of the Board. 
 
 
 
 
 



MOVING TO WORK
FY 2018 ANNUAL REPORT



Prepared By: Katie Escudero 
March 25, 2019 

 

KING COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY  
 
 

B O A R D  O F  C O M M I S S I O N E R S  

Doug Barnes, Chair 

Michael Brown 

Susan Palmer 

TerryLynn Stewart 

John Welch 

 

E X E C U T I V E  D I R E C T O R   

Stephen J. Norman  

 

K C H A  S E N I O R  M A N A G E M E N T  

 

Jeb Best 

Bill Cook 

John Eliason 

Tonya Harlan 

Shawli Hathaway 

Helen Howell 

Kristy Johnson 

Judi Jones 

Sarah Oppenheimer 

Gary Leaf 

 

Nikki Parrott 

Mike Reilly 

Jenn Ramirez Robson 

Rhonda Rosenberg 

Jill Stanton 

Craig Violante 

Tim Walter 

Dan Watson 

Wen Xu 



K I N G  C O U N T Y  H O U S I N G  A U T H O R I T Y  
 

MOV ING TO WORK ANNUAL REP ORT FY  201 8 
 

T A B L E  O F  C O N T E N T S  

 
 
Section I :  Introduction                                   1 
 A.  OVE RV IEW O F SHOR T - T ERM MTW  GO ALS  AND O B JECTI VES  
 B .  O VER VIE W O F LO NG - TE RM MTW  GO AL S AND O B J ECTIVE S  

 
Section I I :  General  Housing  Authority Operating Information             8 
 A.  HOU SING  STOCK  I NF OR MATI ON  

 Actual New Project-based Vouchers 
 Actual Existing Project-based Vouchers 
 Actual Other Changes to the Housing Stock in 2018 
 General Description of Actual Capital Fund Expenditures During 2018 

B.  LE ASI NG I NFO RMATI O N  

 Actual Number of Households Served 
 Description of Any Issues and Solutions Related to Leasing 

C.  W AI T  L I ST  I NFORM AT IO N  

 Waiting List Information at End of 2018 
 Changes to the Waiting List in 2018 

D.  INFO RMATIO N O N STAT U TOR Y OB JECTI VE S AND R EQUI REMENT S  

 75% of Families Assisted Are Very Low-income 
 Maintain Comparable Mix 
 Number of Households Transitioned to Self-sufficiency by Fiscal Year-end 

 
Section I I I :  Proposed MTW Activities                 17 
 
Section IV: Approved MTW Activities                               18 

A.  IMPLEMENTED  ACTI V I TI ES  

 ACTIVITY 2018-1: Encouraging the Successful Lease-up of the Housing Choice Voucher 
Program 

 ACTIVITY 2016-2: Conversion of Former Opt-out Developments to Public Housing 
 ACTIVITY 2015-2: Reporting on the Use of Net Proceeds from Disposition Activities  
 ACTIVITY 2014-1: Stepped-down Assistance for Homeless Youth 
 ACTIVITY 2014-2: Revised Definition of “Family” 
 ACTIVITY 2013-1: Passage Point Re-entry Housing Program 
 ACTIVITY 2013-2: Flexible Rental Assistance 
 ACTIVITY 2009-1: Project-based Section 8 Local Program Contract Term 
 ACTIVITY 2008-1: Acquire New Public Housing 
 ACTIVITY 2008-10 and 2008-11: EASY and WIN Rent Policies 
 ACTIVITY 2008-21: Public Housing and Housing Choice Voucher Utility Allowances 
 ACTIVITY 2007-6: Develop a Sponsor-based Housing Program 
 ACTIVITY 2007-14: Enhanced Transfer Policy 
 ACTIVITY 2005-4: Payment Standard Changes 



 ACTIVITY 2004-2: Local Project-based Section 8 Program 
 ACTIVITY 2004-3: Develop Site-based Waiting Lists 
 ACTIVITY 2004-5: Modified Housing Quality Standards (HQS) Inspection Protocols 
 ACTIVITY 2004-7: Streamlining Public Housing and Housing Choice Voucher Forms and 

Data Processing 
 ACTIVITY 2004-9: Rent Reasonableness Modifications 
 ACTIVITY 2004-12: Energy Performance Contracting 
 ACTIVITY 2004-16: Housing Choice Voucher Occupancy Requirements 

B.  NOT  YET  IMPLEME NT E D  AC TI VIT IES  

 ACTIVITY 2015-1: Flat Subsidy for Local, Non-traditional Housing Programs 
 ACTIVITY 2010-1: Supportive Housing for High-need Homeless Families 
 ACTIVITY 2010-9: Limit Number of Moves for a HCV Participant  
 ACTIVITY 2010-11: Incentive Payments to HCV Participants to Leave the Program 
 ACTIVITY 2008-3: FSS Program Modifications 
 ACTIVITY 2008-5: Allow Limited Double Subsidy between Programs (Project-based 

Section 8/Public Housing/Housing Choice Vouchers) 
C.  ACTI VI TIE S O N HOL D  
D.  CLO SE D -OU T ACT IV IT IE S  

 ACTIVITY 2016-1: Budget-based Rent Model 
 ACTIVITY 2013-3: Short-term Rental Assistance Program 
 ACTIVITY 2012-2: Community Choice Program 
 ACTIVITY 2012-4: Supplemental Support for the Highline Community Healthy Homes 

Project 
 ACTIVITY 2011-1: Transfer of Public Housing Units to Project-based Subsidy 
 ACTIVITY 2011-2: Redesign the Sound Families Program 
 ACTIVITY 2010-2: Resident Satisfaction Survey 
 ACTIVITY 2010-10: Implement a Maximum Asset Threshold for Program Eligibility 
 ACTIVITY 2009-2: Definition of Live-in Attendant 
 ACTIVITY 2008-4: Combined Program Management 
 ACTIVITY 2008-6: Performance Standards 
 ACTIVITY 2008-17: Income Eligibility and Maximum Income Limits 
 ACTIVITY 2007-4: Housing Choice Voucher Applicant Eligibility 
 ACTIVITY 2007-8: Remove Cap on Voucher Utilization 
 ACTIVITY 2007-9: Develop a Local Asset Management Funding Model 
 ACTIVITY 2007-18: Resident Opportunity Plan (ROP) 
 ACTIVITY 2006-1: Block Grant Non-mainstream Vouchers 
 ACTIVITY 2005-18: Modified Rent Cap for Housing Choice Voucher Participants 
 ACTIVITY 2004-8: Resident Opportunities and Self-Sufficiency (ROSS) Grant 

Homeownership 
 
Section V: Sources and Uses of MTW Funds                              55 

A.  SO URCE S AND  U SES  O F MTW FU ND S  

 Actual Sources and Uses of MTW Funds 
 Activities that Used Only MTW Single-fund Flexibility 

B.  LOC AL  ASSET M ANAGE MEN T PLAN  

 
Section VI: Administrative                  59 

A.  HU D REV IEW S,  AUD IT S ,  OR P HY SICAL  I NSPECT I ON ISSUE S  
B.  RESULT S O F L ATEST KC HA -D IREC TED E V ALU AT IO NS  



C.  MTW  ST ATU TO RY REQU IREMENT CE RTI F IC ATIO N  
D.  M TW E NER GY PE R FOR MANCE  CONT RAC T  (EPC )  FLEXIB IL I TY  D A T A  

 
Appendices 
 APPE NDI X A.  CE RT IF IC ATI ON O F ST ATUT ORY  COMPL IANCE  

APPE NDI X B .  LOC AL  ASSE T  MANAG EMENT PL AN  
APPE NDI X  C .  EXI STI NG P R OJECT -B ASED  VO UCHE R C ONT R A CT S  
APPE NDI X  D .  E V ALU ATIO NS  
APPE NDI X  E .  C OLLATER AL I ZED FU ND S  REPO RT S  
APPE NDI X  F.  E NER GY PE R FORMANC E CO NTR ACT  REP ORT  

 



Board of Commissioners  
Doug Barnes, Chair  

Michael Brown, Vice-Chair 

Susan Palmer 

TerryLynn Stewart 

John Welch 
 

Executive Director 
Stephen J. Norman 

 

600 Andover Park W • Seattle, WA 98188-3326 • kcha.org 
Phone 206-574-1100 • Fax 206-574-1104 
EQUAL HOUSING OPPORTUNITY 

It is now 22 years since Congress authorized the Moving to Work (MTW) Demonstration 

Program. The underlying premise of the legislation was that the provision of increased 

flexibility to Public Housing Authorities could yield stronger local partnerships, more efficient 

programs, and improved and broadened housing and household outcomes. Despite the strong 

sense by participating housing authorities and their community partners that this program has 

been a tremendous success, ongoing questions seem to linger on the national level as to the 

program’s effectiveness.   

The Moving to Work reports that participating housing authorities are required to submit 

annually to HUD provide compelling answers to these questions. The proof is in the results. 

This year marks the King County Housing Authority’s 15th year of participation in the MTW 

program and I’m pleased to submit our Annual Report for 2018. 

Concerns have been raised regarding the diversion of HUD funding by MTW Housing 

Authorities from serving households under the Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program to 

other allowable purposes – resulting in fewer families being served. In fact, KCHA’s HCV block 

grant utilization rate was at 103.8 percent of our HUD baseline at year’s end. This does not 

include the 102 households assisted through our “sponsor-based” housing assistance programs 

designed to assist chronically homeless adults and homeless youth secure and retain housing, 

nor does it include our short-term rental assistance program, administered in partnership with 

two local school districts, which rapidly re-housed 70 households with 129 homeless students 

in 2018. Our HCV over-leasing, and local programs tailored to addressing specific housing 

challenges for our region’s homeless households, are only possible due to flexibility provided 

under our Moving to Work contract.   

Questions have also been raised about whether Moving to Work Housing Authorities are 

actively working to expand geographic choice for program participants. Presently, 29 percent 

of extremely low-income households with children participating in KCHA’s HUD funded 

programs live in high-opportunity neighborhoods – a percentage significantly above the 

national average. This has been accomplished through the use of locally designed small area 

payment standards, through program efficiencies that have enabled us to reposition staff to 

work directly and intensively with the landlord community, and through changes in policies 

that make the HCV program more customer friendly for participants and landlords alike. Again, 

innovations made possible through our MTW flexibility. Shopping success rates for our voucher 

program participants increased to 76.8 percent at 240 days this year – no small 

accomplishment in this region’s tight rental market. The 2019 goal is to raise this metric to 80 

percent.  

The ability to flexibly use MTW block grant funding to assure the quality of our public housing 



has also been critical. In an era where much of the public housing inventory nationally is 

struggling with recapitalization needs, KCHA has significantly reduced its backlog of repairs and 

life cycle replacements through creatively leveraging outside investments in partnership with 

MTW funding. In 2018, KCHA’s average REAC inspection score was 95.8 and the occupancy 

level for our federally subsidized housing was 99.64 percent. The reputation of our public 

housing inventory is sufficiently strong that when we recently acquired existing buildings in the 

very high-income neighborhoods of Mercer Island and Kirkland and turned on public housing 

subsidies, no community concerns were raised.  

The most profound impact of the Moving to Work program, however, is the ability to tailor 

housing programs that meet the needs of our local community. Utilizing a streamlined project-

basing process has enabled KCHA to partner with 27 non-profits to provide housing tailored to 

the needs of a wide array of homeless and disabled populations, and to support the 

development of a pipeline of permanent supportive housing. Working in partnership with our 

legal services and social equity partners, we have established low barrier admission policies 

and upped our focus on early intervention and supportive services, contributing to persistently 

low eviction and program termination rates. When KCHA’s Moving to Work contract was up for 

renewal, the directors of 55 community-based organizations in King County signed an appeal to 

HUD requesting that this local flexibility be maintained. This flexibility and these partnerships 

are essential as KCHA seeks to aggressively expand its programs in the face of the Seattle 

region’s growing homelessness challenge. 

While there will always be a need for additional analysis and evaluation, and while every 

program can continuously be improved, the results detailed in this report, as well as those 

documented in the Annual Reports of the other 38 Moving to Work Housing Authorities, 

provide compelling evidence. Increased regulatory flexibility and local decision-making, within 

a frame of accountability for results, truly does work. It fulfills the initial legislative intent of 

Congress to utilize regulatory relief to create efficiencies, encourage self-sufficiency, and 

increase housing choice. The successes of MTW need to be expanded more broadly, both 

through preserving the original program’s flexibility in proposed contracts for the new cohort 

of Moving to Work agencies and, more broadly and critically, through comprehensive 

deregulation and the replacement of prescriptive and overly rigid program requirements for all 

public housing authorities.  

The successes and lessons learned from KCHA and the other Moving to Work Housing 

Authorities clearly demonstrate the effectiveness of a framework that holds housing 

authorities accountable for outcomes while simultaneously providing local communities the 

flexibility necessary to design programs and administer funds in ways that reflect local housing 

challenges and opportunities.  Only through intelligent deregulation will we be able to 

adequately address the complex local housing challenges both HUD and public housing 

authorities are committed to solving, and advance housing solutions that prove instrumental in 

helping end poverty in our nation. 

Sincerely, 

Stephen Norman  
Executive Director 



1 
 

SECTION I  
I N T R O D U C T I O N  

A. OVERVIEW OF SHORT-TERM MTW GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

In 2018, King County Housing Authority (KCHA) focused on using its Moving to Work (MTW) flexibility to 

ensure that our housing assistance targeted our community’s most vulnerable households, create 

operational efficiencies that enabled us to serve additional households, coordinate housing with high 

quality services, and expand social impact initiatives that advanced family self-sufficiency and life 

outcomes for our residents. KCHA’s highlights from this year include the following:  

 INC REASE D T HE  NUM BER OF E XT REMELY LO W -I NCO ME HOU SEH OLD S WE SER V E.   

KCHA employed multiple strategies to expand our reach: property acquisitions; use of banked 

Annual Contributions Contract (ACC) authority; the lease-up of new incremental vouchers; issuing 

vouchers beyond HUD’s Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) baseline; and the continuation of “sponsor-

based,” flexible, and stepped subsidy programs for specific populations. Our federally subsidized 

programs continued to surpass operational goals, allowing us to house 14,056 families in 2018.1 The 

occupancy rate for our on-line owned units averaged 99.64 percent and the utilization rate for our 

HCV block grant never dropped below 100 percent, averaging 104 percent. Although securing an 

apartment remained a challenge in King County’s exceptionally tight and competitive rental market, 

we also increased our HCV clients shopping success rates through a variety of strategies that 

included dedicated landlord liaisons, client deposit assistance, and expedited lease approval and 

inspections processes.  

 EXP ANDEDE D O UR  POR T FOLIO O F HOU SI NG IN  H IG H-OP POR TU NIT Y NEIG HBO RHOO D S .   

KCHA continued to actively seek out property acquisitions in strategic areas of King County, 

including current and emerging high-opportunity neighborhoods and transit-oriented development 

sites, in order to ensure that low-income families can access the benefits these areas afford. In 

2018, we purchased Houghton Court in Kirkland, adding 15 units in this high-opportunity community 

to our public housing portfolio and went under contract for an additional 844 units of housing, 

scheduled to close in 2019. By year’s end, KCHA’s portfolio had grown to 10,215 units, almost half of 

which are situated in high-opportunity neighborhoods. 

 

                                                           
1
 This number does not include the 3,223 port-in vouchers that we administered in 2018.  



2 
 

 FO STE RED PART NE RSHI PS  TH AT  AD DRE SS ED  T HE  MU LTI - FACETE D NEED S O F TH E  MOST  

VUL NER ABLE  POP ULATIO NS I N O UR  REG ION .   

Nearly half of all households that entered our federally assisted programs in 2018 were homeless or 

living in temporary or emergency housing immediately prior to receiving KCHA assistance. Our 

programs serve a diverse population with varying needs: veterans with disabilities; individuals living 

with behavioral health needs; those involved with the criminal justice system; youth who are 

experiencing homelessness or transitioning out of foster care; and homeless families with children 

engaged with the child welfare system. In 2018, KCHA was awarded one of the country’s largest 

allocations of new special purpose vouchers, including: 197 Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing 

(VASH) vouchers for homeless veterans; 61 additional Family Unification Program (FUP) vouchers for 

families and youth involved with the child welfare system; and 99 mainstream vouchers that target 

people with disabilities. These additional 357 subsidies enable KCHA to support cross-system efforts 

to combat housing instability and homelessness among our community’s most vulnerable 

households.  

 EXP ANDED  ASSI ST ANCE  T O HOMELE SS  AND AT -R ISK  HOU SE HOLD S T HRO UGH  I NNOV AT IVE  

PROG RAM S.  

Working closely with our service provider partners, KCHA continued to expand strategies that utilize 

federal housing resources to address our region’s homelessness crisis. In 2018, we expanded our 

Student and Family Stability Initiative (SFSI) partnership with the Highline School District to the 

Tukwila School District, serving a combined total of 39 schools and successfully rehousing 70 

homeless families through a short-term rental assistance subsidy. We also entered into a cross-

system collaborative partnership with the Department of Children, Youth, and Families (DCYF), 

Catholic Community Services, Building Changes, and other local government agencies to initiate the 

Keeping Families Together initiative – an innovative supportive housing model that serves families 

and youth involved in the child welfare system and homeless system. KCHA’s 61 new FUP vouchers 

are dedicated to supporting this effort, which will be evaluated by the Urban Institute.   

 INC REASE D GEOG R APH IC  CHOICE .   

KCHA continued to use a multi-pronged approach to broaden our residents’ geographic choices with 

a particular focus on access to high-opportunity neighborhoods across King County. Strategies 

included: use of a six-tier, ZIP Code-based, payment standard; outreach and engagement efforts by 

dedicated landlord liaisons; expedited inspections; deposit assistance; and targeted new property 

acquisitions and subsidy project-basing in high-opportunity communities. Currently, 29 percent of 



3 
 

KCHA’s HUD-subsidized households with children live in high- or very high-opportunity 

neighborhoods, supporting KCHA’s goal of 30 percent by the end of 2020. In 2018, KCHA, in 

partnership with Seattle Housing Authority (SHA) and a national interdisciplinary research team 

headed by Harvard economist Raj Chetty, launched the intervention phase of the Creating Moves to 

Opportunity (CMTO) initiative, a multi-year randomized control trial to identify and test effective 

strategies for expanding access to high-opportunity neighborhoods for families with young children. 

Results from the initial phase of this initiative should be available by next year.  

 DEEPENE D P ART NER SHI PS  WIT H LOC AL  SC HOOL DI ST RICT S TO IMPRO VE  E DUC ATIO NAL  

OUTCOME S.   

More than 15,172 children lived in KCHA’s federally subsidized housing during 2018. KCHA’s 

strategies to support these children’s academic success are the cornerstones of our efforts to 

prevent multi-generational cycles of poverty and to promote long-term socioeconomic mobility. In 

2018, we focused heavily on early learning interventions to ensure that children who live in KCHA 

housing or whose families receive a housing voucher are primed with information and supports that 

will enhance their children’s cognitive development and, ultimately, their readiness for 

kindergarten. Our approach strengthened connections between early education providers, 

elementary schools, families with young children, and a variety of programs. Those programs 

include KCHA-sponsored Baby Academies in three school districts, play and learn groups, and Head 

Start and early Head Start programs. KCHA also continued to partner with families, school districts, 

and local education stakeholders across King County to advance other key outcomes, including 

housing and classroom stability, increased parental engagement, access to quality afterschool 

programs, mentorship opportunities, and high school graduation rates.  

 SUP POR TED  FAMIL IES  I N GAI NI NG GRE ATE R ECO NO MIC SEL F - SU FFIC IENC Y .   

During 2018, KCHA assisted close to 300 Public Housing and HCV households in the Family Self-

Sufficiency (FSS) program and graduated 25 of these families from the program. The FSS program 

advances families toward economic self-sufficiency through individualized case management, 

supportive services, and program incentives including a monthly contribution to an escrow account 

when a family experiences an increase in earned income. This year, we also served an additional 77 

families living in Public Housing through the Resident Opportunities and Self-Sufficiency (ROSS) 

program, which encourages housing authorities to develop local strategies that increase economic 

independence among residents. 28 of these residents engaged in additional, optional services on 

top of the ROSS program’s basic requirements. The additional services included adult basic 



4 
 

education, career guidance, financial education, housing retention, and GED and college preparation 

services.  

 INVESTED  I N THE  EL IMI NATIO N O F ACCR UED  CAPIT AL  REP AI R AND SYSTEM RE PLACEME NT NEE DS  

IN O UR  FE DER ALL Y SUB SI DIZE D HOU SI NG INVE NTO RY.   

In 2018, KCHA invested more than $13.6 million in major repairs to our federally subsidized housing 

stock, ensuring that quality housing is available to low-income families for years to come. This 

investment improved resident safety, reduced maintenance costs and energy consumption, and 

extended the life expectancy of these affordable homes. Under our current Energy Performance 

Contract, KCHA also began upgrading aging elevators in our federally subsidized housing portfolio, 

investing an additional $2.8 million in the replacement of hydraulic jacks, cabs, and electrical 

equipment at two of our senior and disabled properties, Boulevard Manor and Munro Manor, which 

serve 130 households. Replacement of an additional 16 elevators is scheduled for 2019. The average 

Real Estate Assessment Center (REAC) score for KCHA’s Public Housing inventory inspected in 2018 

was 95.6. 

 CREATED  MORE CO ST -E FFECTIVE  PR OGR AM S B Y ST AND ARD IZI NG LE AD ER SHIP  PR ACTICE S ,  

ST RE AMLI NI NG B USI NES S PROCE SSE S ,  AND  LEV E RAG ING TEC HNOLO GY I N  CORE  BU SI NE SS  

FU NCT IONS.   

KCHA continued to foster a culture of continuous improvement that supports and encourages 

employees to enhance work quality at all levels and to increase the efficiency of KCHA’s operations. 

One focus of this effort is the development of leadership skills necessary to support staff and 

manage change. The intent is to deliver better, faster, and less intrusive services to our residents, 

landlords, and community partners, and to make the best use of limited resources. In 2018, 80 staff 

members were trained in the A3 approach to problem solving and continuous improvement.  

 REDUCE D THE  ENVI RO NMENT AL IMP ACT O F  KC HA’ S PROG RAM S AND  FAC IL I T IE S.   

In 2018, KCHA entered the second year of our five-year Resource Management Plan. The plan 

includes: goals for reduced energy and water consumption in the 10,215 units of housing that we 

own; increased diversion of materials from the waste stream; safe handling and reductions in 

hazardous waste; and the promotion of conservation awareness among our residents. In addition, 

we completed a greenhouse gas inventory that provided us with a comprehensive metric for our 

environmental impact and greenhouse gas generation, which will be integrated into broader agency 

strategies around sustainability. Finally, through our Energy Performance Contract, we installed $5.6 

million in conservation measures in 2018, measures that will drive ongoing performance 



5 
 

improvements related to consumption.  

 ST RENGT HENE D O UR ME ASU REMENT,  LEAR NI NG,  AND  RE SE ARC H C AP ACI TIE S .   

KCHA continued to increase its internal capacity for program design and evaluation, and data 

management and analysis, while also expanding external partnerships that advance our long-term 

research agenda. In 2018, we began field implementation of the CMTO mobility study in 

collaboration with research partners from Harvard, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Johns 

Hopkins, and other universities; completed a housing and health data collaboration with Public 

Health Seattle-King County (this report is included in appendix D); began a data sharing and 

intervention design process with UnitedHealthcare Inc.; continued collaborations with the University 

of Washington to understand the characteristics and experiences of incoming resident populations; 

and conducted internal assessments of several of our programs. These efforts support the MTW 

program’s mission to pilot and assess new approaches that more effectively and efficiently address 

the housing needs and improve life outcomes for our communities’ low-income residents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



6 
 

B. OVERVIEW OF LONG-TERM MTW GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

Through our participation in the MTW demonstration program, KCHA is able to address a wide range of 

affordable housing needs in the Puget Sound region. We use the single-fund and regulatory flexibility 

provided through MTW to support our overarching strategic goals:  

 ST R ATEGY  1:  Continue to strengthen the physical, operational, financial, and environmental 

sustainability of our portfolio of more than 10,200 affordable housing units. 

 ST R ATEGY  2:  Increase the supply of housing in the region that is affordable to extremely low-income 

households – those earning below 30 percent of Area Median Income (AMI) – through the 

development of new housing and the preservation of existing housing, as well as through expansion 

in the size and reach of our rental subsidy programs.  

 ST R ATEGY  3:  Affirmatively Further Fair Housing and provide greater geographic choice for low-

income households, including residents with disabilities, elderly residents with mobility 

impairments, and families with young children, so that our clients have the opportunity to live in 

neighborhoods with high-performing schools and convenient access to support services, health care, 

transit, and employment.  

 ST R ATEGY  4:  Coordinate closely with behavioral health and other social services systems to increase 

the supply of supportive housing for people who have been chronically homeless and/or have 

special needs, with the goal of making homelessness rare, brief, and one-time in King County.  

 ST R ATEGY  5:  Engage in the revitalization of King County’s low-income neighborhoods, with a focus 

on housing and other services, amenities, institutions, and partnerships that create strong, healthy 

communities. 

 ST R ATEGY  6:  Work with King County government, regional transit agencies and suburban cities to 

support sustainable and equitable regional development by integrating new affordable housing into 

regional growth corridors aligned with current and planned mass transit investments.  

 ST R ATEGY  7:  Expand and deepen partnerships with local school districts, Head Start programs, 

after-school program providers, public health departments, community colleges, the philanthropic 

community and our residents, with the goal to improve educational and life outcomes for the low-

income children and families we serve. 

 ST R ATEGY  8:  Promote greater economic independence for families and individuals living in 



7 
 

subsidized housing by addressing barriers to employment and facilitating access to training and 

education programs, with the goal of enabling moves to market-rate housing at the appropriate 

time. 

 ST R ATEGY  9:  Continue to develop institutional capacity and efficiencies at KCHA to make the most 

effective use of federal resources.  

 ST R ATEGY  10:  Continue to reduce KCHA’s environmental footprint through energy conservation, 

renewable energy generation, waste stream diversion, green procurement policies, water usage 

reduction, and fleet management practices. 

 ST R ATEGY  11:  Develop our capacity as a learning organization that incorporates research and 

evaluation in decision-making and policy formulation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



8 
 

SECTION I I   
G E N E R A L  H O U S I N G  A U T H O R I T Y  O P E R A T I N G  I N F O R M A T I O N  

 

A. HOUSING STOCK INFORMATION  

i .  Actual  New Project -based Vouchers  

Property Name 
Planned 

Number of 
Vouchers 

Actual 
Number of 
Vouchers 

Status at End 
of 2018 

RAD? Description of Project 

Arcadia 0 5 Committed No 

These vouchers, originally committed in 2015, 

are dedicated to Nexus Youth and Families’ new 

construction development in Auburn that will 

serve young adults between the ages of 18 and 

25 who are experiencing homelessness. 

Completion of this project has been delayed due 

to property development delays experienced by 

the project sponsor.  

Kent Permanent 
Supportive Housing 

0 36 Committed No 

KCHA awarded 36 project-based VASH vouchers 

to Catholic Housing Services’ permanent 

supportive housing complex in Kent. These units 

will serve veterans who are experiencing 

homelessness. 

Kent Permanent 
Supportive Housing 

Up to 50 
vouchers 

44 Committed No 

As part of the 2018 King County Combined 

Funders NOFA, KCHA awarded 44 project-based 

vouchers to Catholic Housing Services’ 

permanent supportive housing complex in Kent. 

These units will serve people with disabilities 

who are also experiencing homelessness. 

Somerset Gardens 8 0 N/A No 

KCHA will project-base eight units at its 

198-unit family complex in Bellevue. 

The project-basing of these units is 

delayed until 2019. 

Highland Village 27 0 N/A No 

The project-basing of 27 vouchers at 

our 76-unit family complex in Bellevue 

has been delayed. 

Total Vouchers 
Newly Project-

based 
85 85 

 

 



9 
 

i i .  Actual  Existing Project -based Vouchers  

See appendix C for a list of KCHA’s existing project-based voucher contracts. 

i i i .  Actual  Other Changes to the Housing Stock in 2018 

In 2018, KCHA purchased Houghton Court in Kirkland, preserving this complex and adding 15 public 

housing units in this high-opportunity community.  At the end of the year, KCHA’s total inventory stood 

at 10,215 units.  

iv.  General  Description of Actual  Capital  Fund Expenditures During 2018 

KCHA continued to improve the quality and long-term viability of our aging affordable housing inventory 

by investing more than $13.6 million in capital repairs, unit upgrades, capital construction, and non-

routine maintenance. These investments ensure that our housing stock is available and livable for years 

to come.  

 U N I T  U P G R A D E S  ( $ 3 . 3  M I L L I O N ) .  KCHA’s ongoing efforts to significantly upgrade the 

interiors of our affordable housing inventory as units turn over continued in 2018. KCHA’s in-house, 

skilled workforce performed the renovations, which include installation of new flooring, cabinets, 

and fixtures that extended the useful life of 115 additional units by 20 years.  

 S I T E  I M P R O V E M E N T S  ( $ 2 . 5 M I L L I O N ) .  This year the Burien Vets House (Burien) underwent 

site improvements to eliminate water ponding that was occurring near the front entrance. Second 

phase site improvement work, including new lighting, walkways, retaining walls, drainage 

improvements, and patio repairs, was completed at Lake House (Shoreline). We completed a third 

phase of site improvement work at Valli Kee (Kent), which included a newly paved parking lot, new 

sidewalks and gutters, and construction of a bus turnout. Site improvements at Forest Glen 

(Redmond) were deferred to 2019.  

 B U I L D I N G  E N V E L O P E  A N D  R E L A T E D  C O M P O N E N T S  U P G R A D E S  ( $ 4 . 8  M I L L I O N ) .  

Boulevard Manor (Burien), Burien Vets House (Burien), and Kirkland Place (Kirkland) all received 

new roofs in 2018. To correct for settlement occurring at one end of the building, Kirkland Place 

underwent leveling of its building structure. Decks were repaired or replaced, depending on the 

condition, at Northwood Apartments (Kenmore). Paramount House (Shoreline) received a complete 

envelope upgrade including new roofs, siding, doors, windows, and decks. A roof replacement 

project at Casa Juanita (Kirkland) was deferred to 2019. 



10 
 

 D O M E S T I C  W A S T E  A N D  W A T E R  L I N E  W O R K  ( $ 6 2 0 , 0 0 0 ) .  The waste and water lines at 

Ballinger Homes (Shoreline) were relined in 2018. 

 “ 5 0 9 ”  I N I T I A T I V E  I M P R O V E M E N T S  ( $ 2 . 4  M I L L I O N ) .  In 2018, significant capital 

improvements were completed at properties included in the 2013 conversion of 509 scattered-site 

public housing units to project-based HCV subsidies. New siding, doors, windows, and decks were 

installed at Greenleaf (Kenmore), and Juanita Trace (Kirkland) received new siding, doors, and 

windows. A new major walkway and handicapped-accessible ramp were constructed at Juanita 

Court (Kirkland), connecting the upper and lower sections of the site. 

In addition to these Capital Fund projects, as part of our Energy Performance Contract, KCHA installed 

$5.6 million in conservation measures across our portfolio of Public Housing.  

  



11 
 

B. LEASING INFORMATION  

i .  Actual  Number of Households Served 2  

Over the course of 2018, KCHA served more than 14,000 households through a combination of our 

traditional federal housing programs, Public Housing and HCV, and locally designed, non-traditional 

programs, including the sponsor-based supportive housing program for individuals experiencing chronic 

homelessness, a stepped rent program for young adults exiting homelessness, and SFSI that serves 

homeless students and their families.  

Number of Households Served Through: 

Number of Unit Months 
Occupied/Leased 

Number of Households Served 

Planned Actual Planned Actual 

MTW Public Housing Units Leased 28,800 30,432 2,400 2,536 

MTW Housing Choice Vouchers (HCV) Utilized 119,088 135,828 9,924
3
 11,319

4
 

Local, Non-traditional: Tenant-based 2,256 2,412 188 201 

Local, Non-traditional: Property-based N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Local, Non-traditional: Homeownership N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Planned/Actual Totals 150,144 168,672 12,512 14,056 

 

Local, Non-
traditional 
Category 

MTW Activity Number/Name 

Number of Unit Months 
Occupied/Leased 

Number of Households Served 

Planned Actual Planned Actual 

Tenant-based 
Activity 2014-1: Stepped Down 
Assistance for Homeless Youth 

300 348 25 29 

Tenant-based 
Activity 2013-2: Flexible Rental 

Assistance 
600 840 50 70 

Tenant-based 
Activity 2007-6: Develop a Sponsor-

based Housing Program 
1,356 1,224 113 102 

Planned/Actual Totals 2,256 2,412 188 201 

 

                                                           
2
 These numbers reflect a cumulative count of the total number of households served between January 1 and December 31, 

2018. This number does not include the 3,223 port-in vouchers that we administered in 2018. 
3
 KCHA previously had projected this number as a point in time, which does not capture the dynamics of turnover and port-out 

voucher absorption that take place over the course of a year.  
4
 This number includes both block grant and special purpose voucher households. It is made up of tenant-based households 

(8,226), Project-based Section 8 households (2,442), and Port-out households (651). 



12 
 

 

i i .  Description of Any Issues and Solutions Related to Leasing  

Housing Program Description of Leasing Issues and Solutions 

Public Housing The program did not encounter leasing issues in 2018. 

Housing Choice Vouchers 
(HCV) 

 
King County continued to have one of the most competitive rental markets and lowest 
vacancy rates in the nation. Despite this, KCHA saw improvements to its shopping 
success rate because of the innovative policies and practices we have put into place.  
First, we continued to use a tiered ZIP Code-based payment standard system that more 
closely matches area submarkets, reducing economic barriers to housing. We also 
continued to provide deposit assistance to searching households. The assignment of HCV 
staff caseloads by Zip Code provided landlords with a single and consistent point of 
contact that improved customer service and satisfaction. Also in 2018, our Landlord 
Liaison team was expanded from one staff member to three, leading to increased 
landlord participation. We continued to explore additional measures to support voucher 
holders in securing a home, including: unit holding fees; expedited lease-up processes for 
preferred landlords; ongoing re-evaluation of payment standards; and flexible funding to 
assist participants with back rent and utilities, application fees, and deposits. For families 
that received their vouchers in 2018, their shopping success rate was 76.8 percent at 240 
days of searching.  
 

Local, Non-traditional 

 
Successfully leasing an apartment and maintaining housing stability in a tight rental 
market with a population that already faces multiple barriers remained a challenge for 
our local, non-traditional programs in 2018. Working closely with our community 
partners, we continued to explore the use of additional resources, such as landlord 
engagement, housing search navigation services, and housing stability support to 
improve shopping success rates. For our sponsor-based supportive housing program, a 
key strategy for housing individuals facing multiple barriers, KCHA provided additional 
technical assistance around landlord engagement to our provider partners.  
 

 

  



13 
 

C. WAIT LIST INFORMATION  

i .  Waiting List  Information at End of 2018 

Waiting List Name Description 

Number of 
Households 
on Waiting 

List 

Waiting List 
Open, 

Partially 
Open, or 
Closed 

Was the Waiting 
List Opened During 

2018? 

Housing Choice Voucher Community-wide 1,930 Closed No 

Public Housing Other: Regional 8,750 Open Yes 

Public Housing Site-based 7,865 Open Yes 

Project-based Other: Regional 3,152 Open Yes 

Public Housing - Conditional Housing Program-specific 28 Open Yes 

 

i i .  Changes to the Waiting List  in 2018  

KCHA did not make any changes to our waiting lists in 2018. 

  



14 
 

D. INFORMATION ON STATUTORY OBJECTIVES AND REQUIREMENTS  

i .  75% of Famil ies Assisted Are Very Low-income 

Income Level 
Number of Local, Non-Traditional Households Admitted in 

2018 

50%-80% Area Median Income 5 

30%-49% Area Median Income 26 

Below 30% Area Median Income 72 

 

i i .  Maintain Comparable Mix  

Baseline Mix of Family Sizes Served (Upon Entry to MTW)  

Family Size 
Occupied Public 
Housing Units 

Utilized HCVs 
Non-MTW 

Adjustments 
Baseline Mix 

Number 
Baseline Mix 
Percentage  

1 Person 1,201 1,929 N/A 3,130 34.05% 

2 Person 674 1,497 N/A 2,171 23.62% 

3 Person 476 1,064 N/A 1,540 16.75% 

4 Person 360 772 N/A 1,132 12.32% 

5 Person 250 379 N/A 629 6.84% 

6+ Person 246 344 N/A 590 6.42% 

Total 3,207 5,985 N/A 9,192 100% 

 

Explanation for 
Baseline 

Adjustments 
KCHA did not make any adjustments to our baseline mix of family sizes served.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



15 
 

Mix of Family Sizes Served 5 

 
1 Person 2 Person 3 Person 4 Person 5 Person 6+ Person Totals 

Baseline Mix 
Percentage 

34.05% 23.62% 16.75% 12.32% 6.84% 6.42% 100% 

Number of 
Households 

Served in 2018 
6,136 3,182 1,750 1,269 738 780 13,855 

Percentages of 
Households 

Served in 2018 
44.29% 22.97% 12.63% 9.16% 5.33% 5.63% 100% 

Percentage 
Change 

10.24% -0.65% -4.12% -3.16% -1.51% -0.79% 0% 

 

Justification and 
Explanation for Any 

Variances of Over 5% from 
the Baseline Percentages 

 
For more than a decade, KCHA has been an active partner in addressing our region’s 
homelessness crisis and has aggressively pursued new incremental special purpose 

vouchers being made available by HUD. A large portion of these vouchers target homeless 
veterans and disabled households, populations largely comprised of single adults. 

According to the most recent point-in-time count, more than three-quarters of individuals 
experiencing homelessness were living in single adult households.

6
 KCHA’s family mix has 

shifted accordingly over time. In 2018, KCHA’s special purpose voucher households made 
up 33 percent of all one-bedroom households served.  

 

 

 

                                                           
5
 This table does not include the 201 households served through KCHA’s local, non-traditional programs.  

6
 Count Us In 2018: Seattle/King County Point-in-Time Count of Persons Experiencing Homelessness. http://allhomekc.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/05/FINALDRAFT-COUNTUSIN2018REPORT-5.25.18.pdf. 



16 
 

i i i .  Number of Households Transitioned to Self -sufficiency by Fiscal  Year -end 

Activity Name/# 
Number of Households 

Transitioned 
Agency Definition of Self-sufficiency 

Stepped-down Assistance for Homeless 
Youth (2014-1) 

20 Maintain housing 

Passage Point Re-entry Housing Program 
(2013-1) 

29 
Positive move to Public Housing or other 

independent housing 

EASY & WIN Rent 
(2008-10, 2008-11) 

179 Positive move from KCHA to unsubsidized housing 

Develop a Sponsor-based Housing Program 
(2007-6) 

102 Maintain housing 

Households Duplicated Across 
Activities/Definitions 

0 
 
 
 

         
 

     

ANNUAL TOTAL NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS 
TRANSITIONED TO SELF-SUFFICIENCY 

330 
 

 

In 2018, 330 households in KCHA’s federally subsidized housing programs achieved self-sufficiency 

milestones. Of those, 179 achieved self-sufficiency by moving to non-subsidized housing and 151 

maintained stable housing after experiencing homelessness or incarceration. 

  

  



17 
 

SECTION I I I   
P R O P O S E D  M T W  A C T I V I T I E S  

New activities are proposed in the annual MTW Plan.  

  



18 
 

SECTION IV   
A P P R O V E D  M T W  A C T I V I T I E S  

A. IMPLEMENTED ACTIVITIES  

The following table provides an overview of KCHA’s implemented activities, the statutory objectives 

they aim to meet, and the page number in which more detail can be found for each.  

Year-
Activity # 

MTW Activity 
Statutory 

Objective(s) 
Page Number 

2018-1 
Encouraging the Successful Lease-up of the Housing 

Choice Voucher Program 
Housing Choice 19 

2016-2 
Conversion of Former Opt-out Developments to 

Public Housing 
Cost-effectiveness 20 

2015-2 
Reporting on the Use of Net Proceeds from 

Disposition Activities 
Cost-effectiveness 21 

2014-1 Stepped-down Assistance for Homeless Youth Self-sufficiency 23 

2014-2 Revised Definition of "Family" Housing Choice 24 

2013-1 Passage Point Re-entry Housing Program Housing Choice 25 

2013-2 Flexible Rental Assistance Housing Choice 27 

2009-1 
Project-based Section 8 Local Program Contract 

Term 
Housing Choice 28 

2008-1 Acquire New Public Housing Housing Choice 28 

2008-10 & 
2008-11 

EASY and WIN Rent Policies Cost-effectiveness   30 

2008-21 
Public Housing and Housing Choice Voucher Utility 

Allowances 
Cost-effectiveness 31 

2007-6 Develop a Sponsor-based Housing Program Housing Choice 33 

2007-14 Enhanced Transfer Policy Cost-effectiveness 34 

2005-4 Payment Standard Changes Housing Choice 35 

2004-2 Local Project-based Section 8 Program 
Cost-effectiveness 

Housing Choice 
36 

2004-3 Develop Site-based Waiting Lists 
Cost-effectiveness 

Housing Choice 
39 

2004-5 
Modified Housing Quality Standards (HQS) 

Inspection Protocols 
Cost-effectiveness 40 

2004-7 
Streamlining Public Housing and Housing Choice 

Voucher Forms and Data Processing 
Cost-effectiveness 41 

2004-9 Rent Reasonableness Modifications Cost-effectiveness 43 

2004-12 Energy Performance Contracting Cost-effectiveness 44 

2004-16 Housing Choice Voucher Occupancy Requirements Cost-effectiveness 45 

 



19 
 

ACTIVITY 2018-1: Encouraging the Successful  Lease -up of the Housing Choice 

Voucher Program  
MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Housing Choice 
APP RO VAL:  2018 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2018 
 
CHALLENGE:  King County’s rental vacancy rate, currently at a historic low, coupled with the large in-

migration of an affluent and skilled workforce, make it difficult for KCHA’s voucher holders to compete 

in the private market.  

SOLU TIO N:  To address this issue, KCHA is working to preserve and increase the number of housing 

options available by recruiting and retaining landlords in the HCV program. In order to secure units, 

KCHA is exploring the implementation of incentive payments to landlords who agree to lease a recently 

vacated unit to another voucher holder, not to exceed one month of the Housing Assistance Payment 

(HAP). These payments will serve as an incentive for landlords to continue their participation in the HCV 

program by minimizing the owner’s losses typically experienced during turnover. KCHA is seeking to 

streamline its Housing Quality Standards (HQS) protocol even further by conducting pre-qualifying unit 

inspections and deferring initial inspections, to be completed within 30 days of the signing of the HAP 

contract, at low-risk properties with a positive inspection record and where a significant number of 

KCHA residents already live at the property (additional criteria will be determined during program 

planning). If a unit fails inspection and the landlord does not make the necessary repairs or corrections 

within 15 days, KCHA will abate the first HAP payment and disqualify that particular landlord from 

additional pre-inspections. These efficiencies will enable faster lease-up times and cause less disruption 

for landlords while also ensuring program compliance.  

In addition to strategies to improve landlord recruitment and retention, KCHA continues to invest in 

strategies to aid voucher holders in leasing a unit – especially efforts that increase access to high-

opportunity neighborhoods, which often are financially out of reach for low-income households. 

Examples of previously implemented activities include: providing access to a security deposit assistance 

fund; use of multi-tiered, ZIP Code-based payment standards; and continuing to focus on landlord 

customer service. In addition, KCHA continues to support and participate in the Creating Moves to 

Opportunity (CMTO) research partnership, which tests new strategies for empowering HCV families with 

young children to access high-opportunity neighborhoods.  



20 
 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  In 2018, KCHA’s Landlord Liaison team expanded from one to three staff 

members. As a result of this strategy and previously implemented strategies, our shopping success rate 

increased to 76.8 percent at 240 days of searching.  

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of 
Measurement 

Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost 
of task in dollars 

$0 saved $0 saved $0 saved Achieved 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time 
to complete task 

in staff hours7 
0 hours saved 0 hours saved 0 hours saved Achieved 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC#7: Number of 
households 

receiving services 
aimed to increase 

housing choice 

Shopping Success 
Rate: 70% at 240 

days 

80% at 240 
days 

76.8% at 240 
days 

In Progress 

 

ACTIVITY 2016-2: Conversion of Former Opt -out Developments to Public Housing  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness 
APP RO VAL:  2016 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2016 
 
CHALLENGE:  The process to convert a property’s subsidy model from project-based Section 8 to Public 

Housing is slow, burdensome, and administratively complex.   

SOLU TIO N:  This policy allows KCHA to convert entire project-based Section 8 opt-out properties to 

Public Housing at once. Under current federal guidelines, units convert only when the original resident 

moves out with a voucher. This transition is gradual, and at properties that house seniors or residents 

with disabilities, turnover of units tends to be especially slow. In the meantime, two sets of rules – 

project-based Section 8 and Public Housing – simultaneously govern the management of the 

development, adding to the administrative complexity of providing housing assistance.  

This activity builds on KCHA’s previously approved initiative (2008-1) to expand housing through use of 

banked Public Housing ACC units. KCHA can convert former project-based “opt-out” sites to Public 

Housing through the development process outlined in 24 CFR 905, rather than through the typical 

gradual transition. As a result, this policy greatly streamlines operations and increases administrative 

efficiency.     

                                                           
7
 This activity does not save staff hours or other resources.  



21 
 

With transition to Public Housing subsidy, current enhanced voucher participants retain protections 

against future rent increases in much the same manner as previously provided. As a Public Housing 

resident, these households pay an affordable rent (based on policies outlined in KCHA’s Public Housing 

Admissions and Continued Occupancy Policy [ACOP]) and therefore remain protected from a private 

owner’s decision to increase the contract rent. At the same time, KCHA’s MTW-enhanced Transfer Policy 

ensures that former enhanced voucher recipients retain the same (if not greater) opportunity for 

mobility by providing access to transfer to other subsidized units within KCHA’s portfolio or use a 

general HCV should future need arise.   

KCHA works with affected residents of selected former opt-out properties, providing ample notification 

and information (including the right to move using a general voucher for current enhanced voucher 

participants) in order to ensure the development’s seamless transition to the Public Housing program.  

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  KCHA did not convert any opt-out developments to Public Housing in 2018.  

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of 
Measurement 

Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost 
of task in dollars 

$0 saved $1,3208 saved N/A N/A 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time 
to complete task 

in staff hours 
0 hours saved 40 hours saved N/A N/A 

 

ACTIVITY 2015-2: Reporting on the Use of Net Proceeds from Disposition Activit ies  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness 
APP RO VAL:  2015 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2016 
 
CHALLENGE:  The reporting process for the use of net proceeds from KCHA’s disposition activities is 

duplicative and burdensome. The reporting protocol for the MTW program aligns with the Section 18 

disposition code reporting requirements, allowing for an opportunity to simplify this process.  

 
SOLU TIO N:  KCHA reports on the use of net proceeds from disposition activities in the annual MTW 

report. This streamlining activity allows us to realize time-savings and administrative efficiencies while 

                                                           
8
 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median hourly wage and benefits ($33) of staff who oversee this activity by the 

number of hours saved. The number is a monetization of the hours saved through the implementation of this program. 



22 
 

continuing to adhere to the guidelines outlined in 24 CFR 941 Subpart F of Section 18 demolition and 

disposition code.  

We use our net proceeds from the last HOPE VI disposition, Seola Gardens, in some of the following 

ways, all of which are accepted uses under Section 18(a)(5):    

1. Repair or rehabilitation of existing ACC units. 

2. Development and/or acquisition of new ACC units. 

3. Provision of social services for residents. 

4. Implementation of a preventative and routine maintenance strategy for specific single-family 
scattered-site ACC units. 

5. Modernization of a portion of a residential building in our inventory to develop a recreation 
room, laundry room, or day-care facility for residents. 

6. Leveraging of proceeds in order to partner with a private entity for the purpose of developing 
mixed-finance Public Housing under 24 CFR 905.604.  

We report on the proceeds’ uses, including administrative and overhead costs, in the MTW reports. The 

net proceeds from this project are estimated to be $5 million. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  In 2018, KCHA received net sale proceeds of $1.9 million from the 

disposition of the Eastside Regional Maintenance building. The proceeds covered a part of the purchase 

price for the 15-unit Houghton Court (Kirkland).   

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of 
Measurement 

Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost 
of task in dollars 

$0 saved 

 
Estimated 

$11,8409 saved 
 

 
Estimated 

$11,840 saved 
 

Achieved 

 Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time 
to complete task 

in staff hours 
0 hours saved 

Estimated 160 
hours saved 

Estimated 160 
hours saved 

Achieved 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
9
 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median hourly wage and benefits ($74) of the staff member who oversees this 

activity by the number of hours saved. This number represents a hypothetical estimate of the dollar amount that could be 
saved in staff hours by implementing this activity. 



23 
 

ACTIVITY 2014-1: Stepped-down Assistance for Homeless Youth  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Self-sufficiency 
APP RO VAL:  2014 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2014 
 
CHALLENGE:  During the January 2018 point-in-time homeless count in King County, 1,518 youth and 

young adults were identified as homeless or unstably housed.10 Local service providers have identified 

the need for a short-term, gradually diminishing rental subsidy structure to meet the unique needs of 

these youth. 

SOLU TIO N:  KCHA has implemented a flexible, “stepped-down” rental assistance model in partnership 

with local youth service providers. Our provider partners find that a short-term rental subsidy, paired 

with supportive services, is the most effective way to serve homeless youth, as a majority of them do 

not require extended tenure in a supportive housing environment. By providing limited-term rental 

assistance and promoting graduation to independent living, more youth can be served effectively. KCHA 

is partnering with Valley Cities Counseling and Consultation to operate the Coming Up initiative. This 

program offers independent housing opportunities to young adults (ages 18 to 25) who are either 

exiting homelessness or currently living in service-rich transitional housing. With support from the 

provider, participants move into housing in the private rental market, sign a lease, and work with a 

resource specialist who prepares them to take over the lease after a period of being stabilized in 

housing. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  As the rental market continues to escalate at an unprecedented rate 

across King County, KCHA and Valley Cities Counseling are closely monitoring the outcomes of young 

adults exiting the Coming Up program model to ensure it remains an effective tool in setting up young 

adults to maintain their housing by program completion.   

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of 
Measurement 

Baseline Benchmark Outcome Benchmark Achieved? 

Increase self-
sufficiency 

SS #1: Average 
earned income of 

households 
affected by this 

policy 

$0/month $200/month $932/month Exceeded 

Increase self-
sufficiency 

SS #3: 
Employment 

status for heads 

(1) Employed Full-

time 
 

4 participants 
 

6 participants 
Partially Achieved 

                                                           
10

 Count Us In 2018: Seattle/King County Point-in-Time Count of Persons Experiencing Homelessness. http://allhomekc.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/05/FINALDRAFT-COUNTUSIN2018REPORT-5.25.18.pdf 



24 
 

of household 0 participants 

(2) Employed Part-

time 

0 participants 

 
 

7 participants 

 
 

15 participants 

(3) Enrolled in an 

Educational 

Program 

0 participants 

 
 
 

4 participants 

 
 
 

5 participants 

(4) Enrolled in Job-

training Program 

0 participants 

 
 

1 participant 

 
 

0 participants 

(5) Unemployed 

0 participants 
 

0 participants 
 

8 participants 

(6) Other 

0 participants 
 

0 participants 
 

6 participants11 

Increase self-
sufficiency 

SS #5: Number of 
households 

receiving services 
0 households 25 households 29 households Exceeded 

Increase self-
sufficiency 

SS #7: Tenant 
rent share 

0 households 
7 households paying 
$200 or more toward 

contract rent 

8 households paying 
$200 or more toward 

contract rent 
Exceeded 

Increase self-
sufficiency 

SS #8: 
Households 

transition to self-
sufficiency12 

0 households 14 households 
 

17 households 
 

Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2014-2: Revised Definition of “Family”   

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Housing Choice 
APP RO VAL:  2014 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2014 
 
CHALLENGE:  According to the January 2018 point-in-time count, 2,624 individuals experiencing 

homelessness in King County were in families with children.13 Thousands more elderly and people with 

disabilities, many with severe rent burdens, are homeless or on our waiting lists. 

 

                                                           
11

 Receiving entitlement benefits.  
12

 Self-sufficiency for this activity is defined as securing and maintaining housing. 
13

 Count Us In 2018: Seattle/King County Point-in-Time Count of Persons Experiencing Homelessness. http://allhomekc.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/05/FINALDRAFT-COUNTUSIN2018REPORT-5.25.18.pdf 



25 
 

SOLU TIO N:  This policy directs KCHA’s limited resources to populations facing the greatest need: elderly 

and near-elderly households; households with people with disabilities; and families with minor children. 

We modified the eligibility standards outlined in the Public Housing ACOP and HCV Administrative Plans 

to limit eligible households to those that include at least one senior or person with a disability, or a 

minor/dependent child. The current policy affects only admissions and does not affect the eligibility of 

households currently receiving assistance. Exceptions will be made for participants in programs that 

target specialized populations such as domestic violence victims or individuals who have been 

chronically homeless. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  KCHA continued to apply this policy to new applicants, sustaining a 

reduced HCV wait list time of 20 months.  

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #3: Average applicant 
time on HCV wait list (in 

months) 
29 months 25 months 20 months Exceeded 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #4: Number of 
households at or below 

80% AMI that would lose 
assistance or need to 

move 

0 households 0 households 0 households Achieved 

 

ACTIVITY 2013-1: Passage Point Re-entry Housing Program  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Housing Choice 
APP RO VAL:  2013 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2013 
 
CHALLENGE:  In 2018, 1,497 individuals in King County returned to the community after a period of 

incarceration.14 Nationally, more than half of all inmates are parents who will face barriers to securing 

housing and employment upon release due to their criminal record or lack of job skills.15 Without a 

home or employment, many of these parents are unable to reunite with their children.   

SOLU TIO N:  Passage Point is a unique supportive housing program that serves parents trying to reunify 

with their children following a period of incarceration. KCHA provides 46 project-based Section 8 

vouchers while the YWCA provides property management and supportive services. The YWCA identifies 

                                                           
14

 Washington State Department of Corrections. Number of Prison Releases by County of Release. 
https://www.doc.wa.gov/docs/publications/reports/200-RE001.pdf 
15

 Glaze, L E and Maruschak, M M (2008). Parents in Prison and Their Minor Children. 
http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=823 



26 
 

eligible individuals through outreach to prisons and correctional facilities. In contrast to typical 

transitional housing programs that have strict 24-month occupancy limits, Passage Point participants 

may remain in place until they have completed the reunification process, are stabilized in employment, 

and can demonstrate their ability to succeed in a less service-intensive environment. Passage Point 

participants who complete the program and regain custody of their children may apply to KCHA’s Public 

Housing program and receive priority placement on the wait list. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  In 2018, 55 families lived and participated in services at Passage Point, and 

34 children were successfully reunified with their parents. By the end of the year, 29 of these families 

had graduated to permanent housing.  

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of 
Measurement 

Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater cost-

effectiveness 

CE #4: Amount of 
funds leveraged 

in dollars 
$0 $500,000 $623,333 Exceeded 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #5: Number 
of households 

able to move to a 
better unit16 

0 households 40 households 55 households Exceeded 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #7: Number 
of households 

receiving services 
aimed to 

increase housing 
choice 

0 households 40 households 55 households Exceeded 

Increase self-
sufficiency 

SS #1: Average 
earned income of 

households 
affected by this 

policy 

$0 $3,584 $2,739 In Progress 

Increase self-
sufficiency 

SS #3: 
Employment 

status for heads 
of household 

(1) Employed Full-
time 

 
0 

 
 
 

15 

 
 
 

20 

Partially Achieved 

(2) Employed Part-
time 

 
0 

 
 
 

15 

 
 
 

11 
(3) Enrolled in an 

Educational 
Program 

 
0 

 
 
 

15 

 
 
 

13 

(4) Enrolled in Job 
Training Program 

 
0 

 
 
 

12 

 
 
 

10 
(5) Unemployed 

 
0 

 
 

0 

 
 

19 
(6) Other: engaged 

in services 
 
 

 
 

                                                           
16

 Better unit is defined as stable housing.  



27 
 

0 
 

0 0 

Increase self-
sufficiency 

SS #8: Number of 
households 

transitioned to 
self-sufficiency17 

0 households 5 households 29 households Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2013-2: Flexible Rental  Assistance  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Housing Choice 
APP RO VAL:  2013 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2013 
 
CHALLENGE:  The one-size-fits-all approach of traditional housing programs does not provide the 

flexibility needed to quickly and effectively meet the needs of low-income individuals facing distinct 

housing crises. In many of these cases, a short-term rental subsidy paired with responsive, individualized 

case management can help a family out of a crisis situation and into safe and stable housing.  

SOLU TIO N:  This activity, developed with local service providers, offers tailored flexible housing 

assistance to families and individuals in crisis. KCHA provides flexible financial assistance, including time-

limited rental subsidy, security deposits, rent arrears, and funds to cover move-in costs, while our 

partners provide individualized support services. The Student and Family Stability Initiative (SFSI) pairs 

short-term rental assistance with housing stability and employment navigation services for families 

experiencing or on the verge of homelessness. School-based McKinney-Vento liaisons identify and 

connect these families with community-based service providers while caseworkers have the flexibility to 

determine the most effective approach to quickly stabilize participants in housing.  

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  The SFSI program was expanded to the Tukwila School District at the start 

of the 2017-18 school year, bringing the total number of schools served in south King County to 39. In 

2018, KCHA provided flexible rental assistance to 70 formerly homeless families with 129 school-aged 

children.  

MTW Statutory Objective Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Increase housing choices 
HC #5: Number of 
households able to 

move to a better unit 
0 households 50 households 70 households Exceeded 

Increase housing choices 

HC #7: Number of 
households receiving 

services aimed to 
increase housing 

choice 

 
0 households 

 
100 households 112 households Exceeded 

                                                           
17

 Self-sufficiency in this activity is defined as graduating to Public Housing or other independent housing. 



28 
 

ACTIVITY 2009-1: Project-based Section 8 Local  Program Contract Term  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Housing Choice 
APP RO VAL:  2009 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2009 
 
CHALLENGE:  Prior to 2009, our nonprofit development partners faced difficulties securing private 

financing for the development and acquisition of affordable housing projects. Measured against banking 

and private equity standards, the Housing Assistance Payments (HAP) contract term set by HUD is too 

short and hinders underwriting debt on affordable housing projects.  

 
SOLU TIO N:  This activity extends the allowable term for Project-based Section 8 contracts up to 30 years 

for the initial HAP term and a 30-year cumulative maximum contract renewal term not to exceed 60 

years total. The longer term assists our partners in underwriting and leveraging private financing for 

development and acquisition projects. At the same time, the longer-term commitment from KCHA 

signals to lenders and underwriters that proposed projects have sufficient cash flow to take on the debt 

necessary to develop or acquire affordable housing units.   

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  KCHA continued to save 20 hours of staff time per contract. 

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost of task in 
dollars 

$0 saved $880 saved 
$880 saved per 

contract18 
Achieved 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time to 
complete task in staff 

hours 

0 hours saved 
per contract 

20 hours saved per 
contract 

20 hours saved per 
contract 

Achieved 

 

ACTIVITY 2008-1: Acquire New Public Housing  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Housing Choice 
APP RO VAL:  2008 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2008 
 
CHALLENGE:  In King County, 41 percent of households earning less than 80% of AMI pay more than 50 

percent of their income each month on rent and utilities. For the lowest income families in our region, 

those earning less than 30% of AMI, a staggering 65 percent are paying more than half of their income 

                                                           
18

 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median hourly wage and benefits ($44) of the staff member who oversees this 
activity by the number of hours saved. The number is a monetization of the hours saved through the implementation of this 
program. 



29 
 

on rent.19 In the context of these challenges, KCHA’s Public Housing wait lists continue to grow. Given 

the gap between available affordable housing and the number of low-income renters, KCHA must 

continue to increase the inventory of units affordable to extremely low-income households. 

SOLU TIO N:  KCHA’s Public Housing ACC is currently below the Faircloth limit in the number of allowable 

units. These “banked” Public Housing subsidies allow us to add to the affordable housing supply in the 

region by acquiring new units. This approach is challenging, however, because Public Housing units 

cannot support debt. We continued our innovative use of MTW working capital, with a particular focus 

on the creation or preservation of units in high-opportunity neighborhoods.20  

We further simplify the acquisition and addition of units to our Public Housing inventory by partnering 

with the local HUD field office to streamline the information needed to add these units to the PIH 

Information Center system and obtain operating and capital subsidies. We also use a process for self-

certification of neighborhood suitability standards and Faircloth limits, necessitating the flexibility 

granted in Attachment D, Section D of our MTW Agreement.21 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  In 2018, KCHA purchased Houghton Court (Kirkland), preserving 15 

affordable units in this high-opportunity community.   

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC # 1: Number of new 
housing units made 

available for households 
at or below 80% AMI 

0 units 
(2004) 

700 units  
 

458 cumulative 
units 

In Progress 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #2: Number of housing 
units at or below 80% AMI 
that would not otherwise 

be available 

0 units 700 units  
458 cumulative 

units 
In Progress 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #5: Number of 
households able to move 

to an opportunity 
neighborhood 

0% of new units 50% of new units 100% Exceeded 

 

 

 

                                                           
19

 2017 one-year ACS estimates. 
20

 Neighborhood opportunity designations are from the Puget Sound Regional Council and Kirwan Institute’s Opportunity 
Mapping index (https://www.psrc.org/opportunity-mapping). 
21

Some Public Housing units might be designated MTW Neighborhood Services units over this next year upon approval from the 
HUD field office. 



30 
 

ACTIVITY 2008-10 and 2008-11: EASY and WIN Rent Policies  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness and Self-sufficiency 
APP RO VAL:  2008 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2008 
 
CHALLENGE:  The administration of rental subsidies under existing HUD rules can be complex and 

confusing to the households we serve. Significant staff time was being spent complying with federal 

requirements that do not promote better outcomes for residents, safeguard program integrity, or save 

taxpayer money. The rules regarding deductions, annual reviews and recertifications, and income 

calculations were cumbersome and often hard to understand. Many of our households live on fixed 

incomes that change only when there is a Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA), making annual reviews 

superfluous. For working households, HUD’s rent rules include complicated earned-income disregards 

that can manifest as disincentives to income progression and employment advancement. 

SOLU TIO N:  KCHA has two rent reform policies. The first, EASY Rent, simplifies rent calculations and 

recertifications for households with elderly residents and persons with disabilities that derive 90 percent 

of their income from a fixed source (such as Social Security, Supplemental Security Income [SSI], or 

pension benefits), and are enrolled in our Public Housing, HCV, or project-based Section 8 programs. 

Rents are calculated at 28 percent of adjusted income with deductions for medical- and disability-

related expenses in $2,500 bands, with the cap on deductions at $10,000. EASY Rent streamlines KCHA 

operations and simplifies the burden placed on residents by reducing recertification reviews to a three-

year cycle and rent adjustments based on COLA increases in Social Security and SSI payments to an 

annual cycle.    

The second policy, WIN Rent, was implemented in FY 2010 to encourage increased economic self-

sufficiency among households where individuals are able to work. WIN Rent is calculated on a series of 

income bands and the tenant’s share of the rent is calculated at 28.3 percent of the lower end of each 

income band. This tiered system – in contrast to existing rent protocols – does not punish increases in 

earnings, as the tenant’s rent does not change until household income increases to the next band level. 

Additionally, recertifications are conducted biennially instead of annually, allowing households to retain 

all increases in earnings during that time period without an accompanying increase to the tenant’s share 

of rent. The WIN Rent structure also eliminates flat rents, income disregards, and deductions (other than 

childcare for eligible households), and excludes the employment income of household members under 

age 21. Households with little or no income are given a six-month reprieve during which they are able to 



31 
 

pay a lower rent or, in some cases, receive a credit payment. Following this period, a WIN Rent 

household pays a minimum rent of $25 regardless of income calculation. 

In addition to changes to the recertification cycle, we also have streamlined processing and reviews. For 

example, we limit the number of tenant-requested reviews to reduce rent to two occurrences in a two-

year period in the WIN Rent program. We estimate that these policy and operational modifications have 

reduced the relevant administrative workloads in the HCV and Public Housing programs by 20 percent. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  KCHA continues to realize significant savings in staff time and resources 

through the simplified rent calculation protocol, saving more than 6,100 hours in 2018.  

MTW Statutory Objective 
Unit of 

Measurement 
Baseline22 Benchmark Outcome 

Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and achieve greater 
cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost 
of task in dollars 

 
$0 saved 

$116,787 
saved23 

$201,993 saved Exceeded 

Reduce costs and achieve greater 
cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time 
to complete task 

in staff hours 

 
0 hours saved 

3,000 HCV 
staff hours 

saved; 450 PH 
staff hours 

saved 

4,869 HCV staff 
hours saved; 

1,251 PH staff 
hours saved 

Exceeded 

Increase self-sufficiency 
SS #1: Average 

income of 
households (EASY) 

HCV: $10,617 
PH: $10,514 

2% increase 
HCV: $12,157 
PH: $11,402 

Exceeded 

Increase self-sufficiency 
SS #1: Average 

earned income of 
households (WIN) 

HCV: $7,983 
PH: $14,120 

3% increase 
HCV: $21,279 
PH: $22,812 

Exceeded 

Increase self-sufficiency 
SS #8: Households 
transition to self-

sufficiency24 
0 households 25 households 179 households Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2008-21: Public Housing and Housing Choice Voucher  Uti l ity Al lowances  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness 
APP RO VAL:  2008 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2010 
 
CHALLENGE:  KCHA would spend an estimated $23,700 in additional staff time to administer utility 

allowances under HUD’s one-size-fits-all national guidelines. HUD’s national approach fails to capture 

average consumption levels in the Puget Sound area. 

                                                           
22

 2010 earned income baseline from Rent Reform Impact Report, John Seasholtz. 
23

 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median hourly wage and benefits ($33) of the staff members who oversee this 
activity by the number of hours saved. This number is a monetization of the hours saved through the implementation of this 
program. 
24

 Self-sufficiency is defined as a positive move from subsidized housing. 



32 
 

SOLU TIO N:  This activity simplifies the HUD rules on Public Housing and HCV Utility Allowances by 

applying a universal methodology that reflects local consumption patterns and costs. Before this policy 

change, allowances were calculated for each individual unit and household type with varied rules under 

the HCV and Public Housing programs. Additionally, HUD required an immediate update of the 

allowances with each cumulative 10 percent rate increase made by utility companies. Now, KCHA 

provides allowance adjustments annually when the Consumer Price Index produces a change (decrease 

or increase) of more than 10 percent rather than each time an adjustment is made to the utility 

equation. We examined data from a Seattle City Light study completed in 2009, which allowed us to 

identify key factors in household energy use and project average consumption levels for various types of 

units in the Puget Sound region. We used this information to set a new utility schedule that considers 

various factors: type of unit (single vs. multi-family); size of unit; high-rise vs. low-rise units; and the 

utility provider. We also modified allowances for units where the resident pays water and/or sewer 

charges. KCHA’s Hardship Policy, adopted in July 2010, allows KCHA to respond to unique household or 

property circumstances and documented cases of financial hardship, including utility rate issues. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  KCHA continued to set utility allowances to the streamlined regional utility 

schedule, allowing us to save more than 300 hours of staff time this past year.  

MTW Statutory Objective 
Unit of 

Measurement 
Baseline Benchmark Outcome 

Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and achieve 
greater cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost 
of task in dollars 

$0 saved $22,116 saved25 $23,788 saved Achieved 

Reduce costs and achieve 
greater cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time 
to complete task 

in staff hours 
0 hours saved 291 hours saved 313 hours saved Achieved 

Reduce costs and achieve 
greater cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time 
to complete task 

in staff hours 

0 minutes saved per 
HCV file and 0 

minutes saved per PH 
file 

2.5 minutes 
saved per HCV 

file and 5 
minutes saved 

per PH file 

2.5 minutes 
saved per HCV 

file and 5 
minutes saved 

per PH file 

Achieved 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
25

 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median hourly wage and benefits ($76) of the staff member who oversees this 
activity by the number of hours saved. The number is a monetization of the hours saved through the implementation of this 
program. 



33 
 

ACTIVITY 2007-6: Develop a Sponsor-based Housing Program  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Housing Choice 
APP RO VAL:  2007 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2007 

 
CHALLENGE:  According to the January 2018 point-in-time count, 12,112 individuals in King County were 

experiencing homelessness.26 Of those, 3,552 people were chronically homeless. Many landlords are 

hesitant to sign a lease with an individual who has been chronically homeless, usually due to that 

person’s poor or non-existent rental history, lack of consistent employment, or involvement with the 

criminal justice system. Most people who have been chronically homeless require additional support, 

beyond rental subsidy, to secure and maintain a safe and stable place to live.  

SOLU TIO N:  In the sponsor-based housing program, KCHA provides housing funds directly to our 

behavioral health care partners, including Sound, Navos Mental Health Solutions, and Valley Cities 

Counseling and Consultation. These providers use the funds to secure private market rentals that are 

then subleased to program participants. The programs operate under the “Housing First” model of 

supportive housing, which couples low-barrier placement in permanent, scattered-site housing with 

intensive, individualized services that help residents maintain long-term housing stability. Recipients of 

this type of support are referred through the mental health system, street outreach teams, and King 

County’s Coordinated Entry for All system. Once a resident is stabilized and ready for a more 

independent living environment, KCHA offers a move-on strategy through a tenant-based non-elderly 

disability voucher. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  In 2018, we continued to serve the hardest-to-house populations through 

a Housing First model that coordinates across the housing, mental health, and homeless systems. We 

worked closely with our partners to help them retain and recruit landlords in order to ensure housing 

opportunities remain available for this vulnerable population.  

MTW Statutory Objective 
Unit of 

Measurement 
Baseline Benchmark Outcome 

Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Increase housing choices 

HC #1: Number of 
new units made 

available for 
households at or 
below 80% AMI 

0 units 95 units 117 units Exceeded 

                                                           
26

 Count Us In 2018: Seattle/King County Point-in-Time Count of Persons Experiencing Homelessness. http://allhomekc.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/05/FINALDRAFT-COUNTUSIN2018REPORT-5.25.18.pdf 



34 
 

Increase housing choices 

HC #5: Number of 
households able 

to move to a 
better unit 

0 households 95 households 102 households Exceeded 

Increase self-sufficiency 

SS #5: Number of 
households 

receiving services 
aimed to increase 

self-sufficiency 

0 households 95 households 102 households Exceeded 

Increase self-sufficiency 

SS #8: Number of 
households 

transitioned to 
self-sufficiency  

0 households 90 households 102 households Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2007-14: Enhanced Transfer Policy  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness 
APP RO VAL:  2007 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2007 
 
CHALLENGE:  HUD rules restrict a resident from moving from Public Housing to HCV, or from HCV to 

Public Housing, which hampers our ability to meet the needs of our residents. For example, PBS8 

residents may need to move if their physical abilities change and they can no longer access their second-

story, walk-up apartment. A Public Housing property may have an accessible unit available. Under 

traditional HUD regulations, this resident would not be able to move into this available unit.  

SOLU TIO N:  Under existing HUD guidelines, a resident cannot transfer between the HCV and Public 

Housing programs regardless of whether a more appropriate unit for the resident is available in the 

other program. This policy allows a resident to transfer among KCHA’s various subsidized programs and 

expedites access to Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards (UFAS)-rated units for mobility-impaired 

households. In addition to mobility needs, a household might grow in size and require a larger unit with 

more bedrooms. The enhanced transfer policy allows a household to move to a larger unit when one 

becomes available in either program. In 2009, KCHA took this one step further by actively encouraging 

over-housed or under-housed residents to transfer when an appropriately sized unit becomes available. 

The flexibility provided through this policy allows us to swiftly meet the needs of our residents by 

housing them in a unit that suits their situation best, regardless of which federal subsidy they receive.  

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  In 2018, 40 households that traditionally would not have been eligible for a 

change of unit were able to move to a more suitable unit.  

 



35 
 

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC # 5: Number of 
households able to move 

to a better unit and/or 
opportunity 

neighborhood 

0 households 10 households 40 households Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2005-4: Payment Standard Changes  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Housing Choice 
APP RO VAL:  2005 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2005 
 
CHALLENGE:  Currently, 31.5 percent of KCHA’s tenant-based voucher households live in high-

opportunity neighborhoods of King County, which means about 70 percent may be unable to reap the 

benefits that come with residing in such an area. These benefits include improved educational 

opportunities, increased access to public transportation, and greater economic opportunities.27 Not 

surprisingly, high-opportunity neighborhoods also have more expensive rents. According to recent 

market data, a two-bedroom rental unit at the 40th percentile in east King County – typically a high-

opportunity area – costs $609 more than the same unit in lower opportunity areas of south King 

County.28 To move to high-opportunity areas, voucher holders need sufficient resources, which are not 

available under traditional payment standards. Conversely, broadly applied payment standards that 

encompass multiple housing markets – low and high – result in HCV rents “leading the market” in lower-

priced areas. 

SOLU TIO N:  This initiative develops local criteria for the determination and assignment of payment 

standards to better match local rental markets, with the goals of increasing affordability in high-

opportunity neighborhoods and ensuring the best use of limited financial resources. We develop our 

payment standards through an analysis of local submarket conditions, trends, and projections. This 

approach means that we can provide subsidy levels sufficient for families to afford the rents in high-

opportunity areas of the county and not have to pay market-leading rents in less expensive 

neighborhoods. As a result, our residents are less likely to be squeezed out by tighter rental markets and 

therefore have greater geographic choice. In 2005, KCHA began applying new payment standards at the 

time of a resident’s next annual review. In 2007, we expanded this initiative and allowed approval of 

                                                           
27

 Neighborhood opportunity designations are from the Puget Sound Regional Council and Kirwan Institute’s Opportunity 
Mapping index (https://www.psrc.org/opportunity-mapping).   
28

 Apartment Insights, King County Rental Data Report for the 4
th

 Quarter of 2018. 



36 
 

payment standards of up to 120 percent of Fair Market Rent (FMR) without HUD approval. In early 2008, 

we decoupled the payment standards from HUD’s FMR calculations entirely so that we could be 

responsive to the range of rents in Puget Sound’s submarkets. Current payment standards for two-

bedroom apartments range from 84 percent to 132 percent of the regional HUD FMR. 

In 2016, KCHA implemented a five-tiered payment standard system based on ZIP Codes. We arrived at a 

five-tiered approach by analyzing recent tenant lease-up records, consulting local real estate data, 

holding forums with residents and staff, reviewing small area FMR payment standard systems 

implemented by other housing authorities, and assessing the financial implications of various 

approaches. In designing the new system, we sought to have enough tiers to account for submarket 

variations but not so many that the new system became burdensome and confusing for staff and 

residents. At the end of 2017, we implemented an additional sixth payment standard tier to more 

closely account for variations in a local housing market.   

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  In 2018, we implemented a biannual review of market conditions to ensure 

our payment standards were keeping pace with the rapidly changing submarkets in King County.  

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater cost-

effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost of task in 
dollars 

$0 $0 $0  Achieved 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater cost-

effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time to 
complete the task in staff 

hours 
0 hours 0 hours 0 hours29 Achieved 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC # 5: Number of 
households able to move 

to an opportunity 
neighborhood30 

21% of HCV 
households live in 
high-opportunity 
neighborhoods 

30% of HCV 
households live in 
high-opportunity 
neighborhoods 

31.5% of HCV 
households live in 
high-opportunity 
neighborhoods 

Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2004-2: Local  Project -based Section 8 Program  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness and Housing Choice  
APP RO VAL:  2004 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2004 
 
CHALLENGE:  Current project-basing regulations are cumbersome and present multiple obstacles to 

serving high-need households, partnering effectively and efficiently with nonprofit developers, and 

                                                           
29

 This activity is net neutral in terms of hours or dollars saved. Workload remained the same, however staff changed the timing 
of when they were applying payment standards. 
30

 All tenant-based voucher households.  



37 
 

promoting housing options in high-opportunity areas. Some private-market landlords refuse to rent to 

tenants with imperfect credit or rental history, especially in tight rental markets such as ours.  

 
Meanwhile, nonprofit housing acquisition and development projects that would serve extremely low-

income households require reliable sources of rental subsidies. The reliability of these sources is critical 

for the financial underwriting of these projects and successful engagement with banks and tax-credit 

equity investors. 

 
SOLU TIO N:  The ability to streamline the project-based Section 8 program is an important factor in 

addressing the distribution of affordable housing in King County and coordinating effectively with local 

initiatives. KCHA places project-based Section 8 subsidies in high-opportunity areas of the county in 

order to increase access to these desirable neighborhoods for low-income households.31 We also 

partner with nonprofit community service providers to create housing targeted to special needs 

populations, opening new housing opportunities for people experiencing chronic homelessness, 

behavioral health issues, or a disability, as well as homeless young adults and families traditionally not 

served through our mainstream Public Housing and HCV programs. Additionally, we coordinate with 

county government and suburban jurisdictions to underwrite a pipeline of new affordable housing 

developed by local nonprofit housing providers. MTW flexibility granted by this activity has helped us 

implement the following policies. 

CREATE  HOU SI NG T ARGE T ED TO  SPECI AL - NEED S POP ULATIO NS BY :  

 Assigning project-based Section 8 subsidy to a limited number of demonstration projects not 

qualifying under standard policy in order to serve important public purposes. (FY 2004) 

 Modifying eligibility and selection policies as needed to align with entry criteria for nonprofit-

operated housing programs. (FY 2004) 

 
SUP POR T A P IPEL I NE  O F NEW AFFOR D ABLE  HOU SING  BY:   

 Prioritizing assignment of PBS8 assistance to units located in high-opportunity census tracts, 

including those with poverty rates lower than 20 percent. (FY 2004)  

 Waiving the 25 percent cap on the number of units that can be project-based on a single site. (FY 

2004) 

                                                           
31

 Neighborhood opportunity designations are from the Puget Sound Regional Council and Kirwan Institute’s Opportunity 
Mapping index (https://www.psrc.org/opportunity-mapping). 



38 
 

 Allocating PBS8 subsidy non-competitively to KCHA-controlled sites or other jurisdictions and using 

an existing local government procurement process for project-basing Section 8 assistance. (FY 

2004)  

 Allowing owners and agents to conduct their own construction and/or rehab inspections, and 

having the management entity complete the initial inspection rather than KCHA, with inspection 

sampling at annual review. (FY 2004)  

 Modifying eligible unit and housing types to include shared housing, cooperative housing, 

transitional housing, and high-rise buildings. (FY 2004)  

 Allowing PBS8 rules to defer to Public Housing rules when used in conjunction with a mixed finance 

approach to housing preservation or when assigned to a redeveloped former Public Housing 

property. (FY 2008) 

 Partnering with local municipalities to develop a local competitive process that pairs project-based 

assistance with local zoning incentives. (FY 2016) 

 
IMPRO VE P ROG RAM  ADMI NI ST R ATI ON BY:  

 Allowing project sponsors to manage project wait lists as determined by KCHA. (FY 2004).  

 Using KCHA’s standard HCV process for determining Rent Reasonableness for units in lieu of 

requiring third-party appraisals. (FY 2004)  

 Allowing participants in “wrong-sized” units to remain in place and pay the higher rent, if needed. 

(FY 2004)  

 Assigning standard HCV payment standards to PBS8 units, allowing modification with approval of 

KCHA where deemed appropriate. (FY 2004) 

 Offering moves to Public Housing in lieu of an HCV exit voucher (FY 2004) or allowing offer of a 

tenant-based voucher for a limited period as determined by KCHA in conjunction with internal 

Public Housing disposition activity. (FY 2012) 

 Allowing KCHA to modify the HAP contract. (FY 2004) 

 Eliminating the procedure of temporarily removing units from the HAP contract in cases in which a 

PBS8 resident is paying full HAP (2004).  

 Using Public Housing preferences for PBS8 units in place of HCV preferences. (FY 2008) 

 Allowing KCHA to inspect units at contract execution rather than contract proposal. (FY 2009) 

 Modifying the definition of “existing housing” to include housing that could meet HQS within 180 

days. (FY 2009) 



39 
 

 Allowing direct owner or provider referrals to a PBS8 vacancy when the unit has remained vacant 

for more than 30 days. (FY 2010) 

 Waiving the 20 percent cap on the amount of HCV budget authority that can be project-based, 

allowing KCHA to determine the size of our PBS8 program. (FY 2010) 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  KCHA continued to see efficiencies through streamlined program 

administration and modified business processes, saving and redirecting an estimated 45 hours per 

contract for each issued RFP. 

 

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost of task in 
dollars 

$0 saved per 
contract 

$1,980 saved per 
contract32 

$1,980 saved per 
contract 

Achieved 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time to 
complete task in staff hours 

0 hours saved 
per contract for 

RFP 

45 hours saved 
per contract for 

RFP 

45 hours saved 
per contract for 

RFP 
Achieved 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #3: Average applicant 
time on wait list in months 

(decrease) 
0 months 29 months 43 months33 In Progress 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #5: Number of 
households able to move to 

a better unit and/or 
neighborhood of 

opportunity 

0 households 

45% of project-
based units in 

high-opportunity 
neighborhoods 

49.6% of project-
based units in 

high-opportunity 
neighborhoods 

Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2004-3: Develop Site-based Waiting Lists  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness and Housing Choice 
APP RO VAL:  2004 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2004 
 
CHALLENGE:  Under traditional HUD wait list guidelines, an individual can wait more than two-and-a-half 

years for a Public Housing unit. This wait is too long. And once a unit does become available, it might not 

meet the family’s needs or preferences, such as proximity to a child’s school or access to local service 

providers. 

 
SOLU TIO N:  Under this initiative, we have implemented a streamlined wait list system for our Public 

Housing program that provides applicants additional options for choosing the location where they want 

                                                           
32

 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median hourly wage and benefits ($44) of the staff member who oversees this 
activity by the number of hours saved. The number is a monetization of the hours saved through the implementation of this 
program. 
33

 KCHA calculated this figure differently than in past years. We took the weighted average of the wait time for applicant 
households currently on these lists. In the past, we calculated the wait time for those who entered housing in the fiscal year. 



40 
 

to live. In addition to offering site-based wait lists, we also maintain regional wait lists and have 

established a list to accommodate the needs of graduates from the region’s network of transitional 

housing facilities for homeless families. In general, applicants are selected for occupancy using a rotation 

between the site-based, regional, and transitional housing applicant pools, based on an equal ratio. 

Units are not held vacant if a particular wait list is lacking an eligible applicant. Instead, a qualified 

applicant is pulled from the next wait list in the rotation. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOM E S:  This streamlined process continued to save an estimated 172 hours of staff 

time annually.  

 

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost of task in 
dollars 

$0 saved 
 

$4,176 saved34 
 

$4,988 saved Exceeded 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater 

cost-effectiveness 

CE#2: Total time to 
complete task in staff hours 

0 hours saved 

 
 

144 hours saved 
 
 

172 hours saved Exceeded 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #3: Average applicant 
time on wait list in months 

(decrease) 
0 months 28 months 75 months35 In Progress 

Increase housing 
choices 

HC #5: Number of 
households able to move to 

a better unit and/or 
opportunity neighborhood 

0% of applicants 

100% of Public 
Housing and 

project-based 
applicants housed 
from site-based or 
regional wait lists 

100% of Public 
Housing and 

project-based 
applicants housed 
from site-based or 
regional wait lists 

Achieved 

 

ACTIVITY 2004-5: Modified Housing Quality Standards (HQS)  Inspection Protocols  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness 
APP RO VAL:  2004 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2004 
 
CHALLENGE:  HUD’s HQS inspection protocols often require multiple trips to the same neighborhood, the 

use of third-party inspectors, and blanket treatment of diverse housing types, adding more than $93,000 

to annual administrative costs. Follow-up inspections for minor “fail” items impose additional burdens 

on landlords, who in turn may resist renting to families with HCVs. 

                                                           
34

 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median hourly wage and benefits ($29) of the staff member who oversees this 
activity by the number of hours saved. The number is a monetization of the hours saved through the implementation of this 
program. 
35

 KCHA calculated this figure differently than in past years. We took the weighted average of the wait time for applicant 
households currently on these lists. In the past, we calculated the wait time for those who entered housing in the fiscal year. 



41 
 

SOLU TIO N:  Through a series of HCV program modifications, we have streamlined the HQS inspection 

process to simplify program administration, improve stakeholder satisfaction, and reduce administrative 

costs. Specific policy changes include: allowing the release of HAP payments when a unit fails an HQS 

inspection due to minor deficiencies (applies to both annual and initial move-in inspections); 

geographically clustering inspections to reduce repeat trips to the same neighborhood or building by 

accepting annual inspections completed eight to 20 months after initial inspection, allowing us to align 

inspection of multiple units in the same geographic location; and self-inspecting KCHA-owned units 

rather than requiring inspection by a third party. KCHA also piloted a risk-based inspection model that 

places well-maintained, multi-family apartment complexes on a biennial inspection schedule.  

After closely monitoring the outcomes from the risk-based inspection pilot, KCHA decided to expand the 

program and move all units in multi-family apartment complexes to a biennial inspection schedule.  

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  Our streamlined processes included in this activity allow KCHA to save 

more than 3,300 hours of staff time annually. 

MTW Statutory Objective 
Unit of 

Measurement 
Baseline Benchmark Outcome 

Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and achieve greater 
cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost of 
task in dollars 

$0 $58,000 saved36 $109,560 saved Exceeded 

Reduce costs and achieve greater 
cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time to 
complete task in staff 

hours 

0 hours 
saved 

1,810 hours saved 3,320 hours saved Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2004-7: Streamlining Public Housing and Housing Choice Voucher Forms 

and Data  Processing  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness 
APP RO VAL:  2004 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2004 
 
CHALLENGE:  Duplicative recertifications, complex income calculations, and strict timing rules cause 

unnecessary intrusions into the lives of the people we serve and expend limited resources for little 

purpose.  

                                                           
36

 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median inspector hourly wage and benefits ($33) by the number of hours saved. 
This figure is a monetization of the hours saved through the implementation of this program. Inspectors will instead undertake 
more auditing and monitoring inspections, assist the fraud investigator, provide landlord trainings, and speed up the timeline 
for new move-in inspections. It is a monetization of the hours saved through the implementation of this program. 



42 
 

SOLU TIO N:  After analyzing our business processes, forms, and verification requirements, we have 

eliminated or replaced those with little or no value. Through the use of lean engineering techniques, 

KCHA continues to review office workflow and identify ways that tasks can be accomplished more 

efficiently and intrude less into the lives of program participants, while still assuring program integrity 

and quality control. Under this initiative, we have made a number of changes to our business practices 

and processes for verifying and calculating tenant income and rent. 

CHANGE S TO BU SI NESS PR OCESSES:  

 Modify HCV policy to require notice to move prior to the 20th of the month in order to have 

paperwork processed during the month. (FY 2004) 

 Allow applicant households to self-certify membership in the family at the time of admission. (FY 

2004) 

 Modify HQS inspection requirements for units converted to project-based subsidy from another 

KCHA subsidy, and allow the most recent inspection completed within the prior 12 months to 

substitute for the initial HQS inspection required before entering the HAP contract. (FY 2012)  

 Modify standard PBS8 requirements to allow the most recent recertification (within last 12 months) 

to substitute for the full recertification when tenant’s unit is converted to a PBS8 subsidy. (FY 2012)  

 Allow Public Housing applicant households to qualify for a preference when household income is 

below 30 percent of AMI. (FY 2004) 

 Streamline procedures for processing interim rent changes resulting from wholesale reductions in 

state entitlement programs. (FY 2011) 

 Modify the HQS inspection process to allow streamlined processing of inspection data. (FY 2010) 

 Establish a local release form that replaces the HUD form 9986 and is renewed every 40 months. 

(FY 2014) 

 
CHANGE S TO VER IF IC AT IO N AND I NCOME C ALCU L AT ION PROCE SSE S:  

 Exclude payments made to a landlord by the state Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) 

on behalf of a tenant from the income and rent calculation under the HCV program. (FY 2004) 

 Allow HCV residents to self-certify income of $50 or less received as a pass-through DSHS childcare 

subsidy. (FY 2004) 

 Extend to 180 days the term over which verifications are considered valid. (FY 2008) 

 Modify the definition of “income” to exclude income from assets with a value less than $50,000, 

and income from Resident Service Stipends less than $500 per month. (FY 2008) 



43 
 

 Apply any decrease in Payment Standard at the time of the next annual review or update, rather 

than using HUD’s two-year phase-in approach. (FY 2004) 

 Allow HCV residents who are at $0 HAP to self-certify income at the time of review. (FY 2004) 

 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  These streamlined processes saved the agency more than 2,100 hours in 

staff time this year. 

 

MTW Statutory Objective Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and achieve greater 
cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost of 
task in dollars 

$0 $58,000 saved37 $61,596 saved Exceeded 

Reduce costs and achieve greater 
cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time to 
complete the task in 

staff hours 
0 hours saved 

2,000 hours 
saved 

2,124 hours 
saved 

Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2004-9: Rent Reasonableness Modifications  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness 
APP RO VAL:  2004 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2004 
 
CHALLENGE:  Under current HUD regulations, a housing authority must perform an annual Rent 

Reasonableness review for each voucher holder. If a property owner is not requesting a rent increase, 

however, the rent does not fall out of federal guidelines and does not necessitate a review.  

SOLU TIO N:  KCHA now saves close to 1,000 hours of staff time annually by performing Rent 

Reasonableness determinations only when a landlord requests an increase in rent. Under standard HUD 

regulations, a Rent Reasonableness review is required annually in conjunction with each recertification 

completed under the program. After reviewing this policy, we found that if an owner had not requested 

a rent increase, it was unlikely the current rent fell outside of established guidelines. In response to this 

analysis, KCHA eliminated an annual review of rent levels. By bypassing this burdensome process, we 

intrude in the lives of residents less and can redirect our resources to more pressing needs. Additionally, 

KCHA performs Rent Reasonableness inspections at our own properties, rather than contracting with a 

third party, allowing us to save additional resources.  

                                                           
37

 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median Property Management Specialist hourly wage and benefits ($29) by the 
number of hours saved. It is a monetization of the hours saved through the implementation of this program. 



44 
 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  With the elimination of this non-essential regulation, KCHA has been able 

to adopt a policy that is less disruptive to residents while saving an estimated 1,000 hours in staff time 

each year.  

 

MTW Statutory 
Objective 

Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater cost-

effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost of 
task in dollars 

$0 saved $33,000 saved38 $35,046 saved Exceeded 

Reduce costs and 
achieve greater cost-

effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time to 
complete task in staff 

hours 

0 staff hours 
saved 

1,000 staff hours 
saved 

1,062 staff hours 
saved 

Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2004-12: Energy Performance Contracting  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost Effectiveness 
APP RO VAL:  2004 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2004 
 
CHALLENGE:  KCHA could recapture up to $4 million in energy savings per year if provided the upfront 

investment necessary to make efficiency upgrades to its aging housing stock.  

SOLU TIO N:  KCHA employs energy conservation measures and improvements through the use of Energy 

Performance Contracts (EPC) – a financing tool that allows PHAs to make needed energy upgrades 

without having to self-fund the upfront necessary capital expenses. The energy services partner (in this 

case, Johnson Controls) identifies these improvements through an investment-grade energy audit that is 

then used to underwrite loans to pay for the measures. Project expenses, including debt service, are 

then paid for out of the energy savings while KCHA and its residents receive the long-term savings and 

benefits. Upgrades may include: installation of energy-efficient light fixtures, solar panels, and low-flow 

faucets, toilets, and showerheads; upgraded appliances and plumbing; and improved irrigation and 

HVAC systems. In 2016, we extended the existing EPC for an additional eight years and implemented a 

new 20-year EPC for incremental Public Housing properties to make needed improvements. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  In 2018, we began upgrading aging elevators in our federally subsidized 

properties, investing more than $2.8 million in the replacement of the hydraulic jacks, cabs, and 

                                                           
38

 This figure was calculated by multiplying the median Inspector hourly wage and benefits ($33) by the number of hours saved. 
These positions are not eliminated so this is a hypothetical estimate of the amount that could be saved in staff hours by 
implementing this activity. Inspectors will instead undertake more auditing and monitoring inspections, assist the fraud 
investigator, provide landlord trainings, and perform new move-in inspections. It is a monetization of the hours saved through 
the implementation of this program. 



45 
 

electrical equipment at Boulevard Manor and Munro Manor. Overall, we saw energy savings of more 

than $2.9 million as a result of our EPC upgrade work.   

 

MTW Statutory Objective Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and achieve greater 
cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost of 
task in dollars 

$0 saved $800,000 saved 
$2,900,000 

saved 
Exceeded 

 

ACTIVITY 2004-16: Housing Choice Voucher Occupancy Requirements  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Cost-effectiveness 
APP RO VAL:  2004 
IMPLEMENTE D:  2004 
 
CHALLENGE:  More than 20 percent of tenant-based voucher households move two or more times while 

receiving subsidy. Moves can be beneficial if they lead to gains in neighborhood or housing quality for 

the household, but moves can also be burdensome to residents because they incur the costs of finding a 

new unit through application fees and other moving expenses. KCHA also incurs additional costs in staff 

time through processing moves and working with families to locate a new unit.  

SOLU TIO N:  Households may continue to live in their current unit when their family size exceeds the 

standard occupancy requirements by just one member. Under standard guidelines, a seven-person 

household living in a three-bedroom unit would be considered overcrowded and therefore be required 

to move to a larger unit. Under this modified policy, the family may remain voluntarily in its current unit, 

avoiding the costs and disruption of moving. This initiative reduces the number of processed annual 

moves, increases housing choice among these families, and reduces our administrative and HAP 

expenses. 

PROG RESS AND  OU TCOME S:  By eliminating this rule, KCHA saves an estimated 491 hours in staff time 

each year while helping families avoid the disruption and costs of a move.   

 

MTW Statutory Objective Unit of Measurement Baseline Benchmark Outcome 
Benchmark 
Achieved? 

Reduce costs and achieve greater 
cost-effectiveness 

CE #1: Total cost of 
task in dollars 

$0 $8,613 saved39 $16,203 saved Achieved 

                                                           
39

 This dollar figure was calculated by multiplying the median Property Management Specialist hourly wage and benefits ($33) 
by the number of hours saved.  



46 
 

Reduce costs and achieve greater 
cost-effectiveness 

CE #2: Total time to 
complete task in staff 

hours 

0 hours saved 
per file 

87 hours saved 
491 hours 

saved40 
Exceeded 

Increase housing choices 

HC #4: Number of 
households at or 

below 80% AMI that 
would lose assistance 

or need to move 

0 households 150 households  171 households Achieved 

 

                                                           
40

 According to current program data, 171 families currently exceed the occupancy standard. At three hours saved per file, we 
estimate that KCHA continues to save 480 hours annually.  



47 
 

B. NOT YET IMPLEMENTED ACTIVITIES 

Activities listed in this section are approved but have not yet been implemented.  
 
ACTIVITY 2015-1: Flat Subsidy for Local,  Non -traditional  Housing Programs  

APP RO VAL:  2015 
 
This activity provides a flat, per-unit subsidy in lieu of a monthly HAP and allows the service provider to 

dictate the terms of the tenancy (such as length of stay and the tenant portion of rent). The funding 

would be block-granted based on the number of units authorized under contract and occupied in each 

program. This flexibility would allow KCHA to better support a “Housing First” approach that places high-

risk homeless populations in supportive housing programs tailored to nimbly meet an individual’s needs. 

This activity will be reconsidered for implementation in 2019 when KCHA has more capacity to develop 

the program.  

ACTIVITY 2010-1: Supportive Housing for High -need Homeless Famil ies  

APP RO VAL:  2010 
 
This activity is a demonstration program for up to 20 households in a project-based Family Unification 

Program (FUP)-like environment. The demonstration program currently is deferred, as our program 

partners opted for a tenant-based model this upcoming fiscal year. It might return in a future program 

year.  

ACTIVITY 2010-9: Limit Number of Moves for an HCV Participant  
APP RO VAL:  2010 
 
This policy aims to increase family and student classroom stability and reduce program administrative 

costs by limiting the number of times an HCV participant can move per year or over a set time. Reducing 

household and classroom relocations during the school year is currently being addressed through a 

counseling pilot. This activity is currently deferred for consideration in a future year, if the need arises. 

ACTIVITY 2010-11: Incentive Payments to HCV Participants to Leave the Program  
APP RO VAL:  2010 
 
KCHA may offer incentive payments to families receiving less than $100 per month in HAP to voluntarily 

withdraw from the program. This activity is not currently needed in our program model but may be 

considered in a future fiscal year.  

 



48 
 

ACTIVITY 2008-3: FSS Program Modifications  

MTW ST AT UTO RY OBJECT I VE:  Increase Self-sufficiency 
APP RO VAL:  2008 
 
KCHA is exploring possible modifications to the FSS program that could increase incentives for resident 

participation and income growth. These outcomes could pave the way for residents to realize a higher 

degree of economic independence. The program currently includes elements that unintentionally act as 

disincentives for higher income earners, the very residents who could benefit most from additional 

support to exit subsidized housing programs. To address these issues, KCHA is exploring modifying the 

escrow calculation in order to avoid punishing higher earning households unintentionally. 

This activity is part of a larger strategic planning process with local service providers that seeks to 

increase positive economic outcomes for residents.  

ACTIVITY 2008-5: Al low Limited Double Subsidy b etween Programs (Project -based 
Section 8/Public Housing/Housing Choice Vouchers)  
APP RO VAL:  2008 
 
This policy change facilitates program transfers in limited circumstances, increases landlord participation 

and reduces the impact on the Public Housing program when tenants transfer. Following the initial 

review, this activity was tabled for future consideration. 

  



49 
 

C. ACTIVITIES ON HOLD 

There are no activities on hold.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



50 
 

D. CLOSED-OUT ACTIVITIES 

Activities listed in this section are closed out, meaning they never have been implemented, that we do 
not plan to implement them in the future, or that they are completed or obsolete.  
 
ACTIVITY 2016-1: Budget-based Rent Model  

APP RO VAL:  2016 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2018 
 
This activity allows KCHA to adopt a budget-based approach to calculating the contract rent at its 

Project-based Section 8 developments. Traditionally, HUD requires Public Housing Authorities to set rent 

in accordance with Rent Reasonableness statutes. These statutes require that a property’s costs reflect 

the average costs of a comparable building in the same geographic region at a particular point in time. 

However, a property’s needs and purpose can change over time. This set of rules does not take into 

consideration variations in costs, which might include added operational expenses, necessary upgrades, 

and increased debt service to pay for renovations.  This budget-based rent model allows KCHA to create 

an appropriate annual budget for each property from which a reasonable, cost-conscious rent level 

would derive.  

This policy is no longer under consideration. 

ACTIVITY 2013-3: Short-term Rental  Assistance Program  

APP RO VAL:  2013 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2015 
 
In partnership with the Highline School District, KCHA implemented the Student and Family Stability 

Initiative (SFSI), a Rapid Re-housing demonstration program. Using this evidence-based approach, our 

program paired short-term rental assistance with housing stability and employment connection services 

for families experiencing or on the verge of homelessness. This activity is ongoing but has been 

combined with Activity 2013-2: Flexible Rental Assistance, as the program models are similar and enlist 

the same MTW flexibilities. 

ACTIVITY 2012-2: Community Choice Program  
APP RO VAL:  2012 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2016 
 
This initiative was designed to encourage and enable HCV households with young children to relocate to 

areas of the county with higher achieving school districts and other community benefits. In addition to 



51 
 

formidable barriers to accessing these neighborhoods, many households are not aware of the link 

between location and educational and employment opportunities. Through collaboration with local 

nonprofits and landlords, the Community Choice Program offered one-on-one counseling to households 

in deciding where to live, helped households secure housing in their community of choice, and provided 

ongoing support once a family moved to a new neighborhood. Lessons learned from this pilot are 

informing Creating Moves to Opportunity (CMTO), KCHA’s new research partnership that seeks to 

expand geographic choice. 

ACTIVITY 2012-4: Supplemental  Support for the Highline C ommunity Healthy Homes 

Project  
APP RO VAL:  2012 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2012 
 
This project provided supplemental financial support to low-income families not otherwise qualified for 

the Healthy Homes project but required assistance to avoid loss of affordable housing. This activity is 

completed. An evaluation of the program by Breysse et al was included in KCHA’s 2013 Annual MTW 

Report.  

ACTIVITY 2011-1: Transfer of Public Housing Units to Project -based Subsidy  
APP RO VAL:  2011 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2012 
 
By transferring Public Housing units to Project-based subsidy, KCHA preserved the long-term viability of 

509 units of Public Housing. By disposing these units to a KCHA-controlled entity, we were able to 

leverage funds to accelerate capital repairs and increase tenant mobility through the provision of 

tenant-based voucher options to existing Public Housing residents. This activity is completed. 

ACTIVITY 2011-2: Redesign the Sound Families Program  
APP RO VAL:  2011 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2014 
 
KCHA developed an alternative model to the Sound Families program that combines HCV funds with 

state Department of Social and Health Services funds. The goal was to continue the support of at-risk, 

homeless households in a FUP-like model after the completion of the Sound Families demonstration. 

This activity is completed and the services have been incorporated into our existing conditional housing 

program.  

ACTIVITY 2010-2: Resident Satisfaction Survey  



52 
 

APP RO VAL:  2010 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2010 
 
KCHA developed its own resident survey in lieu of the requirement to comply with the Resident 

Assessment Subsystem portion of HUD’s Public Housing Assessment System (PHAS). The Resident 

Assessment Subsystem is no longer included in PHAS so this activity is obsolete. KCHA nevertheless 

continues to survey residents on a regular basis.  

ACTIVITY 2010-10: Implement a Maximum Asset Threshold for Program El igibi lity  
APP RO VAL:  2010 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2016 
 
This activity limits the value of assets that can be held by a family in order to obtain (or retain) program 

eligibility. This policy is no longer under consideration. 

ACTIVITY 2009-2: Definition of Live-in Attendant 

APP RO VAL:  2009 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2014 
 
In 2009, KCHA considered a policy change that would redefine who is considered a "Live-in Attendant." 

This policy is no longer under consideration.  

ACTIVITY 2008-4: Combined Program Management  

APP RO VAL:  2008 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2009 
 
This activity streamlined program administration through a series of policy changes that ease operations 

of units converted from Public Housing to Project-based Section 8 subsidy or those located in sites 

supported by mixed funding streams. This policy change is completed.  

ACTIVITY 2008-6: Performance Standards  

APP RO VAL:  2008 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2014 

In 2008, KCHA investigated the idea of developing performance standards and benchmarks to evaluate 

the MTW program. We worked with other MTW agencies in the development of the performance 

standards now being field-tested across the country. This activity is closed out as KCHA continues to 

collaborate with other MTW agencies on industry metrics and standards.    

ACTIVITY 2008-17: Income El igibi l ity and Maximum Income Limits  



53 
 

APP RO VAL:  2008 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2016 
 
This policy would cap the income that residents may have and also still be eligible for KCHA programs. 

KCHA is no longer considering this activity.  

ACTIVITY 2007-4: Housing Choice Voucher Applicant El igibi lity  

APP RO VAL:  2007 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2007 
 
This activity increased program efficiency by removing eligibility for those currently on a federal subsidy 

program. This activity is completed.  

ACTIVITY 2007-8: Remove Cap on Voucher Uti l ization  

APP RO VAL:  2007 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2014 
 
This initiative allowed us to award HCV assistance to more households than was permissible under the 

HUD-established baseline. Our savings from a multi-tiered payment standard system, operational 

efficiencies, and other policy changes have been critical in helping us respond to the growing housing 

needs of the region’s extremely low-income households. This activity is no longer active as agencies are 

now permitted to lease above their ACC limit. 

ACTIVITY 2007-9: Develop a Local  Asset Management Funding Model  

APP RO VAL:  2007 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2007 
 
This activity streamlined current HUD requirements to track budget expenses and income down to the 

Asset Management Project level. This activity is completed.  

ACTIVITY 2007-18: Resident Opportunity Plan (ROP)  

APP RO VAL:  2007 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2015 
 
An expanded and locally designed version of FSS, ROP’s mission was to advance families toward self-

sufficiency through the provision of case management, supportive services, and program incentives, 

with the goal of positive transition from Public Housing or HCV into private market rental housing or 

home ownership. KCHA implemented this five-year pilot in collaboration with community partners, 

including Bellevue College and the YWCA. These partners provided education and employment-focused 

case management, such as individualized career planning, a focus on wage progression, and asset-



54 
 

building assistance. In lieu of a standard FSS escrow account, each household received a monthly 

deposit into a savings account, which continued throughout program participation. Deposits to the 

household savings account were made available to residents upon graduation from Public Housing or 

HCV subsidy. After reviewing the mixed outcomes from the multi-year evaluation, KCHA decided to 

close out the program and re-evaluate the best way to assist families in achieving economic 

independence.  

ACTIVITY 2006-1: Block Grant Non-mainstream Vouchers  

APP RO VAL:  2006 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2006 
 
This policy change expanded KCHA's MTW Block Grant by including all non-mainstream program 

vouchers. This activity is completed. 

ACTIVITY 2005-18: Modified Rent Cap for Housing Choice Voucher Participants  

APP RO VAL:  2005 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2005 
 
This modification allowed a tenant’s portion of rent to be capped at up to 40 percent of gross income 

upon initial lease-up rather than 40 percent of adjusted income. Note: KCHA may implement a rent cap 

modification in the future to increase mobility. 

ACTIVITY 2004-8: Resident Opportunities and Self-Sufficiency (ROSS) Grant 

Homeownership  

APP RO VAL:  2004 
CLOSEOU T YE AR :  2006 
 
This grant funded financial assistance through MTW reserves with rules modified to fit local 

circumstances, modified eligibility to include Public Housing residents with HCV, required minimum 

income and minimum savings prior to entry, and expanded eligibility to include more than first-time 

homebuyers. This activity is completed.  



55 
 

SECTION V   
S O U R C E S  A N D  U S E S  O F  M T W  F U N D S  

A. SOURCES AND USES OF MTW FUNDS 

i .  Actual  Sources and Uses of MTW Funds 

In accordance with the requirements of this report, KCHA has submitted our unaudited information in 

the prescribed FDS file format through the Financial Assessment System – PHA. The audited FDS will be 

submitted in September 2019. 

i i .  Activit ies that Used Only MTW Single -fund Flexibi l ity  

KCHA strives to make the most efficient, effective, and creative use of our single-fund flexibility while 

adhering to the statutory requirements of the MTW program. Our ability to blend funding sources gives 

us the freedom to implement new approaches to program delivery in response to the varied housing 

needs of low-income people in the Puget Sound region. With MTW flexibility, we have assisted more of 

our county’s households – and among those, more of the most vulnerable and lowest income 

households – than would have been possible under HUD’s traditional funding and program constraints.  

KCHA’s single fund activities demonstrate the value and effectiveness of this flexibility in practice: 

 KCH A’ S  HOMELE SS HOU S I NG I NITI ATI VES .  These initiatives addressed the varied and diverse 

needs of the most vulnerable populations experiencing homelessness – those living with chronic 

behavioral health issues, individuals with criminal justice involvement, young adults and foster 

youth experiencing homelessness, and students and their families living on the streets or in 

unstable housing. The traditional housing subsidy programs have failed to reach many of these 

households and lack the supportive services necessary to meet their complex needs. In 2018, 

KCHA invested nearly $40 million in housing-related resources into these programs, including 

sponsor-based housing support, special purpose vouchers, flexible rental subsidies, short-term 

housing assistance, and stepped rent programs. 

 HOU SI NG STABIL I TY  FU ND .  This fund provided emergency financial assistance to qualified 

residents to cover housing costs, including rental assistance, security deposits, and utility 

support. Under the program design, a designated agency partner disburses funding to qualified 

program participants and screens for eligibility according to the program’s guidelines. In 2018, 

we awarded emergency assistance to 53 families through this process. As a result of this 



56 
 

assistance, all of these families were able to maintain their housing, avoiding the far greater 

safety net costs that could occur if they became homeless. 

 EDUC ATI ON I NIT I ATI VE S.  KCHA continued to actively partner with local education stakeholders 

to improve outcomes for the 15,172 children who lived in our federally assisted housing in 2018. 

Educational outcomes, including improved attendance, grade-level performance, and 

graduation, are an integral part of our core mission. By investing in the next generation, we 

intend to combat intergenerational cycles of poverty that can persist among the families we 

serve. In 2018, we expanded the Baby Academy initiative from Highline to two additional sites in 

Bellevue and Kent. The initiative connects young families with evidence-based early learning 

programs, enhances home-based learning opportunities, and ultimately closes gaps in 

kindergarten readiness.  

 REDE VELOPME N T O F DI ST RESSE D PU BL IC  HO USING.  With MTW’s single-fund flexibility, KCHA 

continued to undertake the repairs necessary to preserve our inventory of some 3,600 units of 

federally subsidized housing over the long term. For example, this flexibility enabled effective 

use of the five-year increments of Replacement Housing Factor funds from the former 

Springwood and Park Lake I and II developments, as well as the disposition of 509 scattered-site 

Public Housing units, to finance the redevelopment of the Birch Creek and Green River 

complexes. Following HUD disposition approval in 2012, KCHA used MTW flexibility to 

successfully address the substantial deferred maintenance needs of those 509 former public 

housing units, which are in 22 different communities. Utilizing MTW authorizations, we have 

transitioned those properties to the project-based Section 8 program and leveraged $18 million 

from the Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) on extremely favorable terms for property repairs. As 

the FHLB requires such loans to be collateralized by cash, investments, and/or underlying 

mortgages on real property, we continued to use a portion of our MTW working capital as 

collateral for this loan.  

 AC QUI SI TIO N AND  PRE S E R VATIO N O F AFFOR D AB LE  HOU SI NG.  We continued to use MTW 

resources to preserve affordable housing that is at risk of for-profit redevelopment and to 

create additional affordable housing opportunities in partnership with state and local 

jurisdictions. When possible, we have been acquiring additional housing adjacent to existing 

KCHA properties in emerging and current high-opportunity neighborhoods where banked public 

housing subsidies can be utilized. In 2018, in partnership with the City of Kirkland, we acquired 



57 
 

and “turned-on” public housing subsidies at Houghton Court, a 15-unit property located just 

blocks from the Google campus.  

 LONG- TERM VI ABIL I TY  O F OU R G ROW ING  PO RT FOLI O.  KCHA used our single-fund flexibility to 

reduce outstanding financial liabilities and protect the long-term viability of our inventory. 

Single-fund flexibility allows us to make loans in conjunction with Low Income Housing Tax 

Credit (LIHTC) financing to recapitalize properties in our federally subsidized inventory. MTW 

working capital continued to support the redevelopment of the Greenbridge HOPE VI site 

through infrastructure financing that will be retired with proceeds from land sales as the build-

out of this 100-acre, 900-unit site continues. MTW funds also supported energy conservation 

measures as part of our EPC project, with energy savings over the life of the contract repaying 

the loan. MTW working capital also provided an essential backstop for outside debt, addressing 

risk concerns of lenders, enhancing our credit worthiness, and enabling our continued access to 

private capital markets. 

 REMOV AL O F THE  C AP O N VOUC HER  UT IL IZ AT IO N.  This initiative enables us to utilize savings 

achieved through MTW initiatives to over-lease and provide HCV assistance to more households 

than normally permissible under our HUD-established baseline. Our cost containment from a 

multi-tiered, ZIP Code-based payment standard system, operational efficiencies, and other 

policy changes have been critical in helping us respond to the growing housing needs of the 

region’s extremely low-income households. Despite ongoing uncertainties around federal 

funding levels, we continue to use MTW program flexibility to support housing voucher issuance 

above HUD baseline levels. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



58 
 

B. LOCAL ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN  

Has the PHA allocated costs within statute during the plan year? No 

Has the PHA implemented a local asset management plan (LAMP)? Yes 

Has the PHA provided a LAMP in the appendix? Yes 

 

In FY 2008, as detailed in the MTW Annual Plan for that year and adopted by our Board of 

Commissioners under Resolution No. 5116, KCHA developed and implemented our own local funding 

model for Public Housing and HCV using our MTW block grant authority. Under our current agreement, 

KCHA’s Public Housing Operating, Capital, and HCV funds are considered fungible and may be used 

interchangeably. In contrast to 990.280 regulations, which require transfers between projects only after 

all project expenses are met, KCHA’s model allows budget-based funding at the start of the fiscal year 

from a central ledger, not other projects. We maintain a budgeting and accounting system that gives 

each property sufficient funds to support annual operations, including allowable fees. Actual revenues 

include those provided by HUD and allocated by KCHA based on annual property-based budgets. As 

envisioned, all block grants are deposited into a single general ledger fund.  

  



59 
 

SECTION VI   
A D M I N I S T R A T I V E  

A. HUD REVIEWS, AUDITS, OR PHYSICAL INSPECTION ISSUES 

A recent Management Review of KCHA’s HCV program resulted in two findings. The first concerned our 

administrative plans and their compliance with HUD requirements or current agency practices. KCHA 

immediately updated its administrative plans to reflect current practices and to further align with HUD 

requirements. The second finding was the result of a software system coding issue and was also 

corrected in a timely manner.  

All other monitoring visits, physical inspections, and oversight activities did not identify any deficiency 

findings.  

B. RESULTS OF LATEST KCHA-DIRECTED EVALUATIONS 

We continued to expand and enhance our research and evaluation capacities in 2018. In partnership 

with Public Health–Seattle and King County and Seattle Housing Authority, KCHA completed a data 

integration project that links housing authority data to Medicaid claims data. The report provides a 

baseline understanding of the health service utilization patterns of our residents relative to the general 

Medicaid population. In addition, ORS Impact completed an evaluation of KCHA’s education initiatives. 

The assessment summarizes preliminary outcomes among students, their families, and the institutions 

that serve them.  

Reports for these evaluations can be found attached in Appendix D.  

C. MTW STATUTORY REQUIREMENT CERTIFICATION 

Certification is attached as Appendix A.  

D. MTW ENERGY PERFORMANCE CONTRACT (EPC) FLEXIBILITY DATA 

EPC data is attached as Appendix F.  

 

 

 



AP PEND IX  A  
C E R T I F I C A T I O N  O F  S T A T U T O R Y  C O M P L I A N C E  

 

 

 

C e r t i f i c a t i o n  o f  S t a t u t o r y  C o m p l i a n c e  

On behalf of the King County Housing Authority (KCHA), I certify that the Agency has met the three 

statutory requirements of the Restated and Amended Moving to Work Agreement entered into 

between the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and KCHA on March 13, 2009, and 

extended on September 19, 2016. Specifically, KCHA has adhered to the following requirements of the 

MTW demonstration during FY 2018: 

o At least 75 percent of the families assisted by KCHA are very low-income families, as defined in 

section 3(b)(2) of the 1937 Act; 

o KCHA has continued to assist substantially the same total number of eligible low-income 

families as would have been served absent participation in the MTW demonstration; and 

o KCHA has continued to serve a comparable mix of families (by family size) as would have been 

served without MTW participation. 

 

 

 

___________________________        

STEPHEN J. NORMAN       DATE 

Executive Director 



AP PEND IX  B  
K C H A ’ S  L O C A L  A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N  

 

As detailed in KCHA’s FY 2008 MTW Annual Plan and adopted by the Board of Commissioners under 

Resolution No. 5116, KCHA has implemented a Local Asset Management Plan that considers the 

following:     

 

o KCHA will develop its own local funding model for Public Housing and Section 8 using its block 

grant authority. Under its current agreement, KCHA can treat these funds and CFP dollars as 

fungible. In contrast to 990.280 regulations, which require transfers between projects after all 

project expenses are met, KCHA’s model allows budget-based funding at the start of the fiscal 

year from a central ledger, not other projects. KCHA will maintain a budgeting and accounting 

system that gives each property sufficient funds to support annual operations, including 

allowable fees. Actual revenues will include those provided by HUD and allocated by KCHA 

based on annual property-based budgets. As envisioned, all block grants will be deposited into a 

single general ledger fund. This will have multiple benefits.    

 

 KCHA gets to decide subsidy amounts for each public housing project. It’s estimated that 

HUD’s new funding model has up to a 40% error rate for individual sites. This means some 

properties get too much, some too little. Although funds can be transferred between sites, 

it’s simpler to determine the proper subsidy amount at the start of the fiscal year rather 

than when shortfalls develop. Resident services costs will be accounted for in a centralized 

fund that is a sub-fund of the single general ledger, not assigned to individual programs or 

properties. 

 

 KCHA will establish a restricted public housing operating reserve equivalent to two months’ 

expenses. KCHA will estimate subsidies and allow sites to use them in their budgets. If the 

estimate exceeds the actual subsidy, the difference will come from the operating reserve. 

Properties may be asked to replenish this central reserve in the following year by reducing 

expenses, or KCHA may choose to make the funding permanent by reducing the 

unrestricted block grant reserve.  

 



 Using this approach will improve budgeting. Within a reasonable limit, properties will know 

what they have to spend each year, allowing them autonomy to spend excess on “wish list” 

items and carefully watch their budgets. The private sector doesn’t wait until well into its 

fiscal year to know how much revenue is available to support its sites.  

 

o Reporting site-based results is an important component of property management and KCHA will 

continue accounting for each site separately; however, KCHA, as owner of the properties will 

determine how much revenue will be included as each project’s subsidy. All subsidies will be 

properly accounted for under the MTW rubric.  

 

o Allowable fees to the central office cost center (COCC) will be reflected on the property reports, 

as required. The MTW ledger won’t pay fees directly to the COCC. As allowable under the asset 

management model, however, any subsidy needed to pay legacy costs, such as pension or 

terminal leave payments and excess energy savings from the Authority’s ESCO, may be 

transferred from the MTW ledger or the projects to the COCC. 

 

o Actual Section 8 amounts needed for housing assistance payments and administrative costs will 

be allotted to the Housing Choice Voucher program, including sufficient funds to pay asset 

management fees. Block grant reserves and their interest earnings will not be commingled with 

Section 8 operations, enhancing budget transparency. Section 8 program managers will become 

more responsible for their budgets in the same manner as public housing site managers.  

 

o Block grant ledger expenses, other than transfers out to sites and Section 8, will be those that 

support MTW initiatives, such as the South County Pilot or resident self-sufficiency programs. 

Isolating these funds and activities will help KCHA’s Board of Commissioners and its 

management keeps track of available funding for incremental initiatives and enhances KCHA’s 

ability to compare current to pre-MTW historical results with other housing authorities that do 

not have this designation.  

 

o In lieu of multiple submissions of Operating Subsidy for individual Asset Management Projects, 

KCHA may submit a single subsidy request using a weighted average project expense level 

(WAPEL) with aggregated utility and add-on amounts.  



AP PEND IX  C  
A C T U A L  E X I S T I N G  P R O J E C T - B A S E D  V O U C H E R S  

 

 



Project-based Voucher Contracts

Property Name

Number of 

Project-based 

Vouchers 

Status as of End of 

2018 Population Served RAD?

Parkview Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Inland Empire Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Inland Empire Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Inland Empire Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Inland Empire Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Parkview Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Inland Empire Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Parkview Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Parkview Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Inland Empire Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Inland Empire Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Inland Empire Group Home 1 Leased Disabled Individuals  No

Petter Court 4 Leased Homeless Families No

Kensington Square 6 Leased Homeless Families No

Villa Esperanza 23 Leased Homeless Families No

Villa Capri 5 Leased Homeless Families No

Plum Court 10 Leased Low Income Families No

Creston Point 15 Leased Homeless Families No

Enumclaw Fourplex 5 Leased Homeless Families No

Friends of Youth Shared Housing 2 Leased Homeless Young Adults No

The Willows 15 Leased Homeless Families No

Chalet  5 Leased Low Income Families No

Francis Village 10 Leased Homeless Young Families No

Independence Bridge 24 Leased Homeless Young Adults No

Chalet 4 Leased Homeless Families No

August Wilson Place 8 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Lauren Heights 5 Leased Homeless Families No

City Park Townhomes 11 Leased Homeless Families No

Burien Heights 15 Leased Homeless Young Adults No

Page 1 of 5 



Project-based Voucher Contracts

Evergreen Court Apartments 15 Leased Low Income Seniors No

Village at Overlake Station 8 Leased Disabled Individuals No

Summerfield Apartments 13 Leased Low Income Families No

Phoenix Rising 24 Leased Homeless Young Adults No

Sophia's Home - Timberwood 2 Leased Homeless Individuals No

Sophia's Home - Woodside East 4 Leased Homeless Individuals No

Woodland North 10 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Passage Point 46 Leased Homeless Families No

Family Village 10 Leased Homeless Families No

Discovery Heights 10 Leased Homeless Individuals No

Unity Village of White Center 6 Leased Homeless Families No

Andrew's Glen 10 Leased Low Income Families No

Eernisse 13 Leased Low Income Families No

Avondale Park 43 Leased Homeless Families No

Woodside East 23 Leased Low Income Families No

Landmark Apartments 28 Leased Low Income Families No

Timberwood 20 Leased Low Income Families No

Newporter Apartments 22 Leased Low Income Families No

Village at Overlake Station 12 Leased Low Income Families No

Harrison House 48 Leased Low Income Seniors No

Valley Park East & West 12 Leased Homeless Families No

Valley Park East & West 16 Leased Low Income Families No

Valley Park East & West 2 Leased Disabled Individuals No

Heritage Park 15 Leased Homeless Families No

August Wilson Place 8 Leased Homeless Families No

Appian Way 6 Leased Homeless Families No

Seola Crossing I & II 63 Leased Low Income Families No

Rose Crest 10 Leased Homeless Families No

Rose Crest 9 Leased Homeless Families No

Copper Lantern 4 Leased Homeless Individuals No

Copper Lantern 7 Leased Low Income Families No

Summerwood 25 Leased Low Income Families No

Page 2 of 5 



Project-based Voucher Contracts

Creston Point 5 Leased Homeless Families No

Joseph House 10 Leased Low Income Seniors No

Johnson Hill 8 Leased Low Income Families No

Velocity Apartments 8 Leased Homeless Families No

Compass Housing Renton 58 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Family Village 26 Leased Low Income Families No

William J. Wood Veterans House 44 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Timberwood Apartments 16 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Francis Village 10 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Bellepark East 12 Leased Low Income Families No

Laurelwood Gardens 8 Leased Low Income Families No

Woodland North 5 Leased Low Income Families No

Carriage House 21 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Villages at South Station 16 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Cove East Apartments 16 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Ronald Commons 8 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Velocity Apartments 8 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Providence John Gabriel House 8 Leased Low Income Seniors No

Kirkland Avenue Townhomes 2 Leased Homeless Veterans No

Athene 8 Leased Low Income Seniors No

Francis Village 3 Leased Low Income Families No

Houser Terrace 25 Leased Homeless Veterans No

NIA Apartments 42 Leased Low Income Seniors No

Spiritwood Manor 128 Leased Low Income Families No

Birch Creek 262 Leased Low Income Families No

Salmon Creek 9 Leased Low Income Families No

Newport 23 Leased Low Income Families No

Eastbridge 31 Leased Low Income Families No

Hidden Village 78 Leased Low Income Families No

Heritage Park 36 Leased Low Income Families No

Alpine Ridge 27 Leased Low Income Families No

Bellevue House # 1 1 Leased Homeless Families No

Page 3 of 5 



Project-based Voucher Contracts

Eastridge House 40 Leased Low Income Seniors/Disabled No

Evergreen Court 30 Leased Low Income Families No

Green Leaf 27 Leased Low Income Families No

Avondale Manor 20 Leased Low Income Families No

Bellevue House # 2 1 Leased Homeless Families No

Bellevue House # 3 1 Leased Homeless Families No

Bellevue House # 4 1 Leased Homeless Families No

Bellevue House # 5 1 Leased Homeless Families No

Bellevue House # 6 1 Leased Homeless Families No

Bellevue House # 7 1 Leased Homeless Families No

Bellevue House # 8 1 Leased Homeless Families No

Campus Court I 12 Leased Low Income Families No

Campus Court II (House) 1 Leased Low Income Families No

Cedarwood 25 Leased Low Income Families No

Federal Way House #1 1 Leased Low Income Families No

Federal Way House #2 1 Leased Low Income Families No

Federal Way House #3 1 Leased Low Income Families No

Forest Grove 25 Leased Low Income Families No

Glenview Heights 10 Leased Low Income Seniors/Disabled No

Juanita Court 30 Leased Low Income Families No

Juanita Trace I & II 39 Leased Low Income Families No

Kings Court 30 Leased Low Income Families No

Kirkwood Terrace 28 Leased Low Income Families No

Pickering Court 30 Leased Low Income Families No

Riverton Terrace I 30 Leased Low Income Families No

Shoreham 18 Leased Low Income Families No

Victorian Woods 15 Leased Low Income Families No

Vista Heights 30 Leased Low Income Families No

Wellswood 30 Leased Low Income Families No

Young's Lake 28 Leased Low Income Families No

Sophia's Home - Bellepark East 1 Leased Homeless Individuals No

Green River Homes 59 Leased Low Income Families No

Page 4 of 5 



Project-based Voucher Contracts

Bellevue Manor 66 Leased Low Income Seniors/Disabled No

Vashon Terrace 16 Leased Low Income Seniors/Disabled No

Northwood Square 24 Leased Low Income Families No

Patricia Harris Manor 41 Leased Low Income Seniors/Disabled No

Gilman Square 25 Leased Low Income Families No

Woodcreek Lane 20 Leased Low Income Families No

Southwood Square 104 Leased Low Income Families No

Foster Commons 4 Leased Homeless Families No

Linden Highlands 3 Leased Homeless Families No

Arcadia 5 Issued through AHAP Homeless Young Adults No

Renton Commons 12 Issued through AHAP Homeless Families No

Renton Commons 14 Issued through AHAP Homeless Veterans No

30Bellevue 20 Issued through AHAP Homeless Families & Individuals No

30Bellevue 8 Issued through AHAP Low Income Families No

Kent PSH 36 Issued through AHAP Homeless Veterans No

Kent PSH 44 Issued through AHAP Homeless and Disabled No

Page 5 of 5 



AP PEND IX  D  
E V A L U A T I O N S  

 

 



  

 

   

 

 

APRIL 2018  

 

King County 
Data Across 
Sectors for 
Housing and 
Health, 2018 



 

 

Table of contents 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health ii 

 

Executive summary .....................................................................................................1 

Key findings ................................................................................................................3 

Demographics and Medicaid enrollment ........................................................................................ 3 

Understanding health conditions using Medicaid data .................................................................. 7 

Acute conditions .............................................................................................................................. 8 

Chronic conditions ......................................................................................................................... 10 

Background .............................................................................................................. 11 

Housing profiles/types ................................................................................................................... 11 

Housing as a platform for health, well-being and success ............................................................ 12 

Data to drive decision-making towards policy/program design, evaluation and impact ............. 13 

Primary questions ..................................................................................................... 14 

Methods ................................................................................................................... 15 

Limitations ................................................................................................................ 17 

Impact and next steps ............................................................................................... 19 

Appendix I: Technical documentation ....................................................................... 21 

Data sources .................................................................................................................................. 21 

PHA data processing and joining ................................................................................................... 21 

Medicaid data processing ............................................................................................................. 22 

PHA and Medicaid linkage ............................................................................................................ 22 

Calculating rates and proportions ................................................................................................. 24 

Health data interpretation limitations .......................................................................................... 27 

PHA data limitations...................................................................................................................... 28 

Appendix II: Process evaluation ................................................................................ 30 

Introduction ............................................................................................................. 31 

Key takeaways ......................................................................................................... 31 

Champions for change ................................................................................................................... 31 

Factors that were essential to success .......................................................................................... 32 

Barriers .......................................................................................................................................... 32 

Lessons learned through the data ................................................................................................. 33 

What is needed to sustain KC-DASHH ........................................................................................... 33 

Usefulness and application of data linkage .................................................................................. 34 

Lasting changes/outcomes ............................................................................................................ 34 

Dissemination ................................................................................................................................ 34 

Appendix III: Anticipated outcomes .......................................................................... 35 

 



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 iii 

King County Housing Authority 
Sarah Oppenheimer, Alexis Warth 
 

Seattle Housing Authority 
Denille Bezemer, Aara Shaikh 
 

Public Health-Seattle & King County  
Roxana Chen, Amy Laurent, Alastair Matheson, Lin Song 

 
King County Accountable Communities of Health: 
Healthier Here 
Betsy Lieberman 

 

Additional thanks:  
Mohannad Aladwan, Gloria Albetta, Kate Allen, Cicily Nordness, 
Dani Fitts, Eric Swenson, Marguerite Ro, Huan Zhao 
 

Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF)  
Data Across Sectors for Health (DASH)  

Illinois Public Health Institute (IPHI) 

Michigan Public Health Institute (MPHI) 

Washington State Health Care Authority 

Please note that figures created in the report are subject to 

change as new data are added or data are amended. See the 

online dashboard for the most up-to-date data.

 

Acknowledgements 

http://www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing


 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 1 

Executive summary 
Although housing is an essential component of the social determinants of health, the relationship between 
subsidized housing and health is only minimally understood. This limited understanding of how health and housing 
are linked has been fueled in part by data siloes that limit comprehensive insights into whole-person health. In an 
effort to overcome such limitations and to provide a stronger foundation for a growing regional (and national) focus 
on health and housing intersections, in 2016, the King County Housing Authority (KCHA), Seattle Housing Authority 
(SHA), and Public Health – Seattle and King County (PHSKC) joined to form the Data Across Sectors for Health and 
Housing (DASHH) partnership, focused on creating a unique and sustainable dataset containing linked health and 
housing administrative data.1 Key goals for DASHH were to use linked data to inform and measure future 
interventions, including policy, outreach, and programming to improve the health of King County residents, as well as 
to share this actionable data with key health and housing stakeholders.  
 

Approach 
Housing data provided by KCHA and SHA were matched with Medicaid enrollment and claims data to create a 
longitudinal dataset of housing and healthcare utilization data from 2012-2016.2 This merged dataset allows 
exploration of population overlaps between the Medicaid and Public Housing Authority (PHA) service systems. To 
ensure that linked data was easily accessible and interpretable for cross-sector users, the DASHH dataset was built 
into a dynamic, web-based dashboard that allows exploration by condition, housing subpopulation, and time period. 
This platform is designed to be a sustainable (and updatable) resource, and new health and housing data will be 
incorporated into the dataset as it becomes available.  
 

Key Findings  
Preliminary DASHH analyses highlight broad patterns in the health of PHA residents relative to Medicaid enrollees 
who are not living in subsidized housing. Data only indicates the number of times an individual interacted with the 
health service system. Additional examination is needed to understand the driving factors behind varying levels of 
service utilization, in part to identify if patterns are due to the prevalence of a given condition, differences in care-
seeking behaviors, or for other reasons.  
 

High levels of overlap between the PHA and Medicaid populations in King County 

In 2012, 74% of PHA residents were enrolled in Medicaid; by 2016, this enrollment rate had increased to 83%, largely 
due to the expansion of Medicaid in 2014 under the Affordable Care Act. Enrollment rates vary by PHA population 
groups, with children (ages 0-17) having the highest enrollment (91%) and young adults (ages 18-24) having the 
lowest enrollment (77%). Overall, PHA residents represent 11% of the Medicaid population within King County. 
Given this magnitude and the unique and ongoing relationships PHAs have with residents, there is significant 
potential for cross-sector efforts to improve population health and lower health care costs by targeting education, 
resources, and supports to PHA residents.  
 

PHA residents are more likely to receive care for chronic conditions than the non-PHA Medicaid population 

Across all years, PHA residents were more likely to engage with the healthcare system than the non-PHA Medicaid 
population for all chronic conditions included in this analysis (e.g., hypertension, asthma, diabetes). For example, in 
2016, the rate of service utilization for hypertension among people aged 45-61 years was 2.0 times higher in the 
KCHA population and 1.6 times higher in the SHA population as compared to the non-PHA Medicaid population. 
Further analyses will explore whether these patterns are due to higher chronic disease prevalence in the PHA 
population and if more frequent chronic care service utilization is due to prevention, condition management, or 
acute/emergency purposes. 
                                                                        
1 This effort was supported by funding from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF) Data Across Sectors for Health (DASH) grant; for more information, see 
www.dashconnect.org. 
2 Both KCHA and SHA provided data for residents living in Housing and Urban Development (HUD) funded subsidized housing programs including Public Housing 
and the Housing Choice Voucher Program.  



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 2 

 

PHA residents are more likely to seek acute care than the non-PHA Medicaid population 

Rates of emergency department (ED) visits dropped dramatically among non-PHA population adults aged 25–64 
following Medicaid expansion in 2014, likely due to changes in who was enrolled in Medicaid. However, a 
corresponding drop was not seen among the PHA population where rates remained similar before and after 
expansion. For all years, PHA women had higher rates of both ED and avoidable ED visits compared to non-PHA 
women suggesting opportunities for targeted innovation pertaining to health systems navigation among PHA 
residents.  
 

Well-child visits are more frequent among PHA residents than non-PHA Medicaid enrollees 

Well-child checks for children ages 3-6 are a crucial aspect of early child health. A higher proportion of PHA resident 
children had well-child checks than non-PHA Medicaid enrollees (61–64% among PHA children compared to 57% 
among non-PHA Medicaid children).  
 

Demographic differences may explain some service utilization patterns  

This project allows for the identification of trends and discrepancies in enrollment and service engagement within 
both PHA and non-PHA Medicaid populations. Some patterns may be due to demographic differences across PHAs 
or in comparisons between PHA and non-PHA Medicaid enrollees. The DASHH interactive dashboard3 supports 
more detailed subpopulation comparisons in order to discern whether population characteristics or other factors 
may be underlying these differences.  
 

Medicaid data alone cannot provide insights into the health of elderly residents  

Though a majority (79%) of PHA residents aged 65 and older are enrolled in Medicaid, almost all (over 98%) are also 
enrolled in Medicare. Most health encounters in the 65+ age group are covered by Medicare and do not appear in 
the Medicaid claims data.  Integrating Medicare data is a high priority future project in order to gain insights into 
health and housing patterns among older adults in King County.  
 

Data regarding behavioral and mental health among the Medicaid population is limited 

While depression and mental health conditions are included in the DASHH analysis and are critical health conditions 
to consider in health and housing intersections, Medicaid claims data alone provides an incomplete picture of 
behavioral health service utilization, and therefore limits the utility of these indicators. Results from just Medicaid 
claims indicate that rates of service utilization for depression and other mental health conditions are higher for 
PHA than non-PHA populations. However, additional data integration efforts are necessary to gain a better 
understanding of mental and behavioral health within both of these groups.  
 

Next steps 
Additional years of Medicaid and PHA data will be added to the current dataset as they become available, improving 
the ability to examine time trends. Given that service utilization does not necessarily equate to poorer health 
outcomes or higher condition prevalence (but rather may reflect regular engagement with the healthcare system for 
positive reasons), future analyses will also focus on gaining a better understanding of the causes and nature behind 
service utilization. As noted above, subsequent DASHH data integration will focus on adding Medicare and behavioral 
health data to provide a more comprehensive picture of health for all PHA residents.  
 

This continued development and expansion of the DASHH dataset and dashboard will serve as a critical resource for 
strengthening cross-sector partnerships in pursuit of a better understanding of how housing plays a role in health, 
how policy and system changes impact health, and how linked and actionable data can be used to improve the health 
of vulnerable King County residents. 

                                                                        
3 www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing 

http://www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing
www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing


 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 3 

Key findings 
Demographics and Medicaid enrollment 

Most public housing authority (PHA) residents are enrolled in Medicaid 

In 2012, approximately 74% of Seattle Housing Authority (SHA) and King County Housing Authority 

(KCHA) residents were enrolled in Medicaid at some point during their time at the PHA. By 2016, this 

increased to around 83%, largely due to expansion of Medicaid in 2014 under the Affordable Care Act 

(Figure 1). 

 

Among the PHA resident population, Medicaid enrollment rates (as of 2016) are: 

 Highest among youth (under 18 years of age) (91%)  

 Lowest among young adults (18-24) (77%)  

 Similar between genders  

 Varied by race/ethnicity, ranging from around 

65% enrolled among multiple-race residents 

to 88% among American Indians/Alaskan 

Native residents 

 

Medicaid data alone cannot tell us much about the 

health of elderly PHA residents 

Though a majority (79%) of PHA residents aged 65+ 

are enrolled in Medicaid, the vast majority of this group (over 98%) are also enrolled in Medicare 

(people enrolled in both programs are termed dual eligible). As Medicaid is the payer of last resort, most 

health encounters in the 65+ age group are covered by Medicare and do not appear in the Medicaid 

claims data. This limits the ability to identity health outcomes for elderly housing residents so they are 

not included in this report or accompanying dashboard. 

 

 

 

PUBLIC HOUSING AGENCIES HOUSE A SIGNIFICANT 

NUMBER OF LOW-INCOME PEOPLE WHO ARE ALSO 

RECEIVING MEDICAID. LINKING HOUSING AND 

MEDICAID DATA SETS ALLOWS PHAS TO BETTER 

UNDERSTAND THE HEALTH CONDITIONS AND SERVICE 

UTILIZATION OF THEIR CLIENTS. 



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 4 

Figure 1: Medicaid expansion substantially increased the proportion of PHA residents enrolled in Medicaid 

 

 

Housing authority residents make up a substantial proportion of King County Medicaid recipients 

In 2012, approximately 14% of all Medicaid recipients in King County were supported by the Seattle or 

King County Housing Authorities. By 2016, despite Medicaid expansion increasing the number of adults 

on Medicaid by over 100,000, PHA residents still accounted for over 1 in 10 of all Medicaid enrollees in 

King County. The overlap between the Medicaid and PHA service systems suggests that efforts to 

improve the health of PHA residents could have a noticeable impact on the overall health of the low-

income King County population, many of whom live in areas with high prevalence of chronic conditions. 

 



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 5 

Figure 2: Enrollment in Medicaid, including concurrent enrollment in Medicare (dually eligible), among KCHA 
and SHA residents combined, 2016 (note that people may be counted in multiple categories of enrollment)  

 

 

Medicaid recipients in PHA housing are younger, more likely to be female, and less likely to be White 

than the rest of the Medicaid population 

In 2016, Medicaid recipients in KCHA and SHA housing who were not also receiving Medicare (i.e., not 

dual eligible) compared to the rest of the Medicaid, non-Medicare population were: 

 More likely to be younger than the rest of the Medicaid, non-Medicare population 

 More likely to be female 

 More likely to identify as Black or African American 

 Less likely to be White or Latino/Hispanic 

 More likely to be dually enrolled in Medicaid AND Medicare than the non-PHA Medicaid 

population 
  



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 6 

Table 1: Demographics of Medicaid recipients (enrolled at any time in this group in 2016 and not also enrolled 
in Medicare (dual eligible)) 

 KCHA SHA non-PHA 

 N = 27,616 N = 21,000 N = 446,302 

Gender  

 Female 58.7% 55.1% 51.7% 

 Male 41.3% 44.9% 48.3% 

Race/ethnicity* 

 American Indian/Alaska Native 1.6% 1.9% 1.6% 

 Asian 4.7% 9.5% 10.5% 

 Black/African American 45.1% 58.4% 12.5% 

 Latino/Hispanic 10.9% 7.1% 16.8% 

 Multiple race 2.4% 1.4% 1.2% 

 Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander 3.2% 2.5% 4.8% 

 White 25.2% 14.2% 37.1% 

 Other/unknown 7% 5.1% 15.5% 

Age 

 Median 17.8 years 19.9 years 23.7 years 

 Mean 23.6 years 26.4 years 25.5 years 

 <17 50.5% 45.6% 40.6% 

 18–24 11.2% 9.6% 10.1% 

 25–44 21% 20.7% 29.7% 

 45–61 13.4% 18.1% 14.1% 

 62–64 1.3% 2.3% 1.5% 

 65+ 0.3% 0.4% 0.7% 

 Unknown 2.4% 3.3% 3.4% 

Dual eligibility (also enrolled in Medicare) 18.7% 
(n = 33,976) 

25.0% 
(n = 27,993) 

9.4% 
(n = 492,357) 

* Latino/Hispanic was collected as a separate field. If a person indicated Hispanic ethnicity they are only included in that 
group regardless of other race/ethnicity groups selected. All other race/ethnicity groups are non-Latino. 

 

  



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 7 

Understanding health conditions using Medicaid data 

Higher rates of care for chronic conditions are not necessarily a negative outcome 

Medicaid claims are the first block in building a broader, more holistic understanding of PHA resident 

health. Medicaid claims are best used as one measure of health service utilization—i.e., what types of 

health care people are accessing. Medicaid claims data provide useful insight into a person’s health care 

service interactions, but it is important to remember that medical claims data for chronic conditions 

such as asthma and diabetes are only defined by a person accessing health care and receiving a 

particular diagnosis. Individuals who seek care but don’t find it, or who choose not to seek care, cannot 

be counted using this data source. While the rates of chronic conditions seen in this data may reflect a 

higher prevalence of certain conditions among PHA residents, it might also be due to a higher level of 

engagement with the health care system due to supports provided by PHAs.  

 

Acute events such as emergency department (ED) visits, hospitalizations, and injuries are less 

susceptible to care-seeking biases. Higher rates are more likely to be indicative of a conditions that could 

be managed through preventive care and environmental conditions that lead to more injuries. 

 

PHA residents were more likely to receive care for most conditions compared to non-PHA Medicaid 

enrollees 

Compared to the non-PHA Medicaid population, PHA residents on Medicaid had higher rates for many 

of the chronic and mental health conditions analyzed. For example, in 2016, hypertension (high blood 

pressure) among people aged 45–61 years was 2.0 times higher in the KCHA population and 1.6 times 

higher in the SHA population compared to the non-PHA Medicaid population. Even accounting for 

demographic differences between the PHA and non-PHA Medicaid populations, PHA residents showed 

higher levels among many conditions. The reasons for higher rates of health conditions between PHA 

and non-PHA Medicaid recipients is unclear. Previous studies have found that health care utilization may 

increase when a person is able to obtain stable housing but further investigation is required to 

determine whether that explanation applies to King County’s PHA residents. 

 

KCHA residents seem to have higher rates of most conditions than SHA residents but this is often 

driven by differences in demographic composition 

Overall, KCHA residents have higher rates of health conditions than SHA residents. For example, across 

most age groups, a higher proportion of KCHA-housed Medicaid recipients met the definition for 

ischemic heart disease than SHA-housed Medicaid recipients. However, drilling into the rates and 

looking at specific PHA populations (e.g., black males, white females), the differences largely disappear 

and sometimes reverse. This highlights that an apparent difference in rate of a condition between the 

overall PHA populations can be driven by the demographic composition of each PHA. Future analyses 

will need to adjust for these differences when comparing residents’ health statuses between PHAs. 

  



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 8 

Acute conditions 

Hospitalization rates were similar between non-PHA Medicaid enrollees and PHA residents on 

Medicaid 

There was no notable difference in rates of overall hospitalization when comparing non-PHA, KCHA, and 

SHA Medicaid enrollees. Within specific sub-populations where an agency’s rate did appear substantially 

different from the others in that group, the sample size of residents with a hospitalization was typically 

small, making it difficult to draw firm conclusions. For all three groups, hospitalization rates increased 

with age, from around 10 per 1,000 person-years (p-y) among minors (<18year olds) to between 90 and 

138 per 1,000 p-y among 62–64-year-olds. Rates were slightly higher among males for SHA and non-PHA 

enrollees, but lower for male KCHA residents. Hospitalization also varied by subsidy type: residents in 

units where the housing subsidy was tied to the property (hard units) had higher hospitalization rates 

than residents who received a voucher subsidy (soft units) at SHA (33.6 vs. 22.6 per 1,000 p-y), while the 

reverse was true at KCHA (20.1 per 1,000 p-y in hard units vs. 28.2 in soft units). 

 

Rates of hospitalizations remained static among minors (<18 year olds) across all three population 

groups from 2012 to 2016. Rates for the 18–24 and 25–44-year-old groups were fairly consistent among 

KCHA residents, but showed signs of increasing among SHA residents and non-PHA Medicaid recipients. 

Among older adults (62–64-year-olds), Medicaid expansion in 2014 resulted in a substantial decrease in 

hospitalization rates. 

 

Emergency department (ED) visit rates were largely unchanged over time for PHA residents but 

decreased substantially among non-PHA Medicaid recipients after Medicaid expanded 

Rates of ED visits were higher among PHA residents than non-PHA Medicaid recipients in 2016, 

particularly for females. However, this gap between PHA and non-PHA Medicaid recipients was largely a 

result of a substantial decrease in ED visit rates among older non-PHA Medicaid recipients after 

Medicaid expanded in 2014. For example, among non-PHA 45–61-year-olds, the rate of ED visits was 

1,222.5 per 1,000 p-y in 2013 but decreased to 667.9 per 1,000 p-y in 2016. Similar drops were recorded 

for 25–44-year-olds and 62–64-year-olds, while younger groups had static or increasing rates. Among 

KCHA and SHA residents on Medicaid, rates fluctuated but tended to remain flat over time (Figure 3). ED 

utilization rates did not show major differences between subsidy types at either PHA. 

 

A similar pattern emerged for avoidable ED visits; there was an initial large drop in the non-PHA group 

from 2013 to 2014 but no obvious change among PHA residents (though in both groups, rates increased 

again from 2014 to 2016). Avoidable ED visits are costly, and are considered to be signs of poor care 

management or inadequate access to primary health care. Rates of avoidable ED visits were higher in 

both KCHA and SHA across all age groups when compared to the non-PHA Medicaid population, with the 

highest rates seen in KCHA females. Rates were slightly higher among KCHA females in soft units than 

those in hard units but there was no difference by gender among SHA residents. 

 



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 9 

Figure 3: Rates of emergency department visits by age for SHA and KCHA combined (top panel) vs. non-PHA 
Medicaid recipients (lower panel)  

 

 

There was a strong age gradient for rates of unintentional injuries among SHA residents but not so 

among KCHA residents and non-PHA Medicaid recipients 

Among SHA residents, rates of unintentional injuries were nearly three times higher for men aged 62–64 

than males aged under 18 (292.5 vs. 111.2 per 1,000 p-y), and over four times higher for women (384.6 

vs. 87.4 per 1,000 p-y). This strong age gradient was not evident among KCHA residents or non-PHA 

Medicaid recipients. 

 

Like hospitalizations and ED visits, rates of unintentional injuries declined substantially between 2013 

and 2014 among non-PHA Medicaid recipients aged over 45 but remained static or increased among 

younger age groups and PHA residents of all ages. Though there appeared to be a sharp increase in rates 



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 10 

of injuries starting in 2015 and continuing in 2016, this is likely driven by a change in the diagnostic 

coding system used in claims data that took place in October 2015.4  

 

Chronic conditions 

PHA residents were much more likely to receive care for asthma than non-PHA Medicaid recipients 

PHA residents of all ages, genders, and races/ethnicities were much more likely to have met the 

definition for asthma than non-PHA Medicaid recipients. The proportion was consistently 2–3 times 

higher in PHA residents when looking across age and gender. It is unclear whether the higher proportion 

seen represents greater prevalence of asthma among PHA residents or higher levels of care seeking. The 

proportion also increased with age among both PHA and non-PHA Medicaid enrollees. 

 

White individuals were more likely than Black/African American individuals to meet the definition for 

chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder (COPD) for both PHA and non-PHA Medicaid recipients 

As expected, the proportion of people meeting the definition of COPD increased with age. Even 

accounting for age, there were some differences in proportions by race/ethnicity. The proportion for 

Black/African American individuals aged 45–61 ranged from 12.9 per 1,000 in the non-PHA group to 31.1 

per 1,000 at KCHA. For white individuals in the same age group, rates ranged from 18.5 per 1,000 (non-

PHA) to 58.8 per 1,000 (SHA). The difference was less pronounced among the 62–64-year-old group. 

 

KCHA residents were more likely to meet the definition for diabetes than SHA residents 

For most demographic subgroups, a higher proportion of KCHA residents met the definition for diabetes 

than SHA residents. This was particularly true for males aged 62–64 (169.2 vs. 111.6 per 1,000), 

Black/African American individuals aged 45–61 (134.5 vs. 108.1 per 1,000), and tenant-based voucher 

residents aged 62–64 (189.7 vs. 124.0 per 1,000). Both PHAs had a higher proportion of people meeting 

the definition for diabetes than non-PHA Medicaid recipients (1.5–3 times higher). 

 

More detailed analyses may be viewed online 

The best way to explore the health status of PHA residents is to use an interactive visualization5 hosted 

by King County. The online tool allow users to navigate between viewing conditions by demographics 

and housing types, looking at time trends, and looking at specific housing portfolios or ZIP codes. Any 

new analyses will be updated.  
                                                                        
4 The switch from the ninth revision of the International Classification of Diseases, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) to the 
tenth revision (ICD-10-CM) makes it difficult to compare across time for conditions that are defined by ICD codes, like 
unintentional injuries. Work is underway nationally to create mappings between the two systems for specific conditions. 
Though the provisional mapping was used in the analysis for injuries, the approach has not yet been fully validated caution 
should be taken when comparing over time. 
5 http://www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing 

http://www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing
http://www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing


 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 11 

Background 
Housing profiles/types 
Federally subsidized housing  

PHAs administer federal, state and locally funded long-term affordable rental housing and rental 

assistance that serve low-income people and their families. Subsidized housing is important for avoiding 

poor housing conditions that impact health, such as unsafe living conditions, high rent burdens, frequent 

moves and displacement of communities, and overcrowding. There are 3 main types of housing 

assistance: 

 Housing Choice Vouchers (HCV, formerly called Section 8)—used by voucher recipients to rent a 

unit on the private housing market. 

 Public housing properties and units that are managed and owned by PHAs 

 Project-based vouchers (voucher): Housing units that are subsidized by PHAs. 

 

Throughout this report and online dashboard6, subsidy types are categorized as either “hard” or “soft” 

units. A “hard” unit refers to subsidies that are tied to specific housing units, which include subsidies 

administered through both the Public Housing and Project-based voucher programs. A “soft” unit refers 

to a subsidy administered through the HCV (Section 8) program, which is used by the voucher holder to 

lease a unit on the private housing market.  

 

SHA and KCHA are the largest affordable housing providers in King County. Collectively, KCHA and SHA 

provide access to decent, safe, and sanitary housing for 26,000 households (57,000+ individuals) in the 

county. They do so primarily through two federally funded programs—low-income public housing (LIPH) 

and voucher (Section 8)—where households generally pay 30%-40% of their income for rent. 

SHA owns and operates more than 8,000 apartments and single family homes at nearly 400 sites 

throughout Seattle through LIPH, Seattle Senior Housing Program, and additional housing. SHA also 

administers over 6,900 tenant-based HCV (Section 8), and subsidizes 3,700 units operated by local 

providers (“collaborative units”)  

 

KCHA provides rental housing and rental assistance to more than 19,000 households across 33 cities in 

King County, excluding Seattle and Renton. KCHA owns and manages 4,269 units of federally funded 

housing for families, the elderly, and people with disabilities. An additional 6,000 units of low- and 

moderate-income housing are financed through tax credits or tax-exempt bonds. KCHA also administers 

housing assistance through the HCV (Section 8) program to over 12,000 households who rent affordable 

housing on the private market. 

  

                                                                        
6 http://www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing 

http://www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing
http://www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing


 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 12 

Housing as a platform for health, well-being and success 
Intergenerational poverty, where children of low-income parents become low-income adults, also can 

result in a cycle of vulnerability for poor health outcomes. In order to break these cycles, a 

comprehensive, cross-sector response is needed to understand the relationship between social factors 

that create the best opportunities for improved health. No sector can create effective and lasting 

changes in a vacuum and this has brought a call to break down policy and programmatic siloes. For 

affordable housing providers, "housing as a platform for health" is an outgrowth of this perspective shift 

on poverty alleviation. This view expands the role of housing providers beyond the development and 

maintenance of buildings and rental subsidies. Instead, it reframes housing assistance as providing the 

stability that serves as an essential springboard for engagement and success in other sectors including 

education, health, employment, and longer-term asset building. 

 

Both PHAs recognize that housing is only 

one component in a constellation of 

necessary supports and have looked to 

systems-level partnerships to improve the 

stability and well-being of residents and 

the broader community. Over the past five 

years, both KCHA and SHA have prioritized 

the use of housing as a platform to 

improve quality of life, including 

enhancing programming and services that impact the health of residents. Good behavioral and physical 

health are necessary for people to move towards stability and self-sufficiency, and roughly 60 percent of 

health is determined by social factors, including housing and neighborhood resources (i.e., social 

determinants of health).7 

 

Concurrently, there has been an increased focus on health system transformation nationally and locally; 

specifically using cross-sector, systems-level partnerships to improve service delivery, improve 

population health and address health inequities while driving down health care costs. PHAs are the 

primary affordable housing providers for people eligible for Medicaid—including seniors, people with 

disabilities and families with children. PHAs have unique, ongoing relationships with residents that offer 

various opportunities to engage people around health, particularly in those areas of King County that 

have high rates of chronic health conditions. 

 

With continued and expanded cross-sector opportunities to link housing data to other datasets, health 

and housing systems have an opportunity to improve the health and well-being of the broader 

community through the ACH, and to design data-driven integrated policy and program design. This 

                                                                        
7 https://www.mercyhousing.org/file/1570_MHNW_FinalHealthHousingReport_v7.pdf, accessed 2/2017 

 
AS AN EXAMPLE OF HOUSING AS A PLATFORM 

FOR HEALTH, THE MERCY HOUSING NORTHWEST 

COMMUNITY HEALTH WORKER INITIATIVE 

FOUND INCREASED RESIDENT ENGAGEMENT 

WITH HEALTHY BEHAVIORS, PARTICULARLY IN 

NON-ENGLISH SPEAKING RESIDENTS. 5 

 

https://www.mercyhousing.org/file/1570_MHNW_FinalHealthHousingReport_v7.pdf


 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 13 

requires a clear understanding of what the specific health needs are within and across different resident 

populations and programs. 

 

Data to drive decision-making towards policy/program design, evaluation and impact 
Both the PHAs and the broader health system have made a commitment to design, implement and 

evaluate policies/programs based on sound information. Historically, PHA and health partnerships have 

relied on an incomplete picture, relying primarily on anecdotal understandings and assumptions of 

specific health conditions and baseline service engagement among and across different PHA populations 

or programs. Data comes from separate programs or agencies, such as administrative datasets or ad-hoc 

surveys; and integrated data across programs, agencies and sectors have remained elusive. Without 

effective cross-sector data integration efforts, it remains difficult to accurately define and identify issues 

and service gaps, understand the interconnectedness of service systems, and measure returns on 

investments in system changes. Additional work toward achieving integrated data systems is needed to 

address the large inequities in our county through innovative cross-sector initiatives, and align health, 

housing and social services systems to address multiple determinants of health. Phase I of the Medicaid 

and PHA data integration will: 

1. Provide the PHAs and partners with baseline understanding of health conditions and service 

utilization among and across different PHA populations or program.  

2. Inform current and future cross-sector efforts aimed at eliminating health inequities among low 

income residents of PHAs 

More broadly, this project provides a scaffold on which to build a broader integrated data system with 

additional data from other sectors and agencies. More data and more comprehensive information will 

allow capacity for more rigorous and precise evaluation of the programs and policies, measure costs and 

savings associated with initiatives, identify disparities, and inform new initiatives and partnerships.  



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 14 

Primary questions 
A growing national evidence base shows that high quality, stable housing improves health; permanent 

supportive housing is an effective strategy to end homelessness, improve mental health and substance 

use. Does King County have the same experience? With linked data, health and housing policy makers 

can examine questions about service utilization and engagement, health conditions, and can design 

programs to reduce illness and accidents. How do housing clients fare? How frequently do PHA residents 

use Medicaid? Is the pattern of health conditions or health care utilization different from non-PHA 

housed Medicaid clients? Are there ways that a PHA can provide programs or services that can maintain 

or improve health among their residents? There is a need to verify the anecdotal stories heard by PHAs 

and to add to the evidence of how housing impacts health. 

 

Who is included? 
In the analysis and report, population and counts of conditions or events numbers are restricted to 

individuals under the age of 65 who were on Medicaid from 2012 forward, in the PHA at some point 

between 2004 and 2016, and who were not dual enrolled in Medicare. Medicaid is considered to be the 

“payer of last resort,” meaning that individuals or families who have other medical coverage would have 

claims go to the other coverage first, so the claim may not appear in Medicaid data. Adults over age 65 

are almost all covered by Medicare, which would pay before Medicaid. 

 

What conditions are currently examined? 
The primary focus of this report allows each PHA to look at their data, and compare patterns to the 

overall non-PHA Medicaid population and to the other PHA. It provides descriptive statistics on Medicaid 

claims data and service utilization. The focus is on conditions and service utilization patterns where 

there are opportunities for a policy, system, or environment change that can support the health of PHA 

residents. Are there conditions where PHA residents seem to be doing better or worse than non-PHA 

assisted Medicaid enrollees? Questions that are relevant to the policies and programs within the PHAs 

also help to inform the Accountable Community of Health triple aim goal of improving health care 

quality, reducing health care costs, and improving population health.  

 

Future questions 
This pilot study provides many rich insights about the PHA and non-PHA population. It also leads to 

other important questions that may not be able to be answered using the current data sources, 

including: How did resident usage patterns change after moving into public housing? Does integrated 

data support the idea that stable housing can reduce costs within the health care system? How do 

demographic and health patterns vary for those who are dual eligible for Medicaid and Medicare? How 

does the health status of residents in federally funded (HUD) housing compare to residents in other 

forms of subsidized housing? What is the interaction of behavioral health with housing? These are all 

areas for future exploration.  



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 15 

Methods 
Overview 
This section provides a brief overview of the steps taken to produce a linked PHA and Medicaid dataset 

that could be analyzed to identify health needs among PHA residents. Additional details are located in 

the technical appendix. Most code used is publicly available on PHSKC’s GitHub page8. 

 

Data sources 
Housing enrollment data came from data reported to the US Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD) on the Moving to Work version of the 50058 form (50058)9. This data source was 

used because it is common to both PHAs, 

contains the majority of desired data elements, 

and creates the potential for this work to be 

expanded to other PHAs around the country 

also using the form. While the data elements 

and basic data collection procedures were 

similar across the PHAs, the PHA data needed 

substantial understanding and manipulation before linking to Medicaid data. This clean-up process, as 

well as limitations within the data sources, are described further in this section, the Limitations section, 

and the technical appendix. 

 

Medicaid enrollment and claims data were supplied by the Washington Health Care Authority (HCA), 

which administers the Medicaid program for Washington State. Enrollment data provided details on 

who was enrolled in Medicaid at a given time and the claims data showed services for which  

Medicaid paid. 

 

Data processing and linkage 
Housing data came in the form of cross-sectional records from 2004 to 2016. Data from each PHA was 

consolidated into a single longitudinal file and then joined into a combined PHA file. We used 

probabilistic linking to clean identifying information and a series of logic rules to create a longitudinal 

record for each individual. 

 

The Medicaid enrollment data were also processed to produce a single row per individual per 

contiguous time enrolled in Medicaid. The longitudinal PHA data were joined with the Medicaid 

enrollment data in two stages. First, linkages were made by matching on Social Security Number (SSN), 

name, and date of birth. For PHA residents without a recorded SSN, probabilistic matching used name 

and date of birth. 

                                                                        
8 https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing 
9 https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/systems/pic/50058/mtw 

 

USING HUD 50058 DATA SIMPLIFIED COMBINING 

DATA FROM TWO PHAS AND MAKES IT EASIER FOR 

OTHERS TO ADAPT THIS WORK TO THEIR REGION. 



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 16 

 

Medicaid claims data were coded to conditions based on procedure, place, or diagnosis code, based on 

standard definition sets. One major caveat is that in October 2015, the diagnosis code system changed 

and added many more codes. This means that many conditions can’t be compared across time until 

crosswalks have been developed to account for the impact of additional codes. Even for indicators 

where we are presenting rates across time, caution is advised when interpreting this data. More detailed 

information is available in the technical appendix. 

 

Analyses 
Descriptive statistics were produced for the PHA demographic data. This consisted primarily of assessing 

the number of PHA residents for each month broken down by factors of interest such as PHA, type of 

housing program, age, gender, race, disability, and location. Health outcomes were displayed as 

incidence rates or prevalence, depending on the condition.  

 

How are conditions calculated? 
People may not stay in one place through the course of the year, and may have situations that change 

their eligibility/enrollment in Medicaid. Since this project is looking at data over time, and not just a 

snapshot of one period, circumstances where an individual’s housing and/or Medicaid enrollment status 

changed at some point during the covered time period needed to be addressed. Details of the variation 

of these calculation can be found in the technical appendix.  

  



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 17 

Limitations 
It is important to note some limitations to the conclusions that can be drawn from the current Medicaid-

PHA linked dataset. The claims data are derived from reimbursement information from when a provider 

billed and Medicaid paid that bill. Conditions must be diagnosed to be billed; some diseases such as 

hypertension, depression, and diabetes might be underdiagnosed and therefore underrepresented in 

the Medicaid claims dataset. Medicaid is the last payer of medical bills; people with Medicaid plus 

another insurance may not have their claims represented in this data. This is particularly relevant for the 

PHA population over age 65, which are likely covered exclusively by Medicare or by Medicaid AND 

Medicare (dual enrolled). Dual enrolled individuals are not included in these analyses. More detailed 

limitations are included in the technical appendix. 

 

Rates of health conditions shown cannot be considered to be the prevalence, or the number of people 

who have an existing condition, because claims data only reflects instances where someone seeks and 

receives treatment for their condition. For example, if a person with asthma did not seek care for their 

condition during a given calendar year, or they were treated by someone who did not bill to Medicaid, 

that person will not appear in the results. When someone is identified in the claims file as having a 

chronic disease, such as asthma or diabetes, there is no information about how long they have had that 

condition. Claims data also do not include care that is needed but not received, even if a patient was 

seen by a medical provider and 

diagnosed with a particular health 

condition. Services that providers 

know may be denied for payment may 

also be inconsistently submitted. The 

current data set may also miss services 

for which claims are not submitted (for 

example, immunizations from a 

grocery store clinic). Having a higher 

rate of care utilization may not be a 

negative outcome; for chronic diseases that are well-managed, more primary care visits and medication 

adherence result in better health care outcomes. 

 

In 2014, the Affordable Care Act (ACA) expansion for adult eligibility for Medicaid began in WA State. In 

addition to increasing adult coverage in King County, the number of adult PHA residents on Medicaid 

also increased. Newly enrolled individuals may have different health care utilization patterns than ones 

with previous coverage.  

 

At this time, conditions cannot be compared across time. On October 1, 2015, health care providers 

switched to a new system of coding when billing Medicaid for services; definitions for a condition have 

changed and expanded. So while there are questions about how utilization changed after expansion of 

the ACA, those cannot yet be answered. This report and dashboard, only include conditions over time 

 

HAVING A HIGHER RATE OF CARE UTILIZATION 

MAY NOT BE A NEGATIVE OUTCOME; FOR 

CHRONIC DISEASES THAT ARE WELL-MANAGED, 

MORE PRIMARY CARE VISITS AND BETTER 

MEDICATION ADHERENCE RESULTS IN 

IMPROVED HEALTH OUTCOMES 



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 18 

for health outcomes that appear not affected by the transition. Future work will include a focus on 

understanding the impacts of coding changes for the ability to look at patterns over time. 

 

PHA data systems changed a number of times over the time period reflected in this data set, and varying 

data structures led to some data quality issues that required decision rules on how to address the issues, 

which were amplified in more historical data. PHA recertification10 dates were not routinely captured 

until more recently, potentially inflating the number of individuals who appeared to be in the PHA 

programming. In addition, individuals and families may move between PHAs (called a “port”), which can 

occur during a calendar year. This movement can impact the count of individuals within each PHA 

population, as well as where a health condition might be assigned.  

  

                                                                        
10 The recertification process is used at PHAs to update and confirm key program data for each subsidized household. The 
certification timeline varies by PHA and as policies change over time, but occurs regularly anytime between a one-three year 
cycle. Households can submit interim certifications, as circumstances (such as income and household composition) change 
between regularly scheduled certifications.  



 

King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 19 

Impact and next steps 
The information contained in the dashboard are the beginning steps to start examining patterns that are 

seen. Through continued conversations to promote additional understanding, the data could enhance 

the PHA and health system ability to use sound information to design, implement and evaluate 

policies/programs. PHA residents on Medicaid are demographically different and are experiencing a 

different set of health conditions and utilization patterns compared to non-PHA Medicaid residents. PHA 

staff can explore the data to see whether it fits the anecdotal stories they have heard, and if it measures 

up to resident experience. When 2017 housing data and Medicaid data become available, the dashboard 

will be updated, keeping it timely and relevant. 

 

When data show unexpected events, such as a high rate of avoidable ED utilization, a more detailed look 

into the data might be able to shed light on the “why.” In some cases, it might be a condition impacting 

a specific population that could be an opportunity for outreach and education. Some data points may 

not be answered with a deeper dive into the existing information; it may require additional analysis, 

qualitative data, community feedback, or different data points.  

 

Beyond the PHAs and Public Health, it is also an opportunity for the ACH to consider leveraging the 

partnership to be able to reach target goals and to potentially reach a large number of the Medicaid 

population. National discourse talks about the potential for catapulting the housing as a platform for 

health by leveraging Medicaid dollars for investment in affordable housing or related services. One 

example of this could be to add to the increasing evidence base of Community Health Workers (CHW) or 

Resident Service Coordinators (RSCs) impact on improved health outcomes.  

 

While this baseline linkage enhances knowledge, it brings up additional data gaps that still need to be 

addressed. How conditions are changing over time is a key variable to measure progress: additional 

work around how to interpret data over code changes will continue. Since we lack information about 

health care utilization for people age 65 and older as well as the dual eligible population, obtaining 

identified Medicare data would greatly add to the picture and bolster evidence-based Aging in Place 

programs. Outside of HUD-funded housing, King County also has other major non-profit housing 

assistance programs that report to the Finance Commission and Department of Commerce using the 

Web-Based Annual Reporting System (WBARS). Together, WBARS and identified Medicare data provide 

a much more robust picture of health and housing in low-income King County residents. Behavioral 

health is a key factor in stable housing, and PHAs are interested in leveraging other on-going data 

integration work to expand knowledge of the relationships of behavioral health and homelessness on 

health. These cross-sector partnerships could result in rich information that allows for understanding of 

how housing plays a role in health; how policy, system, and environment change impacts health; and 

provide actionable data to help improve the health of some of the most vulnerable King County 

residents. 



Appendix I: Technical documentation 20 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Appendices 



King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 21 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 
This appendix delves into the nuances of the PHA enrollment, Medicaid enrollment and claims, 

limitation of the PHA and Medicaid data and the methods used for processing and linking the 

datasets. As new methods are developed or applied to the health-housing linked data, this appendix 

will be updated. 

 

Data sources 
PHA data came from the Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 50058 Moving to Work form 

(50058). However, data structures and systems changed in the PHAs. The King County Housing 

Authority (KCHA) 50058 data were stored in two different databases with slightly different structures 

(one spanning data from 2004–2015 and the other with data from 2016 onward). Data were in a wide 

format with one row per household. Seattle Housing Authority (SHA) 50058 data also originated from 

multiple systems: one covering public housing data from 2004–2012, one for public housing data 

from 2012 onward, and a final one with housing choice voucher data from 2006 onward. Data were 

structured with one row per individual and the method for identifying household members varied by 

system. 

 

Medicaid enrollment data were structured as a single row per person per month of enrollment and 

was available from 2012 onward. Medicaid claims data contained elements such as diagnosis codes 

that were necessary to identify acute events and chronic conditions. Claims data were linked to 

Medicaid enrollment by a unique Medicaid ID number. 

 

All data sets contained individual identifying information such as name, date of birth, and Social 

Security Number (SSN), which was essential for linking data from each source. 

 

PHA data processing and joining 
The 50058 data consists of point-in-time records of who lives where but does not consistently provide 

records of when individuals move in and out of housing. The goal of processing the PHA data was to 

produce a combined, longitudinal record of each person’s time as a PHA resident. The following steps 

were taken to achieve this (each step has a link to the specific code used on a GitHub repository but 

note that code may have been updated since this report was written): 

1. Combine KCHA data into a single file and reshape to have one row per individual per time 

point. 

2. Combine SHA data into a single file. 

3. Process KCHA and SHA data to have the same variable names and formats. 

4. Combine into a single PHA file. 

5. Deduplicate records and fix inconsistencies in demographic data. 

6. Set up demographic groups of interest. 

7. Clean addresses and geocode data. 

https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/kcha_sql_load.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/kcha_sql_load.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/sha_sql_load.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_combining.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_combining.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_matching.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_recodes.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_address%20cleaning.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_geocoding.R


King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 22 

8. Address conflicting data (e.g., people appearing in multiple PHA programs simultaneously) and 

apply rules for people who move between PHAs (port in and port out). 

9. Set up final elements to be used in analyses. 

 

Steps 1–4 are outlined in Figure 1 below. The end result for data from 2004–2016 was 162,377 

unique individuals in 65,466 distinct households. The deduplication and demographic standardization 

process (step 5) used a six phases of probabilistic linking based on SSN, name, date of birth, and PHA-

given ID. We used the RecordLinkage package in R for the linking process11. After the deduplication 

process, there were 152,420 unique individuals in 65,934 distinct households at 91,300 addresses. 

After address cleaning (step 7), there were 71,967 unique addresses. 

 

A series of unique rules was derived to address conflicting information. For example, when a person 

or household moved from one PHA to another, data often continued to be entered in the original 

PHA’s database. In order to avoid double counting these people, they were assigned to the PHA they 

had moved to. Other data issues included households appearing in multiple programs within a PHA, 

no record of a household exiting a program or PHA, and auto-generated recertifications that 

obscured when a household exited a program. After addressing these issues, there were 147,914 

unique individuals in 62,283 households and 360,100 records (Figure 2). 

 

Medicaid data processing 
Medicaid enrollment data were reshaped to have the same format as the PHA data, with a single 

from- and to- date per contiguous coverage period per individual. The code used to complete this is 

also available online12. After consolidating the data, there were 864,843 unique individuals on 

Medicaid with 1,150,021 records (Figure 2). 

 

PHA and Medicaid linkage 
We used two rounds of probabilistic matching to link the PHA and Medicaid datasets13. Of the 

103,494 individuals in the PHA with data from 2012 onward, 88,351 (85.3%) were successfully linked 

to the Medicaid data, though not everyone had housing and Medicaid coverage simultaneously. The 

Medicaid recorded value for age, gender, and race/ethnicity fields was used as the default as it was 

deemed to be more reliable and it allowed for comparisons to the non-PHA Medicaid population. 

There was a very high degree of concordance between the PHA and Medicaid data for age and 

gender when the field was non-missing in both datasets (96.6% and 98.7% matched, respectively). 

Race data were more variable, but 74.0% of non-missing records still matched (35.9% of the 

mismatched data could be explained by the presence of an ‘other’ option in the Medicaid data that 

was not available in the PHA data).  

                                                                        
11 https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/RecordLinkage/index.html 
12 https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Medicaid/blob/master/eligibility%20cleanup/elig_overall_process.sql 
13 https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_medicaid_join.R 

https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_consolidation.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_consolidation.R
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_analyses%20prep.R
https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/RecordLinkage/index.html
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Medicaid/blob/master/eligibility%20cleanup/elig_overall_process.sql
https://github.com/PHSKC-APDE/Housing/blob/master/processing/pha_medicaid_join.R


King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 23 

 

Figure 1: Processing and combining PHA data 

 

 

Figure 2: PHA and Medicaid data consolidation 

KCHA data 
34,202 households 
94,932 individuals 

SHA data 
38,084 households 
85,986 individuals 

Raw KCHA files Raw SHA files 

Link, append, and reshape 

PHA data 
65,466 households 
162,377 individuals 

Link and append 

Align formats, append 

Households identified by unique head-of-household SSN 
Individuals identified by unique combos of SSN and DOB for both PHAs 

Clean PHA data 
65,934 households 
152,420 individuals 
1,651,035 records 

Row consolidation 

Remove duplicate rows 
Address conflicting data (e.g., multiple programs) 
Identify port ins and outs 
Remove intermediate recertifications at the same address in the 
same program 

Consolidated PHA data 
62,283 households 
147,914 individuals 

360,100 records 

Raw Medicaid data 
864,843 individuals 
23,945,503 records 

Restructure to have start 
and end date 

864,843 individuals 
1,150,021 records 

Medicaid individuals identified by 
unique combos of Medicaid Id and SSN 



King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 24 

Calculating rates and proportions 
Definitions for urgent health care utilization and chronic condition measures in the Medicaid and 

public housing populations involve looking at both the numerator (counts of events) and the 

denominator (the number of potential people impacted, or person-time). 

 

Denominators 

People move in and out of different housing situations (e.g., someone may move from Seattle 

Housing Authority (SHA) to King County Housing Authority (KCHA), or from being supported by a 

tenant-based voucher to living in public housing). People also move on and off Medicaid as their 

circumstances change. When calculating rates of health outcomes for a calendar year, it is necessary 

to assign people to a particular combination of PHA and other demographics. 

 

For acute events (ED visits, hospitalizations, and unintentional injuries), people were allocated to a 

given group in proportion to the number of days spent in that combination (person-time). For 

example, if a Medicaid recipient was not in public housing from January through March of 2015, 

moved into a public housing program on April 1 and remained both there and on Medicaid for the 

remainder of 2015, they would contribute 90 days to the non-PHA (Medicaid only) group and 275 

days to the PHA group. 

 

For chronic conditions (e.g., asthma, hypertension), people are allocated to the housing group they 

spent the most time in for that calendar year. Using the example above, the person would be 

included only in the public housing group for 2015. The exception to this is if the person spent time in 

both KCHA and SHA, in which case they are counted in both agencies. If a person was only enrolled in 

Medicaid and not housing that year, they are included in the non-PHA group. 

 

Numerators 

Claims data have a variety of definitions that could be used to describe conditions. Depending on the 

definition, the number of individuals with the condition could vary wildly; in some cases, definitions 

rely on exclusion or having coverage for a certain length of time. This section tries to illuminate how 

much a single definition can impact counts (and therefore, rates). While there may be other sources 

for King County Medicaid population conditions, the numbers presented in this report will not exactly 

match those as we are using different definitions. Comparisons among groups in this report are valid. 

Conditions are diagnosed using claim type, procedure information, and International Classification of 

Disease, Clinical Modification (ICD-CM) diagnosis codes. 

 

Hospitalizations: 

1. Total number of hospitalizations.  

2. Persons with 1+ hospitalizations. 

 

Hospitalizations are identified by the inpatient claim type (claim type 31 or 33). Based on the Health 

Plan Employer Data and Information Set (HEDIS) inpatient utilization measure, the following 

hospitalizations were excluded: 

1. Where  mental health or chemical dependency is the principal diagnosis 



King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 25 

2. A principal diagnosis for infant delivery 

3. A principal diagnosis for maternity care 

4. A DRG code in the maternity MS-DRG value set 

5. A non-acute inpatient stay revenue code 

In addition, based on the Agency for Health care Research and Quality’s (AHRQ) Prevention Quality 

Indicators (PQIs), the following hospitalizations were excluded: 

6. Transfers from another hospital or health care facility (based on admission source field). 

7. If the patient died (discharge status) during the hospitalization. 

 

For example, in 2015, without applying any of the exclusion criteria, 18,396 distinct persons had 1+ 

hospitalizations, for a total of 22,899 hospitalizations. If we implemented the exclusion criteria, the 

number of persons excluded would be: (1) 493 (3%), (2) 3,658 (20%), (3) 3,364 (18%), (4) 125 (1%), (5) 

0 (0%), (6) 2,243 (12%), and (7) 151 (1%), respectively. When all seven exclusion criteria are applied, 

10,027 (55%) were excluded. For this report, hospitalizations were defined with all exclusions applied. 

 

Emergency department (ED) visits: 

1. Total number of ED visits. 

2. Persons with 1+ ED visits. 

3. Total number of avoidable ED visits. 

 

We defined ED visits using an adaptation of the definition provided by the Healthier Washington 

Medicaid Transformation project (https://www.hca.wa.gov/assets/program/mtp-measurement-

guide.pdf): 

 Claim or encounter is a outpatient claim type (including hospital outpatient) AND  

 One or more of the following criteria is met: 

 Revenue code in the set ('0450', '0451', '0452', '0456', '0459', ‘0981’)  

 Procedure code in the set ('99281' ,'99282' ,'99283' ,'99284' ,'99285', ‘99288’)  

 Place of service code = emergency department AND procedure codes in the set from 

10021 to 69990.  

We did not exclude any conditions based on diagnosis codes. 

 

Potentially avoidable ED visits are based on a list of 174 ICD-9-CM and 140 ICD-10-CM codes for the 

principal diagnosis identified by the Medi-Cal Statewide Collaborative Quality Improvement Project 

specifications14 and adopted by the Washington Health Alliance. Potentially avoidable ED visits 

excludes members younger than 12 months. 

 

  

                                                                        
14 http://partnershiphp.org/Providers/Quality/Documents/PCPQIP1516Spec2.pdf, last accessed 3/2018 

https://www.hca.wa.gov/assets/program/mtp-measurement-guide.pdf
https://www.hca.wa.gov/assets/program/mtp-measurement-guide.pdf
http://partnershiphp.org/Providers/Quality/Documents/PCPQIP1516Spec2.pdf


King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 26 

Unintentional injuries: 

Unintentional injury is based on the Clinical Classifications Software (CCS) classification of ICD-CM 

codes.15 We used a provisional mapping of ICD-9-CM to ICD-10-CM codes produced by the Council of 

State and Territorial Epidemiologists to account for the switch in ICD systems in October 2015. 

 

Chronic conditions (diabetes, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder (COPD), depression, 

hypertension, ischemic heart disease (IHD), and mental health conditions): 

The chronic conditions are based on algorithms developed for the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 

Services (CMS) Chronic Conditions Data Warehouse (CCW).16 In general, they are based on certain 

types of claims with a defined list of ICD-CM codes either for any diagnosis or the first and second 

diagnoses during a reference period. For mental health conditions, the ICD codes selected are based 

on the HEDIS mental health diagnosis value set. 

 

For asthma, for example, an eligible claim is defined as having at least one inpatient, skilled nursing 

facility, or home health agency claim or at least two hospital outpatient claims or “carrier” claims 

with an asthma diagnosis. 

 

Rate calculations 

For the rate of acute events such as hospitalizations or injuries, rates were calculated as the total 

number of events that occurred while people were in that subgroup divided by the total amount of 

time people spent in that subgroup while they were also enrolled in Medicaid. The rate is expressed 

as X per 1,000 person-years, which can be interpreted as the number of events one would see if 

1,000 people were in that subgroup for one year. 

 

For the proportion of persons with ED visits or hospitalizations, the numerator was again the total 

number of events that occurred while people were in that subgroup and the denominator was the 

total number of people who spent any time in that subgroup in the year. The proportion is expressed 

as X per 1,000 people. 

 

For chronic conditions where we are describing an individual rather than an event (e.g., an asthmatic 

person), people were placed in one or two subgroups based on the following rules: 

 If a person was not in a PHA at any time during their Medicaid enrollment that year, they are 

placed in the non-PHA Medicaid recipient group. This is regardless of whether or not the 

person was enrolled with a PHA that year when they were NOT on Medicaid. 

 If a person spent time enrolled in both a PHA and Medicaid simultaneously, they were placed 

in the PHA group, even if that person also spent time that year only enrolled in Medicaid. 

 If a person spent time in both PHAs in a year, while also enrolled in Medicaid at both PHAs, 

they are counted twice, once under each PHA. 

                                                                        
15 https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/toolssoftware/ccs/ccs.jsp 
16 https://www.ccwdata.org/web/guest/condition-categories., last accessed 2/2018 

https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/toolssoftware/ccs/ccs.jsp
https://www.ccwdata.org/web/guest/condition-categories


King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 27 

Chronic conditions are expressed as the number of members who met the definition for that 

condition during a calendar year per 1,000 members who were allocated to that group for that year. 

 

The following people were excluded from both the denominator and numerator when calculating 

rates: 

 People who were in public housing but not on Medicaid at any point during a year, because 

data on their health measures do not exist in the Medicaid claims data. 

 People with Medicaid/Medicare dual eligibility. 

 

Note: some measures are only or more meaningful when they are restricted to certain age groups. 

For example, cardiovascular disease (CVD) is rare among children and young adults; comparison 

between the PHAs who have different populations (SHA tends to have an older population than 

KCHA) may create the illusion of major differences in rates. Instead of looking at the total population, 

restricting the analysis to the population over age 45 would provide a more accurate comparison. 

 

Data suppression 

In the Tableau visualization, the rate for a measure is suppressed if the numerator or denominator is 

less than 5 but greater than 0. This is to protect confidentiality as well as provide sufficient numbers 

to report data. 

 

Health data interpretation limitations 
Compared to traditional population health survey measures, such as the Behavioral Risk Factor 

Surveillance Survey, chronic disease rates based on Medicaid claims data are lower. Rather than 

interpreting the Medicaid claims information as a prevalence (number of individuals with a given 

condition), these are best viewed as the service utilization rate for the chronic condition. Even for 

service utilization, the rate may be under-reported if the member had dual or third party coverage. 

This is a major issue for individuals who are dual covered by Medicaid and Medicare, and so those 

were excluded from many of the analyses. See below for more information. 

 

Trends over time: One major question about all data is whether it is getting better or worse over 

time. Complicating that answer is the ICD-CM switch. Starting in October 1, 2015, the diagnosis and 

procedure codes in the Medicaid claims data switched from ICD-9 CM to ICD-10 CM. For many 

conditions, ICD-9-CM and ICD-10-CM do not have an exact match in terms of diagnostic codes. As a 

result, when examining data across years, starting from 2014, a change in the rate could be due to, at 

least partially, the ICD code transition. 

 

Comparing results to other studies/publications: Even for the same type of service utilization or 

chronic disease, multiple definitions may exist with different algorithms for coding and different 

inclusion and exclusion criteria. A measure that was defined based on a particular data source may 

not be application to another data source. Therefore, the results of this study may not be comparable 

to those from other studies or publications. Careful examination of the definitions between two rates 

are needed before making comparisons. 



King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 28 

 

Other measures that are not included: For this project, we only included a limited number of 

measures for urgent care utilization and health conditions that we think are most applicable to the 

public housing population. Nevertheless, there are a wide array of measures that can be included in 

the future such as those developed or presented by the HEDIS, the chronic disease data warehouse, 

and the Healthier Washington Medicaid Transformation project. 

 

PHA data limitations 
Longitudinal data system changes 

While household and subsidy information is collected and submitted to HUD using a standard form 

across all PHAs (HUD Form 50058), the data systems used to store data changed multiple times at 

both SHA and KCHA during the time period of interest for this report. Each data system stores and 

exports variables in slightly different ways, creating the need for a standardization process in order to 

achieve any longitudinal data set. These differences in data structure led to data quality and 

consistency issues that required the creation of relevant decision-rules and code to address. 

 

Missing data 

Due to the longitudinal nature of the data set, there were cases of missing data in the PHA records, in 

particular among the earlier extracts. Subsidized households complete a regular certification process 

to re-confirm a number of characteristics, including household composition and income, which occur 

either annually or every two to three years (depending on the time period and PHA). In order to 

identify households that exited subsidized housing, but did not have the expected ‘end of 

participation’ certification, it was necessary to create a decision-rule and corresponding code to 

estimate a move-out date for what were labeled “inactive” households. 

 

In addition to missing end-of-participation data, it was also necessary to create estimated move-out 

dates for household members who exited subsidized housing while the remainder of the household 

remained housed. If a household does not complete an interim certification to inform the PHA that a 

member has moved out, the only way to identify the exited individual is to compare the household 

composition lists between the two most recent certifications. In order to estimate a move-out date 

for a household member who exited at some point between the two certification dates, code was 

written to calculate the mid-point between the certification dates. This mid-point was then used as 

the estimated move-out date for the individual(s) who left the subsidized household. 

 

Port households 

A household receiving a subsidy through the Tenant-Based Voucher program at most PHAs has the 

option to use their voucher to “port” to another PHA’s jurisdiction (specific port rules and regulations 

vary by PHA). There are a number of indicators used by PHAs to identify (1) a household that has 

ported in or out of a given PHA’s jurisdiction, (2) the “originating” and “receiving” PHAs associated 

with the port household, and (3) the dates the port was active. Due to data quality issues, particularly 

in the older data sets, it was necessary to develop code to identify port households and the effective 



King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix I: Technical documentation 29 

date range of any port activity. It was also necessary to develop code to identify subsidized 

households that were absorbed by the receiving PHA. 

 

Property categorization 

In previous data systems used by the PHAs, the name of the PHA owned and/or managed properties 

were not recorded (no longer an issue in later data systems). For households missing property names, 

address data was used to match and identify relevant property information for categorization 

purposes.  

 

Data structure 

For a majority of PHA operations, subsidies are categorized, identified, and tracked on the household 

level, as opposed to the individual level. While individual data is collected for household composition 

and subsidy determination purposes, the longevity and activity of the subsidy is attached to the 

household (as are any unique subsidy and/or household identifiers). Since health data is collected on 

an individual level, it was necessary to be able to accurately and consistently identify an individual as 

they interacted with both the PHA and Medicaid systems. In the newer data systems used at both 

SHA and KCHA, the data system automatically generates unique individual/member identifiers, in 

addition to the traditional unique household/subsidy identifier. This was not the case in previous data 

systems, creating a need to develop an individual level unique identifier within the PHA data using 

other methods. Since name, date of birth, and SSN are collected from all household members, the 

unique identifier of SSN could be used for a majority of PHA affiliated individuals. For individuals who 

did not have a SSN recorded, a combination of name and date of birth was used to identify unique 

individuals. Confidence in an individual level unique identifier was necessary not only for the 

matching process with Medicaid data, but also to accurately track an individual’s experience within 

the PHA system (especially for individuals who may have moved between 

households/subsidies/PHAs). 

 



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix II: Process evaluation 
  

KING COUNTY-DATA ACROSS SECTORS 

FOR HOUSING AND HEALTH (KC-DASHH) 

PROCESS EVALUATION SUMMARY 
November, 2017 

 

 



King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix II: Process evaluation 31 

Introduction 

Housing is an important component and determinant of health, but little is known about the health 

conditions experienced by individuals who are living in subsidized housing. Connecting data across 

health and housing has the potential to improve the health of residents living in low-income housing 

in King County through providing Public Housing Authorities with information to target programming 

and policy decisions for healthier outcomes. Public Health – Seattle & King County (PHSKC) and local 

housing authorities (King County and Seattle Housing Authorities) partnered to link housing data 

(Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 50058 form) with Medicaid enrollment and claims records 

to create de-identified data that provide important information about health issues residents might 

be facing. This approach is part of King County’s Accountable Community of Health (ACH)—a regional 

partnership committed to working in new ways to improve health and health care. The King County 

Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health (KC-DASHH) was a Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 

grant in the Data Across Sectors for Health (DASH) national portfolio. This document summarizes the 

process evaluation conducted during the project. The evaluation’s objective was to document and 

describe what worked for the cross-sector partnership around data integration. The evaluation 

sought to identify factors contributing to success, how barriers were addressed, whether activities 

proceeded as intended, provide key takeaways, outline next steps following the end of the grant, and 

provide a “lessons learned” document for others interested in pursuing similar work. 

 

The data included in this report are based on a series of group and one-on-one discussions with core 

members of the KC-DASHH team over the course of this project, with a focus from April through 

November 2017, to document lessons learned throughout this project. The questions asked were 

based on those asked by the DASH National Program Office and questions the KC-DASHH team 

determined as important for historical documentation and potential replication by others. This 

information was collected by an internal evaluator staffing the KC-DASHH team, who synthesized the 

feedback to identify overarching key themes or takeaways, which were summarized by the team. 

 

Key takeaways 

Champions for change 
Cross-sector partnerships are never an easy endeavor, even with enthusiastic and interested 

partners. It takes willingness at multiple levels of the organizations to find the time and funds to work 

together to share data and develop shared language around the data. In addition to data access, 

other people inside and outside the organization are needed to drive change and handle barriers. In 

some cases, those champions are needed in order to gain access to the data and facilitate progress 

when data sharing agreements might get stalled. When people can bridge sectors (have experience 

and/or trust in multiple sectors), they enhance the capacity of the team to move work forward. These 

facilitators for change can also be instrumental in the dissemination of the work as well. If an outside, 

independent party is involved, like the King County Accountable Community of Health (ACH) was for 

this project, it provides another avenue to impact change and address issues that may arise. Placing 

this project under the ACH brought further local attention and visibility to the project, in addition to 



King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix II: Process evaluation 32 

providing vision for the potential to tap into Medicaid transformation work. In the background, the 

increasing narrative around housing as a platform for health also continues to drive interest in how to 

get the right data to drive action. 

 

Factors that were essential to success 
Cross-sector partnerships can be difficult to get off the ground when relationships are in their infancy. 

Having a trusted housing advocate on board was instrumental; since she spanned health and housing 

realms and was able to make cross-sector connections where they were needed. PHSKC and the PHAs 

have a history of partnering together on asthma-reducing homes (e.g., the Breathe Easy project) and 

prohibiting tobacco use in PHA residences. But all the previous work had been a one-time or one-off 

project as compared to the focus of the KC-DASHH work, which is designed to be an ongoing data 

exchange. The PHAs had a history of developing data sharing agreements (DSAs) with other partners, 

which facilitated the data-sharing partnership with PHSKC. PHSKC also has an experienced Grants and 

Contracts group that routinely works with DSAs as well, and a Privacy Officer who helps review and 

consider issues that might arise. The Research and Data Analysis unit in the state Department of 

Social and Human Services had also performed some one-time linkages that spurred additional 

questions the PHAs wanted to answer. Funding the PHAs for some FTE/staff time (although they 

spent more in-kind time) helped bring the PHA analysts to the data table to work through the 

nuances of the PHA data. Both PHAs were “Moving to Work” (MTW) agencies, which gave them 

additional funding for looking at policy change opportunities. Having regular team meetings for 

feedback and to work through data issues kept partners engaged and on the right track. The 

Medicaid DSA was in place prior to the inception of the project with the Health Care Authority (HCA), 

the state agency in charge of the program. 

 

To accomplish the work, some basic assets are needed: 

1. DSAs – between the PHAs; between PHAs and PHSKC; and between PHSKC and HCA; 

2. Understanding data risks and mitigating privacy concerns and accidental disclosure 

3. Including language in lease forms for residents that clarify the potential for the data to be 

shared 

4. Right tools for the analysts: understanding linking methodology; statistical programs and 

capacity for data cleaning; technical ability (staff and software) to link data;  

5. Documentation of datasets 

6. Tools for data visualization and reporting out of information. 
 

Barriers 
At this time, the relationship between DASHH partners is informal, brought together by the RWJF 

funding opportunity. It lacks a formal governance structure, which is a risk to future work as it may 

rely too heavily on specific individuals engaged in the work versus institutional commitment for data 

sharing and participation. When the grant ends, there is no contractual obligation to share data, 

although all partners have expressed a continued willingness and commitment to advancing this 

work.  

 



King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix II: Process evaluation 33 

Although our grant award included some funding for FTE at the PHAs, we did not request funding for 

the HCA, who holds the Medicaid data. In retrospect, it would have been beneficial to have some FTE 

support from HCA to help elevate the priority of our questions, help understand the data, or request 

additional data pulls. The quality of the data pulls would have benefitted from more PHSKC and HCA 

project management and documentation of issues and resolution of those issues.  

 

Sharing housing data can be a gray area; the PHAs modified their leases to add clarification of how 

data collected from residents would be used. The newness of the datasets provided challenges to the 

analysts. In addition, even though the Medicaid enrollment, claims, and the HUD 50058 (PHA) forms 

are considered to be standardized datasets, respectively, both the PHA and Medicaid datasets 

required a fair amount of cleaning and restructuring of the data, beyond what was originally 

anticipated. A key lesson learned was not to underestimate the amount of time it might take for data 

preparation of large datasets. Since the data cleaning and integration piece took so long, we fell 

behind on the dissemination piece for results, missing out on some stakeholder feedback. 

 

Lessons learned through the data 
Medicaid data cover a large proportion of individuals in the public housing data. For those who are 

covered only by Medicaid, it provides a fairly comprehensive view of their health care utilization. 

However, solely using Medicaid claims paints an incomplete picture for residents who are dual 

covered, i.e., covered by more than one health insurance, such as Medicare, TriCare, or private 

insurance. Since Medicaid is the payer of last resort, we are missing some claims information if other 

insurance paid for the utilization. About 20% of the PHA population are over age 65, and are likely to 

be covered by Medicare (or dual covered). Since our linkage would be missing data on the majority of 

those individuals, analyses should be limited to those under 65, and those who are not dual covered. 

We also found that prevalence data of chronic conditions such as asthma or diabetes as measured by 

population health surveys is higher than the estimates of those same conditions in our Medicaid 

population, so the data provided through this project are likely an undercount of the actual 

conditions. Related to that, claims data applies only to people who have sought or utilized health 

care. Therefore, we are unable to discern people who are experiencing health issues but not seeking 

care. This is a limitation of using health claims data as a proxy for health status, as any analyses based 

on claims data will omit those experiencing health issues but not seeking care. More will be 

discovered as we delve further into the health data. Even so, the data provide an interesting and 

robust glimpse of health care utilization for this population. 

 

What is needed to sustain KC-DASHH 
A one-time linkage provides only enough information to whet appetites. Regular data sharing and 

linkage on a routine and expected basis must occur, in order for the project to be useful for 

monitoring trends or evaluating the impact of programs, policies, or services. Without a mandate to 

create an integrated system, it will be key for the analysts at PHSKC and PHAs and for DASHH partners 

to prioritize carving out time, political will, and dedicated analyst staff to pull and analyze data. In 

addition, having a data sharing agreement (DSA) that lasts for a few years vs one that needs to be 

renewed every year is helpful, as well as having the support of privacy officers and legal staff. Ideally, 



King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix II: Process evaluation 34 

continued advocacy for housing funding that elevates the importance of housing as a platform for 

health can continue driving things forward. Beyond sustaining this current effort, all partners have an 

interest in seeing the data linkage options grow (e.g., education, Medicare, and work force 

development). 

 

Usefulness and application of data linkage 
A pilot project linking health and housing data together provides a good framework for PHAs to think 

about how to prioritize or use limited funds for policy or program implementation. With the right 

narrative, it also provides a vehicle to make connections (and data linkages) with other stakeholders 

and sectors, such as education. In addition, if the data linkage methods are well documented, they 

can be transferred to other partnerships who are also working with housing data. However, concern 

remain around whether there is enough understanding about the caveats of using Medicaid claims 

data, what conclusions are appropriate based on Medicaid claims data, and if that language is 

approachable by non-analysts. In addition, some residents may feel the data findings do not 

represent their health scenario (e.g. population 65 and older or dual covered residents).  

 

Lasting changes/outcomes 
There are some anticipated infrastructure changes that will remain to sustain this work: Both PHAs 

and PHSKC are planning for 2018 and beyond; tapping into other King County work and data cross-

sector pieces and looking for additional funding. Tableau visualizations will be shared to help others 

see the value of this partnership between health and housing around data sharing. Telling the story 

about the connection between health and housing helps maintain the momentum and buy-in so that 

this remains a priority among leadership across sectors. 

 

Dissemination 
When others hear about the DASHH project, it generates a lot of individual and organizational 

interest and excitement. Crafting the story from the data depends on getting the framing right for 

each type of stakeholder. Any data visualizations and associated narratives need to be easy enough 

for people who are not data savvy to understand and will ideally address “deeper dive” questions as 

well. It’s important to have narratives and interpretation of the data so that key takeaways and 

caveats don’t get lost. This can be challenging when both datasets (Medicaid and housing 

administrative data) are new to an organization, and underscores the importance of having the data 

providers and analysts at the table to help develop the analytics, which drive the messaging. 

Additional documentation needs to be developed and disseminated for others to adopt the methods 

used. We have a GitHub account that contains the R code for processing the PHA data, and Tableau 

dashboards will allow for some interactive exploration of the data. However, champions are needed 

to maintain momentum at both the PHA and PHSKC leadership levels to continue to connect the dots 

between health and housing, recognize emerging opportunities, and take action. 

http://www.kingcounty.gov/health-housing


King County Data Across Sectors for Housing and Health, 2018 

 

Appendix II: Process evaluation 35 

Appendix III: Anticipated outcomes 

 



 

 

 

King County Housing Authority  
Greenhouse Gas 2017 Inventory Report 

 

By Scott Percival & Sukirti Vinayak 

September, 2018 

 

 

  



I. Project Introduction 
 

In the summer of 2018, King County Housing Authority (KCHA) hired an Environmental Defense Fund 

Climate Corps Fellow
1
 to develop a greenhouse gas (GHG) inventory for the year 2017.  KCHA’s Resource 

Conservation team, which has set goals to reduce energy and water consumption and increase solid waste 

diversion in two sustainability plans (2011-2015 and 2016-2021), added a goal in the second plan to reduce 

GHG emissions from the energy consumption of buildings.  The goal was relatively simplistic and didn’t take 

into consideration emissions from materials and solid waste, staff commuting, and the actual energy mix of the 

two energy utilities in the area.  This project provided KCHA with a broader understanding of its GHG impact, 

and introduced a method for GHG accounting which will be integrated into their currently sustainability plan 

metrics. 

 

The project entailed the following objectives: 

a. Quantify KCHA’s GHG footprint 

b. Develop a realistic and non-cumbersome method for tracking and reporting relevant data 

c. Help align to King County’s Strategic Climate Action Plan 

d. Make recommendations to reduce GHG footprint 

 

  

                                                           
1 Environmental Defense Fund (EDF) has been developing a Climate Change Corps since 2008, recruiting graduate students every 

year with past project management experiences in the energy and environment sectors.  



II. Basics of GHG Inventory 
 

Climate change has come to the forefront as a key issue that both impacts and is impacted by sustainable 

development
2
.  In fact, climate change is now increasingly being viewed as a “threat multiplier”

3
.  Many 

governments
4
 across the world are taking steps to reduce GHG emissions through policies, like emissions 

trading programs, carbon taxes, regulations, and standards on energy efficiency and emissions.  As a result, 

organizations are acting to understand their GHG risks to ensure long-term success and readiness for future 

national or regional climate policies. 

A GHG inventory estimates the quantity of GHG emissions associated with community sources and 

activities taking place during a chosen analysis year.  Local government organizations typically choose to 

develop a community GHG emissions inventory report for the following reasons: 

 Inform climate action planning 

 Demonstrate accountability and leadership 

 Track GHG emissions performance over time 

 Motivate community action 

 Recognize GHG emissions performance relative to similar communities 

 Enable aggregation of GHG emissions data across regions, and  

 Demonstrate compliance with regulations, voluntary agreements, and market standards (where 

applicable)  

Quantifying Emissions 

Accounting for GHG emissions can be tricky.  Primarily, there are many kinds of GHGs that each interact 

with the climate in different degrees and durations.  Additionally, organizations have varying levels of 

ownership and responsibility for these emissions which in turn calls for a method which segregates these 

emissions appropriately. 

Organizational boundaries are determined using either an “equity share” or “control” approach.  Under the 

equity share approach, the reporting organization is only responsible for the emissions proportional to the 

amount of equity they have in the operation.  Under the control approach, the organization accounts for 

100% of the emissions from operations over which it has either financial or operational control.  For KCHA 

it becomes important to consider this issue when evaluating certain sources of emissions, like energy 

consumption, where GHG impacts are due to both technology and management efficiencies.  For example, 

though common area energy bills are paid by KCHA, the agency doesn’t have direct control over residents’ 

consumption.  However, given that decisions about capital improvement and major appliances are made by 

KCHA, opportunities do exist for the agency to reduce emissions from residential units’ daily use.  Since 

data is not entirely available at this segregated level, this GHG inventory assumes KCHA has operational 

control over the entirety of their properties and thus all emission sources accounted for are assumed to be 

fully under KCHA control. 

                                                           
2 https://www.ipcc.ch/publications_and_data/ar4/wg3/en/ch2s2-1-3.html 
3 https://unfccc.int/news/climate-change-threatens-national-security-says-pentagon 
4 https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement 



Operational boundaries are based on the emissions generated as a direct or indirect result of the 

organization’s operations.  Due to the different types of emissions associated with different kinds of 

activities and varying control over these emissions, they can be classified into scopes for further 

consideration.  According to the GHG Protocol, operational boundaries can be divided up into three scopes: 

 Scope 1: Direct emissions owned or controlled sources.  For example, emissions from company 

vehicles. 

 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from generation of purchased energy.  For example, emissions from 

purchased electricity. 

 Scope 3: Upstream and downstream emission activities.  Emissions associated before and after the 

creation of a product, such as transportation or capital goods. 

 

Scope 1 and 2 are relatively easy to identify and estimate, since data for these emissions are often accessible.  

Organizations leading their industries in GHG inventory are now also accounting for Scope 3 emissions; 

however they are generally much more difficult to quantify.  Figure 1 provides a visual representation of 

these scopes with additional examples. 

 

 
Figure 1 - Diagram of Scope 1, 2, and 3 of GHG Emissions 

  



Greenhouse Gases (GHGs) 

GHGs trap heat in the atmosphere.  They absorb and reemit radiant energy in the thermal infrared range 

which in turn warms the planet.  Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the most abundant GHG in the atmosphere, 

followed by methane, nitrous oxide and fluorinated gases: 

 Carbon dioxide (CO2): Carbon dioxide enters the atmosphere through burning fossil fuels (coal, 

natural gas, and oil), solid waste, trees and wood products, and also as a result of certain chemical 

reactions (e.g., manufacture of cement). 

 Methane (CH4): Methane emissions result from fossil fuel extraction and transportation, livestock 

byproduct and other agricultural practices, and by the decay of organic waste in municipal solid 

waste landfills. 

 Nitrous oxide (N2O): Nitrous oxide is emitted during agricultural and industrial activities, as well as 

during combustion of fossil fuels and solid waste. 

 Fluorinated gases are synthetic, powerful GHGs emitted from different industrial processes.  They 

are used inside products like refrigerators, air-conditioners, foams, and aerosol cans.  These are 

typically emitted in smaller quantities but are very potent atmospheric gases.  Their measurement 

needs greater scientific attention and precision before reliable emission factors can be developed for 

wider use by organizations for updating their GHG inventory. 

Global Warming Potential  

GHGs warm the planet by absorbing and reemitting radiant energy that would otherwise pass through the 

atmosphere and escape into space.  Different gases interact with radiant energy (most commonly solar 

energy) differently
5
, depending on their ability to absorb energy (radiative efficiency) and the duration they 

stay in the atmosphere (lifetime)
6
. 

The concept of global warming potential (GWP) was developed to allow for comparisons and to help 

standardize impacts of these different gases.  More specifically, it is a measurement of how much energy one 

ton of a GHG will absorb over a given period of time, relative to the emissions of one ton of carbon dioxide
7
 

(CO2).  The larger the GWP, the more heat that gas traps in the atmosphere over that period of time.  The 

standard time period used for GWPs is 100 years.  GWPs provide a common unit of measurement, which 

allows for adding emissions’ estimates of different gases. 

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) considers GWP estimates presented in the most recent 

IPCC scientific assessment to be accurate.  The GWP assumptions this piece of work utilizes (listed in Table 

1 - Common GHGs and their global warming potential (GWP), below) are from the IPCC's Fifth Assessment 

Report, published in 2014. 

                                                           
5 https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/research/themes/forcing/ 
6 United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
7 United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 



 

Table 1 - Common GHGs and their global warming potential (GWP) 

Boundaries of KCHA Inventory  

Defining the boundaries of a GHG inventory study is perhaps the most critical and difficult task.  Every object 

we use in our daily lives, directly or indirectly, has a GHG footprint.  Every object uses energy in its 

manufacturing process, operational lifetime, or disposal/decomposition.  For a housing authority, release of 

GHG is associated with materials and energy consumption related to residential and commercial property 

development and management, employee activities, and all supporting activities to provide affordable housing.  

More specifically, this includes electricity and gas consumption at KCHA properties and central offices, 

consumption of fuel in employee commute, disposal of solid waste at landfills, and consumption of construction 

materials, among others. 

Figure 2 offers specifics of what is included in this analysis and what is not included. 

 

Figure 2 - Sources of GHG Emissions at KCHA 



Based on internal KCHA interviews in the first two weeks of the study, the boundaries for this project were 

decided after consulting department heads and identifying what information is available, what can be collated in 

a few weeks and what cannot be measured at all or without a certain degree of confidence given the prevailing 

data management mechanisms.  The year 2017 was chosen as the baseline year as it’s the most recent year for 

which KCHA has complete information about its energy use among other categories.  Seattle Housing 

Authority (SHA) was consulted to understand the boundary-setting process and methodology when they 

conducted their own GHG inventory study.  King County’s Senior Climate Change Specialist Matt Kuharic was 

consulted for finalizing the scope of work
8
. 

                                                           
8 KCHA 2017 GHG inventory excludes water and waste water related emissions as Matt Kuharic suggested that these emissions are 

almost insignificant 



III. Methodology & Findings 

Quantifying emissions from each GHG source was done using a different methodology specific to each 

category of emissions.  For conceptual clarity and assumptions (where KCHA specific data wasn’t available), 

this work relies on International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives (ICLEI) Community Protocol for 

Accounting and Reporting of GHG. 

 

The purpose of the 12 week effort was to assess and quantify KCHA’s GHG emissions using 2017 as the 

baseline year.  As accuracy of data reporting improves and as coverage of sources of GHG emissions increases, 

results may change. 

 

KCHA’s 2017 total GHG inventory stands at 46,706 metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (MT CO2e).  Not 

surprisingly, KCHA’s largest source of GHG emissions (Figure 3 - KCHA GHG inventory, 2017 (MT CO2e) is 

energy consumption at properties and offices, followed by employee commute. 

 

 

Figure 3 - KCHA GHG inventory, 2017 (MT CO2e) 

While the GHG analyses for these individual sources of emission are explained later in this section, it is 

important to consider these emissions from an operational boundary perspective.  Disaggregating these 

emissions into Scope 1, 2 and 3 (Table 2 - KCHA 2017 GHG Emissions, by Scope (MT CO2e) allows an 

organization to get a more holistic sense of their emissions and the degree of control they have over its 

emissions. 

 

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

50,000

Electricity
consumption

Employee
commute

Natural gas Solid waste Fleet Construction
material

Air travel Total

37,208 

5,806 

1,957 
459 324 835 

117 46,706 



Sector Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3 
Electricity - 37,208 - 

Natural gas 1,957 - - 

Employee commuting - - 5,806 

Solid waste - - 835 

Fleet 459 - - 

Construction material - - 324 

Air travel - - 117 

Total 2,416 37,208 7,082 

 
Table 2 - KCHA 2017 GHG Emissions, by Scope (MT CO2e) 

Scope 2 emissions make up the largest scope of emissions for KCHA with electricity consumption being the 

largest source of GHG emissions.  While KCHA residents and employees do have some control over 

consumption, they do not control the fuel mix utilities use to produce its electricity, which determines the 

emissions emitted from the electricity generation.  This is covered in detail in the Whole Property Energy 

section below. 

 

 

Whole Property Energy Consumption 

Methodology 

The GHG emissions associated with power and heating were calculated using KCHA whole property energy 

consumption data, and carbon contents from utility fuel mix disclosure reports.  Energy usage data was shared 

by the utilities with Energy Star Portfolio Manager, which collects energy consumption data on a whole 

building level. 

 

Findings 

Energy consumption related to the power and heating of KCHA properties makes up the vast majority of its 

GHG emissions (39,165 MT CO2e).  These emissions are necessary to its operations.  The two most impactful 

factors for whole property energy GHG emissions are the overall energy consumption and the utility’s 

electricity production method.  KCHA operates in two electric utility territories.  Seattle City Light (SCL), a 

public utility providing electricity primarily in Seattle city limits, generates nearly all of its electricity through 

hydropower.  Puget Sound Energy (PSE), a private electric and gas utility spanning the Puget Sound region, 

uses a variety of renewable and fossil fuel sources to produce its electricity.  Since over 85% of its properties 

are located in PSE territory, KCHA’s GHG emissions are very closely tied to PSE’s electricity supply fuel mix 

(Figure 4 - KCHA Building Energy Utility Mix). 

46,706 
324 117 



 
 

Figure 4 - KCHA Building Energy Utility Mix 

We examined GHG emissions on a square foot (Figure 5 - Energy related GHG emissions per sq. ft. by 

building type) and a per resident (Figure 6 - GHG emissions per resident, by building type) basis, across 

seven different building type designations.  The most and least efficient building types per square foot are 

apartments and semi-detached homes, respectively; while our most and least efficient buildings types per 

resident are semi-detached and houses, respectively.  However, apartment GHG efficiency can in part be 

attributed to a several apartment properties using SCL electricity, while all KCHA houses, manufactured 

housing, or semi-detached homes receive their electricity from PSE. 

 
 

Figure 5 - Energy related GHG emissions per sq. ft. by building type 

37,032 

176 

0.14680674 

0.00481197 

0.00

0.02

0.04

0.06

0.08

0.10

0.12

0.14

0.16

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

PSE SCL

M
T 

C
O

2
e/

M
B

tu
 

M
T 

C
O

2e
 

Gas

Electric

Carbon
Intensity

1,957 

0.000

0.001

0.002

0.003

0.004

0.005

0.006

0.007

0.008

Community
Building

Office Apartment Condo House Manufactured
Housing

Semi-detached

M
T 

C
O

2e
/S

q
. F

t.
 

Electric Gas



 
Figure 6 - GHG emissions per resident, by building type 

 

Employee Commuting 

Methodology 

In order to better understand employee commuting characteristics, employees were asked to complete an 

online survey.  The survey results revealed how far employees typically commute, and what modes of 

transportation they use. 

 

Findings 

Employees overwhelmingly use their personal vehicles as their primary mode of commuting—likely due to 

KCHA office locations and ample parking provided at properties (Figure 7 – KCHA employee trips per week 
by transportation mode, 2017).  However, a few do use a combination of public transit services including 

buses, Link light rail, Sounder train, and Washington State Ferries.  Additionally, some employees use 

carbon neutral options like cycling, walking, and telecommuting. 

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Community
Building

Office Residential Apartment Condo House Manufactured
Housing

Semi-detached

Gas CO2e per resident (MT/res) Electric CO2e per resident (MT/res)

M
T 

C
O

2
e/

re
si

d
en

t 

     Residents: 0        0            9,649 8,593           42                41    484             489 



 
 

 
 

Over 5,800 MT of CO2e annually is produced by KCHA employee commutes (Figure 8 - Weekly GHG 
emissions from KCHA employee trips by transportation mode, 2017).  Due to the low emissions fuel and 

energy efficiency of alternative transit options, the vast majority of those GHG emissions are from personal 

vehicle travel.  Telecommuting, while rarely utilized by KCHA employees, prevents nearly 192 additional 

MT of CO2e by replacing personal vehicle commutes. 

 

 
 

Figure 8 - Weekly GHG emissions from KCHA employee trips by transportation mode, 2017 

908 

87 

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200
Tr

ip
s 

p
er

 w
ee

k 

21 16 16 12 10 

38 

10 

3492 
22 

15 

3,300

3,350

3,400

3,450

3,500

3,550

3,600

M
T 

C
O

2e
 

1 0 0 7 2 

Figure 7 – KCHA employee trips per week by transportation mode, 2017 



Solid Waste  

Methodology 

The Resource Conservation department maintains solid waste collection schedules and container size records 

for all properties.  Ideally, actual waste tonnage receipts would be collected from the various haulers who serve 

KCHA properties.  However, in the absence of solid waste tonnage data, container volume and service 

frequency were used to extrapolate an estimate of solid waste tonnage and transportation distances.  An 

emissions factor assumption for solid waste tonnage was based on the International Council for Local 

Environmental Initiatives (ICLEI). 

 

Findings 

Resident and employee generated solid waste is another significant source of GHG emissions, accounting for 

835 MT CO2e.  These emissions are largely due to decomposition of solid waste that take place at Cedar Hills 

landfill.  In addition to some carbon dioxide, methane is the important GHG released when this solid waste 

decomposes and is captured for further electricity generation.  Methane is 28 times more potent for global 

warming than carbon dioxide, which is why even with 92% gas capture efficiency
9
 at the Cedar Hills facility, 

722 MT CO2e emissions are still taking place. 

 

A total of 4,996 metric tons of garbage was estimated from KCHA properties and Central Offices.  This 

excludes the recyclable and yard waste that is diverted away from going to landfills.  In fact, current diversion 

rate of ~45% prevented ~670 MT CO2e of emissions.  Interestingly, at current levels of solid waste every 

additional 1% annual diversion is equivalent to a reduction of ~20,500 miles driven by a typical passenger 

vehicle. 

 

 
Figure 9 - Solid waste related GHG emissions, 2017 (MT CO2e) 

 

                                                           
9 ICLEI recommends using 75% as the gas collection efficiency in the absence of data from the requisite facility. 

722 

835 

103 

10 

500

550

600

650

700

750

800

850

900

Landfill emissions Collection Transportation Total

M
T 

C
O

2e
 



Fleet 

Methodology 

The emissions associated with KCHA fleet, was calculated with information from ARI Fleet Manager, a 

subscription-based on-line portal, which successfully captures fuel consumption for all the different vehicles.  

Suitable emission factors were used for different car segments and methane and nitrous oxide emissions were 

estimated using EDF-NAFA
10

 Fleet GHG Emissions Calculator. 

 

Findings 

The KCHA fleet, which comprises of light duty trucks, vans, SUVs, passenger cars and non-road vehicles like 

lawn mowers, etc. accounts for ~459 MT CO2e in 2017 (Figure 10 - Fleet related GHG emissions, 2017 (MT 

CO2e)).  Roughly 77% of the fuel consumption was for light duty trucks, vans and SUVs - as a category. 

 

 
Figure 10 - Fleet related GHG emissions, 2017 (MT CO2e) 

 

Construction Material 

Methodology 

Construction material is a fairly tough category for capturing emissions, given the way material is procured and 

the range of materials being used by Capital Construction and Asset Management teams.  Large projects are 

awarded based on lump sum bids, which are naturally tied to value of the whole project and not the sum of 

amount of each material being used.  This causes a fundamental problem in collecting disaggregated 

information about the amount of cement, paint, doors, windows, siding, asphalt, etc. that are used by KCHA 

contractors in building, renovating or refurbishing residential units. 

                                                           
10 NAFA Fleet Management Association 

338 

459 

100 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Light duty
trucks,Vans, SUVs

Passenger cars Non-road vehicles Medium & heavy
duty vehicles

Total

M
T 

C
O

2e
 

18 2 



 

After several discussions with the Capital Construction and Asset Management teams, it was decided that they 

would compile information from some of their larger projects in 2017 and estimate quantities used by 

contractors.  To provide a sense of the share of the total construction material being covered through these 

selected projects, the teams calculated the share of these construction materials’ cost in the total money spent on 

construction material for Capital Construction (~30% of the project’s total cost) and Asset Management (~27% 

of the project’s total cost). 

 

Findings 

Construction materials, accounted for 324 MTCO2e emissions (Figure 11 - Construction material related GHG 

emissions, 2017 (MT CO2e)).  This is based on incomplete data and is likely to be a much bigger emissions 

category as KCHA improves data reporting and management for this category.  Siding and concrete are leading 

contributors due to their cement content, and windows and paint are also key contributors. 

 

 
Figure 11 - Construction material related GHG emissions, 2017 (MT CO2e) 

Following are the quantities estimated for a few big projects for the most used 5-6 materials for each of the 

two departments. 

Material Quantity 

(‘000 lbs.) 

Siding 759 

Windows 75 

Concrete 970 

Paint 32 

Doors 20 

Others
11

 256 
Table 3 - Construction materials included and quantity 

                                                           
11 Includes roofing material (largely gravel) and asphalt (~95% reused material) 

105 

324 
87 

66 

41 

24 

1 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Siding Windows Concrete Paint Doors Others Total

M
T 

C
O

2e
 



 

Given that there isn’t an exhaustive inventory of materials being consumed in construction, maintenance, and 

the weatherization of residential units, it is hard to ascertain whether the most polluting material per unit and/or 

the most polluting material at an aggregate level have been assessed definitely.  As more data is collected about 

building materials, a better understanding of its impacts will become known. 

 

Air Travel 

Methodology  

Emissions from flight travel were calculated using the MyClimate Flight Emission Calculator, available 

online for free.  The website calculates GHG emissions on a per person basis using airport coordinates, 

distance traveled, fuel consumed and typical plane size.  Full details behind MyClimate’s methodology are 

available online.
12

 

Findings 

Air travel makes up a small portion (117 MT CO2e) of KCHA’s GHG emissions.  Air travel GHG emissions 

were assessed on a per seat-mile basis using an air travel GHG calculator, available online.  Nearly 200 

flights were taken by employees, with roughly 80% east of the Mississippi river (Figure 12 - Flight routes of 

KCHA air travel, 2017).  For more details on frequently traveled flight routes, see Table 4 - Most frequent 

flight routes of KCHA air travel, 2017 below. 

l 
Figure 12 - Flight routes of KCHA air travel, 2017 

                                                           
12

 https://www.myclimate.org/fileadmin/myc/files_myc_perf/12_flight_calculator_documentation_EN.pdf 



 

Destination # of Flights Round-trip Miles 
Traveled 

MT CO2e MT CO2e per Seat 
Mile 

Washington, DC 26 78,166 36.4 0.00047 

Orlando, FL 14 20,380 21 0.00103 

Las Vegas, NV 11 4,330 6.35 0.00146 

Lexington, KY 11 11,928 13.2 0.00110 

Boston, MA 7 14,913 10.5 0.00070 

Table 4 - Most frequent flight routes of KCHA air travel, 2017 

 

IV. Next Steps 
 

KCHA’s 2017 GHG inventory project serves as a starting point for selecting a GHG tracking methodology and 

calculating emissions.  As organizations and local governments compile their GHG inventory in phases, 

methodologies will evolve and improve with time.  KCHA’s inventory has helped KCHA (i) understand 

directionally what categories of emissions need to be targeted, (ii) understand how to approach compiling a 

GHG inventory, and (iii) internalize what needs to be done at departmental levels to improve the estimation 

precision within these categories.  This section describes what needs to be done to improve KCHA’s 

understanding of emissions within each category, and provides some basic recommendations which are 

intended to offer some directional advice. 

Inventory information collecting, like case studies 

Next Steps for GHG Inventory Development 

 Energy Consumption – KCHA is dedicated to improving the energy efficiency of its building stock.  

KCHA collects energy consumption by common area and whole-building/property data.  While this is 

done on a monthly basis, it is recommended to utilize interval data (i.e. daily or 15 minute meter 

readings collected via smart metering systems), where possible, in order to better understand the energy 

consumption patterns of various buildings.  Interval data is helpful in identifying energy conservation 

opportunities in buildings where automated building management systems control heating/cooling and 

lighting for occupancy, and for identifying out of the ordinary common area energy.  Some interval data 

is available from utilities, and should be used to manage and fine-tune energy consumption when 

available.    

 Employee Commuting – Response rate was 61% despite significant steps taken to get a higher rate.  

Anecdotally, survey fatigue was highlighted by KCHA employees as a major reason for this.  Need to 

sharpen strategy for future surveys to better understand employee commuting decisions. 

 Solid Waste – KCHA should work to receive actual solid waste tonnage from its waste haulers where 

feasible.  While it may not be a realistic expectation to collect all tonnage data, KCHA should pursue 

opportunities to collect real tonnage data whenever possible, in order to verify the accuracy of our 

estimates.  There is a need to understand why this data is not being reported where it is supposed to be 

(particularly contracted haulers) to be done to ensure as much information as realistically possible is 

captured and shared with KCHA. 



 Construction Material – KCHA’s construction material associated GHG emissions are expected to be 

much higher than the 2017 analysis reflects.  Asset Management and Capital Construction teams need 

to devise ways to report the consumption of various materials by their contractors.  

 Purchase of Electronic Appliances and Office Supplies – KCHA controls the type and make of 

equipment like electric range, refrigerator, washer, etc. which are set up in residential units.  While 

KCHA vendors provided a list of appliances bought and their quantity, they were unable to provide us 

with GHG emissions associated with these specific appliances.  Additionally, some of the most 

commonly used office items like printing paper, tissue paper, plastic cutlery, etc. need to be factored in 

to this inventory but only after developing a simple reporting mechanism.  Need to follow up on both 

these fronts. 

While building on this piece of work and refining the GHG inventory further is expected to be a continuous 

task, KCHA should consider focusing on some specific sources of GHG emission and design specific 

approaches to reduce emissions. 

Recommendations for Reducing GHG Emissions 

Whole Property Energy Consumption 

 Continue the energy conservation upgrade projects (e.g. EPIC) to reduce GHG emissions associated 

with building operations.  EPIC is estimated to reduce GHG emissions from building energy 

consumption by 40%, annually, at participating properties.  Consider integrating additional energy 

savings measures into existing maintenance/renovation projects whenever convenient, such as when 

siding is removed from exterior walls or when electrical work requires opening of wall cavities. 

 Develop and regularly execute a retro-commissioning program to ensure that all mechanical, electrical, 

and controls systems are performing optimally.  Retro-commissioning typically comes at a low cost, 

while delivering high energy savings. 

 Consider installation of on-site renewable energy, where appropriate.  Where on-site renewable energy 

is not feasible, consider purchasing low-carbon or renewable energy from the utility. 

Employee Commuting 

 Implement a telecommuting pilot program to encourage employees to use telecommuting options over 

driving to work.  It is important to include a reporting mechanism to support the evaluation its GHG 

emissions savings potential across different KCHA departments. 

 Identify and address barriers to commuting using public transit options.  If existing public transit 

options are deemed incomplete to complete commuting routes, KCHA should consider creating last-

mile solutions, such as a commuting-hour shuttle to/from nearby transit hubs. 

 Assess impact of any employee commute related initiatives being implemented by KCHA. 

Solid Waste 

 Increase composting and recycling capacity and utilization across properties, where appropriate.  

Improve data collection for construction and demolition waste disposal. 

Fleet 

 Continue and expedite the transition of KCHA fleet from gasoline-powered to hybrid or electric 

vehicles.  Currently prioritize the use of hybrid or electric vehicles over gasoline-powered vehicles. 



Construction Material 

 Prioritize the purchase and use of materials that have longer lifespans and are made locally to reduce 

emissions associated with transportation. 

Air Travel 

 Prioritize conferences and events that are shorter distances to limit fuel consumption per trip, or 

establish guidelines that encourage virtual attendance of events and conferences instead of air travel. 

Other 

 While it was not included in this study, land use change is a major driver of GHG emissions.  KCHA 

should be cognizant of its decisions that directly and/or indirectly result in the removal of wooded areas 

and other (biodiverse) green spaces. 

 Add more arboreal spaces to mitigate the impacts of the urban heat island effect, and increase on-site 

carbon sequestration. 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts   

1 
 

The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation PNW Initiative 

Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between 

Housing Authorities and School Districts 

DRAFT 8.6.2018 

  

Advancing Sustainable 
Partnerships Between Public 
Housing Authorities and School 
Districts  

T h e  B i l l  &  M e l i n d a  G a t e s  F o u n d a t i o n  |  P N W  I n i t i a t i v e  

A u g u s t  2 0 1 8



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts   

2 
 

Executive Summary  
In 2014, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation initiated a five-year investment focused on 

cross-sector partnerships between public housing authorities and school districts. Through 

this initiative, the Gates Foundation provided support to three public housing authorities in 

the Pacific Northwest, who partnered with five school districts to imrpove outcomes for 

shared students and families: 

• King County Housing Authority, partnered with Bellevue School District, Highline 

Public Schools, and Kent School District  

• Seattle Housing Authority, partnered with Seattle Public Schools  

• Tacoma Housing Authority, partnered with Tacoma Public Schools 

Each partnership approached collaboration differently, identifying objectives and strategies 

that the best fit specific contexts. ORS Impact (ORS) was engaged to collect, synthesize, and 

share data that further a collective understanding of what productive and sustainable 

housing and education partnerships look like. To that end, ORS worked with partners to 

clarify and assess outcomes for students and families, along with changes in systems and 

structures that are crucial to broad, durable impact. The tables below summarizes student 

and family outcomes (Table 1), along with key structural and systemic outcomes (Table 2) 

realized through partners’ efforts so far.

Table 1 | Summary of Student and Family Outcomes  

STUDENT AND FAMILY OUTCOMES  

Strategy Summary of Results Example 

King County 

Kindergarten 

Readiness 

Programs   

Positive outcomes among 

children and parents/caregivers 

that participated in GLEA 

(Highline Public Schools)  

• Children met or exceeded standards 

on an average of 5.1 out of 6 TS Gold 

domains on their latest assessments, 

increased from 4.7 domains in initial 

assessments. 

• Caregivers reported more confident, 

more effective engagement with 

their children. 

Attendance 

Initiatives   

School-wide chronic 

absenteeism decreased and 

attitudes towards attendance 

improved in three schools 

(Highline Public Schools, Kent 

School District).  

• At White Center Heights & Pine Tree 

Elementary Schools, the proportion 

of chronically absent students 

decreased in 2018 to 8% and 15%, 

respectively, from 15% and 22% in 

2017.  



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts   

3 
 

Seattle 

Attendance 

Initiatives  

Attendance initiatives have 

contributed to positive 

outcomes  

• Among SHA students, chronic 

absenteeism during the first 20 days 

decreased by 24% in 2017-18 

compared to the first 20 days the 

previous school year.  

• Among 810 SHA students who attend 

five schools implementing 

attendance initiatives, rates of 

chronic absence dropped from 19% 

in 2017 to 15% in 2018.    

Tacoma 

Elementary 

School Housing 

Assistance 

Program 

(ESHAP)  

Data revealed mixed results 

regarding student turnover and 

academic outcomes, though 

parent and family living 

conditions have improved, 

potentially benefiting students’ 

academic performance over the 

long term. 

• Students showed gains in reading 

during the first program year, 

however ESHAP students’ reading 

levels were similar to other McCarver 

students in subsequent years.  

• Parents reported greater stability and 

increased engagement in children’s 

education.  

 

 

STRUCTURAL AND SYSTEMIC OUTCOMES 

KCHA  Seattle  Tacoma  

• Data-sharing agreements 

• Established framework to 

guide housing/education 

efforts 

• Supportive internal policies 

• Strengthened multi-

stakeholder partnerships 

• Data sharing agreement 

• Joint strategic plan and 

governance, and dedicated 

staff  

• Expanded, more visible, 

and more deeply 

embedded cross-

institutional partnership 

• Improved and aligned 

approaches to engage 

families in support of 

student success  

• Data sharing agreement in 

development  

• Interlocal agreement and 

MOU re: programs 

• Regular communications 

between institutional 

leaders and ley staff  

• Expanded partnership and 

increased alignment  

 

 

  

Table 2 | Summary of Structural and Systemic Outcomes  



 

 
 

 

  
5

6

7

21

27

31

32

33

Table of Contents

Introduction

Overview of the Learning Effort

Student and Family Outcomes
King County Housing Authority

Seattle Housing Authority
Tacoma Housing Authority

Structural and Systemic Outcomes
King County Housing Authority  

Seattle Housing Authority  
Tacoma Housing Authority

Looking Across Partnerships 

Takeaways Across Partnerships

Conclusion

Appendices 

7
14
16

21
23
25



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

5 
 

Introduction  
Overview of the Housing and Education Initiative 

The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation’s Pacific Northwest strategy recognizes the potential for 

public housing authorities (PHAs) and school districts to effectively collaborate towards a 

shared goal of improved educational outcomes. Because PHAs and school districts serve 

many of the same students and families, the Foundation believes that coordination and 

alignment of systems, services, practices, and policies will support academic success of their 

shared students.  

In addition, partnership across the sectors of housing and education has the potential to be 

instrumental in disrupting the intergenerational cycle of poverty. While the goal of student 

success was at the heart of the Foundation’s investment, grants were intended to influence 

the systems that surround families who live in subsidized housing. The Foundation’s bet is 

that institutionalized and effective partnerships are key to overcoming barriers associated 

with achievement of educational successes.   

In 2014, PNW announced a five-year investment in the housing and education cross-systems 

partnership work, or the “space between the seams”—that is, the space between the 

Foundation’s portfolios focused on ensuring quality education and reducing family 

homelessness. This initiative established the expectation that housing authorities and school 

districts would plan and implement grants collaboratively and build successful, sustainable 

institutional partnerships to drive improved educational outcomes for students. These 

partnerships can be especially beneficial for students and families living in subsidized 

housing, as this population is more likely to experience outcome gaps due to their low 

income and prior experiences of homelessness, among other issues. 

 

Three PHAs received support via the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation’s initiative, and a total 

of five partnerships: 

• King County Housing Authority, partnering with Bellevue School District, Highline 

Public Schools, and Kent School District   

• Seattle Housing Authority, partnering with Seattle Public Schools  

• Tacoma Housing Authority, partnering with Tacoma Public Schools  

Each partnership has a unique journey story, focus areas, and success measures, and each 

has approached collaboration differently. Partnerships’ focus areas and development reflect 

the different environments in which they work and the approaches that best fit each context. 

In most cases, partners initially found it useful to coordinate or cooperate, such as by 

planning and implementing joint programming to better serve shared students, while 

perhaps exploring deeper institutional alignment. The Seattle partnership was the only one to 

intentionally begin by developing and aligning the infrastructure and systems supports that 

were believed to foster effective cross-institutional efforts.  However, all five partnerships are 

now focused on cross-institutional collaboration, including planning, implementing, 

expanding, and scaling joint initiatives.   

  
 

Too often, existing systems lack coordination 

and fail to focus sufficiently on root causes so 

they can try to prevent problems before they 

happen. 

- Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation 
   What We Do: US Programs, Washington State Strategy Overview 

“ 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

6 
 

Overview of the Learning Effort 
ORS Impact (ORS) was engaged to collect, synthesize, and share data that further a collective 

understanding of what productive and sustainable housing and education partnerships look like, 

and how these partnerships contribute to positive impacts for students and families. ORS worked 

with partners to clarify the expected outcomes of their collaborative efforts, including those that 

reflect the growth and development of partnerships – i.e., the institutional infrastructure, 

characteristics, and functions necessary for productive partnership – as well as the student and 

family outcomes expected to result from joint initiatives.   

The questions that guided inquiry in 2017-18 included:  

• What are notable outcomes experienced by students and families directly touched by 

partners’ efforts? Is there evidence of progress towards outcomes at scale?  

• What are notable indicators of partners’ strong, stable infrastructure and function?  

• How are partners’ aligned and coordinated efforts contributing to broad and meaningful 

change for students and families?  

• What are partners doing together? How have partnerships developed and evolved over 

the past five years?   

• What are lessons and considerations emerging from partners’ efforts? 

Embedded in ORS’ inquiry is an assumption about the nature of systems-level work. Recognizing that 

achieving student outcomes requires shifts in systemic and structural variables, the initial results of 

housing and education partnerships were changes in these areas, e.g., staffing, policies, practices, 

relationships, and initiatives. While sometimes marginalized as external factors or process measures, 

these types of changes are, in reality, hard-won achievements given the complexity of the effort. 

Changes in partnerships’ infrastructure, characteristics, and functions create the enabling conditions 

for student and family outcomes. In terms of impact for students and families, changes are first 

                                                           
1  To help conceptualize the dimensions of change and progression of housing and education 
partnerships, ORS has drawn on systems-change frameworks, including I2L2 (Reisman, Gienapp, and 

expected among those directly touched by partners’ joint efforts; over time, program-level student 

and family outcomes are expected to be followed by large-scale student impact as the influence of 

partners’ efforts expands (see Figure 1).1   

Figure 1 | Housing-Education Partnerships’ Arc of Change 

Measurement efforts have tracked the development of partnerships as well as student and family 

outcomes. Measurement has also explored the connections between partnerships’ structure, 

characteristics, and function and student/family outcomes as a means to better understand what can 

be achieved via cross-system partnerships in different contexts. This report documents student and 

family outcomes realized by partners’ efforts to date, and the systems-level outcomes that 

characterize partners’ development and progression over the course of the initiative. Findings 

highlight the value proposition for sustained investment in cross-sector efforts. The methodological 

approach is detailed in Appendix A.  

Kelly, 2015), a systems change framing tool developed by Spark Policy Institute, and a framework 
describing partnership typology developed by ORS Impact. See Appendix B for more information.  

Partnership changes

in infrastructure,
characteristics, and
functions (informed 
by systems 
framework)

Outcomes for 

students and families 
directly touched by 
partners’ efforts 
(informed by 
intervention data)

Large-scale 
student impact 

(informed by 
population-level 

data)

Near-term

Mid-term

Long-term



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

7 
 

Student & Family Outcomes 

This section describes outcomes for the students and families directly touched by partners’ 

joint initiatives and presents emerging evidence of broader outcomes for shared students 

and families resulting from partners’ expanded influence.  

King County Housing Authority 

Context  

King County Housing Authority’s (KCHA) aim in engaging with school districts is to support 

schools’ efforts to ensure positive outcomes for all students. According to Ted Dezember, 

Senior Manager of Educational Initiatives and Youth Programs at KCHA, the broadness of that 

goal allows KCHA to be a different kind of partner to school districts and schools. Instead of 

approaching schools with its own agenda and goals, KCHA’s intent is always to align its efforts 

with the objectives already established by school districts. By bringing its connections to 

families and students, staff capacity, and natural convening abilities, KCHA is well positioned 

to help advance school districts’ goals.  

KCHA currently partners with three school districts, each serving a concentration of students 

living in subsidized housing: Highline Public Schools (HPS), Bellevue School District (BSD), and 

Kent School District (KSD). Joint initiatives are summarized in Table 3. 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 3 | KCHA-School District Joint Initiatives   

Highline 

Public 

Schools  

• Kindergarten readiness program (GLEA), implemented at White Center 

Heights and Mount View Elementary Schools 

• Attendance campaign 

• Attendance-focused professional learning communities at White Center 

Heights and Midway Elementary Schools  

Bellevue 

School 

District 

• Kindergarten readiness program (BELA, in development) 

• Attendance campaign, in partnership with Eastside Pathways 

• Previously, KCHA and BSD together with the Bellevue Boys & Girls Club, 

implemented an after-school academic support program for middle school 

students, Club 678 

Kent School 

District 

• Kindergarten readiness program (CARE Academy, in development)  

• Attendance-focused initiatives  

• Previously, partners implemented an after-school academic enrichment 

program, STEAM into Middle School (SIMS) 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

8 
 

Kindergarten readiness programs  

In 2015, KCHA and HPS began implementing the Graduates of Learning and Engagement 

Academy (GLEA) program, a kindergarten readiness program serving families with young 

children that provides sequenced interventions throughout children’s early years.2 GLEA’s 

main goal is to “improve kindergarten readiness among children living in KCHA-supported 

housing.”3 GLEA includes the following elements: 

• A nine-week Baby Academy for parents of children 0-3, with group classes, home 

visits, and support from a specialized team of early childhood educators 

• Booster programming to graduates of Baby Academy, with the goal of supporting 

families until children enter kindergarten 

• Other supports for families such as transportation vouchers, referrals to community 

resources, and assistance with preschool applications 

To date, GLEA has served six cohorts and 171 children and their parents or caregivers. Of 

those, 128 children (75%) have completed the program.4 As Figure 2 shows, GLEA 

participants are racially and ethnically diverse, reflecting partners’ deliberate efforts to 

engage all children living in subsidized housing, and children and families less likely to access 

evidence-based early learning programs.  

                                                           
2 The program model for GLEA is based on a one developed at the Harlem Children’s Zone in New York 
City.  
3 Berk Consulting (2017). Graduates of Learning and Engagement Academy (GLEA) Program Summary.  

Figure 2 | GLEA Students by Race (n=171) 

 

Signs of GLEA’s success inspired KCHA to seek expansion of the program model in the 

Bellevue and Kent school districts. In Bellevue, partners in the Eastside Pathways collective 

impact initiative (including KCHA and BSD) have developed the Bellevue Early Learning 

Academy (BELA) program, which will be implemented at Lake Hills Elementary School 

beginning in September 2018. In Kent, KCHA, KSD, and other community-based organizations 

have developed the Child-Adult Relationship Education (CARE) Academy, also scheduled to  

4 Source: Internal KCHA report on GLEA performance data, 2018. Program completion entails attending 
at least five of the nine classes in the nine-week course. 

13%

1%

2%

8%

8%

8%

18%

43%

None specified

Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander

Native American/Alaska Native

Multiracial

Asian

White

Hispanic

Black/African/African American

% of total GLEA students 

R
ac

e/
E

th
n

ic
it

y 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

9 
 

begin in September 2018. All kindergarten readiness programs include the nine-week Baby  

Academy and other early learning supports and have been designed to align with the unique 

needs of families in each school district. 

Outcomes from kindergarten readiness programs 

For most GLEA participants, it is too soon to measure kindergarten readiness as children are 

still a few years from entering school. However, KCHA and HPS staff have identified interim 

outcomes for GLEA participants that allow partners to understand progress towards 

kindergarten readiness, as shown in Table 4. A more detailed analysis of each indicator 

follows.  

Among GLEA participants, the majority have enrolled their children in evidence-based early 

education experiences. KCHA identified early learning enrollment as a key interim outcome; 

the hope is that as children graduate from the Baby Academy and are old enough, caregivers 

will enroll them in evidence-based early learning programs.5 Data indicate that across all 

GLEA cohorts, 83% of children age 3 or older have enrolled in an evidence-based early 

learning program. Of the 30 children in cohorts 1 and 2 who are over age 3, 25 are now 

enrolled in early learning programs.6  

  

                                                           
5Berk Consulting (2017). Graduates of Learning and Engagement Academy (GLEA) Program Summary. 
While acknowledging the availability of such programs in the area as a direct influence on this 
outcome, the GLEA program summary states that there are high-quality, formal early education 
opportunities in the White Center area. 

6 Source: Internal KCHA report on GLEA performance data, 2018. Data by cohort show that the 
proportion ranges from 67% in Cohort 6 to 90% in Cohort 5.   

Interim Outcome Indicator Summary of Results 

GLEA graduates 

participate in formal early 

education experiences. 

% of GLEA graduates enrolled 

in other early learning 

program(s) 

83% of GLEA participants who are age 

three or older have enrolled in an 

evidence-based early learning program. 

Children achieve 

developmental 

milestones between ages 

0 and 5. 

GLEA participants’ TS Gold 

assessment scores 

GLEA participants met or exceeded 

standards on an average of 5.1 out of 6 

domains in their latest assessments, an 

increase from 4.7 domains in their initial 

assessments.  

Improved parent and 

caregiver knowledge, 

attitudes, skills, and 

behaviors. 

Parents’/caregivers’ self-

reported benefits from 

participation in GLEA  

Parents/caregivers reported 

improvements across all aspects of 

engagement with children.  

Families are connected to 

broader networks of peer 

families and education 

opportunities. 

Parents’/caregivers’ self-

reported connections to 

networks and community 

resources 

Parents/caregivers reported increased 

connections to other parents and to 

community resources around education 

and health services.  

Table 4 | GLEA: Interim Outcomes, Indicators, and Summary of Results  



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

10 
 

GLEA participants are achieving developmental milestones. TS Gold assessment data shows 

that 67% of GLEA students met or exceeded standards in all six domains, while an additional 

15% met or exceeded standards in five of the six domains in their latest TS Gold assessment 

(Figure 3).  

 

Figure 3 | Percentage of GLEA Participants who Met or Exceeded Standards in their Latest TS 

Gold assessment (n=127 students who have completed at least one TS Gold Assessment) 

                                                           
7 Ibid.  

Seventy-three GLEA participants have completed at least two TS Gold assessments, which 

provides data for comparisons over time. These 73 students met or exceeded standards on 

an average of 4.7 out of 6 domains in their initial assessment (conducted upon program 

completion). The same students met or exceeded standards in an average of 5.1 domains in 

their latest assessment, showing a slight improvement. In addition, 79.5% of these students 

met or exceeded standards on at least 5 domains in their latest TS Gold assessments, an 

increase of 13.7 percentage points from the initial assessment, where only 65.8% had met or 

exceeded standards on at least 5 domains. Among the cohorts, the largest increase in the 

proportion of students meeting or exceeding standards in at least 5 domains between their 

first and last assessment was in cohort 1 (24), while cohorts 2 and 5 remined constant (Figure 

4).7  

Figure 4 | Differences in the Percent of GLEA Participants who Met or Exceeded Standards on 

At Least Five TS Gold Domains in their Initial vs. Latest TS Gold Assessment (n=73)8 

 

8 No students in cohort 6 have completed at least two TS Gold assessments so time comparisons are 
not possible. 

GLEA Cohort

%
 o

f 
G

LE
A

 p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

n
ts

 w
h

o
 m

et
 o

r 
ex

ce
ed

ed
 T

S
 G

o
ld

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s 
in

 a
t 

le
a

st
 fi

ve
 d

o
m

a
in

s 72%
77%

50%
44%

67% 66%

96%

77%
71%

56%

67%

79%

1 2 3 4 5 Average

Earliest TS Gold Latest TS Gold

Average increase of 
13.7 percentage points 
in students meeting or 
exceeding TS Gold 
standards in at least 5 
domains

3% 3%
6% 6%

15%

67%

0 1 3 4 5 6

Number of TS Gold domains

%
 o

f 
G

LE
A

 p
ar

ti
ci

p
an

ts
 w

h
o

 m
et

 
o

r 
ex

ce
ed

ed
 T

S 
G

o
ld

 s
ta

n
d

ar
d

s



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

11 
 

“

“

“

“

GLEA graduates are beginning to enter kindergarten; to date, six graduates from Cohort 1 

and two from Cohort 2 are enrolled in HPS. As more GLEA graduates enter kindergarten in  

2018, it will be possible to assess whether gains observed during program participation are 

sustained over time, and whether GLEA students are entering kindergarten ready to succeed 

in school. 

Qualitative data from parent interviews reveal parents’ perceptions that their children have 

benefited from participating in GLEA. Parents noted in particular that their children gained 

social and emotional skills.  

Parent and caregivers have increased knowledge, confidence, and connections to broader 

family support and early education opportunities. ORS conducted in-person interviews with 

five GLEA parent participants to explore changes experienced as a result of their participation 

in the program. All parents indicated that GLEA improved their ability to: 

• Communicate effectively with children, raising them in peace and with patience. 

[GLEA taught me] to be brave in teaching my children, how to be their first 

teacher, and to teach them with an open heart. -GLEA Participant 

• Teach children early learning-related subjects, acting as the children’s first teachers to 

encourage their mental development. 

They helped me realize that it’s not just my child achieving milestones, I have to 

help her achieve them. -GLEA Participant 

 

 

• Understand how a child’s mind works and have clear expectations about their 

development at each stage. 

GLEA helped me realize what is going through my daughter’s head, 

gave me ideas of activities to do with her, and clarified 

expectations of what appropriate development is at each age.         

-GLEA Participant 

• Connect with helpful parenting resources that provide guidance and ideas for 

activities to do with children. 

GLEA guided me about what to research, what to learn.                

-GLEA Participant 

Parents also mentioned that GLEA has connected them to early learning programs, along 

with other community resources including health care, speech therapy, the public library 

system, Play & Learn groups, and networks of fellow parents. 

Attendance initiatives 

KCHA has engaged in attendance-focused initiatives in all three school districts, which are 

described in greater detail below.  

Professional learning communities  

KCHA partnered with the Puget Sound Educational Service District (PSESD) to facilitate 

attendance-focused professional learning communities (PLCs) in six elementary schools in 

HPS and KSD. PLCs engage multiple school and community staff in the design and 

implementation of family-focused attendance interventions and the use of data to track 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

12 
 

“

student attendance. In addition, school teams receive professional development and 

technical assistance to support their attendance efforts.  

The schools aim to increase interactions with families to share attendance information, listen 

to family stories to better understand the underlying reasons why students miss school, and 

provide supports to encourage improved attendance. One key element of KCHA’s approach is 

encouraging schools to look at chronic absenteeism as an attendance measure instead of the 

more typical average daily attendance, which often masks chronic absenteeism.  

Three elementary schools participating in PLCs have a significant population of families living 

in subsidized housing, including White Center Heights (HPS), Midway (HPS), and Pine Tree 

(KSD). Examples of attendance-focused activities at these schools include regular workshops 

with school staff; family conferences; “nudge letters” (letters reminding families about the 

importance of school attendance); incentives for students; and, in some cases, home visits or 

attendance monitoring.  

Schools participating in PLCs receive a $2,500-$3,000 flexible grant to support their 

attendance work. These funds pay for staff time, incentives for students, high-quality 

materials for families, and other necessary resources. Schools describe these grants as 

essential because they don’t have those funds in their own budgets.  

KCHA is sensitive to the business of a school. [Their funds] can provide student 

incentives that we can’t fund. -Attendance PLC Staff Member 

                                                           
9 Source: KCHA internal report on attendance outputs in BSD. 
10 A student is chronically absent when having more than 18 absences from school during the school 
year. 

Attendance campaigns 

KCHA launched an attendance campaign in HPS in 2016. Coupled with September rent 

statements, KCHA mailed information to families of students living in subsidized housing 

about the negative impacts of school absences and how to reduce absences, and a tool to 

track absences. KCHA designated September as Attendance Month and engaged with 

housing community staff as well as other stakeholders representing youth development, K-12 

education, early learning, health, housing, and community and cultural groups. These 

stakeholders planned attendance campaign kick-off events, targeting schools with a large 

proportion of students living in KCHA-supported housing.  

KCHA is working with BSD and a range of community organizations to tackle attendance 

jointly with Eastside Pathways, a collective impact initiative working to advance educational 

outcomes in the Bellevue and Lake Washington school districts. KCHA staff lead and facilitate 

the Eastside Pathways attendance initiative and have helped stakeholders to imagine what is 

possible. Partners launched a planning session for an Attendance Awareness Month, and 

engaged 31 people from organizations representing youth development, K-12 education, 

early learning, health, housing, and community and cultural groups.9 Data about these efforts 

will be available once attendance initiatives are fully underway. 

Outcomes from attendance initiatives 

At White Center Heights Elementary, data show positive attendance outcomes, 76.7% of 

elementary students met the goal of having nine absences or less in 2018. In addition, the 

proportion of students who are chronically absent dropped to 8% in 2018, compared to 15% 

in 2017 and 19% in 2016.10, 11 

11 Source: FEAT Presentation Attendance WCH. KCHA, 2018. 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

13 
 

“

Pine Tree Elementary School, another of the PLC schools, had the goal of decreasing chronic 

absenteeism by 10% via its family engagement and targeted interventions. Chronic 

absenteeism was an average of seven percentage points lower in 2018 than in 2017. As 

Figure 5 shows, chronic absenteeism decreased in all grades except 5th, and decreases 

ranged from 1 percentage point in 1st grade to 17.2 points in 6th grade.12 

Figure 5 | Chronic Absenteeism in 2017 and 2018 at Pine Tree Elementary School, by Grade 

At Midway Elementary School, the goal is to reduce chronic absenteeism in kindergarten by 

15%. The attendance team is still working on a systematic way to track data but have 

                                                           
12 Source: FEAT Presentation Attendance Data for Pine Tree Elementary School. KCHA, 2018. Data 
refers to all Pine Tree Elementary School students; however, no “n” was specified.  

observed improvements in attendance among kindergarten students. Midway staff also see 

the focus on attendance gaining traction. 

 

 At Midway, attendance has become a thing – it is super exciting.  

 -Midway Elementary School Staff 

  

30%

21%

16%

20%

24%

16%

25%

22%22%
20%

1%

8%

10%

19%

7%

15%

K 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total

2017 2018

Grade Level

%
 o

f 
ch

ro
n

ic
a

lly
 a

b
se

n
t 

st
u

d
en

ts

Average decrease of 
7 percentage points 
in chronically absent 
students



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

14 
 

Seattle Housing Authority 

Context  

Seattle Housing Authority (SHA) recognizes that their housing services are a platform, and 

that families need additional supports and opportunity pathways so students can achieve 

education milestones that help interrupt intergenerational poverty. Seattle Public Schools 

(SPS) recognizes that an unacceptable opportunity gap persists between white students and 

students of color, and is committed to improving achievement for all students, while also 

providing opportunities for engagement and leadership as well as full access to services and 

supports that all students need to significantly raise the achievement of historically 

underserved student populations. SHA and SPS are working towards the common goal of 

educational success for shared students. 

Attendance initiatives 

In SPS, about one in 10 students (just over 5,500 students) live in subsidized housing. Data 

reveals that SPS/SHA shared students are more likely to be chronically absent, and that the 

rates of chronic absenteeism are higher than for non-SHA students (Figure 6). Given that 

chronic absenteeism is a key factor that inhibits student success, SHA and SPS have focused 

their joint efforts on attendance.13   

                                                           
13 Chronic absenteeism is defined as missing 10% of school days, about 18 days per school year, or 
about 2 days per month. For more about the correlation between chronic absenteeism and academic 

Figure 6 | Number and Percent of SPS and SHA Students who are Chronically Absent  

 

SHA/SPS joint attendance initiatives are research-based and leverage the strengths and 

infrastructure of each institutional partner. Approaches center on family engagement, 

community supports, and systems alignment. In the 2017-18 school year, SHA and SPS 

implemented:  

• District-wide “nudge letters” to notify students and families about the number of 

school days missed 

risk, see: https://www.ecs.org/wp-content/uploads/Chronic_Absenteeism_-
__A_key_indicator_of_student_success.pdf 
 

9,185 SPS students are chronically 
absent

16%

1,513 are SHA 
Students 

84%

7,672 are non-SHA 
Students 

SHA vs. Non-SHA 
student chronic 

absenteeism rates

30%

15%

https://www.ecs.org/wp-content/uploads/Chronic_Absenteeism_-__A_key_indicator_of_student_success.pdf
https://www.ecs.org/wp-content/uploads/Chronic_Absenteeism_-__A_key_indicator_of_student_success.pdf


Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

15 
 

“

“

• Attendance partnerships between SHA, SPS, and five elementary and middle schools 

in the district where a significant proportion of students who live in subsidized 

housing are enrolled   

• Family visits for families of students transitioning into elementary, middle, or high 

school   

• Expanded communications with families, such as SPS educators attending community 

events hosted by SHA to build positive relationships with families 

• Alignment with youth service providers 

Partners are also implementing a pilot project at Bailey Gatzert Elementary School. SHA staff 

worked with homeless families whose students attended the school to address and mitigate 

housing instability, with the hope of improving attendance and academic outcomes. SHA and 

school staff coordinate to ensure students attend school, and that students and families are 

able to address immediate, basic needs that could otherwise interfere with students’ school 

success.        

Outcomes from attendance initiatives 

Preliminary data from the 2017-18 school year show promising outcomes regarding student 

attendance.14  

• Among SHA students, chronic absenteeism during the first 20 days decreased by 24% 

in 2017-18 when nudge letters were sent, compared with attendance during the first 

20 days in the previous school year.    

• All five elementary and middle schools implementing attendance partnerships in 

2017-18 met their City of Seattle levy goals regarding attendance. Of the 810 SHA 

                                                           
14 Additional outcome data from the Bailey Gatzert pilot will be available in the fall of 2018.    

students who attend those five schools, the percentage of chronically absent students 

dropped from 19% in 2016-17 to 15% in 2017-18. At one school, Asa Mercer 

International Middle School, chronic absenteeism among SHA students dropped from 

30% in 2016-17 to 21% in 2017-18.    

Leaders at participating schools affirm the SHA/SPS partnership’s role in advancing these 

outcomes: 

 

Our attendance has improved significantly overall and for our 

students who live in SHA housing as a result of this partnership.  

– School Principal  

The attendance challenges [supported by the partnership] have 

helped to increase attendance school wide. – School Principal 

SHA and SPS will continue to monitor data regarding student attendance and track 

improvements resulting from joint initiatives. Partners will also document other outcomes 

resulting from joint initiatives aimed at students’ educational success including: 

• Increased student participation in out-of-school-time programming 

• Improved family-school relationships and greater two-way communication 

• Increased formal opportunities for families to engage in their child’s education 

 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

16 
 

Tacoma Housing Authority 

Context  

Tacoma Housing Authority (THA) and Tacoma Public Schools (TPS) began implementing the 

Elementary School Housing Assistance Program (ESHAP) at McCarver Elementary School in 

2011 and it remains active. ESHAP initially focused on improving educational outcomes across 

a school’s population by stabilizing housing and reducing the overall student mobility rate for 

formerly homeless families.15 In 2015, the partners began implementing an additional joint 

initiative, the College Savings Account (CSA) program, to “spur [students’] aspiration to go to 

college, prepare for it, pay for it, and feel they belong when they go [to college].”16 

Outcome data presented below are considered preliminary as THA and TPS are still working 

out issues regarding identification of shared students and unified academic indicators. The 

findings may change as data sharing improves and generates more valid and reliable results.    

ESHAP initiative 

Partners identified McCarver as a vulnerable school due to high poverty and extreme mobility 

rates among the student population. THA, TPS, and school staff designed ESHAP to support 

families whose children attended McCarver, serving a cohort of families each year. When the 

program began, there was a concentration of subsidized housing in the neighborhood around 

McCarver. Over time, neighborhood changes and gentrification affected the housing supply. 

However, as families moved farther away, students still attended McCarver to receive the 

school-based family and educational supports.  

                                                           
15 Mobility rate refers to the frequency with which students change classrooms, schools, and/or 
housing.  

Results of a five-year evaluation completed in 2016 revealed that ESHAP’s primary benefits 

were family stabilization, which made a difference for those students; however, school-wide 

changes in educational outcomes that had been hoped for were not realized. In response, the 

program model shifted in 2017-18; the current cohort of participating families can attend 

their neighborhood school. This shift reflects both the realities of the subsidized housing 

market and the program’s focus on stabilizing students and families rather than on school-

level outcomes. ESHAP staff worked with school administrators to coordinate families’ 

transfers to their neighborhood schools and to ensure a smooth transition. 

The current ESHAP cohort includes 37 racially diverse households with 63 children at 

different grade levels (see Figures 7 and 8).  

Figure 7 | ESHAP Enrollees 2017-18, by Grade (n=63) 

 

16 See: CSA redesign memo, prepared by THA in 2018. 

12

5

13

8

10

8

7

Head Start Kinder 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 5th

Grade Level

# 
of

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

en
ro

lle
d 

in
 

ES
H

A
P



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

17 
 

Figure 8 | ESHAP Enrollees 2017-18, by Race17 (n=63) 

 

 

Outcomes of ESHAP initiative 

Results of a five-year program evaluation found that students served by ESHAP had lower 

turnover compared to other McCarver students.18 ESHAP students’ turnover rate ranged 

from 2.7% to 13.3% in the first four years and increased to 23.3% in Year 5. Even with the 

increase in Year 5, turnover was lower than for non-enrolled students, whose turnover rate 

was 99.7% in the same year. In 2017-2018, ESHAP students’ turnover rate was 26%, 

compared to 37% for the entire McCarver student population, and 23% district-wide. The 

five-year evaluation also showed a median attendance rate of 92% in Year 5, which was lower 

than other McCarver students (93%) but higher than other homeless students at that school 

(91%). For the 2017-18 cohort, the median attendance rate increased to 95%.  

                                                           
17 Three households indicated two or more races. 
18 Tacoma Housing Authority McCarver Elementary School Housing Assistance Program Year Five 
Evaluation Report. GEO Education and Research, 2017. Years include: Year 1 (2011‐2012 school year), 

The five-year evaluation compared ESHAP students’ academic measures with those of: other 

McCarver students, non-THA homeless students at McCarver, and other homeless students 

in TPS. Findings show mixed results; students served by ESHAP “showed significant gains in 

reading in the first year of the program,” though in subsequent years, reading levels were 

similar to other McCarver students. ESHAP students outperformed other, non-THA homeless 

students at McCarver in reading assessments in Years 3 and 4 but fell slightly behind in Year 

5. Math assessments revealed that ESHAP students were behind non-THA homeless students 

at McCarver in math in Year 3 but did better than this group in Years 4 and 5. In the 2017-

2018 cohort, the proportion of students who met reading and math standards (as measured 

by i-Ready scores) is lower for ESHAP students than for other THA students living in 

subsidized housing (see Table 5).19  

Table 5 | Proportion of Students Meeting Standards in Reading and Math i-Ready Scores, 2017-

2018 

TPS Performance 

Metrics 

Non-ESHAP, 

THA Students 
ESHAP 

i-Ready Reading (n=30) 36% 23% 

i-Ready Math (n=34) 34% 18% 

ESHAP was designed to benefit parents in a variety of ways. The five-year program evaluation 

found that “parents appreciate the program and acknowledge that it has given them a 

unique opportunity.” In reflecting on their experience, parents from the 2017-18 cohort 

mentioned the benefits of family stabilization, specifically regarding higher-education 

Year 2 (2012‐2013 school year), Year 3 (2013‐2014 school year), Year 4 (2014‐2015 school year), Year 
5 (2015‐2016 school year). 
19 Not all ESHAP students received i-Ready Math and Reading assessments 

18

9
8

4

1

African
American

White No race
indicated

American
Indian/Alaskan

Asian

Race/Ethnicity 

# 
of

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

en
ro

lle
d 

in
 

ES
H

A
P



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

18 
 

“

“

“

“

attainment, employment support, financial stability, improved health and mental health, and 

their ability to spend more time with their children.  

I started school within the last few months to finish up my pre-nursing degree. I 

wasn’t doing that before because I had to stop due to the fact that I was 

homeless and was going through a lot of stuff. And I was working part time, but 

now I work a full-time job and going to school full time. – ESHAP Participant 

I paid off 2 or 3 things that [were] on my collections, in a couple of months I will 

finish paying off my student loans and I will get to go back to school finally. I got 

a better paying job with better hours for my kids and I’m building my credit now. 

– ESHAP Participant 

We moved here and [my son] went through a pretty traumatic thing with his dad 

and the divorce. We were able to get him into counseling…and being able to get 

out of my mom’s basement, his room was a cement room, like a jail cell. He gets 

his own room now and he’s happy. He loves school and he even gets mad at me 

at the chance of even being late to school. – ESHAP Participant 

I can sit with her and help her do homework, instead of being too busy or too 

tired to look or check her work. Now we literally have homework time and I’m 

more involved. After that first year, we now have a place to go home to and now 

I can think about the future. – ESHAP Participant 

                                                           
20 CSA Program Report, May 2018. 

CSA program 

The College Savings Account (CSA) program began in 2015, serving low-income children in 

East Tacoma’s Salishan neighborhood, THA’s largest housing community. The CSA program 

currently provides matched savings accounts deposits for elementary school students and 

incentive-based savings for middle and high school students. In addition, it seeks to increase 

financial inclusion by promoting banking practices among unbanked families, and to “unite 

the region’s most diverse community by eliciting and enlisting its common expectation and 

hope that its children will succeed.”20  

Outcomes of CSA 

In the past three years, 140 students from 107 families have participated in the CSA program, 

making up 33.3% of all eligible students. Eighty-one percent of participants live in THA 

subsidized housing. Elementary and middle school students have received more than 

$36,000 in matched savings deposits, with an average student account balance of $165. In 

addition, 1,034 students have participated in financial education courses. However, CSA 

enrollment has steadily decreased each year. One possible reason for low enrollment during 

the initial years of the program is the challenge that families face with accessing a bank 

branch. However, THA staff are hopeful that a new bank branch opening nearby will 

encourage higher enrollment. 

Future outcome measurement  

TPS and THA will continue to monitor student and family outcomes related to the ESHAP and 

CSA programs through a data-sharing agreement that is currently in design. At this time, data 

sharing is ad hoc and somewhat vulnerable to discrepancies as both institutions work on 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

19 
 

“

“

creating the necessary mechanisms to generate valid and reliable findings. TPS is creating a 

data-sharing platform that would allow THA and other partners to instantly access relevant 

and legally appropriate student data, thus lowering the burden on TPS to comply with data 

requests from multiple partners. As this ambitious data-sharing project develops, THA and 

TPS are working on establishing a bilateral agreement whereby designated THA staff will have 

secure access to student-level data from TPS — including attendance, discipline, and 

academic performance data like grades and test scores − to measure student outcomes.   

Emerging Population-Level Outcomes  

There is emerging evidence of widespread improvements in school attendance as a result of 

partners’ efforts, most notably in Seattle and Highline school districts. In both districts, 

school-based attendance-focused joint interventions have resulted in school-wide decreases 

in chronic absenteeism. Further, there is evidence that stronger aligned systems and 

coordination between SHA and SPS contributed to improved family engagement.   

In their partnerships, PHAs and schools have emphasized development of relationships with 

families; for example, PHAs and educators have co-developed or co-hosted family and 

community events, such as attendance campaign kick-offs in White Center, and welcome 

back to school events held in SHA communities that were also attended by SPS department 

staff, community partners, and school staff. The SPS Department of Early Learning also 

leveraged these SHA-sponsored events to facilitate preschool and kindergarten registration 

for SHA families. PHAs have also conducted attendance celebrations to show support and 

recognition for students who were attending school, and school staff attended these events 

as well.   

In Seattle, opportunities for organizations to engage with families often helped to catalyze 

partners’ joint efforts. One example is SHA’s and SPS’s co-development of customized 

educational materials for Somali families. With the help of the Somali Family Safety Taskforce 

and Seattle Public Library, Somali families were engaged to create a children’s alphabet book, 

which was printed and is now available in classrooms, schools, libraries, and SHA housing 

communities. The book is also being purchased across the country by other housing and 

education partners. In another example, jointly engaging with families also helped surface 

that there were some concerns among SHA families about a school principal transition. To 

address families’ concerns, SPS and SHA coordinated to ensure that SHA parents and SHA 

staff were on the interview panel for the new principal.   

In Seattle, schools have relied on SHA to help convey important information to families, such 

as dates or deadlines, and for more ad hoc and responsive communications. In Seattle, for 

example, SHA staff were able to provide information to families about the SPS school bus 

driver strike in the spring of 2018. PHAs also help to distribute newsletters or other important 

information to families, often translating information into multiple home languages.  

School staff also observed that partnerships have helped them strengthen relationships with 

families. In Seattle, for example, SHA has facilitated opportunities for school and district staff 

to meet with families at SHA properties to make connections easier. Meeting in housing 

communities gives parents and school staff an opportunity to sit down and talk in a place 

where families may feel more comfortable. This allows school staff to hear and address family 

concerns and build trust. Partnerships between PHAs and schools have resulted in schools 

connecting with families and students in ways that they would not have been able to do on 

their own.  

Partnership between the schools, SHA and SPS central offices has 

created more trust between families and schools. I hope this continues 

to grow. – SPS Staff 

The improved relationships and communication we have with families 

[because of the partnership] is huge. – School Staff 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

20 
 

The expansion of school/family relationships and the increased visibility of partnerships have 

also enabled quick responses to family emergencies. For example, when an SHA family had a 

fire in their apartment, Seattle partners were able to quickly coordinate and provide support. 

The SHA community builder contacted school staff, who immediately coordinated with SPS’ 

McKinney-Vento office to arrange for transportation so that the affected family’s students 

could attend school without interruption. Without the alignment and connections between 

SHA and SPS, the students could have missed several days of school while their housing 

situation was addressed.   

Expanding relationships and the visibility of partnerships have also led to engagement with 

other housing providers. In Seattle, a school that had engaged with SHA around attendance 

noticed that a new low-income apartment complex was being built near the school campus. 

School staff mentioned this to the SPS liaison, who reached out to the non-profit housing 

developer and established a meeting with staff from the neighboring elementary and middle 

schools. This interaction resulted in the schools’ ability to share lease application information 

with low-income families before the school year ended. The housing developer, in turn, will 

share important information from SPS with families, and offer a change of address form at 

the time of leasing in hopes of expediting the school enrollment process. The experience has 

since catalyzed even more connections; the SPS liaison has discussed partnership 

opportunities with four other affordable housing providers interested in supporting their 

residents’ education in similar ways to the SHA partnership.   

While it is still early to see robust population-level outcomes, these examples provide a 

glimpse of the ways in which strong cross-sector partnerships can influence outcomes at 

scale.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

21 
 

“
Structural and Systemic Outcomes 
Cross-sector partnerships are complex; successful partnership results from the dynamic 

interaction of multiple factors. As noted earlier in this report, part of ORS’ measurement has 

focused on documenting partnerships’ infrastructure, characteristics, and functions, and how 

these have developed and strengthened over time.   

These structural and systemic elements of partnerships include, for example, how partners 

communicate and make decisions, share data, or implement new or adapted institutional 

practices and policies to facilitate joint work. This section describes significant structural and 

systemic outcomes that have enabled partners to successfully advance outcomes for 

students and families. 

King County Housing Authority 

Data-sharing agreements  

KCHA and HPS have a data-sharing agreement which has facilitated both recruitment of GLEA 

participants and tracking of GLEA and attendance-related outcomes. The ability to share data 

has also facilitated productive discussions about shared goals and informed program 

improvement efforts. Data sharing was also expressed as instrumental to engaging families in 

the GLEA program. 

 

KCHA helped us identify families with kids aged 0-2 who were also 

living in subsidized housing. School districts don’t traditionally have 

access to data on students until they are registered for kindergarten, or 

maybe preschool. So, we have no way to find families to invite them to 

participate in a program like GLEA. The partnership with KCHA was 

perfect to bring two agencies together with lots of great information, 

but not the same information. -HPS Director of Early Learning  

In both Kent and Bellevue, reestablishing these types of data-sharing agreements has been 

more challenging due to factors including the lack of staff capacity to maintain and analyze 

data, software migration issues, and confidentiality issues and mandates. Still, there are plans 

in place to reestablish data-sharing agreements with both BSD and KSD in the 2018-19 school 

year, which is expected to enhance early learning and attendance-focused efforts. 

Tools to support collaboration with educational partners  

In 2016, KCHA established the Education Partnership Framework, a blueprint for how a PHA 

can contribute to advancing student outcomes to which schools are also committed. The 

Education Partnership Framework reflects KCHA’s wisdom and insights gained from its efforts 

to date and clarifies how KCHA is best positioned to facilitate interventions at the school, 

community, and household levels. The Framework has helped KCHA to better make the case 

for housing-education partnerships and has begun to usefully shape KCHA’s relationships 

with schools and districts. 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

22 
 

“

Regular communication and coordination to align joint efforts  

Through regular communication and coordination, KCHA has deepened its relationships with 

education providers, including leaders, decision makers, and those who work directly 

students. KCHA and education partners (district staff, school staff, and community-based 

organizations) have engaged in intentional efforts to plan, coordinate, and align their focus 

and service delivery regarding high-leverage issues such as early learning and attendance. 

Regular joint planning between KCHA and education partners has ensured better service 

delivery for program beneficiaries while fostering continuous learning and improvement. For 

example, KCHA and HPS have coordinated closely about GLEA, which allowed staff to see that 

GLEA participants may need many touchpoints during children’s early years to ensure that 

parents get acquainted with the school system and become more engaged in their children’s 

education before children start kindergarten. 

“[While we were planning GLEA and the Baby Academy] we met all the time – 

and we still meet to talk about the development of the program, how we can 

establish a continuum of support beyond [the program].” – HPS Director of Early 

Learning 

Through Eastside Pathways, KCHA is involved in joint planning with BSD and Lake Hills 

Elementary School staff as they design and plan to implement the BELA early learning 

program. KCHA staff have also been facilitating discussions among KSD staff, East Hill 

Elementary School staff, and community partners regarding the development and 

implementation of CARE Academy.  

Joint planning has also been crucial in attendance initiatives, as each school works with KCHA 

to develop appropriate interventions for their own contexts. Partnering on attendance efforts 

has provided opportunities for KCHA and schools to consider attendance issues from 

different perspectives, which has enriched joint initiatives.  

Supportive internal policies 

Like other regional housing authorities, KCHA recognizes that students whose families live in 

subsidized housing face educational opportunity and outcome gaps, which perpetuate the 

likelihood of generational poverty. To help interrupt that cycle, KCHA has formally adopted 

education as a part of its mission as a housing provider. According to Stephen Norman, 

Executive Director of KCHA, certain policy changes were particularly important to facilitating 

these efforts, including: 

• Subsidized housing in high-opportunity neighborhoods. Research shows that students 

do better when they grow up in high-opportunity neighborhoods, and KCHA’s policies 

aim to make this possible for more students. KCHA created six different payment 

standards and can offer families subsidies that cover housing costs in high-

opportunity neighborhoods, which makes it possible for students to attend high-

performing schools and accrue other benefits of growing up in these communities.in  

• Re-aligned definition of homelessness. For its education partnerships, KCHA adopted 

the Department of Education’s definition of homelessness, which is broader than the 

one used by the Department of Housing and Urban Development. Using the broader 

definition allows KCHA to provide immediate supports to students whose housing is 

unstable so that they are less likely to face interruptions in their school attendance 

due to homelessness. 

• Commitment to engage those with educational expertise as advisors. Recognizing the 

need for multi-level cross-sector engagement, KCHA recruited the PSESD 

Superintendent to serve on its Board of Commissioners. Bringing educational 

experience and leadership to its Board ensures that education remains an integral and 

effective aspect of KCHA’s mission.   



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

23 
 

“

Strengthened multi-stakeholder partnerships   

KCHA has become increasingly involved with the Eastside Pathways initiative, and KCHA staff 

have taken a leadership role within the initiative’s early learning and attendance work groups, 

helping to set the agenda and organize stakeholders in their joint work. KCHA also works 

closely with The Road Map Project, a similar collective impact initiative in South Seattle and 

South King County. Leaders from both initiatives recognize KCHA as a crucial partner in their 

work, given its influence and capacity for action, the access it provides to families that school 

districts would not reach otherwise, and the potential for cross-sector collaboration.  

Seattle Housing Authority 

Well-established, stable infrastructure includes an Executive 

Steering Committee, dedicated staff liaisons, and data sharing   

A strong and well-established collaboration infrastructure between SHA and SPS is believed 

to be key to advancing outcomes for students and families.  SHA-SPS joint initiatives are 

grounded in their leaders’ commitments to shared goals as well as institutional agreements 

about data sharing, staffing, and resources, all of which have been key to ensuring aligned 

practices and service delivery.    

At the core of the partnership, leaders and department heads from both SHA and SPS are 

involved in an Executive Steering Committee, which has met quarterly for the past three 

years. In addition, each institution has a designated a full-time staff liaison dedicated to 

ensuring smooth and productive communication and coordination efforts between the 

partners, developing and leading initiatives, and identifying key opportunities for systems 

alignment. The liaisons participate in the Executive Steering Committee and also meet with 

one another regularly regarding the development and implementation of joint initiatives. This 

infrastructure helped SHA and SPS do two important things: develop and adopt a joint 

strategic plan, and work out a data-sharing agreement, which many expressed as 

“foundational to our programming … all of our initiatives hinge on [shared data].”   

Working out the mechanics of data sharing was a significant effort that took about a year. 

However, once data were available that showed how SHA students compared with the full 

SPS population, the partnership’s infrastructure enabled useful discussion about where to 

prioritize – leading to the focus on chronic absenteeism, and the design and implementation 

of joint initiatives.   

Sharing data is critical to any partnership such as this one … [and], you 

also need to know how to use the data. – SHA Staff 

The dedicated staff liaisons have also been critical for successful partnership efforts. As one 

SHA staff member said, “You need staff who are champions and who will promote [partner 

efforts] and convince the rest of the organization to go along.” An initial focus for the liaisons 

was to facilitate alignment by helping to clarify roles and operationalize shared goals and 

agreements. Currently, their work is more focused on building and implementing programs. 

Liaisons also serve as conduits, keeping their eyes and ears open for more ways to connect 

and align efforts across the organizations.  

Expanded and more visible cross-institutional partnerships 

The liaisons have met with multiple departments within their organizations to explain the 

partnership’s goals and theory of action, and pursue expanded coordination and deepened 

institutional relationships and alignment. SPS department staff and school staff are seeing the 

added value that housing providers bring to their own goals and projects by facilitating 

stronger connections and engagement with families. Staff across SHA and SPS now 

understand even more profoundly how important the liaison positions are for identifying and 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

24 
 

leveraging the strengths and needs of historically underserved populations living in affordable 

housing, and finding ways to improve existing services and systems to be responsive to their 

shared families and students, and to scale impact to all the families they aim to serve. School 

staff have also leveraged SHA and SPS liaisons to amplify the message that school attendance 

is important, build positive relationships with families, and make it easier for families to 

access educational services.  

Improved and aligned approaches to engage families and support 

student success  

The focus on attendance-focused initiatives led SHA and SPS to investigate the experience of 

their shared students and families, revealing a variety of reasons why students are absent 

from school, including not having their basic needs met, lacking transportation, or lacking a 

positive connection with their school. Student attendance can also be interrupted when 

families cannot easily navigate the educational system, for example to locate after-school 

support for their children or work out issues related to their child’s classroom experiences. 

SHA and SPS families expressed confusion and difficulty navigating the educational system, 

which is potentially exacerbated by the fact that SHA and SPS staff have different modes of 

communication, relationships, and outlets to support families with their particular needs or 

questions. SHA and SPS are now more aligned in their understanding of families’ experiences, 

and the organizations have pursued multiple responses to ensure a caring and welcoming 

educational experience for students and families.  

A key area of alignment is professional development. SHA staff have been invited to attend 

professional development trainings arranged by SPS at no cost, and many SHA staff have 

participated. This overlapping professional development has helped SHA and SPS staff to be 

aware of frameworks or approaches in use across the two institutions, promoted shared 

values, and informed aligned efforts. For example, SHA aligned with SPS’ dual-capacity 

framework for family engagement, which emphasizes bringing family voices forward, then 

used it to develop SHA’s approach of engaging families to co-design family-centered 

attendance and academic support efforts.      

This growing cross-pollination between SHA and SPS staff appears to be encouraging a 

tipping point in improved and aligned approaches. For example, SHA staff now sit on SPS task 

forces, and vice versa. SPS staff recently asked SHA staff to present a Housing 101 seminar so 

that district staff could be better prepared to respond in an aligned and useful way when 

families came to them with housing issues. As another example, an SHA community builder is 

a volunteer mentor in a program being implemented by the middle school that serves 

students living in the housing community where she works. This growing coordination helps 

strengthen relationships between adults and students, and between families and schools, 

and amplifies the potency of school-based, SHA community-based, and joint initiatives.  

SHA and SPS have also worked to align their goals, efforts, and resources with those of other 

organizations. For example, youth-serving organizations that provide services to SHA 

students were informed about the attendance-focused initiatives and have received regular 

updates about school attendance for the students they serve through their programming. 

With that information, youth-serving organizations were able to coordinate their own efforts 

aimed at improving and recognizing students’ school attendance.    

Expanded, more deeply embedded partnership 

In addition to the Executive Steering Committee and dedicated staff liaisons, the partnership 

includes those representing multiple internal departments at SHA and SPS, as well as those 

from schools and youth-serving organizations that provide services at SHA housing sites. 

Reflecting on a partnership mapping exercise done in early 2016, SHA and SPS staff noted 

how the partnership had broadened and deepened since then. A partnership survey 

implemented by SHA was sent to 106 stakeholders in 2017, and to a larger sample of 161 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

25 
 

“

“ 

individuals in 2018, reflecting an increase in the number of stakeholders engaged in joint 

efforts. Partnership survey data affirmed staff perceptions of broadened and deepened 

alignment. The 54 partnership survey respondents in 2018 reflected 13 SPS departments, six 

schools, seven SHA departments, and three youth-serving organizations. Of the respondents:  

• 70% said they understand the partnership’s vision and goals well or very well, and 

over 60% said they understood their organization’s role in the partnership well or very 

well.  

• 74% agreed that the partnership has helped draw needed attention to the issue of 

chronic absenteeism.  

• 70% said that their department or organization had taken steps to align with the 

partnership’s goals.  

• Almost 75% said the partnership has helped them to become more successful in their 

jobs. 

The partnership was beneficial in formatting collaborations between SHA 

residents and our school community, especially since 80% of the students at our 

school are SHA residents. – SPS School Staff 

Bringing awareness to SHA staff that chronic absenteeism has serious negative 

impacts on a child’s education and that SHA youth are absent more than others 

has highlighted the need for community builders and other staff to engage in 

positive interactions with families to encourage them to prioritize getting their 

children to school. – SHA Community Builder 

Tacoma Housing Authority 

Strong and stable infrastructure includes an interlocal agreement, 

leadership engagement, and designated staff  

THA and TPS adopted an interlocal agreement in 2017 which reflects a formal policy change 

as the organizations outline their common goals and ways of engaging with each other. The 

agreement indicates that they both have envisioned sharing and using data to design, adjust, 

evaluate, and identify program needs. Though data sharing has taken longer than anticipated, 

it is finally moving forward. The partnership has commissioned an evaluation of their data 

systems to better understand the technical modifications necessary to ensure effective and 

confidential data sharing. The results of this evaluation will be presented in 2018 as the first 

step towards establishing a data-sharing calendar with aligned metrics and clearer roles for 

THA and TPS in the data exchange process. 

In addition, intentional and recurrent leadership involvement by THA’s Executive Director and 

the TPS Superintendent has secured greater alignment and effectiveness. Leaders have 

consistently held regular meetings to discuss and plan the partnership’s focus and activities. 

Currently, leaders meet monthly and express deep commitment to their ongoing relationship 

around the partnership.   

The partnership began with a programmatic focus and included THA-designated program 

managers to lead ESHAP and CSA and coordinate with school and district staff. Despite staff 

turnover, expectations regarding roles and responsibilities of the THA program managers has 

remained fairly constant. ESHAP and CSA program managers primarily engaged with school 

staff; to enhance alignment, TPS appointed a liaison, Thu Ament, in 2017. Thu has become a 

critical point of contact, and his director-level role has facilitated coordination regarding 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

26 
 

service delivery and data sharing. Thu, THA program managers, and THA Deputy Director 

April Black meet regularly for joint decision-making purposes.  

Expanded partnership and increased alignment 

The appointment of a director-level liaison from TPS has served as a conduit; THA staff have 

since engaged with many other TPS departments, which has enhanced program coordination 

and service delivery. Reflecting on a partnership network map that was created in 2016, THA 

staff reported that touchpoints with TPS have more than doubled in the past two years, from 

20 to 48 individual connections. More robust inter-institution connections have included TPS 

Department Directors serving as advisors on a recent redesign of ESHAP and CSA, which 

focused on ensuring that the goals of the two programs and measures were aligned with 

what TPS was already committed to tracking.  

Engagement with external stakeholders has also grown in the past two years, from 49 to 108 

connections. Broader engagement also fostered alignment regarding the expansion and scale 

of ESHAP and CSA programs.  

  



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

27 
 

“

“

Looking Across Partnerships 

Partnership History 
Each of the five partnerships had a different starting point and has followed a different 

trajectory. These different journeys reflect the different contexts of the work. This section 

includes brief descriptions of each partnership’s starting point, their guiding frameworks, and 

some key developments that have occurred over the five-year initiative.     

Guiding Frameworks   

Over the past five years, all of the PHAs have developed strategic frameworks to guide their 

partnership efforts with schools and districts. The frameworks have helped to institutionalize 

partnerships and articulate how PHAs contribute to advancing educational outcomes.   

King County Housing Authority 

Demonstrating that a commitment to education is an important aspect of the organization’s 

mission, KCHA’s Executive Director Stephen Norman established an Education Initiatives unit 

with two new staff positions. While in the past, KCHA’s attempts to engage school districts 

did not always receive reciprocal energy and support, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation’s 

grant provided an opportunity to create tangible programs, which was a hook that helped 

jump-start partnerships with the Bellevue, Highline, and Kent school districts.  

KCHA met each school district where it was and brainstormed ideas, thinking about how to 

marry the unique assets of each organization. KCHA already had a nearly 20-year relationship 

with HPS. Together, HPS leaders and KCHA staff immediately identified early learning as a 

focus area and created the GLEA program. In Bellevue and Kent, however, relationships were 

newer. To get started, KCHA worked with BSD and KSD to implement after-school programs 

that provided academic enrichment and tutoring to middle school students. Over time, KCHA 

recognized that joint programming had limitations in terms of scaling and sustainability and 

sought to more clearly describe where a PHA can be instrumental to advancing educational 

outcomes.   

In 2016, KCHA developed an Education Partnership Framework outlining four key areas for its 

joint work with school districts: kindergarten readiness, attendance, college access, and out-

of-school time. In addition, the Framework identified a range of potential interventions at the 

school, community, and household levels and now informs KCHA’s current and future efforts. 

Seattle Housing Authority  

Both SHA and SPS were motivated to strategically align and saw value in partnering, so there 

wasn’t the same need for a hook to get them started. Early in their partnership, they 

developed a strategic plan that outlined agreements regarding governance, staffing, and data 

sharing. While this was admittedly not a very glamorous era of the partnership, partners 

viewed this early work as necessary to building a solid foundation for successful joint efforts.   

It was frustrating because … other partnerships were getting programs 

going and having results – it was like ‘what are you doing?’ We were 

setting up check-ins, having conversations, getting data agreements. 

That was a lot of initial effort and frustration with how long that took 

to get in place. But it was really important. – SHA Staff  

I entered into this position at the end of 2016, after the difficult work 

of developing the staffing model and steering committee structure, 

data-sharing agreement, and grant applications were completed. This 

important work has helped us develop and implement projects with 

more ease because the relationships and data-sharing processes were 

already established. – SPS Staff 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

28 
 

“

“

Tacoma Housing Authority 

Like King County, THA initiated a partnership with TPS via two place-based programs: ESHAP, 

implemented at McCarver Elementary School, and CSA, implemented in the Salishan housing 

community. Focusing on these two programs was viewed as a starting point; the programs 

offered clear benefits to schools and families and facilitated THA’s efforts to form 

relationships with schools, gain awareness about how to partner most effectively, and 

establish traction towards broader partnership.   

The THA-TPS partnership is rooted in a formal interlocal agreement, which was catalyzed via 

support from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.     

When we started to develop the interlocal agreement [in 2012 or so], there was 

really no model for an agreement between a housing authority and a school 

district. THA and TPS leaders were making it up as they went along – it was 

building the plane while flying it. – THA Staff       

The agreement outlines the scope of the partnership, which includes but extends beyond the 

two place-based programs, as well as expectations about staffing, resources, and data 

sharing. While there has been significant progress towards data sharing, partners are still 

finalizing the details. The agreement has facilitated better coordination and deepening of the 

relationship between THA and TPS.   

The [agreement] is a way to draw on both institutions’ expertise and resources, 

and better link our strengths. For example, THA is contracting with TPS to 

provide a spring break camp at Salishan, with the aim of bringing in diverse 

programming. – THA Staff    

  



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

29 
 

Key Developments  

Table 6 |Key Developments Across Partnerships 

 King County Seattle Tacoma 

Staffing • Hired Educational 

Initiatives staff, 2014-

2015 

• SHA and SPS hire 

liaisons to facilitate 

and coordinate 

partnership efforts 

(2015)  

• Staffing transition: 

new liaisons hired 

(2017)  

• THA assigns staff 

to build and 

manage 

partnership (2015) 

• TPS assigns staff to 

coordinate with 

THA (2017)  

Joint 

Initiatives 

• Launched GLEA, HPS 

(2015)  

• Launched Club 678, 

BSD, and SIMS, KSD 

(2015) 

• Launched Attendance 

Awareness Campaign, 

HPS (2015) 

• Development of BELA 

program in BSD 

(2018) 

• Development of CARE 

Academy in KSD 

(2018) 

• Attendance 

interventions 

piloted (2015-16)  

• Suite of 

attendance 

initiatives launched 

in 2017-18 

• ESHAP launched at 

McCarver 

Elementary School 

(2011) 

• CSA launched 

(2015) 

• Partners jointly 

redesign ESHAP 

and CSA to align 

with other TPS 

programs and to 

be scaled across 

the district (2017) 

 

Data 

Sharing 
• Data-sharing 

agreement with HPS 

(2017) 

 

• Data-sharing 

agreement 

established (2016) 

• Interlocal 

agreement 

established; 

includes data 

sharing (2016) 

Other  • Emergence of 

Eastside Pathways  

• BSD superintendent 

transition (2016) 

• Pivot away from 

after-school program 

and focus on early 

learning and 

attendance across 

partnerships (2017) 

• KSD financial crisis 

and layoffs (2017)  

• Executive Steering 

Committee 

established (2015) 

• SPS 

superintendent 

transition (2018)  

 

• THA hires TPS 

deputy-

superintendent to 

manage inter-

institutional 

relations (2010) 

 

 

Looking Forward  

The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation was an important catalyst of partnerships between 

PHAs and school districts; grant funding has largely supported institutions’ capacity to engage 

in joint planning and implementation of initiatives, and organizational development. And, 

because regional PHAs have formally embedded education into their missions, KCHA, THA, 

and SHA leaders all affirmed that partnership with schools and districts will continue to be a 

priority.  



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

30 
 

“

“

“

The past five years have demonstrated that relationships with school districts can be affected 

by leader transitions and resource challenges, which have the potential to affect schools’ 

attention and commitment to partner. The transition of BSD’s superintendent creates an 

opportunity yet has also slowed efforts to secure a data-sharing agreement. KSD’s current 

financial crisis resulted in a large number of layoffs of key district personnel and has also led 

to a slowdown in partnership development efforts. SPS’ leadership and resources have been 

more stable, and the partnership with SHA has begun to be institutionalized. SPS has started 

to craft job descriptions for key positions, such as the SPS Attendance Manager, that explicitly 

state the expectation to work closely with SHA, ensuring that the partnership can be 

sustained regardless of staff turnover.  

The fact that we’re building this partnership into job descriptions will help with 

sustainability. – SPS Staff 

Additionally, the former SPS liaison is now writing the transition plan for the incoming SPS 

superintendent and has included the partnership with SHA as a key feature.   

The superintendent will understand that our partnership with SHA is something 

that should be celebrated, something that’s unique, and something that is cutting 

edge. SPS is seen as an innovator, nationally and regionally. This partnership is 

one example of innovation, and people will look to us to see how we did the work 

and the superintendent will want to share that. – SPS Staff   

To sustain cross-institutional relationships, PHA staff recognize the need to develop and 

foster relationships at multiple levels within the education system, including with district 

leaders and decision makers, as well as with school leaders and staff. To sustain partnerships 

and advance student outcomes, PHAs also identified opportunities to go beyond bilateral 

relationships with school districts and engage a wider group of stakeholders around a shared 

vision of success. KCHA staff cited the potential to engage and align stakeholders through 

collective impact efforts such as Eastside Pathways and the Road Map Project. KCHA’s 

partnership with BSD was catalyzed by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation’s grant, though 

now operates within the umbrella of the Eastside Pathways collective impact initiative. 

In the collective impact approach, all hundred community-based 

organizations, the PHA, and the school district are at the same table as 

equals thinking about how to tackle the same problem with an aligned 

approach rather than competing for each other’s’ attention. – KCHA 

Staff  

THA staff are also pursuing deeper and broader partnerships with a range of stakeholders, 

including the City of Tacoma, the United Way, and regional community colleges. These 

broader partnerships bring players who have skin in the game to the table, allowing for 

better alignment of a variety of resources and often alleviating power dynamics that 

sometimes arise in bilateral PHA-school district partnerships, where PHAs are often bringing 

resources. 

  



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

31 
 

“

“

“

Takeaways Across Partnerships 

The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation’s PNW housing and education initiative has yielded 

useful insights about how PHAs and educational institutions can work together to effectively 

influence student and family outcomes. These insights will be examined in greater depth in a 

forthcoming brief. This section summaries some key takeaways.   

PHA leaders have committed to an expansion of their missions, focusing on students’ 

educational success as a long-term strategy to reduce the number of families that face 

housing instability, which adds to the sustainability of educational partnerships | PHA 

leaders have demonstrated their commitment by adapting institutional policies, hiring staff, 

connecting with school district leaders, and engaging in the governance and coordination of 

partners’ efforts. PHAs have also been able to demonstrate what they have to offer regarding 

education outcomes.  

[PHAs] don’t have skin in game; we’re not competing for funding, we’re not an 

education system. [PHAs’] agenda is simply better outcomes for our kids. 

[Therefore,] it’s easier to bring resources to the table. – KCHA staff  

The Foundation’s grant was an important catalyst; school districts typically have fewer 

flexible financial resources, so grant funding helped to draw districts into initial planning 

conversations.   

Strategic alignment and institutional connections encompassing key decision-making 

nodes are important for the development and sustainability of partnerships | PHAs 

initiated partnerships differently. While SHA initially sought strategic systems alignment, 

KCHA began with programs, as that seemed like an easier “hook” for school districts. THA had 

both goals in mind, and started with programs though partnership efforts have included 

systems alignment from the beginning, e.g., THA created a description of roles to guide 

institutions’ joint efforts. Over time, KCHA has come to recognize that to sustain partnerships, 

it is important to emphasize systems’ alignment, e.g., for KCHA to align with school districts’ 

strategic plans. KCHA staff recognized that when the focus is primarily on programs, joint 

efforts are not as likely to get attention and support from school district administrators or the 

right school district decision makers.  

[Just implementing programs was eventually problematic], because 

when we came back and said ‘we aren’t getting the outcomes we’d 

hoped for, should we re-think this?’ the decision-making process just 

was not clear. – KCHA staff   

All of the regional PHAs are now working to align with school districts’ strategic plans and 

goals; this reflects the maturity of efforts and lessons learned. While project or program 

connections were an easy and natural starting place, just jointly implementing a program is 

limiting in terms of outcome achievement. However, building relationships, aligning strategic 

work, and being clear about decision making helps to accelerate the work and the potential 

for outcome achievement. The more that joint efforts are aligned with school districts’ 

strategy and goals, the easier it is to coordinate efforts and the quicker the on-ramps to 

deeper partnership.       

That is a lesson learned – be clear about decision making, and who 

[needs to be connected to the work]. Who is going to keep in touch 

with who? Where is there overlap? Where are the decision-making 

nodes? How can we get data to help us know where we should focus? 

Not many of those conversations happened up front. We had to go 

back and do that. It’s critical for decision-making nodes at each 

institution to be connected to one another. – KCHA staff  



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

32 
 

While all regional partners continue to work to align and coordinate their efforts for shared 

students, new Superintendents in BSD and SPS may put the durability of partnerships to the 

test.   

For housing and education partnerships, there are notable sweet spots | Regional 

partnerships show how PHAs and schools can effectively leverage one another’s assets. 

Specifically, working with PHAs allows schools and districts to interact more closely with 

families and better understand and respond to families’ needs. This, in turn, helps schools 

improve educational services for students. PHAs can boost and align resources to meet 

students’ educational needs, address opportunity gaps, and ensure greater equity of access 

to support. Partnership efforts focused on early learning and kindergarten readiness, 

attendance, and after-school academic enrichment are good examples of ways to leverage 

partners’ assets.    

Greater visibility of partnerships within PHAs and across school districts has catalyzed 

an expansion of coordination and alignment | Galvanizing the structural and systemic 

elements required for effective and sustained cross-institutional partnership takes time. 

However, as these elements have become firmer, partnership efforts have solidified, and 

efforts have become stronger and more visible within the respective institutions. This has 

helped to increase the number of institutional touch points which has contributed to 

expanded alignment. In Seattle, examples of more organic connections and collaboration 

across the institutions are starting to emerge, and coordination no longer has to occur 

through the staff liaisons. This type of engagement creates the potential for outcomes at 

scale.   

Regional partnerships have influenced state and national dialogue and policy | Housing 

and education partnerships in the Pacific Northwest represent a visionary approach; all three 

PHAs funded by the Foundation have incorporated education into their mission and are 

committed to advancing student outcomes as a way to disrupt the cycle of poverty that fuels 

demand for subsidized housing.  

Programmatic successes across KCHA, SHA, and THA have spurred dialogue and, in some 

cases, policy action. At the state level, THA Executive Director Michael Mirra has been 

involved in drafting and passing legislation to establish statewide programs based on the 

ESHAP and CSA models. At the national level, PNW partnerships have informed dialogue and 

the pursuit of more intentional housing and educational alignment within the Council of 

Large Public Housing Authorities (CLPHA). 

Conclusion 
The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation’s investment in the PNW housing and education 

partnerships initiative has resulted in the development of solid cross-institutional 

infrastructure, creating the conditions for improved services and supports for shared 

students and the advancement of student and family outcomes. Data show evidence of 

promising results for students and families; there are been positive changes in school 

attendance (reduction of chronic absenteeism), kindergarten readiness, and reading and 

math test scores as a result of partners’ joint efforts. Partners’ efforts continue to develop, 

including creating data-sharing processes necessary to track key outcomes. Beyond outcomes 

resulting from partners’ joint initiatives, there is also evidence of more widespread change 

resulting from expanded collaboration and the growing cross-institutional alignment.     

Outcomes are promising, though continued investment is likely to be required to maintain 

the infrastructure for PHAs and schools’ work. In particular, investments that support staff 

and governance will be important to ensure that partnerships can weather transitions and 

rough patches, such as leadership changes or funding uncertainties.   

  



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

33 
 

Appendix A:  Methodology  

Series of Meetings and Communications with Key Partnership 

Representatives  

ORS Impact communicated regularly and met periodically with grant leads and key partner 

representatives between October 2017 and June 2018. These conversations were 

opportunities to hear about and document partnership history, current activities, and 

outcomes.  In addition, grant leads and partner representatives provided resource materials 

related to partners’ efforts, and contact information for supplementary interviews. 

Interviews with Institutional Leaders 

ORS Impact conducted interviews with Executive Directors at KCHA, SHA, and THA.  

Interviews were also conducted with key staff in partner school districts, including executive 

leaders and departmental directors or managers.  

Interviews and Focus Groups with Stakeholders and Program Data 

Collection 

ORS Impact conducted phone and in-person interviews and focus groups with program 

stakeholders, including staff at schools implementing attendance initiatives or other joint 

initiatives, parents of students served by partners’ joint initiatives, or community-based 

partners engaged in PHAs’ and schools’ joint efforts.  ORS Impact also attended and observed 

program planning meetings and events to learn about partnerships infrastructure, 

characteristics, functions, and impacts.  

 

Network Mapping Reflection  

In May and June 2018, ORS Impact engaged grant leads and key partner representatives in a 

reflection on a partnership network mapping exercise initially completed in 2016. Participants 

included staff from housing authorities and school districts that have primary responsibility 

for carrying out the intent of the Foundation’s grant. Partners reflected on how the network 

maps created two years prior had changed and evolved – e.g., how connections among key 

actors had increased or deepened in some cases, and how the actors involved had changed in 

some cases.   

Review of Impact Data 

ORS Impact reviewed secondary data collected and reported by partners for inclusion in this 

report.  

 

 

 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

34 
 

Appendix B:  Frameworks for 

Conceptualizing and Naming 

Structural and Systemic Changes  

Impact, Influence, Leverage, and Learning (I2L2) 

Most social change efforts are (appropriately) focused on the extent to which investments, 

initiatives, or activities directly affect the health, livelihood, education, and other spheres of 

wellbeing for individuals or populations. However, the success of social change efforts often 

depends on the extent to which investments, initiatives, or activities influence the structures 

and systems that surround individuals or populations, and that promote or enable positive 

outcomes. In many cases, those investing in initiatives such as the Bill & Melinda Gates 

Foundation’s PNW Housing and Education Partnerships acknowledge that systems changes are 

necessary to advancing change among individuals or populations.  However, these crucial 

systems-level outcomes are often left out of standard measurement and evaluation approaches, 

and investors or funders sometimes fail to consider or acknowledge the significance of structural 

or systemic changes. The Impact, Influence, Leverage, and Learning (I2L2) framework posits that 

structural and systemic outcomes are often important catalysts of durable, lasting change and 

the framework identifies these types of outcomes.  Naming structural and systemic outcomes 

helps make them visible, which facilitates measurement of meaningful change.  Naming these 

outcomes also helps illuminate how and why systems-level changes are so important to complex 

social change efforts. 

                                                           
21 “I2L2: A formula for change.” Reisman, Gienapp, and Kelly (2015). ORS Impact. 
http://orsimpact.com/DirectoryAttachments/132018_23544_635_I2L2_LAYOUT_FINAL.pdf  

The I2L2 framework identifies impact as the durable, lasting change for individuals or 

populations.  The framework divides systems-level outcomes into two categories: Influence 

and Leverage. Influence refers to the broad set of changes that may occur within 

organizations, institutions, networks, norms, partnerships, policies, or practices. Leverage 

refers to changes in the commitment of resources. Learning refers to the set of activities and 

habits that encourage adaptation and improvement of social change efforts or contribute to 

field-building or other knowledge acquisition. Together, influence, leverage, and learning can 

enable, accelerate, or amplify the impact of a given initiative. Figure 9 describes the I2L2 

framework’s elements in more detail.21  

As we conducted data analysis for this report, we drew on the I2L2 framework to consider 

the types of structural and systemic outcomes that are resulting from PHAs’ and school 

districts’ partnerships, and how these changes have contributed to student and family 

outcomes and are setting the stage for larger-scale and sustainable population-level 

outcomes in the future. 

Figure 9 | I2L2 framework summary 

 

  = + +Impact

Impact relates to changes 

in the lives of individuals or 
populations, or changes 

within geographical areas 
or ecosystems and can 

reflect changes in attitudes, 
knowledge, behavior, skills, 
perceptions, beliefs, 
practices, relationships, or 
conditions. 

Influence

Influence reflects systems-

level changes within or 
across organizations, 

institutions, networks, or 
partnerships, and relates to 

organizational practices, 
degree of alignment, public 
will, political will, public 
policies, and business 
practices, etc.

Leverage

Leverage refers to changes 

in the commitment of 
resources and it may relate 

to changes in the levels of 
funding to implement a 

policy, or mean allocation 
of non-monetary resources 
such as staffing or in-kind 
resources. 

Learning

Learning relates to 

activities that encourage or 
advance field-building and 

knowledge acquisition to 
help answer questions 

about how to design and 
implement social impact 
initiatives in ways that can 
powerfully advance desired 
outcomes. 

http://orsimpact.com/DirectoryAttachments/132018_23544_635_I2L2_LAYOUT_FINAL.pdf


Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

35 
 

Partnership Typology Framework 

As part of evaluation efforts related to the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation’s Housing and 

Education Partnerships Initiative, ORS Impact created a partnership typology to highlight the 

range of characteristics, practices, and other factors that describe ways housing authorities 

and school districts could work together.22  The framework recognizes that partnerships 

between housing authorities and school districts may emerge from different stimuli, e.g., a 

particular need or opportunity such as better serving a certain group of people, or reducing 

service duplication, or a clear and mutual shared vision. The framework encompasses a set of 

systems-related elements shown to contribute to partners’ strong functionality and 

sustainability (Figure 10), along with a typology that describes different degrees of inter-

institutional interaction, ranging from ad hoc interactions in a partnership primarily focused 

on information sharing, to more robust, built-in, and continuous collaborative interactions 

(Figure 11). 

The framework was intended to help PHA and school district partners, the Bill & Melinda 

Gates Foundation, and other stakeholders better understand the characteristics of Housing 

Authority-School District partnerships, illustrate how partnerships are similar and different, 

and contextualize how partners are working together.  Thus, the framework can also help 

surface considerations regarding how partners’ efforts might be expected to generate 

student impacts.  For example, if partners are primarily coordinating implementation of 

                                                           
22 ORS Impact’s framework draws on the following:  

• Wilder Collaboration Inventory.  See:  Mattessich, P., Murray-Close, M., & Monsey, B. (2001). Wilder 
Collaboration Factors Inventory. St. Paul, MN: Wilder Research.  Wilder Collaboration Factors Inventory 
measurement tool: http://www.wilder.org/Wilder-Research/Research-
Services/Documents/Wilder%20Collaboration%20Factors%20Inventory.pdf 

programs, it may be reasonable to expect outcomes for students or families touched by 

those programs but not necessarily reasonable to expect population-level changes.  

In 2016, reviewing the partnership typology with PHA and school district staff helped 

partners to reflect on their strengths and opportunities for continued development. 

Reflection helped to facilitate realization that while partnerships can be effective and 

productive through information sharing, developing a more robust partnership that 

encompasses systems-level alignment can facilitate the scaling up of efforts and a greater 

likelihood of advancing population-level impact as well as a increased likelihood of 

sustainability. For this report, we drew on the partnership typology framework to assess 

partnership development over the course of the past two years. All partners referenced the 

importance of the factors noted within the Collaboration category of the framework and are 

undertaking efforts to move towards more collaborative partnerships. Thus, while the 

framework was not initially intended as a continuum, partners’ experience over five years 

suggests the need for a conceptual shift. Partners may begin by sharing information, 

cooperating, or coordinating their efforts, but may ultimately seek systems-level 

collaboration to advance outcomes at scale.  

• Himmelman Collaboration Matrix. See: Himmelman, A. (1999) “Collaborating for Change:  Definitions, 
Decision Making Models, Roles, and Collaboration Process Guide.” White paper available at: 
http://www.dttac.org/services/DPCP_101/pdfs/Collaboration_for_a_Change.pdf  

• National Network for Collaboration Framework.  See:  
http://www.uvm.edu/extension/community/nnco/collab/framework.html#framework 

• Partners in Excellence (2003).  “Creating Effective Strategic Partnerships.”  Available at:  
http://www.excellenc.com/Partnerships.htm  

http://www.wilder.org/Wilder-Research/Research-Services/Documents/Wilder%20Collaboration%20Factors%20Inventory.pdf
http://www.wilder.org/Wilder-Research/Research-Services/Documents/Wilder%20Collaboration%20Factors%20Inventory.pdf
http://www.dttac.org/services/DPCP_101/pdfs/Collaboration_for_a_Change.pdf
http://www.uvm.edu/extension/community/nnco/collab/framework.html#framework
http://www.excellenc.com/Partnerships.htm


Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

36 
 

Figure 10 | Elements of strong partnerships  

 

 

 

 

Figure 11 | Partnership typology 

  
 



Advancing Sustainable Partnerships Between Public Housing Authorities and School Districts    

37 
 

Categories of Systems Change Framework 

ORS Impact drew on an emergent systems change framework being developed by Spark 

Policy Institute.  This framework distinguishes informal and formal systems-level changes, as 

well as whether change occurs in one organization or across multiple organizations. Per the 

framework, informal changes include early experiments, temporary shifts, or ad hoc 

adjustments. Formal changes include changes in rules, policies, and practices. These changes 

can occur within one organization operating in a partnership or network, across multiple 

organizations, or even be extrapolated to other organizations that are more loosely related to 

the partnership or network (Figure 12). 

We used this framework to better understand and categorize the types of systemic changes 

within or across housing-education partners. Viewing systems changes through the lens of 

this framework allowed us to better understand how partners interact. In addition, we 

considered how different informal and formal changes relate to critical systems-level changes 

that help advance population-level impact, i.e., influence and leverage outcomes. An example 

of informal systems change that occurred in both PHAs and school districts is the ad hoc 

data-sharing practices between THA and TPS. Data sharing reflects a systemic change, but the 

informal way in which partners are currently sharing data is a temporary experiment that is 

vulnerable to staff changes among other issues. An example of a formal change within one 

organization is KCHA’s development of the Education Partnership Framework to help guide 

their engagement with school district and schools as partners. Finally, an example of a formal 

change among multiple organizations is the hiring of liaison positions by SHA and SPS to drive 

their partnership’s engagement both at a systemic and programmatic level. 

Figure 12 | Categories of systems change 

 

 



AP PEND IX  E  
C O L L A T E R A L I Z E D  F U N D S  

 

 



APPENDIX RELATED TO MTW FUNDS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL 

GREEN RIVER HOMES 
Project Description: 

 Number of separate housing sites: 1 

 Type of Residents: Family 

 Number and Type of Units: 59 units total 
o 1-bedroom-8 units 
o 2-bedroom-30 units 
o 3-bedroom-16 units 
o 4-bedroom-4 units 
o 5-bedroom-1 unit 
o Non-dwelling space: none 

Financing Terms: 

 Pro forma-see Attachment A 

 Amortization schedule-see Attachment B 
Certification: See Attachment C 
Bank Statement: See Attachment D 
 
 
MOVING KING COUNTY RESIDENTS FORWARD 
Project Description: 

 Number of separate housing sites: 22 

 Type of Residents: Family and Senior 
o Family units-469 
o Senior units-40 

 Number and Type of Units: 509 total 
o 1-bedroom-43 units 
o 2-bedroom-256 units 
o 3-bedroom-197 units 
o 4-bedroom-11 units 
o 5-bedroom-2 unit 
o Non-dwelling space: none 

Financing Terms: 

 Pro forma-see Attachment E 

 Amortization schedule-see Attachment F 
Certification: See Attachment G 
Bank Statement: See Attachment H 
 



ATTACHMENT A 

  



windye
Typewritten Text
Attachment A







































ATTACHMENT B 

  



Attachment B

Green River Loan, Collateralized

Amortization Schedule

Beginning Interest Interest Ending

Month Balance Rate Charge Principal Balance

Jun-11 9,500,000 0.00% 0 0 9,500,000

Dec-11 9,500,000 0.00% 0 0 9,500,000

Jun-12 9,500,000 0.00% 0 0 9,500,000

Dec-12 9,500,000 0.00% 0 0 9,500,000

Jun-13 9,500,000 0.75% 35,625 0 9,500,000

Dec-13 9,500,000 0.75% 35,625 0 9,500,000

Jun-14 9,500,000 1.00% 47,500 0 9,500,000

Dec-14 9,500,000 1.00% 47,500 863,636 8,636,364

Jun-15 8,636,364 1.00% 43,182 8,636,364

Dec-15 8,636,364 1.00% 43,182 863,636 7,772,728

Jun-16 7,772,728 1.00% 38,864 7,772,728

Dec-16 7,772,728 1.00% 38,864 863,636 6,909,092

Jun-17 6,909,092 1.50% 51,818 6,909,092

Dec-17 6,909,092 1.50% 51,818 863,636 6,045,456

Jun-18 6,045,456 1.50% 45,341 6,045,456

Dec-18 6,045,456 1.50% 45,341 863,636 5,181,820

Jun-19 5,181,820 1.50% 38,864 5,181,820

Dec-19 5,181,820 1.50% 38,864 863,636 4,318,184

Jun-20 4,318,184 2.00% 43,182 4,318,184

Dec-20 4,318,184 2.00% 43,182 863,636 3,454,548

Jun-21 3,454,548 2.00% 34,545 3,454,548

Dec-21 3,454,548 2.00% 34,545 863,636 2,590,912

Jun-22 2,590,912 2.00% 25,909 2,590,912

Dec-22 2,590,912 2.00% 25,909 863,636 1,727,276

Jun-23 1,727,276 2.00% 17,273 1,727,276

Dec-23 1,727,276 2.00% 17,273 863,636 863,640

Jun-24 863,640 2.00% 8,636 863,640

Dec-24 863,640 2.00% 8,636 863,640 0



ATTACHMENT C 

  





ATTACHMENT D 

  



A
cc

ou
nt

 S
ta

te
m

en
t

Bank of America, N.A.
P.O. Box 2010
Lakewood, NJ 08071

Account Summary

Client Statement
12/01/2018 to 12/31/2018

Account Number
416870

Office Servicing Your Account:
540 MADISON ST
IL4-540-28-01
CHICAGO, IL 60661
Fax: 980.233.7103

Account Representative:
CHRIS SCHUER
.
CHRISTOPHER.C.SCHUER@BAML.COM

KING COUNTY HOUSING
AUTHORITY GR2 PLEDGE ACCOUNT
600 ANDOVER PARK WEST
SEATTLE, WA 98188

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page 1 of 4

Current Period Ending Value $0.00
Net Income and Expenses $97,105.10

0 - 1/4: 3359
Account Summary 1

Disclosure 
Statement

2

Income and 
Expense Summary

3

Transaction Activity 
Summary

3

Transaction Activity 3

Income and 
Expense Activity

3

Announcements 4

windye
Typewritten Text
Attachment D



A
cc

ou
nt

 S
ta

te
m

en
t

Bank of America, N.A.
P.O. Box 2010
Lakewood, NJ 08071

Income and Expense
Summary The Income data is provided for informational purposes only. Regularly scheduled payments are reported in the section. Interest income from products which pay interest only at maturity are not reflected.

Description
Reportable

Month-to-Date
Non-Reportable

Month-to-Date
Total Income

Month-to-Date

Money Market Interest $97,105.10 $0.00 $97,105.10

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES $97,105.10 $0.00 $97,105.10

Transaction Activity
Summary Description Amount

Interest $97,105.10
Other Transaction Activity $6,045,454.00

Client Statement
12/01/2018 to 12/31/2018

Account Number
416870 Page 3 of 4

0 - 3/4: 3361

Transaction Activity
Date

CUSIP/
Security # Description Transaction Quantity Price Net Amount

12/31/2018 337265853 BANK OF AMERICA N A
CERTIFICATE OF DEPOSIT

Maturity 6,045,454 0.00 6,045,454.00

TOTAL TRANSACTION ACTIVITY $6,045,454.00

Income and Expense The Income data is provided for informational purposes only. Regular scheduled payments are reported in the section. Interest income from products which pay interest only at maturity are not reflected.

Activity Date Description Transaction Tax Withheld Reportable Non-Reportable Net Amount

12/31/2018 BANK OF AMERICA N A
CERTIFICATE OF DEPOSIT

Interest $0.00 $97,105.10 $0.00 $97,105.10

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE ACTIVITY $0.00 $97,105.10 $0.00 $97,105.10





ATTACHMENT E 

  



Attachment E

Moving King County Residents Forward Pro Forma

Initial Loan Balance $18,000,000 $17,215,339

Interest Rate on LOC 6.00%

Amort Term (Yrs) 20 Net Transaction Costs

DSCR (stabilized) 1.96 Legal $50,000

Net Trans. Costs not available for Rehab $1,175,661 Misc $125,000

Minimum Rehab needed ($51K/Unit) $25,959,000 $8,743,661.01 Underwriting $216,000

Total Rehab needed ($65,000/Unit) $33,085,000 Debt Reserve (6 mo) $784,661

  Add'l Capital in 2021 adjusted for infl $9,576,748

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15

Rental Income Ave Rent per Unit $1,200 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Lease Revenue 1.00% $7,329,600 $7,402,896 $7,476,925 $7,551,694 $7,627,211 $7,703,483 $7,780,518 $7,858,323 $7,936,907 $8,016,276 $8,096,438 $8,177,403 $8,259,177 $8,341,769 $8,425,186

Vacancy due to rehab -$3,371,616 -$2,442,956

Vacancy -2.5% -$98,950 -$123,999 -$186,923 -$188,792 -$190,680 -$192,587 -$194,513 -$196,458 -$198,423 -$200,407 -$202,411 -$204,435 -$206,479 -$208,544 -$210,630

Total Net Rental Income $3,859,034 $4,835,942 $7,290,002 $7,362,902 $7,436,531 $7,510,896 $7,586,005 $7,661,865 $7,738,484 $7,815,869 $7,894,027 $7,972,968 $8,052,697 $8,133,224 $8,214,557

Expenses   Expense Trend % 3.5%

Existing Operating Expense $6,500 $3,308,500 $3,424,298 $3,544,148 $3,668,193 $3,796,580 $3,929,460 $4,066,991 $4,209,336 $4,356,663 $4,509,146 $4,666,966 $4,830,310 $4,999,371 $5,174,349 $5,355,451

  Add'l Base Cost $100 $50,900 $52,682 $54,525 $56,434 $58,409 $60,453 $62,569 $64,759 $67,026 $69,371 $71,799 $74,312 $76,913 $79,605 $82,392

  Add'l costs due to structure $250 $127,250 $131,704 $136,313 $141,084 $146,022 $151,133 $156,423 $161,898 $167,564 $173,429 $179,499 $185,781 $192,283 $199,013 $205,979

Replacement Reserves $400 $203,600 $210,726 $218,101 $225,735 $233,636 $241,813 $250,276 $259,036 $268,102 $277,486 $287,198 $297,250 $307,654 $318,421 $329,566

Total Expenses 3,690,250$        3,819,409$        3,953,088$        4,091,446$        4,234,647$        4,382,859$         4,536,259$        4,695,029$        4,859,355$        5,029,432$        5,205,462$        5,387,653$        5,576,221$        5,771,389$        5,973,387$        

Net Operating Income 168,784             1,016,533          3,336,914          3,271,456          3,201,884          3,128,037           3,049,746          2,966,837          2,879,129          2,786,437          2,688,565          2,585,314          2,476,476          2,361,835          2,241,169          

0.11 0.65 2.13 2.08 2.04 1.99 1.94 1.89 1.83 1.78 1.71 1.65 1.58 1.51 1.43

Debt Payments ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322) ($1,569,322)

Cash flow available for def'd capital needs/(Shortfall) (1,400,538)         (552,789)            1,767,592          1,702,134          1,632,562          1,558,715           1,480,424          1,397,515          1,309,807          1,217,115          1,119,243          1,015,992          907,154             792,513             671,847             

$9,576,748

Add'l Capital needs not funded from Debt $8,743,661 18

Balance to cover from Cash Flow 3.00% $10,144,199 $11,001,314 $9,563,761 $8,148,540 $6,760,434 $5,404,533 $4,086,245 $2,811,318 $1,585,850 $416,311 $8,873,816 $7,857,823 $6,950,669 $6,158,156 $5,486,309

  bal. outstanding



ATTACHMENT F 

  



windye
Typewritten Text
Attachment F

















ATTACHMENT G 

  





ATTACHMENT H 



Attachment H 
 
Below is the current outstanding amount borrowed by the King County Housing Authority (KCHA) from 
the Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) and then loaned to Moving King County Residents Forward 
(MKCRF): 
 

 
 
100% of the Total FHLB Indebtedness of $13,112,903.25 must be collateralized by KCHA. 
 
First KCHA pledged the loan between KCHA and MKCRF.  This loan currently has an outstanding balance 
of $15,074,909.16 but is assigned a market value of $14,643,652.75. Its Advance Equivalent is 63.3% of 
the market value, or $9,269,432.19. 
 

 
 
As the minimum collateral requirement is $13,112,903.25 and the Advance Equivalent of the 
collateralized loan is $9,269,432.19, there is a collateral gap of $3,843,471.06.  To fill this gap, KCHA 
pledged investments purchased with MTW funds.  For these investments, the FHLB calculated the 



Advance Equivalent to be 92% of the Fair Market Value. At 12/31/2018, the Fair Market Value of the 
investments was $4,942,166.00 and the Advance Equivalent $4,546,792.72. The table shows the 
inventory of pledged investments. 
 

 
 
The Advance Equivalent of $4,546,792.72 exceeds the collateral gap of $4,177,686. KCHA considers the 
amount of MTW funds pledged as collateral to be equal to the collateral gap, or $4,177,686. 
 



AP PEND IX  F  
E N E R G Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  C O N T R A C T  R E P O R T  

 

 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
9 



KCHA IN THE NEWS 
March 25, 2019 



 

By Gene Balk / FYI Guy  
Seattle Times columnist 

New milestone in King County: 
Immigrant population tops 500,000  

Originally published January 14, 2019 at 6:00 am Updated January 14, 2019 at 9:32 pm  

 
Almost half of the county's growth since 2010 is made up of people born 
outside of the United States. Only two other counties have seen a bigger 
increase. 

There are a lot of stories behind the Seattle area’s unprecedented growth this 
decade. There’s Amazon and the tech industry, of course. Then there are the 
millennials — we’ve attracted more of them than any other city. 

But as much as anything, it’s also a story of immigrants. 

King County’s total population has grown by about a quarter million since 2010. 
Almost half of that growth — 49 percent — is from people who were born in 

https://www.seattletimes.com/author/gene-balk-fyi-guy/
https://www.businessinsider.com/where-are-millennials-moving-seattle-denver-virginia-2018-6


another country. There are only two counties in the U.S. — Miami-Dade in Florida 
and Harris in Texas — that have seen a bigger increase in the number of foreign-
born inhabitants. 

 
And with that surge in population, King County has hit a new milestone of 
diversity: We’ve passed the half-million mark for the number of foreign-born 
residents. According to the most recent census data, the county’s immigrant 
population was 516,000 in 2017. 

That means that nearly one in four inhabitants of the county (24 percent) were born 
outside the United States, significantly higher than the national average of 14 
percent. In a number of cities in South King County, and in Bellevue and 
Redmond, the percentage of foreign born is around 40 percent or higher. 

Among those one in four is U.S. Rep. Pramila Jayapal, the congresswoman from 
Washington’s seventh district, which includes most of Seattle as well as some 
suburban areas. She is one of about a dozen representatives in the House who are 
naturalized U.S. citizens, and the first Indian-American woman to hold the office. 

Jayapal came to this country from her native India at the age of 16, by herself, to 
go to college. “My parents saved whatever they had, which was about $5,000 at the 
time, to send me here,” she said. “They really believed in America and the 
educational system here.” Jayapal settled in Seattle in 1990. Her parents still live in 
India. 

“For many years I had enough money for one phone call home a year — there was 
no Skype back then,” she said. 

Jayapal says that the Seattle area is remarkable for how it attracts immigrants from 
so many different parts of the world, and she thinks that’s due to more than just our 
booming economy. 

https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/eastside/bellevue-now-washingtons-biggest-majority-minority-city/
https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/data/diversity-surges-on-the-eastside-especially-in-microsofts-hometown-but-stalls-in-seattle/


“We have this remarkable diversity of immigrant populations, and I do think we’ve 
been a welcoming state in terms of how people see immigrants,” she said. “Our 
state has some very compassionate programs to welcome refugees and asylum-
seekers.” 

Census data show that the top 10 places of birth for King County’s foreign-born 
residents include countries in Asia, Africa, Europe and the Americas. A little more 
than half of our immigrants come from Asia, with India and China the top two 
nations. Mexico ranks third. 

 
Jayapal says that King County’s foreign-born residents have contributed to the 
Seattle boom at all points along the economic spectrum, from tech to health care to 
the service sector. 

Many come here and must restart their lives. 

“People can come with nothing — you have these Ph.Ds driving taxi cabs and 
working 12-hour days to provide for their families,” she said. “Immigrants and 
refugees are used to working incredibly long hours and being very industrious and 
entrepreneurial.” 

It was her advocacy for immigrant rights that propelled Jayapal into the spotlight 
locally. After the Sept. 11 terrorist attacks, she founded Hate Free Zone (now 
OneAmerica), one of the first multiethnic immigrant rights groups in the country. 

“I became a citizen the year before 9/11 happened,” she said. “I felt like I had to do 
something, in the wake of the hate crimes at the time, and then government 
intrusions on civil liberties and civil rights.” 

And that advocacy continues in Congress, where she has gone on to become one of 
the most outspoken critics of the Trump administration’s immigration policies. She 

https://weareoneamerica.org/


has strongly condemned the disparaging rhetoric about immigrants from President 
Trump and other Republicans in Congress. 

“I cannot believe the hatred and the lies that people tell about immigrants and the 
fact that they leave out all of the good things and the contributions,” she said. 

Jayapal’s actions defending immigrant and refugee rights against the Trump 
administration, along with numerous appearances on cable news shows, have 
catapulted her to national prominence, and she’s considered a rising star in the 
Democratic Party. And while it has also made her a controversial figure, she says 
she gets nothing but love from back home in Seattle. 

“I feel so lucky to come from the Seventh District,” she said. “When I come home, 
people in Seattle are so grateful that somebody is saying what we know to be true 
— that immigrants have helped build this country.” 

An immigrant herself, Jayapal says that her resistance to the Trump 
administration’s rhetoric and policies does feel personal. 

“But it’s much more than that,” she said. “It’s about who we are as a country, and 
what we’re willing to stand up for.” 

 



 

Northwest measles outbreak revives 
debate over vaccine laws 
Originally published February 1, 2019 at 7:01 am Updated February 3, 2019 at 9:15 am 
 

By GILLIAN FLACCUS The Associated Press 

 
 

VANCOUVER, Wash. (AP) — A measles outbreak near Portland, Oregon, has revived a bitter debate over so-
called “philosophical” exemptions to childhood vaccinations as public health officials across the Pacific 
Northwest scramble to limit the fallout. 

At least 44 people in Washington and Oregon have fallen ill in recent weeks with the extraordinarily contagious 
virus, which was eradicated in the U.S. in 2000 as a result of immunization but arrives periodically with overseas 
travelers. More than a half-dozen more cases are suspected, and people who were exposed to the disease 
traveled to Hawaii and Bend, Oregon, raising the possibility of more diagnoses in the unvaccinated. 

Washington Gov. Jay Inslee last week declared a state of emergency because of the outbreak. 

“I would hope that this ends soon, but this could go on for weeks, if not months,” said Dr. Alan Melnick, public 
health director in Clark County, Washington, just north of Portland. The county has had most of the diagnosed 
cases so far. “ 

Of the confirmed cases, 37 are people who were not immunized. Most of the confirmed cases have been 
children under 10. Authorities said Friday one case was a person who had received one dose of the measles 
vaccine. 

“The measles vaccine isn’t perfect, but one dose is 93 percent effective at preventing illness,” Melnick said. “The 
recommended two doses of the measles vaccine provide even greater protection – 97 percent.” 

The outbreak has lawmakers in Washington state revisiting non-medical exemptions that allow children to 
attend school without vaccinations if their parents or guardians express a personal objection. Liberal-leaning 
Oregon and Washington have some of the nation’s highest statewide vaccine exemption rates, driven in part by 
low vaccination levels in scattered communities and at some private and alternative schools. 

Four percent of Washington secondary school students have non-medical vaccine exemptions. In Oregon, which 
has a similar law, 7.5 percent of kindergarteners in 2018 were missing shots for non-medical reasons. 

https://www.seattletimes.com/author/gillian-flaccus/


Washington and Oregon are among 17 states that allow some type of non-medical exemption for vaccines for 
“personal, moral or other beliefs,” according to the National Conference of State Legislatures. 

Numerous studies have shown vaccines do not cause autism — a common reason cited by those who don’t want 
their kids immunized. Those opposed to certain vaccines also object to an outside authority mandating what 
they put in their children’s bodies, and some have concerns about the combination of the measles vaccine with 
the mumps and rubella immunizations, which is how it’s routinely given. 

A measure introduced by Republican Rep. Paul Harris of Vancouver, Washington — the epicenter of the current 
outbreak — would remove the personal exemption specifically for the combined measles, mumps and rubella 
vaccine, or MMR. It’s scheduled for a public hearing in Olympia on Feb. 8. 

Democratic Rep. Monica Stonier of Vancouver, a co-signer on the bill, said she would prefer an even broader 
proposal, but “right now we’re looking at what we can get moved.” Previous attempts have failed. 

“We’re trying to respond to a very specific concern here and recognize that there may be broader concerns we 
can consider down the road,” Stonier said. 

Oregon has the nation’s highest statewide vaccine exemption rates, and some communities have rates that are 
even higher. Washington’s exemption rate, although lower, is also high when compared with other states. 
Nationwide, the median exemption rate for at least one vaccine for children entering kindergarten in the 2017-
2018 year was just over 2 percent. 

Oregon state Sen. Elizabeth Steiner Hayward, a Democrat and family physician, dropped an attempt to revoke 
the state’s non-medical exemption in 2015 after virulent opposition. The Legislature now requires parents to 
either watch an educational video or talk to a doctor before claiming the exemption. 

In Washington state, legislation that would have removed the personal or philosophical belief allowance never 
made it to the House floor for a vote in 2015 amid stiff opposition. 

The National Vaccine Information Center, which opposes mandatory vaccination laws, said it opposed that bill 
and the current one. Another anti-vaccination group, Informed Choice Washington, had its members at the 
statehouse on Thursday trying to dissuade lawmakers. 

“People are feeling extremely oppressed and feeling like they can’t make an educated decision,” said Barbara 
Loe Fisher, co-founder and president of the group. She said the legislation would “bring a hammer down and 
threaten people instead of allowing them to make informed decisions.” 

California is one of the few states that stripped away personal belief vaccine exemptions for children in both 
public and private schools. The law passed in 2015 after a measles outbreak at Disneyland sickened 147 people 
and spread across the U.S. and into Canada. It occurred despite an earlier law that required parents to talk to a 
doctor to opt out of vaccines. Vermont also abandoned its personal exemption in 2015. 

California state Sen. Richard Pan, a pediatrician who sponsored his state’s bill, said he got death threats over it 
and had anti-vaccination advocates jam his phone lines and harass him on social media. 

The overall vaccination rate for children entering kindergarten in California rose to 95 percent in the two years 
after the law passed. Parents who don’t want to immunize their children can homeschool or enroll their children 
in independent study at the local public school. 



Measles is still a big problem in other parts of the world, and travelers infected abroad can bring back the virus, 
causing periodic outbreaks. 

Last year, there were 17 outbreaks and about 350 cases in the United States. Before mass vaccination, 400 to 
500 people in the U.S. died of the measles every year. Serious complications include brain swelling that can 
cause blindness or deafness and pneumonia. 

Early symptoms include a fever, runny nose and malaise, followed by a rash that starts around the head and 
moves down the body. Patients are contagious four days before and four days after getting the rash. 

Nine out of 10 unvaccinated people who are exposed will get the disease. Someone who has no immunity can 
get sick up to three weeks after they have been exposed to the virus. 

 


















	201902 KCHA Meeting Minutes DRAFT.pdf
	Tuesday, February 19, 2019
	I.  CALL TO ORDER
	II. ROLL CALL
	THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE
	COUNTY OF KING, WASHINGTON


	2018 MTW Report Board Memo.pdf
	From: Katie Escudero, Policy Analyst
	Date: March 25, 2019
	Re:       2018 Moving to Work Report

	Community Indicators March 2019 Board Memo V3.pdf
	From: Andrew Calkins, Senior Program Manager
	Date: March 25, 2019
	Re:       KCHA Community Indicators Dashboard

	201903 Fourth Qtr 2018 Financial Statements 2019-03-18.pdf
	From: Craig Violante, Director of Finance
	Date: March 12, 2019
	Re:       Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Statements
	2018 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	CASH AND INVESTMENT SUMMARIES
	Overall cash balances are largely unchanged from the previous quarter, declining by $2.5 million.  Unrestricted cash rose by $6.4 million while designated/restricted cash declined by $8.9 million.  For a complete report on KCHA’s overall cash position...
	The overall Return on Investment (ROI) on all KCHA investments, including loans made for low income housing and EPC project purposes was 2.18%, up from 1.92% last quarter.  The Washington State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) inter...
	KCHA’s average HAP cost continued to rise during the quarter at roughly the same pace since the second quarter of 2017.  With continued rising market rents for lower priced units, continued low vacancy rates and KCHA’s commitment to adequately sizing ...
	Total Tenant Payment (TTP) is the tenant’s monthly contribution towards rent and utilities and is benchmarked at 28.3% of their income.   Average TTP for the quarter was $463.18, down slightly from $463.68 the previous quarter but up from $448.59 one ...
	MTW PROGRAM

	Cover Memo for Reso 5621 3-14final.pdf
	From: Beth Pearson, Director, Real Estate Initiatives
	Date: March 25, 2019
	Re:       Resolution No. 5621 Authorizing the Submission of an Application to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for the Disposition of a Parcel Located at 11195 5th Avenue SW, Seattle, WA within Seola Gardens

	201902 KCHA Meeting Minutes.pdf
	Tuesday, February 19, 2019
	I.  CALL TO ORDER
	II. ROLL CALL
	THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE
	COUNTY OF KING, WASHINGTON


	6 201903 Energy Performance Contract finalforboard.pdf
	From: Jill Stanton, Chief Administrative Officer
	Date: March 15, 2019
	Re:       Energy Performance Contract

	7a 201903 Fourth Qtr 2018 Financial Statements Final.pdf
	From: Craig Violante, Director of Finance
	Date: March 12, 2019
	Re:       Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Statements
	2018 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	CASH AND INVESTMENT SUMMARIES
	Overall cash balances are largely unchanged from the previous quarter, declining by $2.5 million.  Unrestricted cash rose by $6.4 million while designated/restricted cash declined by $8.9 million.  For a complete report on KCHA’s overall cash position...
	The overall Return on Investment (ROI) on all KCHA investments, including loans made for low income housing and EPC project purposes was 2.18%, up from 1.92% last quarter.  The Washington State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) inter...
	KCHA’s average HAP cost continued to rise during the quarter at roughly the same pace since the second quarter of 2017.  With continued rising market rents for lower priced units, continued low vacancy rates and KCHA’s commitment to adequately sizing ...
	Total Tenant Payment (TTP) is the tenant’s monthly contribution towards rent and utilities and is benchmarked at 28.3% of their income.   Average TTP for the quarter was $463.18, down slightly from $463.68 the previous quarter but up from $448.59 one ...
	MTW PROGRAM

	201902 KCHA Meeting Minutes.pdf
	Tuesday, February 19, 2019
	I.  CALL TO ORDER
	II. ROLL CALL
	THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE
	COUNTY OF KING, WASHINGTON





